
 
 

 
 

 Neuadd y Sir 
Y Rhadyr 
Brynbuga 

NP15 1GA 
 

Dydd Mercher, 16 Tachwedd 
2016 

 

Hysbysiad o gyfarfod 
 

Pwyllgor Dethol Economi a Datblygu 
 

Dydd Iau, 24ain Tachwedd, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

Siambr y Cyngor, Neuadd y Sir, Rhadyr, Brynbuga, NP15 1GA 
 

AGENDA 
 

BYDD CYFARFOD CYN I AELODAU'R PWYLLGOR 30 COFNODION CYN I'R 
CYCHWYN Y CYFARFOD 

 

Eitem 
ddim 

Eitem Tudalennau 

1.   Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb. 

 
 

2.   Datganiadau o Fuddiant. 

 
 

3.   Fforwm Agored i'r Cyhoedd. 

 
 

4.   Cadarnhau cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol. 

 
1 - 12 

5.   Craffu Cyn-penderfyniad: Amgueddfeydd Sir Fynwy: Trosiant a 
Chynlluniau’r Dyfodol. 

 

13 - 208 

6.   Adroddiad Monitro Refeniw a Chyllid Cyfnod 2 Datganiad Rhagolwg 
Alldro. 

 

209 - 232 

7.   Ailbrisio Trethi Busnes – diweddariad llafar. 

 
 

8.   Diweddariad Y Prentis a Diweddariad CMC2. 

 
233 - 244 

9.   Amcanion Gwella a Dangosyddion Perfformiad – Diweddariad 
2016/17 Chwarter 2. 

 

245 - 258 

10.   Blaenraglen Waith y Pwyllgor Dethol Economi a Datblygu. 

 
 

259 - 260 

Public Document Pack



 

11.   Cyngor a Blaengynllun Busnes y Cabinet. 

 
261 - 280 

12.   Cadarnhau dyddiad ac amser y cyfarfod nesaf. 
 
Dydd Iau 5 Ionawr 2017 am 10.00am 

 

 

 
Paul Matthews 

 
Prif Weithredwr 

 
 

 



 

CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 
 

MAE CYFANSODDIAD Y PWYLLGOR FEL SY'N DILYN: 
 
 
Cynghorwyr Sir: S. Jones 

S. White 
D. Dovey 
D. Edwards 
D. Evans 
B. Hayward 
J. Prosser 
A. Watts 
A. Wintle 

 
Gwybodaeth Gyhoeddus 
 
Mynediad i gopïau papur o agendâu ac adroddiadau 
Gellir darparu copi o'r agenda hwn ac adroddiadau perthnasol i aelodau'r cyhoedd sy'n 
mynychu cyfarfod drwy ofyn am gopi gan Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ar 01633 644219. 
Dylid nodi fod yn rhaid i ni dderbyn 24 awr o hysbysiad cyn y cyfarfod er mwyn darparu 
copi caled o'r agenda hwn i chi. 
 
Edrych ar y cyfarfod ar-lein 
Gellir gweld y cyfarfod ar-lein yn fyw neu'n dilyn y cyfarfod drwy fynd i 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk neu drwy ymweld â'n tudalen Youtube drwy chwilio am 
MonmouthshireCC. Drwy fynd i mewn i'r ystafell gyfarfod, fel aelod o'r cyhoedd neu i 
gymryd rhan yn y cyfarfod, rydych yn caniatáu i gael eich ffilmio ac i ddefnydd posibl y 
delweddau a'r recordiadau sain hynny gan y Cyngor. 
 
Y Gymraeg 
Mae'r Cyngor yn croesawu cyfraniadau gan aelodau'r cyhoedd drwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg 
neu'r Saesneg. Gofynnwn gyda dyledus barch i chi roi 5 diwrnod o hysbysiad cyn y 
cyfarfod os dymunwch siarad yn Gymraeg fel y gallwn ddarparu ar gyfer eich anghenion. 
 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/


 

Nodau a Gwerthoedd Cyngor Sir Fynwy 
 
Cymunedau Cynaliadwy a Chryf 

 
Canlyniadau y gweithiwn i'w cyflawni 
 
Neb yn cael ei adael ar ôl 
 

 Gall pobl hŷn fyw bywyd da 

 Pobl â mynediad i dai addas a fforddiadwy 

 Pobl â mynediad a symudedd da 

 
Pobl yn hyderus, galluog ac yn cymryd rhan 
 

 Camddefnyddio alcohol a chyffuriau ddim yn effeithio ar fywydau pobl 

 Teuluoedd yn cael eu cefnogi 

 Pobl yn teimlo'n ddiogel 

 
Ein sir yn ffynnu 
 

 Busnes a menter 

 Pobl â mynediad i ddysgu ymarferol a hyblyg 

 Pobl yn diogelu ac yn cyfoethogi'r amgylchedd 

 
Ein blaenoriaethau 
 

 Ysgolion 

 Diogelu pobl agored i niwed 

 Cefnogi busnes a chreu swyddi 

 Cynnal gwasanaethau sy’n hygyrch yn lleol 

 
Ein gwerthoedd 
 

 Bod yn agored: anelwn fod yn agored ac onest i ddatblygu perthnasoedd ymddiriedus 

 Tegwch: anelwn ddarparu dewis teg, cyfleoedd a phrofiadau a dod yn sefydliad a 
adeiladwyd ar barch un at y llall. 

 Hyblygrwydd: anelwn fod yn hyblyg yn ein syniadau a'n gweithredoedd i ddod yn sefydliad 
effeithlon ac effeithiol. 

 Gwaith tîm: anelwn gydweithio i rannu ein llwyddiannau a'n methiannau drwy adeiladu ar 
ein cryfderau a chefnogi ein gilydd i gyflawni ein nodau. 

 
 
 



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

 

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillors: D. Dovey, D. Edwards, B. Hayward, J. Prosser, 
A. Wintle, R.J.W. Greenland and V. Smith 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 

Mark Hand Head of Planning, Housing and Place-Shaping 
Nicola Edwards Strategic Food and Tourism Manager 
Deb Hill-Howells Head of Community Led Delivery 
Dan Davies Events Coordinator 
Rachel Lewis Principal Planning Policy Officer 
Hazel Ilett Scrutiny Manager 
Richard Williams Democratic Services Officer 

 

APOLOGIES: 
 

County Councillors: S. White and D. Evans 
 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  
 

There were no declarations of interest made by Members. 
 

2. Confirmation of minutes  
 

The minutes of the Economy and Development Select Committee meeting dated 27th 
September 2016 were confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 

3. Velothon 2016 Debrief  
 
Context: 
 
To provide feedback on Velothon Wales 2016. 
 
Key Issues: 
 

 On Thursday 19 November 2015, Council agreed to support the 2016 Velothon 
to enable the route to travel through Monmouthshire having received assurances 
that the route would be amended and that extensive consultation and 
communication with those affected will be at the centre of their work leading up to 
the event. 
 

 An operational delivery steering group was established to oversee the planning 
of this year’s event. The group had representation from all five Local Authorities, 
emergency services, Welsh Government, British Cycling, Run4Wales and key 
delivery partners. Additional subgroups were established to look specifically at 
Marketing and Communication, Race Logistics and Event Logistics. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

 Monmouthshire also established an additional ‘Internal Service Disruption’ group 
that developed arrangements for use by County Council representatives at the 
Velothon 2016 Event Control. The group prepared a document which detailed the 
County Council services disrupted by the Velothon, arrangements agreed in 
relation to service continuity, event ‘Command and Control’ structures, ELAPS 
points, key contact details and how these would dovetail into existing major 
incident arrangements if a significant event occurred. 
 

 In order to ensure that lessons from the Velothon Wales 2016 are fully captured 
and that actions are implemented to help improve organisational planning and 
event management, Monmouthshire County Council compiled feedback from its 
stakeholders and partners to provide feedback to the organisers. 

 

 The event organisation for 2016 was a significant improvement on the previous 
year. However, concerns still remain around the length of the road closures, lack 
of toilet facilities, litter and the benefits of hosting the race to our County. These 
issues have been discussed at Council at both its July and September 2016 
meetings. As a result, it was agreed that the Council would only support next 
year’s event if the roads were reopened following the mass participation race and 
a rolling road closure was put in place for the pro race. In addition the organisers 
would need to reinforce with participants that they must not urinate on the sides 
of roads and provide sufficient facilities to ensure that this behaviour would not 
be necessary. Officers are working with the Velothon organisers to deliver these 
requirements. 
 

Member Scrutiny 
 
Having considered the report, the following points were raised: 
 

 A Member asked what benefits the Velothon brought to Monmouthshire 
constituents.  The Head of Community Led Delivery explained that this point was 
highlighted as a concern in the report.  It was noted that Cardiff mainly benefits 
as it is the race start and finish point.  It was added that there are less tangible 
benefits in Monmouthshire.  The example was provided that race participants 
practice in the area and may stop for breaks potentially using local businesses.  
They may return to the area as visitors but there is no hard evidence to support 
economic benefit.  The importance of obtaining evidence of economic benefit 
was emphasised to support the Council’s decision to continue involvement with 
the event.   
 

 In response to a question, it was confirmed that rolling road closures will be 
operated for the 2017 event.  An update was also provided that a shortened 
route will be available for those participants who wish to avoid The Tumble or the 
Blorenge.  Members were advised of the amended route. It was reported that the 
Local Member agrees with the plans for the shortened route.  The organisers 
have been requested to engage in early talks with any businesses that may be 
affected, and assurances have also been sought that the road is reopened as 
soon as the mass participant race goes through.  It was noted that the organisers 

Page 2



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

have met the requirements imposed by Council so the race will proceed through 
the County in 2017, and all Members will be informed. 
 

 A Member commented that the report deals with problems and solutions, and 
queried why the event, and developing the County as a cycling destination, was 
being supported.  The Strategic Food and Tourism Manager explained that 
cycling tourism is recognised as a growth market and the County has been 
identified as a popular destination for cycling evidenced by the number of cyclists 
visible on our roads.  It was explained that there is a Strategic Cycling Group that 
discusses opportunities to develop the product offer to provide cyclists with a 
positive experience.  It was added that work has been undertaken as part of a 
regional project to develop a toolkit to identify opportunities to progress cyclist 
tourism within businesses including identification of any barriers.  It was repeated 
that it is essential to establish proof of economic benefit to support development 
of the County as a high quality cycling destination.  It was agreed that a report on 
the topic of developing cycling tourism in South East Wales would be circulated. 
The report explores opportunities for the future and how we can facilitate market 
growth.  
 

 It was suggested that it was insufficient to solely acknowledge feedback as 
recommended in the report.  The Chair clarified the scrutiny role of the committee 
and its ability to add value, suggestions and recommendations.  It was 
commented that there was not enough data to provide reassurance and of the 
need to consider return on investment, the impact on resources, and future 
benefits being brought back to the County.  It was agreed to request that Welsh 
Government and Run4Wales conduct economic analysis of the event to provide 
data to be included at a future meeting.  It was also agreed to consider the report 
on the development of cycling tourism at the next meeting to enable a cost 
benefit analysis to be undertaken. 
 

 A Member raised concerns about the growth in cycling and motorcycling in the 
County, and some of the negative effects on residents.  It was commented that, 
whilst supporting both activities, and appreciating the benefits for businesses in 
the County, information on the cost benefits of activities and events is required to 
provide justification to those inconvenienced.   
 

 The Cabinet Member explained that it will be difficult to compile anything other 
than anecdotal evidence of economic benefit and that, for the Velothon to 
continue beyond 2017, there will be a requirement for the organisers to provide 
substantial evidence of the return from the event in future.  
 

 It was commented that the health benefits of cycling, and the event inspiring 
young people to participate, were important aspects to consider.  
 

 A Member commented that television coverage showcasing the Monmouthshire 
countryside was good advertising but added that not all of the County (e.g. 
Monmouth) receives benefits from the event. 
 

 The work of Officers involved in the event was recognised. 
Page 3



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

 
 

4. Monmouthshire Tourism Performance 2015  
 
Context: 
 
To provide Members with a report card that considers Monmouthshire Tourism 
Performance for 2015 against the objectives and outcomes set out in the Council’s 
Improvement Plan. 
 
Key Issues: 
 
This report card highlights performance against key performance indicators for 2015. 
In a climate of increasingly stretched resources it has been vital to focus firmly on 
priorities and to maximise partnership working and opportunities to access external 
funding. 
 
The Strategic Food and Tourism Manager presented the report. 
 

Member Scrutiny 
 
A Member questioned how the Tourist Information Centre (TIC) budget of £42,358 is 
broken down and the effect on the various TICs in the County.  It was clarified that the 
figure queried was last year’s budget and that there is a reduced contribution of £18,000 
to TICs for the current year.  In view of the operational costs for the Chepstow TIC of 
£65,000 (for which a £5000 contribution from Chepstow Town Council is received), it 
has been necessary to make a reduced contribution to Abergavenny TIC this year whilst 
steps are taken to move Chepstow TIC to the Abergavenny partnership model.  
Information on the full costs of Abergavenny TIC was requested and an agenda item 
and report will be added to the work programme accordingly. 
 
Members appreciated the value of local information and welcome provided by TICs in 
addition to digital resources.  It was emphasised that the reduction of visitor numbers 
recorded could be attributed to the restricted opening hours in response to budget cuts.  

Chair’s Summary 
 

 The Chair summarised that it was the role of the Committee to scrutinise return on 
investment and to identify benefits to the County from the event. To do so, the 
organisers will be asked to provide measurable financial reports to show the return and 
benefits for the County from this year’s event.  
 

 It was agreed to consider the report on developing cycling tourism in South East Wales 
at the next meeting. 
 

 It was agreed to revisit our own methodology to identify economic benefit including 
anecdotal evidence to provide reassurance to residents through provision of full 
information.  

 

Page 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

The commitment to identify suitable partners and progress partnership working for the 
Chepstow TIC was agreed. 
 

It was agreed to consider the feasibility of becoming a Tourism Business Improvement 
District.  A Member explained that work has been undertaken to circulate to traders in 
Abergavenny, in the absence of a trade association, to promote tourism opportunities.  
 
The Chair queried the external funding received, in particular, if local authorities can bid 
into the Tourism Investment Support Scheme (TISS).  The Officer advised that local 
authorities can apply to any relevant funding source according to its tourism objectives, 
and provided examples of funding secured from e.g. Regional Tourism Engagement 
Fund, Active Travel Quick Wins and the Rural Development Plan.  It was clarified that 
there are elements of the TISS that public sector can apply for that are not currently 
open but this will be monitored.  Members were informed that a review of the 
Destination Plan has been commissioned and that the priorities and opportunities in the 
new plan will inform the next round of funding applications. 
 
The Chair queried timescales for the development of the new Destination Plan and was 
informed that it must be completed by 31st March 2017.  It was advocated that Members 
are consulted on priorities at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Members and Officers were reminded of the purdah period prior to the elections in May 
2017.  It was agreed to consult Members, in a possible workshop format, following 
engagement with key stakeholders. 
 
A Member welcomed the volume of data in the report and forecasted that visitor 
numbers should grow in future taking account of the National Eisteddfod this year, and 
the new Premier Inn in Monmouth next year emphasising the importance of tourism and 
continued support for TICs to the County’s economy. 
 
In response to a query, the Officer explained that the occupancy data compiled is 
anonymised and overall that serviced accommodation in the County is performing on a 
par or better than the rest of Wales, noting that there are capacity issues when large 
events are held.  
 
Members were reminded of the role of Scrutiny Committees to be impartial and add 
value to the democratic process.  
 

A Member highlighted the importance of taking appropriate actions within budgets whilst 
the current economic climate encourages visitors from outside the United Kingdom and 
also to make plans to ensure that the improvements made are maintained when the 
economic conditions improve. 
 

Page 5



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

 
 

5. Local Development Plan Tourism Policies Update  
 
Context: 
 
To receive an updated review of tourism-related planning policies to enable 
consideration of the extent to which the Local Development Plan (LDP) supports the 
Council’s objectives for growing our tourism economy. 
 
Key Issues: 
 
To aid consideration of this topic, the report is divided into two sections. The first part of 
the report identifies tourism-related planning applications determined during the second 
LDP monitoring period to determine the effectiveness of the existing policy framework in 
enabling tourism-related development.  This section utilises details from the LDP Annual 
Monitoring Report (AMR) to investigate planning approvals and identify any refusals.  

 
The second part of the report updates the findings previously reported to the Select 
Committee. It reviews how LDP policies should be interpreted in relation to sustainable 
forms of tourist accommodation and reconsiders the extent to which the policies support 
such development.  
 
Development Management Decisions  
  
The findings of the 2015-16 AMR demonstrate that 10 applications were approved for 
tourism uses during the monitoring period, eight of which were for tourist 
accommodation facilities. These included six holiday lets (all conversions) in various 
settlements, an extension to an existing holiday lodge site at St Pierre Country Park for 
five lodges and a new build 60 bed hotel in Monmouth (Premier Inn). Collectively, these 
provide over 70 new bed spaces and will provide a further boost to the visitor 
accommodation available in Monmouthshire.  A further two applications were approved 
for other tourism related uses – a walkers’ café at Llanddewi Skirrid and new play area 
at Llandegfedd Visitor Centre.  The number of tourism facilities approved is comparable 
to those approved during the last monitoring period (10 applications) which indicates 

Chair’s Summary 
 

The Chair noted that the main focus of discussion had been Tourist Information Centres 
(TICs) and it was agreed to request a further report to consider resourcing and the future of 
TICs. 
 
It was agreed that Members would hold a workshop to consider the Destination Plan after 
feedback from key stakeholders has been received. 
 
It was noted that there was wider discussion of funding issues and acknowledgment that 
external economic factors should be taken account of in current and future plans. 
The figures and data provided were welcomed and the Officers were thanked for attending 
and providing comprehensive information. 

Page 6



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

that the LDP tourism policy framework is operating effectively to enable tourism 
development in the County.  
 

It is notable that there were no applications permitted which involved the loss of tourism 
facilities during the 2015-16 monitoring period. Similarly, no applications relating to 
tourism-related uses were refused. This compares favourably to the previous AMR 
when five applications were approved involving the loss of tourist facilities and two 
tourism-related applications were refused.   This, together with the number of tourist 
facilities approved over the 2015-16 monitoring period and cumulatively since the Plan’s 
adoption, indicates that the relevant Plan policies are operating effectively allowing such 
developments to take place in Monmouthshire.  
 
LDP Tourism Policy Framework   
 
New forms of visitor accommodation have emerged in recent years including yurts, 
tepees and wooden pods i.e. ‘glamping’. Given that such forms of accommodation are a 
relatively recent innovation, they are not defined in legislation and not explicitly referred 
to in current LDP policies. Accordingly, there is a need to consider how such proposals 
should be assessed against the existing policy framework and to determine whether 
policy interpretation / implementation could be clarified through the production of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG). Although this matter was considered in the 
previous report to Select Committee, it was considered appropriate to review this work 
in light of an increasing number of enquiries regarding these new forms of visitor 
accommodation.  
 
An Officer Working Group was established to review the interpretation of LDP policies in 
relation to new forms of visitor accommodation and to reconsider the extent to which the 
LDP is supporting this growing area of sustainable tourism.  
 
Key policy considerations and relevant LDP policies are set out for each type of tourist 
accommodation. Within settlement boundaries, development is generally acceptable in 
principle subject to normal amenity considerations and policy matters such as flood risk. 
 

In summary, the starting point is Policy S11 which supports sustainable forms of 
tourism, as does Policy S8.  Such proposals are acceptable in principle unless ruled out 
by Policies T1, T2 or T3.  Proposals would be assessed against other policies for 
example landscape harm (LC5) or highway safety objections etc. 
 
T1 allows for touring caravans and tents. 
T2 allows new build self-catering accommodation in specific circumstances: 
 

- Ancillary to establish medium or large hotels. 
- Re-use or conversion of existing buildings in countryside subject to H4. 
- Substantial rebuild within the curtilage of a farm where it complies with 

RE3 agricultural diversification. 
 

T3 allows visitor accommodation on golf courses where in supports the tourism 
economy, subject to detailed planning considerations. 
 

Page 7



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

Amenity blocks are also covered by S11 and S8 subject to landscape harm. 
 

Generally speaking, proposals such as yurts / shepherd’s huts should be taken down or 
relocated into storage out of season.  However, the necessity for this needs to be 
considered on a case by case basis depending upon landscape harm and visual impact.  
Consideration needs to be given to planning conditions to control the number of units, 
siting, appearance / type of unit, and occupancy. 
 
Contrary to some of the findings reported in the previous Select Report on this issue, 
the review found that the LDP policy framework is in fact generally supportive of 
sustainable forms of tourist accommodation, including ‘glamping’.  Such proposals 
would still be subject to other relevant policy considerations (landscape, highways, 
natural / historic environment.). However, the starting point for assessing such 
proposals is Strategic Policy S11 (Visitor Economy) which supports and seeks to enable 
the provision of sustainable tourism development in Monmouthshire.   
 
However, the review also determined that the preparation of SPG would be beneficial in 
order to provide clarification for officers and customers on the interpretation / 
implementation of the existing policy framework in relation to such proposals.  
 
Consideration has also been given to the interpretation of LDP policies in relation to 
another form of tourist accommodation which are not specifically referenced in LDP 
policies namely, static caravans. Strategic policy S11 is unlikely to support such 
proposals as it is doubtful that static caravans could be considered as a sustainable 
form of tourist accommodation.  
 

Member Scrutiny: 
 
A Member questioned the arrangements for vehicles visiting sites.  The Head of 
Planning, Housing and Place-Shaping explained that approaches vary; some sites have 
space next to the hired unit and others may have a small landscaped car park discreetly 
located.  Generally, the nature of glamping-type experiences discourage vehicles in 
order to preserve an open and safe environment.  It was confirmed that this is a growth 
area of tourism business. 
 
A Member queried the market for timber chalets in the County noting that these units 
are popular in the Forest of Dean.  It was confirmed that there is occasional interest as 
listed in the accompanying report.  Policy for this category of unit was debated noting 
that support for the application can vary.  For example, an application would be 
supported if linked to a medium or large hotel but could not be supported as part of 
agricultural diversification as this would count as new buildings.   
 
It was queried if policy was too strict in terms of agricultural diversification. It was agreed 
that whilst it would not be possible to change LDP policy via Supplementary Planning 
Guidance, it would be possible to clarify interpretation and to look at future policy under 
the review of the Local Development Plan, and to encourage sympathetically sited 
tourism opportunities in acceptable locations. 
 

Page 8



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

The Strategic Food and Tourism Manager queried how businesses and potential 
investors would be made aware of the possibility of flexibility in exceptional 
circumstances. It was confirmed that this possibility could be considered at the pre-
application advice stage which looks at potential applications on a case by case basis 
whilst retaining control to reject an application.  It was agreed that further supplementary 
planning guidance will be useful and production of a leaflet summarising the main points 
was supported.   
 
A Member questioned Welsh Government and NRW policy with regard to applications 
rejected and now subject to ministerial call in due to perceived flood risk.  The Member 
referred to the low flood risk in the summer tourist months, and emphasising the 
potential loss of economic advantage. 
  
The Head of Planning, Housing and Place-Shaping advised that revised Supplementary 
Planning Guidance would be presented to Committee in February 2017.    
 
 

Committee’s Conclusion: 
 
The Chair welcomed the planned revision of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance and also the commitment to engage proactively with businesses 
to encourage tourism business opportunities.  She referred to the proposed 
production of a leaflet and other initiatives. The Chair commended the 
positive joint working across departments for the benefit of the County. 

 
 

6. List of actions arising from the previous meeting  
 
We received the list of actions arising from the Economy and Development Select 
Committee meeting held on 27th September 2016.  In doing so, the following points 
were noted: 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
The Planning Department is still working on this matter.  If there are substantial changes 
to the document then it will be re-presented to the Select Committee for scrutiny.  
However, if there are no substantial changes, the report will be presented to Council in 
January 2017. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Affordable Housing 
 
A report will be presented to a joint scrutiny meeting with the Strong Communities 
Select Committee and the Adults Select Committee in February 2017. 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

Percentage of planning applications delegated to officers for decision 
 
The Head of Planning, Housing and Place Shaping will provide details of the 
comparative figures with other local authorities following a meeting with Welsh 
Government which is shortly being held. 
 
7. Economy and Development Select Committee Forward Work Programme  

 
We scrutinised the Economy and Development Select Committee Forward Work 
Programme.  In doing so, the following points were noted: 
 
Agenda items for the Select Committee meeting on 24th November 2016 
 

 Skutrade. 

 Eisteddfod report. 

 Chief Officer Enterprise Annual Report (To be confirmed). 

 CMC2 Performance Report (To be confirmed). 

 Velothon - Return on Investment (To be confirmed). 
 
Agenda items for the Select Committee meeting on 5th January 2017 
 

 Budget Scrutiny. 
 
Agenda items for the Select Committee meeting on 9th February 2017 
 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance on Tourism. 
 
Select Committee meeting – 27th April 2017 
 

 This meeting to be cancelled with a view to arranging an earlier meeting at the 
end of March / early April 2017. 
 

Agenda item for the Select Committee meeting – March / April 2017 
 

 Review of achievements of the Economy and Development Select Committee 
over the previous five years. 
 

End of November / Early December 2016 
 

 Destinations Management Plan Workshop Event. 
 

8. Council and Cabinet Business Forward Plan  
 
We scrutinised the Council and Cabinet Business Forward Plan.   
 
In response to a Select Committee Member’s question regarding the County Council’s 
budget setting process for the financial year 2017/18, it was noted that this matter had 
been raised at the Coordinating Board Meeting.  This year, there will be a different 

Page 10



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

October, 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

process with regard to the budget setting.  Directorates will not be preparing mandates 
to generate budget savings as these have been undertaken in previous years and have 
been taken forward as far as possible.  For the next financial year, this will be about 
making savings via the Directorates.  It was noted that the budget setting process for 
2017/18 has not been publicised in any detail so far.  However, the Select Committees 
will receive details of the draft budget for 2017/18 in the January 2017 cycle of 
meetings.  A joint Select Committee meeting comprising of the four Select Committees 
could be established to scrutinise the budget as a whole, in addition to the individual 
Select Committee meetings. 
 
9. Next meeting.  

 
The next meeting will be held on Thursday 24th November 2016 at 10.00am. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.37 pm  
 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

1.1 To present the findings of the Amion Cultural Services Review; 

1.2 To request that Committee considers the Transition Chart for Monmouthshire Museums based on the implementation of the key recommendations of 

the Amion Review;   

1.3 To request that Committee accepts and approves the associated Five Year Forward Plan required for the on-going Accreditation of Monmouthshire 

Museums, subject to bringing forward individual business case submissions for approval as appropriate.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

2.1 It is recommended that Committee considers the following prior to submission to Cabinet: 

 The findings and recommendations of the Amion Cultural Services Review in particular the key recommendations associated with 

Monmouthshire Museums (Appendix One); 

 Approval of the detailed Five Year Monmouthshire Museums Forward Plan (Appendix Two) and associated Transition Chart illustrating the  

phased approach to delivery (Appendix Three); 

 Agreement to the centralisation of the service to include a new centralised team structure (detail to follow in the Enterprise re-structure report 

January 2017); coordination of budgets and income generation opportunities;  revised and consistent all day opening hours and the 

implementation of a lone working policy with associated safeguards;   

 Future submissions of individual business cases enabling full delivery of the Five Year Forward Plan. 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

BACKGROUND 

3.1 In 2014, Cabinet approved an initial investment of £30,000 to commission Amion Consulting to undertake a comprehensive review of the future options 

for our Cultural services.  The purpose of the review was to identify future delivery options with an overall objective of improving, sustaining and 

developing local services to enable them to become more self-reliant and resilient.  During the review it became apparent that cultural services 

SUBJECT: MONMOUTHSHIRE MUSEUMS:  TRANSITION AND FORWARD PLANS 

MEETING: ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT SELECT COMMITTEE  

DATE:   24TH NOVEMBER 2016 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All  

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 5



overlapped many of the wider tourism, leisure and culture services so rather than view cultural services independently, it made sense to widen the 

review to consider the inter-dependencies at a service wide and local level. 

 

3.2 In October 2015, Cabinet approved the release of £60,000 to finance the supplementary work needed to consider future delivery options for the wider 

Leisure, Events, Youth and Outdoor Leisure services, independent experts Anthony Collins were appointed to undertake this work. In October 2016, 

Cabinet approved the principle recommendation made by Anthony Collins to establish a new Alternative Delivery Model (ADM) based on a flexible 

group structure.  As part of their analysis and due diligence activities, Anthony Collins concluded that there was a significant amount of transition work 

to be undertaken with Monmouthshire Museums prior to their full consideration for transfer into the ADM.   The attached Five Year Forward Plan and 

associated Transition Chart presents the programme of activities that will be required. 

 

4. REASONS 

4.1 Key Findings of the Amion Cultural Services Review 

The Amion report recognises that the status quo is not acceptable and recommends a strategy that reduces duplication in staffing, lowers staff 

costs, reduces expenditure on buildings and assets and realistically increases income, redefining the Service and giving it a sustainable blueprint for 

the future.  The report assesses the County’s museum provision concluding that; 

 The Service is over stretched and far too fragmented to be effective;  

 There is little sharing of resource and expertise, with the Service functioning as three independent entities; yet 

 There is a high level of commitment and passion from most of the staff with clear evidence of very good practice in collections management and the 

Service which is being offered to residents and visitors; 

 None of the buildings are ideal with Abergavenny and Monmouth being very compromised in terms of access and display spaces;  

 The Council will not be able to achieve current budget savings without substantial reductions to staffing levels and opening hours whilst income 

generation services are insufficiently resourced with a limit to the amount of ‘profit’ which could be generated; 

 The Council is simply trying to do far too much with too little resource – the offer is not a good one for Monmouthshire’s residents, visitors or staff 

therefore the Council needs to do less but do it much better and differently. 

4.2 Key Recommendations 

In making their key recommendations, Amion applied guiding principles for change: 

 Each museum location should continue to have a means of telling its local story whereby the most distinctive stories and collections for each place 

should be selected and presented; 

 Centralised storage and skills would enable better delivery across the offer – a collections centre needing to have public access and research facilities; 

 The current staff structure is muddled and unbalanced and a clear centralised structure is needed; 

 There needs to be a strong on line presence for Monmouthshire’s heritage; 

 Cross county trails are needed to link stories together and communicate the heritage offer outside of museums and buildings. 

 

P
age 14



The overarching recommendations are therefore as follows: 

 Create a centralised museum offer with an effective leadership function; 

 Create a collections centre/centralised store; 

 Continue to provide access to the county’s heritage; and 

 Create a properly resourced trading company* 

*This recommendation has been dismissed due to the ongoing development of the ADM 

4.2 Individual Site Recommendations  

In considering the overaching recommendations, Amion also made recommendations for each individual site which have been reflected in the attached 

Forward Plan and are detailed in section 4.4. 

4.3 Creation of a centralised Museum Service 

The current staff structure is muddled and unbalanced with two Service Managers.  Staff are operating in independent town based entities with very 

little sharing of resources and expertise which is detrimental to the offer.  In addition, as illustrated in Table One below, opening hours are inconsistent 

across the towns with Abergavenny and Monmouth closing for lunch, not ideal for a visitor facing service: 

Table One 

Current Opening Hours  Abergavenny  Monmouth  Chepstow * 

March to October (Mon to Sat) 11 – 1; 2 - 5 11 -1; 2 - 5 11 - 5 

March to October (Sun) 2 - 5 2 - 5 2 - 5 

November to February (Mon to Sat) 11 -1; 2 -4 11 – 1; 2 - 4 11 - 4 

Nov to February (Sun) Closed  2-4 2 - 4 

*Chepstow’s funding from the Town Council lunchtime opening all year  

It is therefore proposed that a centralised staffing structure is established to address the issue of uncoordinated decision making and to coordinate budgets 

and income generation opportunities. The new centralised team will also enable the capacity needed to take forward the Forward Plan. It is intended that 

the detail of the revised structure will be presented for consultation as part of the wider Enterprise restructure report in January 2017. 

In improving our visitor offer for residents and visitors - doing less, but doing it differently and much better, a change to the opening hours is proposed in 

Table Two below.  These changes will not only offer consistency across the service but will also enable all day opening.  In addition, following consultation 

with the MCC Health and Well Being Lead, a lone working policy and associated safeguards will be introduced e.g. buddying with other MCC services, 

external PIR lighting, personal attack pendants, training etc. Although these proposed activities will incur an approximate cost of £5000, the staffing 

efficiencies will result in a net efficiency saving of £35,000 per annum: 

P
age 15



Table Two 

Revised Opening Hours  Abergavenny  Monmouth  Chepstow * 

Monday to Sunday 11 – 4 11 - 4 11 - 4 

October to May  Closed one weekday   

*Chepstow’s additional funding from the Town Council enables longer opening hours 

4.4 Future Submission of Individual business cases 

In line with the attached Transition Chart and Forward Plan the proposed changes to Monmouthshire Museums will be developed as individual 

business cases and submitted for approval as they evolve. Approval is therefore sought to start developing proposals for the following: 

 

HLF Application  

 A feasibility study to assess the location for the Collections Centre which is likely to be either the Rolls Hall or the Market Hall in Monmouth; 

 A feasibility study to assess the location for the consolidated public displays relating to Nelson and the history of Monmouth and surrounding area 

which is likely to be either in the new Collections Centre or the Shire Hall; 

 Both of the above to be included in an overarching HLF bid which is likely to be submitted in December 2017 

Abergavenny 

 A feasibility study and  business case to assess the viability for the new outdoor events space and enhanced exhibition opportunities, potential funding 

via the Rural Development Programme. 

Chepstow  

 A feasibility study and business case to assess the viability for a new café and enhanced exhibition opportunities. 

Caldicot 

 An assessment of the Caldicot social history and Nelson collection currently held in Caldicot Castle, alternative sites for the collection to be considered 

in collaboration with community. 

                                                                    
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

5.1 The proposed changes to the opening hours and the implementation of the lone working policy will provide £40,000 efficiency savings per year 

however there will be an initial £5000 investment required to implement the safeguards required. 

5.2 The full cost of the proposals detailed in section 4.4 are yet to be established and will therefore be presented for approval as further detail is available.  

Funding streams will be investigated to reduce financial burden on the Authority. 

 

 

P
age 16



6. CONSULTEES 

Senior Leadership Team 

Economy and Development Select Committee 

Cabinet  

 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Appendix One – Amion Cultural Review 

Appendix Two – Five Year Forward Plan 

Appendix Three – Transition Chart 

Appendix Four – Future Generations Evaluation (included below) 

 

8. FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS 

The completed Future Generations Evaluation can be found in Appendix Four below.  In summary the Five Year Forward Plan for Monmouthshire 

Museums will provide a framework to ensure the delivery of a much valued local service is maintained and by its nature continue to provide 

employment, growth and an increasingly skilled workforce.  This will enable services to be kept open but with more community focus and coordination, 

helping knit communities together. Proposed activities will require positive engagement with the local community as well as income generation and 

investment in key aspects of the business to ensure the service thrives, contributing greatly to our local culture, heritage and art with the promotion of 

activity, health and wellbeing forming part of its key drivers.   

 

9. AUTHORS: Cath Fallon – Head of Economy and Enterprise;  

 

10. CONTACT DETAILS:    

 

E-mail: Cathfallon@monmouthshire.gov.uk    

Tel:   01633 748316/ 07557 190969 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 17

mailto:Cathfallon@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

 
     
 

APPENDIX FOUR 
 
Name of the Officer Cath Fallon  
Phone no:07557 190969 
E-mail: cathfallon@monmouthshire.gov.uk   

MONMOUTHSHIRE MUSEUMS:  TRANSITION AND FORWARD PLANS 

Name of Service: Enterprise including Tourism, Leisure, Culture and Youth Date: Future Generations Evaluation 11th November 2016 

 

NB. Key strategies and documents that may help you identify your contribution to the wellbeing goals and sustainable development principles include: 

Single Integrated Plan, Continuance Agreement, Improvement Plan, Local Development Plan, People Strategy, Asset Management Plan, Green 

Infrastructure SPG, Welsh Language Standards, etc 

 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Describe 

the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate any 

negative impacts or better contribute to positive 

impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, educated 
people, generates wealth, provides jobs 

To ensure much valued local services are maintained and 

by their nature provide employment, growth and an 

increasingly skilled workforce. 

 Keeping services open but with more community 

focus and coordination – helping knit communities 

together.  

 Positive engagement and coordination with 

community focused services.  

 Income generation and investment in key aspects 

of the business will ensure the culture and business 

thrives. 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and can 
adapt to change (e.g. climate change) 

Close working with countryside and planning and 

ensuring our green spaces and cultural heritage is 

supported. 

The service will seek to develop partnerships to access 

new forms of funding to secure partnership action. 

Future Generations Evaluation  
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact  

 
 

Assessments) 

P
age 18

mailto:cathfallon@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Describe 

the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate any 

negative impacts or better contribute to positive 

impacts? 

 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental wellbeing is 
maximized and health impacts are understood 

Positive impact by ensuring quality services are provided 

by offering events and opportunities to encourage a fit 

and healthy lifestyle through cultural access. 

The new offer will ensure that events and activities are 

also well signposted and the benefits of such activities 

demonstrated. 

Working with key partners through PSB will ensure that 

physical and mental health through activity is widely 

available and that the service is central to this by working 

directly with its communities. communities. 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, safe and 
well connected 

The service will seek to improve community engagement 

and connection with local priorities leading to service 

improvements. 

To ensure the service focuses on encouraging 

community cohesion as one of its and social drivers.  

 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global well-being 
when considering local social, economic and 
environmental wellbeing 

The service will work to ensure high standards are met 

and maintained that do not conflict with the global drivers. 

Any decisions taken will take into account global and 

well-being issues as part of its day to day processes. 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language are 
promoted and protected.  People are 
encouraged to do sport, art and recreation 

Monmouthshire Museums contributes greatly to the local 

culture, heritage and art including the promotion and 

protection of the Welsh language which will remain part 

of the core values going forward.            

One of the key drivers of the services is the promotion of 

culture and art and its Forward Plan reflects that. 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no matter what 
their background or circumstances 

Monmouthshire Museums provides services for all age 

ranges and delivers a comprehensive package for all of 

its communities.  

With the ability to better market and understand data 

there will be opportunities to target areas of the 

community that may not currently be aware of the offer. 

 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

P
age 19



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met this 

principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to mitigate any 
negative impacts or better contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing short 

term need with long 

term and planning 

for the future 

The attached Forward Plan provides a framework which will guide 

the future delivery of the service, balancing short term needs with 

longer term aspirations.  

The reducing budgets and savings will lead to some service 
areas reducing core hours of operation. There has been a 
concerted effort to assist by mobilising volunteers, making 
efficiencies and generating income. 

Working together 

with other partners 

to deliver 

objectives  

The services have some key partners from funding, grants and 

delivery of service. As the Forward Plan unfolds all major 

stakeholders and partners will be involved. 

The transition phase of the service will include an  engagement 
programme. 

Involving those 

with an interest 

and seeking their 

views 

The transition phase the Forward Plan will include an 

engagement programme. 

The engagement process will be constantly reviewed and 
evaluated to ensure the views of all those who have an interest 
are taken into account. 

Putting resources 

into preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting worse 

The Forward Plan has been developed with the site teams and 

managers. In the plans there are opportunities for growth and 

investment. 

If this is not done the services will be managing decline and 

income targets will not be maintained causing a downward spiral.  

The new Forward Plan will involve the development of a  new 
staffing structure and investigate how best to staff to maximize 
business opportunities and service delivery.  

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing goals 

together and on 

other bodies 

The opportunity to develop a new way of delivering the service 

and sustaining its long term future should give the opportunity to 

better connect wellbeing outcomes to other partners and bodies. 

The service contributes to the wellbeing goals and staff are to 

demonstrate and understand their input into the wellbeing goals 

whilst also considering the impact.  

One of the key drivers of the offer is the promotion of culture 
and art and its revised staffing structure and key developments 
will reflect that. 

 

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the evidence you have used and 

any action you are taking below. For more detailed information on the protected characteristics, the Equality Act 2010 and the Welsh Language Standards that apply to 

Monmouthshire Council please follow this link:http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx  or contact Alan Burkitt on 01633 644010 or 

alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

P
age 20

http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx
mailto:alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

Age Consider the impact on our community in relation 

to this e.g. how do we engage with older and 

younger people about our services, access 

issues etc. Also consider what issues there are 

for employment and training. 

n/a n/a 

Disability What issues are there are around each of the 

disability needs groups e.g. access to 

buildings/services, how we provide services and 

the way we do this, producing information in 

alternative formats, employment issues.  

 

n/a n/a 

Gender reassignment Consider the provision of inclusive services for 

Transgender people and groups. Also consider 

what issues there are for employment and 

training. 

n/a n/a 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

Same-sex couples who register as civil partners 
have the same rights as married couples in 
employment and must be provided with the 
same benefits available to married couples, such 
as survivor pensions, flexible working, 
maternity/paternity pay and healthcare insurance 
 

n/a n/a 

Pregnancy or maternity In employment a woman is protected from 
discrimination during the period of her pregnancy 
and during any period of compulsory or 
additional maternity leave. In the provision of 
services, good and facilities, recreational or 
training facilities, a woman is protected from 
discrimination during the period of her pregnancy 
and the period of 26 weeks beginning with the 
day on which she gives birth 
 

n/a n/a 

P
age 21



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

Race Think about what the proposal will do to promote 

race equality with the aim of: eliminating unlawful 

discrimination, promoting equality of opportunity 

and promoting good relations between persons 

of different racial groups. Also think about the 

potential to affect racial groups differently. Issues 

to look at include providing 

translation/interpreting services, cultural issues 

and customs, access to services, issues relating 

to Asylum Seeker, Refugee, Gypsy &Traveller, 

migrant communities and recording of racist 

incidents etc. 

n/a n/a 

Religion or Belief What the likely impact is e.g. dietary issues, 

religious holidays or daysassociated with 

religious observance, cultural issues and 

customs. Also consider what issues there are for 

employment and training. 

n/a n/a 

Sex Consider what issues there are for men and 

women e.g. equal pay, responsibilities for 

dependents, issues for carers, access to training, 

employment issues. Will this impact 

disproportionately on one group more than 

another 

n/a n/a 

Sexual Orientation Consider the provision of inclusive services for 

e.g. older and younger people from the Lesbian, 

Gay and Bi-sexual communities. Also consider 

what issues there are for employment and 

training. 

n/a n/a 

 

Welsh Language 

Under the Welsh Language measure of 2011, 

we need to be considering Welsh Language in 

signage, documentation, posters, language skills 

etc.and also the requirement to promote the 

language. 

n/a n/a 

 

P
age 22



4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and safeguarding.  Are your 
proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx  and for more on Monmouthshire’s Corporate Parenting Strategy see 
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

 Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on safeguarding and corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 
contribute to positive impacts? 

Safeguarding   Safeguarding is about ensuring that everything 
is in place to promote the well-being of children 
and vulnerable adults, preventing them from 
being harmed and protecting those who are at 
risk of abuse and neglect. 

n/a n/a 

Corporate Parenting  This relates to those children who are ‘looked 
after’ by the local authority either through a 
voluntary arrangement with their parents or 
through a court order. The council has a 
corporate duty to consider looked after children 
especially and promote their welfare (in a way, 
as though those children were their own).  

n/a n/a 

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

This report is founded upon the following: 
 

 Amion report regarding the Future Options for MCC’s Cultural Services; 

 The Medium Term Financial Plan; 

 The Five Year Forward Plan for Monmouthshire Museums 

 
6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have they informed/changed the 

development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 
 

 

The Forward Plan for Monmouthshire Museums will provide a framework to ensure the delivery of a much valued local service is maintained and by its nature continue to 

provide employment, growth and an increasingly skilled workforce.  This will enable services to be kept open but with more community focus and coordination, helping knit 

communities together. Proposed activities will require positive engagement with the local community as well as income generation and investment in key aspects of the 

business to ensure the service thrives, contributing greatly to our local culture, heritage and art with the promotion of activity, health and wellbeing forming part of its key 

drivers.   

 

P
age 23

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if applicable. 
 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  Progress  

Agreement of the key 

recommendations as detailed in the 

Amion report. 

December 2016 Cath Fallon   

Approval of the Five Year Forward 

Plan  

December 2016 Cath Fallon   

Submission of individual business 

cases to deliver the Forward Plan as 

appropriate  

2017-2022 Cath Fallon   

 

8. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will evaluate the impact, and 

where you will report the results of the review. 

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  On going  

 

9. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then honed and refined 

throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this process so that we can demonstrate how we have considered and built 

in sustainable development wherever possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following consideration 

1 Approval of the Amion report and associated Five 

Year Forward Plan  

December 2016 This will demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable 

development throughout the evolution of a proposal. 

    

    

 

 

The Forward Plan for Monmouthshire Museums will provide a framework to ensure the delivery of a much valued local service is maintained and by its nature continue 

to provide employment, growth and an increasingly skilled workforce.  This will enable services to be kept open but with more community focus and coordination, 

helping knit communities together. Proposed activities will require positive engagement with the local community as well as income generation and investment in key 

aspects of the business to ensure the service thrives, contributing greatly to our local culture, heritage and art with the promotion of activity, health and wellbeing 

forming part of its key drivers.   

 

P
age 24



 

 
AMION Consulting Limited 

Customs House, 7 Union Street, Liverpool, L3 9QX 

 
 

   
 

 

Monmouthshire County Council 

Cultural Services Review 

 
 

Commercial in Confidence 
June 2015  

 

Page 25



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Monmouthshire County Council 
 

Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy  
 
Commercial in Confidence 
June 2015 

 
All information, analysis and recommendations made for clients by AMION Consulting are made 
in good faith and represent AMION’s professional judgement on the basis of information 
obtained from the client and elsewhere during the course of the assignment. However, since the 
achievement of recommendations, forecasts and valuations depends on factors outside AMION’s 
control, no statement made by AMION may be deemed in any circumstances to be a 
representation, undertaking or warranty, and AMION cannot accept any liability should such 
statements prove to be inaccurate or based on incorrect premises. In particular, and without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, any projections, financial and otherwise, in this report 
are intended only to illustrate particular points of argument and do not constitute forecasts of 
actual performance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Reviewed and approved by: 

 Signature(s): 

  
Name(s): Chris Melia 
  
Job Title(s): Partner Director 

  
Date: 4th December 2015 
  

AMION Consulting is the trading name of AMION Consulting Limited 
Registered Office: Langtons, The Plaza, 100 Old Hall Street, Liverpool L3 9QJ 
Company No: 3909897 
Tel: 0151 227 5563 

Page 26



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

3 
 

Contents 

 
1 Executive Summary ........................................................................................................ 5 

2 Introduction ................................................................................................................. 10 

2.1 Project overview ......................................................................................................................... 10 

2.2 Our approach .............................................................................................................................. 11 

2.3 About us ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

3 Relevant context .......................................................................................................... 13 

3.1 Monmouthshire County Council priorities ................................................................................. 13 

3.2 Regional and local museums in Wales ........................................................................................ 14 

3.3 Summary findings from phase 1 of the expert review ............................................................... 14 

3.4 Previous review of Monmouthshire cultural services ................................................................ 16 

3.5 Monmouthshire population and demographics ......................................................................... 18 

3.6 Tourism in Monmouthshire ........................................................................................................ 18 

4 Current state analysis ................................................................................................... 23 

4.1 Abergavenny Castle Museum ..................................................................................................... 23 

4.2 Chepstow Museum ..................................................................................................................... 27 

4.3 Nelson Museum, Monmouth ...................................................................................................... 31 

4.4 Other services and posts within the museums ........................................................................... 36 

4.5 Caldicot Castle ............................................................................................................................. 37 

4.6 Old Station Tintern ...................................................................................................................... 40 

4.7 Shire Hall, Monmouth ................................................................................................................. 42 

4.8 Overall financial summary .......................................................................................................... 45 

4.9 Estimated gross economic impact of the museums and attractions .......................................... 47 

4.10 Overall observations ................................................................................................................... 47 

5 Proposed strategy......................................................................................................... 49 

5.1 The reasons behind our recommendations ................................................................................ 49 

5.2 Guiding principles for change ..................................................................................................... 50 

5.3 Overarching recommendations .................................................................................................. 50 

5.4 Centralise the museum service ................................................................................................... 51 

5.5 Create a trading company ........................................................................................................... 54 

5.6 Proposals for each site ................................................................................................................ 56 

Page 27



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

4 
 

5.7 Address leadership and management ........................................................................................ 63 

5.8 Longer term governance implications ........................................................................................ 66 

5.9 Revenue implications .................................................................................................................. 67 

5.10 Capital implications ..................................................................................................................... 72 

5.11 Timescales ................................................................................................................................... 74 

6 Appendix 1 – Case Study – Blackpool Council ................................................................ 76 

7 Appendix 2 – Case Study - Glamping ............................................................................. 77 

8 Appendix 3 – Governance options ................................................................................. 84 

8.1 Governance options .................................................................................................................... 84 

8.2 Museums and attractions stay within the Council ..................................................................... 84 

8.3 Museums and attractions stay within the Council but are reorganised ..................................... 85 

8.4 Museums and attractions are spun out into a single NPDO ....................................................... 86 

8.5 Museums and attractions are spun out into two NPDOs ........................................................... 88 

8.6 Museums and attractions are handed over to local community based organisations .............. 88 

8.7 Recommendations ...................................................................................................................... 90 

 

 

 

Page 28



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

5 
 

1  Executive Summary 
This report provides Monmouthshire County Council with a strategy for protecting and 
sustaining the museums and attractions in a way that is enterprising and responsive to all 
communities across the County. 

It has been produced in advance of a wider review of leisure services which is now taking place. 
The recommendations therefore need to remain flexible to some extent to take account of the 
changing context. 

The museums and attractions service has been subject to significant ‘salami slicing’ in recent 
years. The 2015/2016 budget appears to be both unachievable and, more worryingly, 
inadequate to deliver a service of value to the people of Monmouthshire. 

Providing a museums and heritage attraction service of value comes at a cost. There is no ‘silver 
bullet’ which allows councils to run services like this at no cost or minimal cost. Experience 
from everywhere shows that revenue funding is required in some form, whether through direct 
grants, cross subsidy or through the provision of income generating assets. 

Putting the service out to community based organisations or charitable trusts may seem to be 
a good solution for the Council. But in reality, these small, volunteer run organisations are only 
able to provide a very small scale offer of limited benefit which can never contribute the type 
of value that a professionally staffed and run museums and heritage service can.  

And Monmouthshire DOES still have a professional and valuable service – albeit one which has 
been stretched almost to breaking point.  

We are not recommending therefore that the service is broken up and hived off as small scale 
individual sites. But we also recognise that the status quo is not acceptable. Instead we are 
proposing a strategy which reduces duplication in staffing, lowers staff costs, reduces 
expenditure on buildings and assets and realistically increases income.  

In doing so, it will redefine the service and give it a sustainable blueprint for the future. 

The recommendations also take account of the wider leisure services review which could have 
a significant impact on the service in the future. Interim recommendations will allow immediate 
improvements to be made whilst ensuring that the service can form part of the new 
organizational structure in the future. 

Taken at face value, the level of revenue support which the Council will need to make is not 
much different from the amount which is expected this year. It does however represent a 
significant saving on the actual revenue that was required in 2014/15. We also need to reiterate 
our concerns about the reality of the current budget! 

Importantly, the proposed annual cost to the Council, will represent much greater value for the 
people of Monmouthshire. It provides a much more effective and locally targeted way of 
spending c£700,000! 

AMION Consulting, working with Headland, has been appointed by Monmouthshire County 
Council to review the options and opportunities for the future of the Council’s museums and 
attractions. Specifically the review should look at the finance, assets, property, staffing and 

Page 29



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

6 
 

management of the service. The study has been commissioned because of the increasing 
pressures on the Council’s revenue budgets as well as the significant backlog of capital investment 
that is needed to maintain the property and assets. 

Monmouthshire is a large rural county with a population of 91,000 living in an area of around 330 
square miles. Despite the significant financial pressures faced by the Council, it is committed to 
improving its services to its communities. 

The picture for museums across Wales is changing. It is widely recognised that additional funding 
is very unlikely to become available and therefore new methods for management and delivery of 
museums services will be essential for longer term sustainability. 

This report assesses: the County’s current museums at Abergavenny, Chepstow and the Nelson 
Museum in Monmouth; the three attractions, Caldicot Castle, the Old Station Tintern and Shire 
Hall, Monmouth. All of the venues sit within Monmouthshire’s Tourism, Leisure and Culture 
department. 

Visits to all the museums are seasonal and range between 17,000 at the Nelson Museum and 
24,000 at Abergavenny. Visitor numbers for Caldicot Castle, the Old Station Tintern and Shire Hall 
are not captured in the same way.  

In 2014/15, the net cost of the service was £1.08m. The net cost for 2015/16 is budgeted to be 
£777k although it is very unclear whether the cost savings and income growth which has been 
assumed within the budget are achievable. The reduction has been based on cost savings which 
are largely unspecified and unsubstantiated income growth targets. The consultant team has no 
confidence that the Council will be able to achieve this budget without substantial further 
reductions within the year to staffing levels and opening hours.   

An assessment of the current offer shows that there is a very high level of commitment and 
passion from most of the staff who work in the museums and attractions. There is also clear 
evidence of some very good practice in terms of collections management and the service which 
is being offered to some residents and visitors.  

But despite this, overall, the service is very seriously over stretched and fragmented.  Staff at 
all sites are forced to go to unacceptable levels to get their jobs done and it is very clear that the 
council is quite simply trying to do far too much with too little resource. 

In terms of the buildings, none of the three museums are in buildings which are ideal. 
Abergavenny and the Nelson Museum are very compromised in terms of access and display 
spaces. Chepstow and Abergavenny are compensating to some extent through creative 
programming, entirely enabled by grant funding.  

Caldicot Castle has been used for many years to generate income from functions which has gone 
some way towards covering the direct costs but has not contributed to the more major 
maintenance works which are needed. The building now presents a significant future liability to 
the council. 

Shire Hall is in good condition but sits somewhere been a museum, a visitor attraction and a 
functions venue. At present it is not generating enough income to be financially self-sustaining 
and the visitor experience is ill defined. 

Page 30



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

7 
 

The income generating services in all of the sites are insufficiently resourced and far too 
fragmented to be properly effective. But even with better commercial expertise and a co-
ordinated approach, there is a limit to the amount of ‘profit’ which could be generated.  

Across the museums and attractions there is very little sharing of resources and expertise. Even 
the museums, which all sit within the same service, are not really functioning as part of a county-
wide service, but rather as three largely independent entities.  

We do not believe that the offer, as it is at the moment, is a good one for Monmouthshire’s 
residents, its visitors or the council’s staff. 

We believe that the council needs to do less, but to do it much better and in most ways, 
differently. 

In order to do this however, some things will need to be sacrificed and this will almost certainly 
raise objections from some local residents, staff and other stakeholders. 

There are core recommendations for future of the service as well as a number of specific 
recommendations for each site. 

 The Council should create a new centralised museums service which brings together, in one 
building, all of the expertise and knowledge required for the museums service. This central 
location would hold all of the collections which are not on display. This step would bring many 
benefits. It would reduce duplication in skills, allow the collections to be rationalized, and 
prompt a broad programme of reform which would include digitization and co-curation with 
communities. It would also enable the closure of one, or possibly two of the existing 
museums which are compromised in terms of space and access, and allow for more resource 
to be deployed into outreach and education, taking a bespoke service out across the county. 

 The Council should also create a new, properly resourced and effective trading company to 
generate a surplus to support the service. The wholly owned independent company would be 
responsible for the management of a range of catering services, functions, events and 
activities. Depending on the options agreed for each of the sites, the trading company would 
generate a a net surplus of between £50,000 and £120,000. 

There are a number of specific options for each of the sites. 

 The Chepstow building is the best suited of the existing museums to be developed as a better 
museum, benefiting from its proximity to the Castle and the town. The creation of the central 
service will free up valuable space currently used for conservation, storage and back office 
functions, to allow for the creation of a new ground floor café, new exhibition space and 
activity and community areas. 

 The building at Abergavenny is very compromised as a museum. It has particularly bad access 
and a fairly significant long term maintenance cost. There is the added complication that the 
building is owned by the Neville Estate which would expect a percentage of any income 
generated, reducing the value of any commercialisation. It is the strong recommendation 
therefore that the museum is returned to the Neville Estate to allow them to find an 
alternative sustainable purpose. The Council could however retain management of the 
grounds and introduce interpretation and town trails, working with the local community. If 

Page 31



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

8 
 

this option is unacceptable, the building should be made more flexible to allow for a less static 
programme. Some additional income generation could come from seasonal catering pods in 
the grounds and more ticketed activities. 

 The Nelson Museum sits within the Market Hall in Monmouth. The rest of the building has 
recently been vacated and there is a good opportunity to use the whole space (including the 
former one stop shop, empty offices and former slaughterhouses) for the creation of the new 
centralised service and store. This would allow the valuable Nelson collection to be better 
presented and the creation of a new café which takes advantage of the views across the river. 
If the space is not suitable, the Nelson collection should be relocated to the Shire Hall and a 
new use found for the museum building alongside the rest of the space. 

 The Shire Hall provides a confused offer for visitors and faces significant commercial 
challenges from the market which prevents certain uses on Saturdays. If the Market Hall 
cannot be used for the central store, the Nelson Collection should be relocated into the Shire 
Hall, giving it a new purpose as a museum. Although this would reduce income from functions, 
this would be more than offset by the saving from closing the Nelson Museum. Other spaces 
could be improved to provide more temporary exhibition space. The new trading company 
would take responsibility for the management of the Shire Hall, improving the profitability of 
events. If the Nelson Collection stays within the Market Hall as part of the central service, 
limited changes are recommended to improve the profitability of the Shire Hall and increase 
the flexibility of displays. 

 Caldicot Castle is the most challenging of the venues. It requires significant capital investment 
and the interior is increasingly unfit for purpose. The recommendation is to restrict public 
access to the courtyard and focus development on the country park with the introduction of 
new activities and seasonal pop up catering and camping pods. The Council should also work 
with the town council and local community to establish a development trust to raise funds 
for the major restoration work required. Once this is completed, the Council could consider 
providing a lease to a new community based trust to run the castle. 

 The Old Station Tintern is probably the site with the greatest potential for increased income 
generation in the short to medium term, benefiting from strong visitor and resident markets. 
The Council should reduce costs by closing the carriages, transferring the lease of the cafe to 
the new trading company when it is up for renewal, adding camping pods to generate income 
and additional play facilities to increase footfall. 

It is a strong recommendation of this report that the museums and attractions remain within the 
Council. There is no value to be gained from creating a new trust and indeed this would 
inevitably create further problems. Instead recommendations are made for a different reporting 
structure with reduced staff numbers reflecting the proposed changes. This is in addition to the 
creation of the new trading company. 

The annual net cost to the Council could be between £685,000 and £763,000 depending on the 
options chosen. 

Capital funding will be required for the development of the centralised service and the changes 
proposed at the Chepstow Museum. It is recommended that two applications are made to the 
HLF over a four to five year period, led by the Monmouthshire Museums Development Trust. 

Page 32



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

9 
 

Capital of around £465k will also be needed for the development of the commercial facilities 
(excluding the proposed cafes at Monmouth and Chepstow which will be included in the HLF 
projects above). This commercial investment is likely to realise a payback over 5 years, which is 
typical for commercial leisure investment. 

Page 33



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

10 
 

2 Introduction 

2.1 Project overview 

AMION Consulting (in partnership with Headland Design Associates) was appointed in February 
2015 by Monmouthshire County Council (‘the council’) to undertake a review of the options and 
opportunities for the future of the council’s museums and cultural attractions. 

Specifically the council requires a strategy and business plan that is able to plot the course of the 
service over the next five years and provide a sustainable cultural service for the long term. The 
strategy should explore all aspects of finance, assets, property, staffing and management. In 
particular, alternative forms of governance should be explored as appropriate, with an exposition 
of the key risks and benefits. This piece of work is seen as critical for a number of reasons: 

 the revenue funding available for the service has been declining and is likely to continue to 
decline; 

 there is a significant backlog of capital investment, maintenance and repair at the sites which 
would probably require external funding; 

 there is a recognition that services may be operated, funded, managed and developed better 
under different business models;  

 the council is not as well placed as other bodies to seek fundraising; and 

 market and consumer expectations have moved on significantly over the last decade. 

Critically, the council recognises that continued tweaks and incremental changes against a 
backdrop of ever reducing budgets will not deliver the transformation of the service that is 
required. The following paragraph is taken directly from the brief for this project. 

“The scale of the challenge, today and in the future is significant and as a council that remains 
committed to celebrating its rich cultural heritage and enabling services that add enormous value 
to local ‘sense of place’ and economic and societal development, it is clear that new ends and 
means are required. As a non-statutory discretionary service, the level of financial contribution 
required of the service over the medium-term in order to meet the burgeoning budget gap, will 
almost certainly render it unviable. Doing nothing is thus, not an option.” 

The museums and cultural attractions are managed within the Tourism, Leisure and Culture 
department of the council and include: 

 Abergavenny Castle Museum; 

 Caldicot Castle and Country Park; 

 Chepstow Museum; 

 Nelson Museum, Monmouth; 

 Old Station Tintern (Country Park); and  

 Shire Hall, Monmouth. 

Page 34



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

11 
 

2.2 Our approach 

Our approach throughout this study has been that form follows function. A change to the way in 
which the museums and cultural attractions are governed can only be determined once there is 
a clear strategy in place for the future.  

In identifying this strategy, it was important for us to get under the skin of each of the museums 
and attractions to understand how they can be used to celebrate the rich cultural heritage of 
Monmouthshire and how they can contribute to economic and social development as well as 
contributing to pride of place.  

Our study has involved the following: 

 incognito visits to each site; 

 an inception meeting with the core client team; 

 a tour of each site; 

 face to face meetings with each site manager and other staff from across the Tourism, Leisure 
and Culture department; 

 an in-depth review of all background information relating to the service and to the individual 
sites (business plans, budgets, condition surveys, maintenance plans, policies, legal 
documents etc.); 

 an exploratory workshop with the core client team; 

 face to face meetings with key stakeholders (other officers, councillors, development trustee, 
Borough Theatre, the Neville Estate etc.); 

 public consultation session (invited guests including schools, local history societies, civic 
societies, friends, users etc.); 

 written feedback from two of the five town councils;  

 options workshop with the core client team;  

 staff consultations sessions (visitor facing staff from each site); 

 regular telephone calls with various members of the core client team; and 

 various emails from members of the public; 

We have been struck by the appetite of the core client team (managers and curatorial) to do 
things differently and to embrace change. They have been open, honest and generous with their 
time. Their over-riding aspiration for this piece of work is to achieve a strong, exciting vision of a 
rejuvenated service which is enterprising, sustainable and at the heart of its communities.  

This report is a summary of our findings and recommendations.  

 

Page 35



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

12 
 

2.3 About us  

AMION Consulting is a well-established economics, financial and management consultancy based 
in Liverpool. The firm was established in 2000 and has built its reputation on providing 
straightforward, accurate and valuable advice to its clients, often bringing clarity and a good sense 
approach to complex projects and challenges. 

This particular piece of work has been undertaken by our Visitor and Leisure Team which is a 
specialist consulting team that works exclusively in the areas of visitor attractions, museums, 
culture and tourism. The Visitor and Leisure team is led by Chris Melia who has been a consultant 
in this sector since 2007 and before that held a number of director level posts in visitor attractions 
and tourism throughout the UK.   

Headland Design Associates (our partner for this study) is a long-established and well-resourced 
museum development and interpretive design practice. The practice undertakes consultancy 
work including feasibility studies, audience development, access and activity plans and 
interpretation plans; as well as the full-scale implementation of heritage design projects. 
Rosemary Allen, a director of Headland, brings a particular knowledge of the Heritage Lottery 
Fund and its requirements in terms of planning and development. 

Page 36



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

13 
 

3 Relevant context 

3.1 Monmouthshire County Council priorities 

Monmouthshire County Council is administered by a partnership between the Conservative and 
Liberal Democrat groups.  Its main stated priorities are: support for vulnerable people; education 
for children; support for enterprise and job creation; and maintaining locally accessible services. 

In order to achieve the priorities above, the council created a Single Integrated Plan with three 
core outcomes in mind: 

 Nobody is left behind - a place of cohesive communities where everybody is treated with 
dignity and respect and has the same opportunity to achieve what they wish. 

 People are confident, capable and involved - Monmouthshire should be a place where 
people feel safe and want to be involved; where they are confident in themselves and their 
abilities and how they contribute to their own community. 

 Our county thrives – the county should thrive which includes both the economy and the 
environment. The economy should support communities and families to live a good life. 

Monmouthshire County Council covers a large, rural geographical area with a total population of 
91,000 which is scattered over 330 square miles. The geography of Monmouthshire complicates 
the delivery of services to people. Centralising public-facing services is not always a practical in 
Monmouthshire since the distances between towns and communities makes this inefficient. The 
focus in Monmouthshire has always been on local delivery.  

In order to deliver the three outcomes listed above, the council has created an Improvement Plan 
for 2015 to 2017. The Improvement Plan is written very much in the context of severe budget 
pressures all across the council and seeks to address the conundrum of improving public services 
against this backdrop. The document is upfront and honest about the challenges the council faces. 
It acknowledges that the council has to do more with less and that this will inevitably mean 
changing the way things are done.  

In improving its services the council is committed to the following: 

 a more agile, flexible workforce with the right people in the locations where they are needed 
and where they can work effectively;  

 more efficient, effective and sustainable services enabled by council staff and service users 
working together to make change;  

 better staff training and development that ensures staff are supported and support each 
other and also, learn from world-wide ideas and inspirational people; 

 council staff supporting more meaningful engagement in communities; and  

 an organisational structure which is ‘networked’ in nature and exhibits high levels of trust in 
its staff. 

Page 37



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

14 
 

The council has an annual revenue budget of £151m for 2015/16 which needs to reduce to £130m 
over the next few years. The Tourism, Leisure and Culture department which is responsible for 
the museums and cultural attractions has an annual budget of £5.34m for 2015/16 which is a 
reduction of £430,000 on the previous year. In the space of the last 12 months, the department 
has been required to make savings of £400,000 on staffing.   

The capital budget for 2015/16 has been identified at £47.6m although most of this (£42.2m) is 
for schools. £40,000 has been identified in this year’s capital programme for a new kitchen in 
Caldicot Castle. 

3.2 Regional and local museums in Wales 

The regional and local museum scene in Wales is currently in a somewhat turbulent and fluid 
state. There is a review taking place at national level and all of the local authority museums are 
facing severe challenges arising from budget cuts and a focus on preservation of front-line 
services.  In North Wales, a regional partnership is considering ways in which pooling resources 
could potentially provide mutual benefits to members sharing services and a study has been 
mooted to look at long term sustainability for museums in their region. Sharing and prudent 
management of resources is seen as a means of sustaining vital services in a climate where funds 
are shrinking.  

Following an announcement at the conference of the Federation of Museums and Galleries of 
Wales in March last year, the Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism commissioned an 
expert review of the current and future plans by local authorities to deliver local museum services 
in Wales. This began in October last year. The review sets out to consider the potential for new 
delivery models based on partnership working. Phase 1, which was completed as AMION was 
finishing this report, culminated in an all Wales report by the Expert Panel which provided 
research, analysis and comment on the current delivery of local museum services, together with 
recommendations for future delivery. The key findings which are relevant to this work are 
summarised in the following section. 

In Phase 2, a consultation process on the potential new models for service delivery will be 
followed by the development of a delivery plan for local museum provision as part of the next 
national strategy for museums to be published in 2016. 

Whilst the pressures on regional and local museums in Wales is a subject of concern at national 
level, it is difficult to see where additional funding will come from so developing new methods of 
museum management and service delivery is likely to be the only way forward. 

3.3 Summary findings from phase 1 of the expert review 

In October 2014 the Deputy Minister for Culture, Media and Tourism announced that there would 
be an expert review into Welsh museums, specifically considering the implications of the changes 
proposed by Local Authorities in Wales and identifying sustainable future models. 

The first phase of the review, which was published in early autumn 2015, considered national, 
local and independent museums. 

Page 38



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

15 
 

It contained ten key recommendations: 

 Welsh Government, in partnership with Welsh Local Government Association, to create three 
Regional Bodies to provide operational direction, management and support to locally 
delivered museums. 

 The Welsh Government should establish a national Museums Council in order to provide 
collective leadership and co‑ordinated activities at national level for the museum sector. 

 The Welsh Government should develop a Museums Charter to set expectations for public 
museums in Wales and the requirement to measure their progress and standards achieved. 

 Local authorities, when reviewing their museums services, should consider all options 
including retention of present operation, transfer to alternative delivery model or closure and 
do this in consultation with Welsh Government. 

 Welsh Government should put measures in place to establish Collections Wales which will 
rationalise, develop and safeguard collections of significance to the histories and cultures of 
Wales. 

 Welsh Government, local authorities, other governing bodies and sector bodies to collaborate 
to identify and provide the skills development needed to support the workforce during the 
transition and beyond, in order for it to be able to fully achieve the requirements of the 
Museums Charter. 

 Welsh Government should establish a transformation fund in order to facilitate the major 
changes required in the museum sector in Wales. 

 The Welsh Government should review, in partnership with museum governing bodies, the 
policy and practice of charging for museum entry and from this to provide guidance. 

 The Welsh Government should ensure that museums directly provided by local authorities 
should be given relief from National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) on the same basis as 
museums that are operated by charities. 

 Welsh Ministers should be formally responsible for supporting and developing all public 
museums in Wales. 

A number of these recommendations relate to the need for improved leadership of the sector at 
national level.  

Of the recommendations which relate to the financial viability of local authority museums, the 
suggestions are headline or early stage thinking. Local authorities are urged to consider 
collaboration as a way of potentially improving long term viability. Government is urged to offer 
NNDR relief to local authority museums, and the policy relating to charging should be reviewed. 
There is also a recommendation that a transformation fund is established. 

At this stage, there is little in the report which provides specific direction for Monmouthshire, 
although it will be important for the County to stay to remain engaged in the process. 

Within the review however, there were a number of observations and specific recommendations 
which chime with the findings of this review. These include: 

Page 39



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

16 
 

 A realistic approach needs to be taken when considering museum accommodation, 
recognising that premises are often less than ideal for their purpose; 

 There should be a rationalisation of stores and changed approaches to reserve collections. 
Such work requires investment and imagination. 

 A major review of collections and current approaches to collecting is essential. 

 Capacity to generate real profit from trading activities (such as retail and catering) is limited. 

 Significant capital investment is needed, but this has to be based on excellent strategic 
planning. Without this, local museums in Wales will continue to decline, both in terms of their 
public offer and the well-being of their collections.  

 Decline seems to be a dominant theme for many museums. 

3.4 Previous review of Monmouthshire cultural services  

Monmouthshire County Council commissioned two previous studies considering potential 
governance options for the museums. The following summarises the key findings. 

3.4.1 Appraisal of Alternative Service Delivery Options: Leisure and Cultural Services 

In 2006, Monmouthshire County Council’s Cultural Services Manager produced a report for 
elected members, looking at delivery options for leisure centres, sports development, parks and 
recreation, libraries, museums, theatres and arts development.  

The review was triggered in part by budget cuts and the impact these were having and would 
continue to have on the services. 

The report considered four broad options: transfer of services to a trust or trusts; shared services 
with other authorities; externalising services to private operators; reconfiguring the services 
within the Council. 

There were two overarching findings: that the Council needed to have a clear vision about the 
value of these services; and that the transfer of services does not guarantee either improvement 
or cost savings. 

The report considered a number of sub options under the heading of creating a trust including a 
‘super trust’ to run all the services as well as individual service trusts. It concluded that there was 
insufficient scale of operation in the county to create an overarching trust which would cross 
subsidise the cultural services. It also discounted the options of creating a cultural trust (to run 
libraries, museums, arts development and theatres) and of creating an arts and museums trust. 
The geography of the county was thought to reduce any potential benefits and a high level of 
subsidy would be required in both cases.    

The option to create a trust for the museums service alone was considered to be a viable option 
however which could re-energise the service. Whilst this could bring improvements to the offer, 
it would not generate any financial savings. 

Page 40



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

17 
 

The shared services option was not considered a realistic proposition for the museums service 
given the very different types of services offered by potential partners. Some specific options 
were suggested for individual sites. The Monmouth Museum could potentially be considered as 
part of the national museums, although this could create difficulties around the local history 
centre. Caldicot Castle could sit more naturally within CADW’s portfolio. 

The devolution of the museums to town councils was also discussed. This was seen as a less 
appealing option than the creation of a trust, resulting in a more fragmented offer and requiring 
complex negotiations and arrangements to achieve. 

The third option of externalisation to a private management company was discounted for the 
museums service. 

The final option of reconfiguration within the Council was not considered in detail although the 
opportunities for the integration of learning services was suggested as having some potential for 
further exploration.  

The report did not include any financial modelling and the assessment of options was made on a 
qualitative basis. 

3.4.2 Scoping Study and Options Appraisal for the Devolution of Monmouthshire Museums to 

Charitable Status 

In 2007 Egeria was commissioned to assess the suitability of the museums service for transfer to 
a charitable organisation.  

Four potential options were considered: devolving the service as a single entity; devolving each 
museum as an independent entity; creating a larger heritage trust to include Shire Hall and the 
heritage sites; creating a trust for Abergavenny and Chepstow and a separate Lower Wyre 
Heritage Trust. 

The report concluded that the museums service was interesting and was delivering a very good 
service for visitors and the community on very slender resources. 

It was however facing a number of challenges from budget cuts, future pressure on council 
funding and the need for capital investment. 

The report was clear that devolving the service into one or more trusts would not achieve financial 
improvement. All options were at best ‘cost neutral’ although creating individual trusts would be 
more expensive. The option of creating two trusts for Abergavenny and Chepstow and a Lower 
Wyre Heritage Trust would offer the greatest development flexibility. 

The benefits of running the service as a charity related to improved engagement and greater 
organisational flexibility.  

Ongoing core funding would be required from the Council within a range of £620k to £730k 
annually, depending on the option. Allowing for savings from NNDR (business rates) and VAT, the 
saving to the Council would be a maximum of £14k based on the subsidy level at that time.  

The importance of a stable financial base from which the charities could initially be established 
and later grow was emphasised. 

Page 41



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

18 
 

3.4.3 Implications for this study 

In the eight or nine years since the reports were produced, a number of local authorities have 
devolved their museums services into charitable organisations. The ongoing requirement for 
council subsidy has been evident in every case. The financial fragility of these organisations has 
also become apparent, with many suffering from severe cuts to the council subsidy.  

The core findings of both reports remain valid however. Creating an independent trust to run 
museums services offers a number of ‘soft benefits’ such as a re-energised and re-focused 
organisation. In order to realise these benefits however, a solid financial platform, underpinned 
by a realistic revenue subsidy, is essential. Unless a viable business model can be developed, 
devolving the service to a trust would lead to significant problems and ultimately closure.  

The option of shared services for museums was considered unrealistic at the time. This 
opportunity could potentially be reconsidered as part of the wider leisure services review.    

3.5 Monmouthshire population and demographics 

The local authority area of Monmouthshire is largely rural covering an area of 330 square miles 
with a population of 91,000. Half of the population live in the main towns of Abergavenny 
(10,000), Monmouth (10,000), Caldicot (11,000) and Chepstow (12,000).  

Taken at face value, Monmouthshire appears to be an affluent area – average wages and salaries 
are higher than any other local authority in Wales; house prices are much higher than average; 
twice as many people live in large, detached houses than the national average; people are 
generally older and better off than average; more people run their own businesses than average; 
more people have degree level qualifications than average; and more people are employed in 
professional occupations than average.  

The apparent affluence masks the deprivation of which there are pockets of course: the lowest 
earners in Monmouthshire earn significantly less than the average for Wales or the UK; and it is 
very difficult to buy a house since house prices are so high. 

In Monmouthshire, there are: 

 6,670 pupils in 31 maintained primary schools;   

 4,874 pupils in 5 maintained secondary schools; and 

 1,457 pupils in 6 independent schools.  

3.6 Tourism in Monmouthshire 

Tourists are attracted to Monmouthshire by its stunning countryside, landscapes, rivers and its 
built heritage. The Wye Valley which runs through part of Monmouthshire was arguably the 
birthplace of British tourism with pleasure boats and excursion beginning in the 18th century.  

Tourism is important to the economy of Monmouthshire with over 300,000 leisure and holiday 
tourists staying in the county and a further 3.4 million visiting for the day (a further 90,000 people 

Page 42



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

19 
 

stay in the county for work or business each year). It is estimated that 10% of the jobs in the 
Monmouthshire economy are supported by tourism.   

Of the 300,000 tourists that stay overnight in Monmouthshire, around 30,000 are from overseas. 
The chart below shows the number of overseas tourists in Monmouthshire between 2005 and 
2014 (excluding those staying for business). It is clear that the market fell between 2007 and 2009 
as the global recession took hold but Monmouthshire appears to have done well since 2009 with 
the number of overseas tourists increasing by about 50%.  

 

Source: International Passenger Survey, Travel Trends 2014, Office for National Statistics 

It is important to note however that of the 800,000 overseas tourists staying in Wales each year 
(excluding business), just 4% stay in Monmouthshire. Monmouthshire ranks 9th out of the 22 local 
authorities in Wales for overseas staying tourists (excluding business). The places where overseas 
tourists stay are very much driven by hotel accommodation – the Celtic Manor Hotel for example 
will account for the majority of overseas tourists staying in Newport. 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Page 43



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

20 
 

 

Source: International Passenger Survey, Travel Trends 2014, Office for National Statistics 

As with the overseas market, it appears that the number of domestic tourists to Monmouthshire 
has grown significantly over the last few years. The number of domestic tourists to 
Monmouthshire was declining up until 2010 but has increased by 40% since then. The chart below 
shows the number of domestic tourists staying in Monmouthshire between 2008 and 2013.  

Local authority 

Staying tourists 

from overseas 

(2014)

Cardi ff 198,000

Gwynedd 81,000

Pembrokeshire 78,000

Conwy 68,000

Swansea 58,000

Newport 40,000

Ceredigion 33,000

Anglesey 33,000

Monmouthshire 29,000

Powys 27,000

Wrexham 25,000

Denbighshire 25,000

Neath/Port Ta lbot 18,000

Fl intshi re 18,000

Carmarthenshire 16,000

Vale of Glamorgan 11,000

Bridgend 11,000

Rhondda 10,000

Torfaen 8,000

Caerphi l ly 8,000

Merthyr Tydfi l 4,000

Blaenau Gwent 3,000

Total Wales 802,000

Page 44



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

21 
 

 

Source: Great Britain Tourism Survey 2013, Visit Wales 

It is important to note that this equates to just over 3% of all domestic tourism visits to Wales. 
Areas such as Gwnedd, Pembrokeshire and Conwy take most domestic tourism in Wales. 

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

220,000

240,000

260,000

280,000

300,000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Page 45



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

22 
 

 

Source: Great Britain Tourism Survey 2013, Visit Wales (Wrexham has been omitted from the 
survey). 

  

Local authority 

Domestic tourists 

(2014)

Gwynedd 1,417,000

Pembrokeshire 1,078,000

Conwy 833,000

Cardi ff 799,000

Denbighshire 629,000

Powys 523,000

Anglesey 492,000

Ceredigion 491,000

Swansea 448,000

Carmarthenshire 335,000

Monmouthshire 274,000

Bridgend 200,000

Fl intshi re 188,000

Rhondda 116,000

Newport 111,000

Vale of Glamorgan 94,000

Neath/Port Ta lbot 79,000

Caerphi l ly 69,000

Torfaen 65,000

Blaenau Gwent 22,000

Merthyr Tydfi l 6,000

Total Wales 8,269,000

Page 46



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

23 
 

4 Current state analysis 

4.1 Abergavenny Castle Museum 

4.1.1 Current offer 

Abergavenny Museum is located in a building which was formerly a hunting lodge, set in the 
attractive grounds of a ruined Norman castle. The building is rented from the Neville Estate, the 
council does not own the castle or the grounds.  

The building has a number of different levels and two possible entrances. Most of the public 
spaces can be reached in a wheelchair with help from staff. The collections began at the beginning 
of the early 20th century and culminated in a museum being first established in the town in 1957.   

The building is far from ideal as a museum as it is made up of a series of small interconnected 
spaces on different levels. It has some very attractive and interesting displays in the basement 
which include a World War II air raid shelter a well-interpreted Welsh Kitchen and the contents 
of a former local grocery shop. The kitchen and the grocery shop fit well with Abergavenny’s 
established good quality food offer and food festival but offer little animation and do not change. 
The displays at entrance level are tired and are not strongly associated with Abergavenny. Some 
of the displays could be in any Welsh market town. Whilst there is a pleasant informal 
atmosphere, the museum lacks a sense of arrival, a strong introduction or a logical flow.     

The collections are stored on the first floor of the museum, where the offices are, and just about 
anywhere else that they will fit.  The collections include social history reflecting the history and 
way of life of the town and surrounding district, particularly rural life, agriculture and domestic 
and working life. There is a strong photographic collection, an archive connected to the town and 
its businesses, a strong costume collection, an extensive and significant collection of archaeology 
and a nationally important archive of the Father Ignatius Memorial Trust.  

The temporary exhibition space is in the basement and was refurbished in 2007 under the Sharing 
the Treasures Scheme. Temporary exhibitions have been mounted regularly over the years often 
featuring strong parts of the collection like costume, or living memory themes like “growing up in 
Abergavenny”. Travelling exhibitions from the National Museum of Wales and the National 
Library have also been shown. 

The museum offers family activities including children’s explorer backpacks and castle discovery 
boxes for schools. There is a comprehensive schools workshop programme linked to the National 
Curriculum in Wales. 

4.1.2 Visitor numbers and profile 

The museum at Abergavenny Castle attracted just over 24,000 visitors in 2014 which is consistent 
with the number of visitors in 2013 and 2012 although slightly down on 2011 and 2010 where 
visitor numbers were at 27,000. For a town with a population of just over 10,000, it is a very solid 

Page 47



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

24 
 

and consistent achievement to be seeing 24,000 to 27,000 visitors per annum. The annual visits 
to the museum between 2008 and 2014 are shown in the chart below.  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

As with many attractions and museums, admissions to the museum in Abergavenny are seasonal 
with July and August being the peak months. The chart below shows the distribution of visits in 
2014 by month.  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

This pattern of visitor numbers would suggest that the market is dominated by tourists to 
Abergavenny. The data collected by the museum would seem to support this assertion. The chart 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Page 48



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

25 
 

below shows the make-up of visitors to the museum. (The admissions data has been caveated by 
the museum management team as being somewhat unreliable).  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

In terms of visitor profile a number of ad hoc, informal visitor surveys have been undertaken. The 
surveys are not necessarily statistically robust but do give a flavour of the types of visitors and 
how they use the museum. Surveys with non-visitors have also been undertaken. The insight and 
feedback from both suggested that: 

 the museum generally attracts older (55+) couples and families with children; 

 most people are visiting for the first time; 

 most visitors stay (inside the museum) for less than 30 minutes; 

 visitors enjoy local history, dress-up clothes and the castle/scenery;  

 negative comments relate to a lack of interactive, fun things to do; and 

 non-visitors would be more likely to visit if there were more changing exhibitions, special 
events, tours, workshops, and a café. 

4.1.3 Financials and staffing 

The museum is staffed by a full time curator (who is also site manager) and 4 part time custodians 
(visitor services assistants) who man the front desk and the museum during opening hours. There 
is also a casual relief post to help with front of house as and when required. In the financial year 
2014/15, the direct costs associated with running the museum were £118,000. Most of this was 
spent on wages, salaries and premises costs (rent, rates, electricity, security and maintenance). 
Only a small amount was spent on exhibitions, materials and marketing.  

2,615

16,639

4,577

271 160
0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

Residents Non-residents Children Schools Other

Page 49



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

26 
 

The budget for 2015/16 is around £10,000 lower than the amount spent in 2014/15. Beyond 
paying staff wages and the premises costs (rent, rates, security, electricity, cleaning, telephones), 
there is virtually nothing in the budget for exhibitions, materials, equipment or marketing. It is 
very difficult to see how any further cuts to this budget can be made without a reduction in 
opening hours.  

Income generation is limited to small amounts of ice cream and drinks sales, small amounts of 
commission on art sales and small scale events funded through grants. Retail sales are accounted 
for across the museum service and are dealt with later in this report. 

Our professional opinion is that the museum will not continue to thrive with such a small 
operating budget.  

In addition to the direct costs laid out below, Abergavenny Museum incurs a further £9,000 of 
indirect costs (apportionment of the council’s central costs) and £7,000 of maintenance 
expenditure.  

 

 

 

Expenditure

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Staff costs 90,913£       86,196£       

Rent (net of food festival charge) 5,000£          5,090£         

Utilities 6,331£          8,145£         

Repair and maintenance 2,843£          256£             

Security 2,759£          2,189£         

Business rates 2,365£          2,545£         

Professional fees 2,360£          247£             

Equipment and materials 1,372£          611£             

Marketing and promotion 1,344£          -£             

Cleaning 899£             864£             

Goods for resale 542£             -£             

Telephone, IT, licences, subscriptions 536£             1,087£         

Travel and transport 370£             -£             

Museum acquisitions 346£             -£             

Total 117,981£     107,230£    

Income

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Donations 438£             -£             

Hire 258£             244£             

Refreshments 3,262£          4,459£         

Events 2,164£          212£             

Art commissions 254£             126£             

Other 461£             555£             

Total 6,837£          5,596£         

Page 50



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

27 
 

4.1.4 Key findings from consultations 

 Local people appreciate the museum and access to the castle grounds in particular. The castle 
grounds are busy regardless of whether the museum is open or not. People would like to see 
more activity (events/catering) in the grounds.  

 People appreciate the heritage value of the castle (some believe that cars should not be 
allowed in – for others it is a convenient town centre car park).  

 Local people value the museum staff and volunteers.  

 The curator is excellent and held in high esteem. 

 The museum has had success in unlocking small scale grants.  

 The opening hours are considered to be poor (closure between 1pm and 2pm and open for 
just three hours on Sunday afternoons). Local people would like to see more activity in the 
evening (tours, classes, workshops, talks etc.).  

 The layout of the building and size of the rooms are not optimum for a museum and limits 
the activity that can take place (difficult for schools; difficult for those with limited mobility; 
difficult to host community activities; no events space etc.) 

 The museum is somewhat tucked away in the town and signage is poor. 

 There was some comment that the permanent displays are not engaging or interesting 
enough. They are dated and too static.  

 Whilst people appreciate the volume of the collection, they are frustrated by the lack of 
access to it.  

 There is an appetite for a Friends of the Castle group. 

 Our sense is that people value the castle more than the museum – the museum could be re-
located in Abergavenny without much public outcry.  

4.2 Chepstow Museum 

4.2.1 Current offer 

Chepstow Museum is located in a handsome Georgian townhouse close to the town centre and 
opposite Chepstow Castle. The building has been used as a girls' high school, a Red Cross hospital 
in World War I and later as the Chepstow District Hospital. It has been a museum since 1982 and 
these former uses are represented in tableaux within the displays. It still has the appearance of a 
house but has a modern extension at the rear creating one large gallery space. The displays vary 
in style and character. Most galleries are very dated. The social history gallery at the rear of the 
building has some interaction but is tired and dreary. It was produced at a time when 
interpretation did not always show off objects to the best advantage. It does not do justice to the 
rich and varied past of an ancient town. 

Page 51



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

28 
 

There is a modern gallery at the front of the building which has been recently refurbished under 
the Sharing the Treasures Scheme which is contemporary in style and which is not currently used 
to its full potential. Upstairs there is a room containing collections stored in drawers which 
straddles between display and storage and there is a new gallery with an imaginative 
interpretation of the Wye Valley tour, which was incomplete at the time of visiting.  

The ground floor and the first floor have back of house space as well as public space and this 
includes conservation laboratories and office space. There is no access for disabled people to the 
first floor and the space as it stands is not used to best advantage. There is a well-stocked and 
attractive shop.          

The collection reflects the social history of Chepstow, its wine trade, shipbuilding and salmon 
fishing and includes natural history material. There is a very good art collection and photographs 
and ephemera. 

There is a programme of changing exhibitions, workshops which include creative activities and 
quizzes and worksheets for children. The formal learning offer is restricted since there is no 
classroom space. The museum has no website. 

4.2.2 Visitor numbers  

Chepstow Museum attracted just over 21,000 visitors in 2014 which is slightly more than the 
number of visitors in 2013 and 2012 although slightly down on 2011 and 2010 where visitor 
numbers peaked at 25,000. As with Abergavenny, for a town with a population of 12,000, it is a 
very solid and consistent achievement to be seeing 20,000 to 25,000 visitors per annum. The 
annual visits to the museum between 2008 and 2014 are shown in the chart below.  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Page 52



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

29 
 

As with many attractions and museums, admissions to the museum in Chepstow are seasonal 
with April and August being the peak months. The chart below shows the distribution of visits in 
2014 by month.  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

This pattern of visitor numbers would suggest that the tourists to Chepstow are an important part 
of the mix. Our observations prove that it does very well from being opposite Chepstow Castle 
and the main visitor car park. The data collected by the museum would seem to support this 
assertion. The chart below shows the make-up of visitors to the museum.  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Residents Children Visitors Education

Page 53



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

30 
 

4.2.3 Staffing and financials 

The museum is staffed by a full time curator (who is also site manager) and 3 part time custodians 
(visitor services assistants) who man the front desk and the museum during opening hours. There 
is also a casual relief post to help when required. In the financial year 2014/15, the direct costs 
associated with running the museum were £134,000. Most of this was spent on wages, salaries 
and premises costs (rates, electricity and security). Only a small amount was spent on marketing.  

The budget for 2015/16 has been set at £20,000 lower than what was spent in 2014/15. Beyond 
paying staff wages and the premises costs (rates, security, electricity), there is virtually nothing 
in the budget for exhibitions, materials, equipment or marketing. It is very difficult to see how 
any further cuts to this budget can be made without a reduction in opening hours. Income 
generation is limited to events and education sessions (retail sales are accounted for across the 
museum service and are dealt with later in this report).   

Our professional opinion is that the museum will not continue to thrive with such a small 
operating budget.  

In addition to the direct costs laid out below, Chepstow Museum incurs a further £16,000 of 
indirect costs (apportionment of the council’s central costs) and £12,000 of maintenance 
expenditure.  

 

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

Expenditure

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Staff costs 105,276£ 94,753£    

Utilities 7,864£      7,836£      

Repair and maintenance 620£          

Security 3,273£      3,563£      

Business rates 10,288£    10,689£    

Equipment and materials -£          575£          

Professional fees 565£          895£          

Marketing and promotion 6,443£      

Cleaning 63£            

Goods for resale 66£            

Telephone, IT, licences, subscriptions 435-£          1,699£      

Savings -£          3,333-£      

Total 134,023£ 116,677£ 

Income

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Events 10,769£    8,387£      

Grants 3,000£      2,000£      

Donations 1,025£      

Refreshments 10£            

Total 14,804£    10,387£    

Page 54



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

31 
 

4.2.4 Key findings from consultations 

 Local people value the museum in Chepstow and believe it helps to provide a sense of place 
and identity. 

 The museum is seen as the custodian of the town’s heritage and a valuable resource for 
visitors to the town.  

 The temporary exhibitions programme is well regarded but some of the permanent 
exhibitions are viewed as dated and in need of refreshment.  

 Local people value the presence of a curator on site. The current curator is excellent and is 
held in high esteem.  

 The Town Council in Chepstow is not in a position to fund the museum (it already provides a 
small amount to cover lunch time opening).  

 Museum staff are considered to be friendly, welcoming and engaging. There is good provision 
for children.  

 The location of the museum is excellent and is able to benefit from being opposite the castle, 
the car park and the tourist information centre.  

 The museum lacks a café which could trade well given its location.  

 The upgrading of the temporary exhibition space is very valued as it allows the museum to 
display collections of national importance.  

 The museum has poor access for disabled people. 

 The museum lacks a dedicated website.  

 The museum is viewed by the community as much more than a facility, it provides a sense of 
identity and is part of the “glue” that holds together many aspects of town life, shared 
experience, community strength and future. 

4.3 Nelson Museum, Monmouth 

4.3.1 Current offer 

The Nelson Museum is located close to the Shire Hall in Monmouth in the Market Hall building. 
The historic building, completed in 1840 retains its handsome façade but the central section was 
destroyed by fire in the 1960s. Although the building came close to demolition at the time, a new 
flat roof and a Modernist metal and glass façade at the rear, overlooking the Monnow, were 
added in the late 1960s by architects Donald Insall, an early proponent of the now accepted 
methodology of combining conservation of historic building with contemporary additions. 

The Nelson collection was left to the town of Monmouth in 1923, when Lady Georgiana 
Llangattock died. She was married to local landowner and town benefactor, John Rolls, 1st Baron 
Llangattock and was Charles Rolls’ mother. She was a great fan of Nelson and a very keen collector 
of 'Nelsoniana'. The collection was displayed from 1924 in a Gymnasium which the family had 

Page 55



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

32 
 

also given to the town and moved to the Market Hall after the refurbishment when the Local 
History collection was also located there. 

The Nelson collection includes both personal and commemorative material, and is particularly 
noted for the large number of personal letters. Star exhibits include Nelson’s fighting sword, and 
a selection of outrageous forgeries, including Nelson’s glass eye. The displays are object rich, but 
very cramped and poorly interpreted. The Local History Centre collections are based on the 
Monmouth Borough archive, the local history reference library, photographs, prints and 
paintings, maps and plans. The staff are very knowledgeable and helpful but the experience is 
poor compared to the quality of the collection. 

The Lonely Planet website say: 

“Lady Llangattock, local aristocrat and mother of Charles Stewart Rolls, became an obsessive 
collector of 'Nelsoniana', and the results of her obsession can be seen in this endearing museum. 
It's fascinating to see how fanatical Nelson-worship was in 19th-century Britain, with forged items, 
such as locks of his hair………” 

4.3.2 Visitor numbers and profile 

The Nelson Museum in Monmouth attracted just under 17,000 visitors in 2014 which although is 
commendable in town with a population of 12,000, it appears that visitor numbers are declining 
year on year. Data has been provided from 2011 which highlights a 20% decline in visitor numbers 
over the past four years.  

Unlike Abergavenny and Chepstow, the museum in Monmouth does not have a full time curator 
and has perhaps not had the same opportunities to host temporary exhibitions that Abergavenny 
and Chepstow have had.  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

2011 2012 2013 2014

Page 56



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

33 
 

There is a seasonality in the pattern of visits to the Nelson Museum with August and October 
apparently being the peak months. The chart below shows the distribution of visits in 2014 by 
month.  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

This pattern of visitor numbers would suggest that as with Abergavenny and Chepstow, tourists 
to Monmouth are an important part of the mix at the Nelson Museum. The data collected by the 
museum would seem to support this assertion. The chart below shows the make-up of visitors to 
the museum.  

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Residents Children Visitors Education Others

Page 57



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

34 
 

A visitor survey was undertaken in the summer of 2013 at the Nelson Museum and whilst the 
sample size is far from statistically robust, it does help to provide a flavour of those that visit the 
museum. Some of the conclusions drawn from the survey are: 

 most visitors are over 55 and visit as a couple (as opposed to families with children);  

 most visitors have never visited the museum before; 

 learning about local history was the main reason for people visiting; and 

 the Nelson collections was by far and away the thing that most people enjoyed. 

4.3.3 Staffing and financials 

The museum is staffed by a full time senior custodian (but not a curator) and 3 part time 
custodians (visitor services assistants) who man the front desk and the museum during opening 
hours. In the financial year 2014/15, the direct costs associated with running the museum were 
£83,000. Most of this was spent on wages, salaries and premises costs (rates and electricity). Only 
a small amount was spent on equipment and materials.  

The budget for 2015/16 remains as it was for 2014/15. Beyond paying staff wages and the 
premises costs (rates, security, electricity), there is virtually nothing in the budget for 
exhibitions, materials, equipment or marketing. It is very difficult to see how any further cuts to 
this budget can be made without a reduction in opening hours. Income generation is very limited 
beyond retail which is accounted for elsewhere in the museums budget and dealt with later in 
this report.   

Our professional opinion is that the museum will not continue to thrive with such a small 
operating budget.  

In addition to the direct costs laid out below, Chepstow Museum incurs a further £8,000 of 
indirect costs (apportionment of the council’s central costs) and £10,000 of maintenance 
expenditure.  

Page 58



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

35 
 

 

 

4.3.4 Key findings from consultations 

 The Nelson collection is valued by people across Monmouthshire and seen as a gem. There is 
an opportunity to link with other Nelson interest sites in Monmouth and around the UK. 

 ‘Nelsoniana’ is an interesting concept with contemporary parallels.  

 The people of Monmouth value the museum and the resource centre where people can 
research their ancestry. 

 Monmouth has a fascinating history that is not being told effectively in the town. 

 From the outside, it is not clear what the building is. 

 The internal layout is poor and it is in need of refreshment. 

 The opening hours are unsuitable.  

 The local archaeology collection is impressive but not on display.  

 The lack of curatorial input has had a negative effect on the museum – its temporary 
exhibition programme has ceased and it feels ‘unloved’.  

Expenditure

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Staff costs 63,940£    70,262£    

Utilities 7,517£      6,685£      

Repair and maintenance 620£          

Security 230£          3,054£      

Business rates 5,321£      5,314£      

Equipment and materials 3,339£      611£          

Professional fees 508£          292£          

Marketing and promotion 76£            

Cleaning -£          

Goods for resale 444£          

Telephone, IT, licences, subscriptions 684£          1,011£      

Savings 3,333-£      

Total 82,679£    83,896£    

Income

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Other 1,912£      2,011£      

Refreshments 11£            95£            

Grants 898£          

Donations 654£          

Total 3,475£      2,106£      

Page 59



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

36 
 

 With the council’s one-stop-shop vacating the premises and the planning office already 
having done so, an opportunity exists to create a much more exciting museum and visitor 
experience with the Nelson collection as the star.  

 The museum lacks a dedicated web site.  

 There are large, open spaces within the Market Hall with excellent views of the river.  

 There is an appetite within the town and the community to set up a community trust to 
administer the museum.  

4.4 Other services and posts within the museums 

In addition to three museum sites in Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth, there are a number 
of other services and posts that fall under museums: 

 Conservation services – the museums service employs a full time paper conservator and a 
part time object conservator. The two post holders spend part of their time conserving the 
council’s collection and part of their time undertaking commercial conservation work in order 
to generate income. The total direct costs related to this service in 2014/15 were £78,000 (of 
which £67,000 was for staff costs). This was offset by £25,000 of income. The expenditure 
budget for 2015/16 is virtually the same as 2014/15 whilst the income target has been 
increased by around £6,000. 

 Retail – sales of goods and souvenirs at the three museum sites amounted to £30,000 in 
2014/15 with £7,000 spent on purchasing goods for re-sale. The income target for 2015/16 
has been increased to £45,000 (with no provision to purchase any goods for re-sale).  

 Storage unit – the museum service rents a storage unit in Caldicot which costs around 
£16,000 per annum (rent, rates and utilities). 

 Learning – the museums service has the use of a full time Learning Manager (this post is being 
paid for from grant funding and other council pots). The contract runs until September 2015. 
This post is not embedded within the museums budget nor does the post have any real 
budget for materials, equipment, resources etc.  

 Fundraising – a full time fundraising post has been created and is currently being paid out of 
budgets across the Tourism, Leisure and Culture department. This contract runs until 
September 2015. This post administers the Monmouthshire Museums Development Trust 
through which the museums can raise funds.  

 Collections Access Officer – this full time post is paid for by a grant and works across the 
collection undertaking documentation and is supported by volunteers.  

 

 

 

Page 60



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

37 
 

4.5 Caldicot Castle 

4.5.1 Current offer 

Caldicot Castle sits within a 55 acre country park which is open all year, whilst the castle itself 
opens from the beginning of April until the end of November. It has a long history and was used 
as a family home until the mid-1960s. It is not a ruin and therefore has a strong quality of 
peacefulness created by the feeling of enclosure within the castle grounds, its sheltered position 
and the well-kept lawns and planting. The very unsympathetic conversion and self-styled 
“restoration” of the castle by Joseph Cobb after he purchased it 1885 however has done much to 
destroy its medieval character. The result is a hotchpotch of peculiar spaces, which neither read 
as being of a Victorian design nor as medieval. Cobb was a keen amateur student of medieval 
military architecture who thought he was well qualified to restore the castle and turn it into a 
family home. He described his theories in a series of archaeological articles, but his work attracted 
a lot of criticism even at the time. 

After his death, his daughter in law continued the project. When his grandson inherited, he leased 
furnished apartments in three of the towers and in parts of the gatehouse to young married 
couples and families. Whilst this adds to the interesting story of the castle, it also adds to its 
confusing appearance.  The use of some of some of the spaces for medieval banquets and other 
entertainments in the recent past, coupled with inadequate recent maintenance, very run down 
catering equipment and further inappropriate interventions result in interior spaces which are 
miserable in quality and atmosphere.   

The “Cobb collection” is stored out of public view within the castle. It reflects a major interest of 
Joseph Cobb and his son in Nelson's Mediterranean flagship HMS Foudroyant, which they rescued 
and restored for use as a training ship on which a number of local boys served. The collection 
includes large objects from the ship, such as a figurehead and a cannon, salvage material from 
the wreck, other Foudroyant material and furniture and costume belonging to the Cobbs. There 
is also a small collection of social history material relating to Caldicot and the surrounding villages 
and objects and photographs related to the castle's tenants in the 1950s and 60s. 

Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 resource boxes linked to the National Curriculum are available 
for teacher-led sessions at both Caldicot Castle and the Country Park. Living history workshops 
are available using reenactors at costs which vary according to requirements, and schools weeks.  
There are events during the seasons such as a musical picnic, a VW rally and a day of family 
activities around a Bronze Age theme. The castle is available for hire for all sorts of private events 
using external caterers. 

4.5.2 Visitor numbers and profile 

Robust visitor data is not available for Caldicot Castle. Data has been provided from 2008 to 2010 
which showed annual visitor numbers of between 22,000 and 28,000. Since that time the castle 
has become a free admission attraction and numbers are no longer recorded.   

In terms of visitor profile, a small visitor survey was undertaken in 2011. This is not statistically 
robust but gives a flavour of the visitor profile. Some of the key insights from this include: 

Page 61



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

38 
 

 most visitors to the castle are on their first visit; 

 most visitors lived less than an hour away and arrive by car; 

 most visitors came as part of a family group; 

 more activities for families/children was the most requested improvement; 

 dwell time at the castle is relatively high with most people staying for longer than an hour; 

 local people value the heritage, open space and enjoy the programme of events; and 

 many local people however, are lapsed visitors and don’t believe there is anything new to 
see. 

4.5.3 Financials and staffing 

The castle is staffed by a full time manager, a part time customer services officer, 2 full time 
wardens/grounds maintenance staff and part time visitor services assistants who man the café 
and shop during opening hours. An events officer works at the castle but is paid out of other 
budgets within Tourism, Leisure and Culture.  

In the financial year 2014/15, the direct costs associated with running the castle were £304,000 
which was offset by £88,000 of income meaning that the net cost of running the castle in 2014/15 
was £215,000.   

The budget for 2015/16 has been set at a level which is £100,000 lower than that which was spent 
in 2014/15 although most of this relates to non-recurring costs such as redundancy and 
professional fees. £20,000 however has been reduced from the supplies and services budget. 
Income has also been set at £20,000 higher than the castle achieved last year despite the fact 
that admission is now free. It is expected that the castle will earn this additional income (and 
cover the lost admissions income) through events despite the budget for supplies and services 
being cut by £20,000.  

The net direct cost of running Caldicot Castle is budgeted to be £93,000 in 2015/16 compared to 
an actual outturn of £215,000 in 2014/15.  

In addition to the direct costs laid out below, Caldicot Castle incurs a further £7,000 of indirect 
costs (apportionment of the council’s central costs).  

Page 62



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

39 
 

 

 

Source: Monmouthshire County Council 

4.5.4 Key findings from consultations 

 The outdoor space is highly valued and is a well-used local recreational resource. 

 The events programme is well attended and valued. 

 There is a perception amongst the community that Caldicot Castle has been neglected by the 
council.  

 The website is informative. 

Expenditure

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Staff costs 126,904£ 131,000£ 

Redundancy 23,941£    -£          

Utilities 11,334£    9,671£      

Repair and maintenance 11,225£    16,121£    

Security 1,274£      2,036£      

Business rates 12,274£    12,257£    

Professional fees 34,032£    509£          

Equipment and materials 32,515£    11,908£    

Marketing and promotion 7,318£      5,000£      

Cleaning 3,862£      4,734£      

Goods for resale 8,510£      10,152£    

Telephone, IT, licences, subscriptions 6,572£      3,359£      

Travel and transport 3,398£      4,375£      

Other 20,353£    7,938-£      

Total 303,510£ 203,184£ 

Income

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Events 18,657£    44,466£    

Catering 20,491£    27,675£    

Hire 9,222£      17,733£    

Retail 2,128£      15,355£    

Donations 443£          2,600£      

Concessions/rallies 3,876£      1,821£      

Bar 1,331£      -£          

Grazing rights 350£          

Admissions 20,541£    

Other 11,750£    

Total 88,789£    109,650£ 

Page 63



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

40 
 

 The site is challenging to interpret because of the 19th and 20th century alterations.  

 There is also a perception that poor decisions have been made with regard to the commercial 
aspects of the castle (catering and banquets in particular). 

 There is a perceived lack of visitor interpretation. 

 The local community believe that not enough is done to exploit the commercial potential of 
the site.  

 Events parking is insufficient.  

 The local community feel isolated from the castle’s future and fear it will not be preserved 
properly for future generations.  

 Visitors believe that the lighting is poor in the grounds.  

4.6 Old Station Tintern 

4.6.1 Current offer 

As the name suggests, the Old Station Tintern is located on the site of a former railway station. 
The site is a beautiful green space within the Wye Valley with woodland walks and access to the 
river. The site has a Green Flag Park Award and won the UK’s favourite park award in 2011.  

The site includes a tea room which is operated by a local business. The tea room is excellent and 
extremely popular with locals, tourists and cyclists. The tea room is open between April and 
October.  

A series of static railway carriages host a gift shop, tourist information point and a small meeting 
room. The shop and information point are staffed between April and October. There is also a full 
time site manager.  

Entrance to the site is free of charge but visitors must pay for parking. Visitor numbers are not 
collected at the Old Station. Public toilets are open between April and October.  

The site has benefitted from a new children’s play area which was funded through donations and 
grants. Camping is also available if booked in advance.  

4.6.2 Staffing and financials 

The Old Station Tintern employs a full time site manager and 6 part time/casual staff to man the 
gift shop/information point.  

The total direct costs of running the site in 2014/15 were £146,000 although £30,000 of this was 
spent on the new play area which was funded by grants and donations. The expenditure budget 
for 2015/16 is set at £104,000 which (allowing for the play area in last year’s budget) is a reduction 
of around £10,000.  

The £104,000 of expenditure is offset by various sources of income including the sale of 
gifts/souvenirs, events, car park charges, the rent from the tea room, meeting room hire and 

Page 64



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

41 
 

camping. The income target for the Old Station Tintern has been increased by £19,000 (37%) with 
no real understanding of how this might be achieved and certainly no investment to allow this.  

The net cost of running Old Station Tintern was £63,000 in 2014/15 and is budgeted to be £34,000 
in 2015/16 but this is contingent on £19,000 of additional income being generated.  

In addition to the direct costs in the table below, the Old Station Tintern incurs indirect costs 
(share of the council’s overheads) of £8,000.  

 

 

4.6.3 Key findings from consultations 

 Local people think the tea room is excellent. 

 Access to the Wye Valley is important not only as part of the setting/background but it 
provides a valuable tourism market.  

Expenditure

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Staff costs 73,709£    69,724£    

Utilities 6,423£      7,169£      

Repair and maintenance 1,341£      4,928£      

Security 573£          1,222£      

Business rates 1,513£      1,527£      

Professional fees 4,807£      3,624£      

Equipment and materials 30,733£    1,058£      

Marketing and promotion 1,580£      2,443£      

Cleaning 5,247£      5,400£      

Goods for resale 19,807£    14,863£    

Telephone, IT, licences, subscriptions 137£          324£          

Travel and transport

Savings 8,144-£      

Total 145,870£ 104,138£ 

Income

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Retail 18,914£    24,588£    

Events 4,628£      17,428£    

Car parking 14,920£    13,725£    

Café rent 8,485£      9,051£      

Hire 1,988£      2,971£      

Camping 1,899£      2,106£      

Grants 25,405£    -£          

Donations 4,835£      -£          

Electricity 1,500£      -£          

Total 82,574£    69,869£    

Page 65



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

42 
 

 The site is viewed as child and family friendly. 

 Beyond the tearoom, there is a perception that there is not much to do (the new playground 
will help with this).  

 Visitors and staff do not view it as a ‘council site’. 

 Visitors appreciate the friendly staff. 

 Visitors do not appreciate the poor toilets. 

 The parking is not sufficient for the busiest of days. 

 The site is not well lit which limits winter opening.  

 Overnight accommodation could be an area to develop. 

 More attractions could help to increase visitor numbers.  

4.7 Shire Hall, Monmouth 

4.7.1 Current offer 

Shire Hall is a former Court of Assizes and Quarter Sessions in the centre of Monmouth, 
surrounded by attractive shops, cafes and bars. It is a Grade I listed, classically designed building 
and has recently been completely refurbished and made fully accessible through a Heritage 
Lottery Fund (HLF) project.  The total project cost was £4.5 million, of which £3.2 million came 
from HLF. The building was reopened to the public in September of 2010. The Monmouth Tourist 
Information Centre is located at the front of the Shire Hall. 

In 1839 and 1840 a number of Chartists were tried in courtroom 1 for their involvement in the 
Chartist Riots in Newport. The courtroom and the holding cells below have been dressed out to 
illustrate this story. Other spaces are not interpreted but are used for a variety of different 
purpose including meetings exhibitions and weddings. There is a dedicated community space at 
the rear of the building with its own entrance which was intended to be able to be used without 
access to the rest of the building, but issues with access to toilets mean that it cannot operated 
completely separately. There is a very poor display about archaeology on the ground floor close 
to the main entrance area. 

There was a learning officer in place following the opening in 2010, also supported by HLF, and a 
programme of schools learning activities. Whilst there is still a learning space, these activities no 
longer take place.  

Shire Hall is not a museum and doesn’t have a collection. Guided tours can be provided by special 
arrangement and people are welcomed when there aren’t events taking place to look around the 
building, but in spite of its impressive and interesting interiors, it is not a visit that offers 
engagement or learning in the way that the museum sites do. 

In more recent times, the Shire Hall has focused on hiring out the various rooms for meetings, 
functions, community events, fairs, weddings and parties.  

Page 66



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

43 
 

4.7.2 User numbers 

The Shire Hall does not operate like a traditional visitor attraction. It is open to the public to have 
a look around (the courtroom and the cells in particular) and the front desk provides a tourism 
information service. Most of the activity revolves around venue hire (meetings, weddings, 
functions, events, community hire, classes, activities etc.).  

In the year 2014/15, the Shire Hall hosted 560 meetings (community, businesses, Town Council, 
County Council) with an attendance of 2,800. This equates to an average of 5 people per meeting 
and 11 meetings per week.  

In addition, the Shire Hall hosted craft fairs, art exhibitions and other local events over 110 days 
which attract an average of 150 people per day.  

In 2014/15, the Shire Hall hosted 7 weddings and 23 private functions.  

The tourist information centre recorded over 50,000 visitors during the course of 2014/15.  

4.7.3 Staffing and financials 

The Shire Hall is staffed by a full time General Manager, a full time Duty Officer and a number of 
assistants (events and tourist information) on various hours and contracts.  

The direct costs associated with running the Shire Hall amounted to £271,000 in 2014/15 which 
was offset by £114,000 of income from hire fees, rent, catering, bars, retail and other sources. 
The total net direct cost of running the Shire Hall was therefore £157,000.  

The expenditure budget for 2015/16 is £47,000 lower than the actual for 2014/15 with the 
majority of the savings to be made in staff costs.  

Income for 2015/16 is budgeted to be £30,000 higher than the level achieved in 2014/15 but 
includes grant and match funding of £19,000 leaving £11,000 of earned income to be found (10% 
increase).  

In addition to the direct costs shown in the table below, the Shire Hall incurs £24,000 of indirect 
costs (share of the council’s overheads).  

Page 67



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

44 
 

 

 

4.7.4 Key findings from consultations 

 The Shire Hall is a valued and important community asset. Local people value the restoration 
and renovation project which has left them with a very well equipped venue.  

 Beyond the practical use of the hall, it is incredibly valued as a heritage monument and is part 
of the fabric of Monmouth.  

 The Town Council believes that the Shire Hall should be owned and used by the community.  

 The current role of the Shire Hall is however somewhat less clear. Is it a visitor attraction 
about Chartism or is it now just a venue for hire? 

 Some in the community believe that the room hire rates are too expensive.  

Expenditure

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Staff costs 179,587£ 140,467£ 

Utilities 14,610£    14,915£    

Repair and maintenance 849£          4,999£      

Security 9-£              1,000£      

Business rates 18,920£    21,515£    

Professional fees 6,487£      

Equipment and materials 4,533£      1,195£      

Marketing and promotion 13,496£    11,840£    

Cleaning 10,822£    10,858£    

Goods for resale 15,898£    18,795£    

Telephone, IT, licences, subscriptions 6,239£      3,776£      

Travel and transport -£          

Savings -£          4,937-£      

Total 271,432£ 224,423£ 

Income

 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Budget

Hires and rents 63,978£    47,181£    

Catering 28,400£    27,907£    

Grants and match funding 19,183£    

Retail 12,269£    17,677£    

Events 134£          16,611£    

Admissions 2,515£      7,841£      

Bar 5,871£      5,728£      

Donations 366£          2,000£      

Other 942£          

Total 114,475£ 144,128£ 

Page 68



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

45 
 

 Some believe that the building feels unwelcoming with the railings acting as a barrier to visit. 
The reception desk is also unfriendly as it very high.  

 The Saturday market puts off wedding bookers as clear access from the front of the hall is not 
available.  

 There is a sense that since the lottery funding has expired, the emphasis on learning and 
education has been lost.  

4.8 Overall financial summary 

Combining all of the budget codes across the service and for each of the venues provides an 
estimated total net cost of running the service. Indirect costs, works, maintenance and staff 
accounted for in other Tourism, Leisure and Culture budget have all been accounted for (or 
estimated).  

The total net cost of running the service in 2014/15 was £1,078,000. 

The total net cost of running the service in 2015/16 is budgeted to be £772,000. 

The costs for 2014/15 and the budget for 2015/16 are laid out below. This information was 
provided by Monmouthshire County Council.  

Page 69



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

46 
 

 

Direct expenditure  2014/15 Actual 2015/16 Budget

Staff costs 751,685£                    668,918£                

Rent 14,995£                      15,382£                  

Utilities 54,455£                      53,266£                  

Business rates 55,648£                      58,862£                  

Repair and maintenance 17,497£                      26,304£                  

Security 8,100£                         13,064£                  

Cleaning 20,893£                      21,856£                  

Professional fees 55,361£                      5,567£                    

Equipment and materials 83,509£                      21,353£                  

Marketing and promotion 31,325£                      19,283£                  

Goods for resale 52,439£                      43,810£                  

Telephone, IT, licences, subscriptions 18,534£                      13,541£                  

Travel and transport 3,768£                         4,375£                    

Museum acquisitions 346£                            -£                         

Other/Budget savings 20,353£                      27,685-£                  

Total direct expenditure 1,188,906£                937,896£                

Income  2014/15 Actual 2015/16 Budget

Retail 62,890£                      103,466£                

Catering 52,174£                      60,136£                  

Events 36,352£                      87,104£                  

Hire and rent 88,157£                      79,001£                  

Conservation income 25,261£                      30,000£                  

Grants and match funding 29,494£                      23,079£                  

Other 16,819£                      2,692£                    

Bar 7,202£                         5,728£                    

Camping 1,899£                         2,106£                    

Donations 7,761£                         4,600£                    

Car Parking 14,920£                      13,725£                  

Admissions 23,056£                      7,841£                    

Total income 365,985£                    419,478£                

Net Direct Cost 822,921£                    518,418£                

Indirect Costs 73,597£                      73,597£                  

Staff posts accounted for elsewhere (estimate) 120,000£                    120,000£                

Maintenance and works (average) 60,000£                      60,000£                  

Total net cost 1,076,518£                772,015£                

Page 70



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

47 
 

4.9 Estimated gross economic impact of the museums and attractions 

It is not our intention to provide a robust and accurate figure for the economic impact of the 
museums and attractions but it is clear that the museums attract visitors who in turn spend 
money in the Monmouthshire economy. It is not clear however whether those visitors would visit 
Monmouthshire without the presence of the museums or attractions and it is therefore difficult 
to quantify the economic impact that is attributable to the museums and attractions.  

Taking all of the visitors to all of the sites and knowing what we do about the split between tourists 
and locals would suggest that the museums and attractions have a total gross visitor impact of 
around £3.7m. The true net impact is likely to be much smaller but is not clear without much 
further detailed analysis.  

The service employs the equivalent of approximately 25 full time staff across of the sites. Using 
the methodology set out by the Association of Independent Museums, it can be estimated that 
the museums account for a further 13.5 indirect and induced full time equivalent jobs in the 
economy.  

4.10 Overall observations 

 Many of the venues, whilst providing excellent customer service and despite the best efforts 
of staff and management, fall below the standards expected of modern day museums and 
visitor attractions. They are in real need of capital investment. 

 There is a large and varied collection and it is believed that in most cases, a better story of 
the places could be told with a re-interpretation.  

 Many of the sites suffer from low dwell time – those with cafés (Caldicot and Old Station 
Tintern) do not suffer from this.  

 The core opening hours of the museums are poor with lunchtime closure and partial opening 
on Sundays.  

 Many people in the community have expressed a desire to engage with the museums during 
the evening (talks, tours, classes, workshops, events, exhibitions etc.).  

 The welcome and customer service across all the sites and without exception has been very 
warm and friendly although many local people and users believe that the museums are 
staffed by volunteers since uniforms and name badges are not worn.  

 Most of the venues are operating on extremely tight operating budgets to the point in some 
cases where staff are having to buy their own supplies or working with broken equipment 
(printers, taps etc.).  

 The finance systems (as with most local authorities) do not support commercial trading.  

 There is a real sense of low morale across the staff. In part, this is due to uncertainty around 
personal job security but more widely, it is due to a lack of direction and focus.  

 Staff would appreciate more contact with senior management within the council.  

Page 71



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

48 
 

 Staff would also welcome the opportunity to undertake more training and professional 
development.  

 There is evidence of silo working (a one-service approach does not currently exist). 

 None of the sites nor the service as a whole has a clear direction of the future – the only 
strategy appears to be fighting the ever reducing operating budgets and apparently arbitrary 
income targets.  

 As with any change situation, there is evidence of entrenched views but in the main, our 
observation has been that staff are seeking a fresh vision of a more exciting future for the 
service and for the venues. 

 Whilst the museum service now has a learning officer, the post is temporary and project 
funded. The post holder is building up school engagement which has been seriously lacking 
for many years.   

 Volunteers can be used to improve access to heritage if well managed and well trained.  

 The marketing of the sites is largely event or exhibition driven with very little budget for 
promotion or advertising and virtually no cross-marketing or shared resources. The most 
recent leaflet for the museums and attractions omitted the Nelson Museum. Web presence 
is patchy with some venues having their own dedicated website and others relying on the 
council pages.  

 The extent to which the community is willing to take an interest or a stake in the venues is 
different in each location.  

 

Page 72



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

49 
 

5 Proposed strategy 

5.1 The reasons behind our recommendations 

Before we begin to outline our proposed options for the future of the service, it is important to 
be clear about the key findings from the sections which precede this and which have led us to 
make these recommendations. 

Firstly, we have been very impressed by the commitment and passion of most of the staff who 
work in the museums and attractions. There is also clear evidence of some very good practice in 
terms of collections management and the service which is being offered to some residents and 
visitors. The museums and attractions form part of the tourism ‘fabric’ of Monmouthshire, and 
as such contribute directly and indirectly to the county’s economy. 

But despite this, overall, the service (in the museums and the attractions) is very seriously over 
stretched and fragmented.  Staff at all sites are forced to go to unacceptable levels to get their 
jobs done, buying resources out of their own money, getting printing done outside of their 
workplace and managing without essential equipment such as working taps. It is highly 
commendable that the staff are prepared to go to these lengths, but it highlights very clearly to 
us that the council is quite simply trying to do far too much with too little resource. 

In terms of the buildings, none of the three museums are in buildings which are ideal, and two, 
Abergavenny and the Nelson Museum are very compromised in terms of access and display 
spaces. Chepstow and Abergavenny are compensating to some extent through creative 
programming, entirely enabled by grant funding. There is less evidence of this in the Nelson 
Museum which has fewer resources. 

Caldicot Castle has been used for many years to generate income from functions which has gone 
some way towards covering the direct costs but has not contributed to the more major 
maintenance works which are needed. The building now presents a significant future liability to 
the council. 

Shire Hall is in good condition but sits somewhere been a museum, a visitor attraction and a 
functions venue. At present it is not generating enough income to be financially self sustaining 
and the visitor experience is very weak and ill defined. 

The income generating services in all of the sites are insufficiently resourced and far too 
fragmented to be properly effective. But even with better commercial expertise and a co-
ordinated approach, there is a limit to the amount of ‘profit’ which could be generated. As the 
following sections will show, there is certainly scope for significant improvement, but this will not 
be enough to fund the operation of all of the sites as they are at present.   

Finally, across the museums and attractions there is very little sharing of resources and expertise. 
Even the museums, which all sit within the same service, are not really functioning as part of a 
county-wide service, but rather as three largely independent entities. It is probably as a result of 
this ‘dispersed’ management approach that the museums service does not have a proper 
education or outreach service which is found in most local authority museums services and would 

Page 73



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

50 
 

be particularly valuable in a diverse and largely rural area like Monmouthshire.  In every way, this 
is not the best, or the most cost effective way to operate this type of service. 

This should not be taken as a criticism of the managers or staff involved. We fully appreciate 
and support the strongly held desire to protect and provide locally appropriate services within a 
number of geographically dispersed locations.   

But we do not believe that the offer, as it is at the moment, is a good one for Monmouthshire’s 
residents, its visitors or the council’s staff. Maintaining the status quo is not an option. 

We believe that the council needs to do less, but to do it much better and in most ways, 
differently. 

In order to do this however, some things will need to be sacrificed and this will almost certainly 
raise objections from some local residents, staff and other stakeholders. 

The changes will also inevitably incur some costs initially to implement them. We have given some 
initial thought to sources of external funding which could potentially be secured to support this. 
It is likely however that the council may need to provide some financial support in order to ensure 
a more viable long term future for the service. 

5.2 Guiding principles for change 

During a workshop session with senior staff which included a SWOT analysis some guiding 
principles were discussed to address the weaknesses and threats that were identified and to 
building on the strengths of the county’s heritage and its collections. These were:  

 Each museum location should continue to have some means of telling the local story. 

 The most distinctive stories and collections for each place should be selected and presented 
there. 

 Centralised storage and skills would enable better delivery across the service – a central store 
would need to have public access and research facilities. 

 The current staff structure is muddled and unbalanced and a clear staff structure is needed. 

 There needs to be a strong on-line presence for heritage in Monmouthshire. 

 Trails are needed across the county to link stories together and communicate heritage outside 
of museums and buildings. 

5.3 Overarching recommendations 

At the heart of our recommendations there are four core service-wide recommendations. There 
are then a number of specific recommendations for each of the sites. For some of the sites we 
are suggesting two or more potential options. 

The core service-wide recommendations are: 

Page 74



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

51 
 

 Create a centralised museums service based in a single location which brings together all of 
the expertise, knowledge and skills and holds all of the collections which are not on display 
within a single, accessible store. It would allow for the closure of one (or potentially two) of 
the existing heritage sites, which are compromised in terms of accessibility and space;  

 Create a properly resourced and effective trading company which generates a surplus back 
to support the service (the museums and attractions); 

 Create an effective leadership function which allows the different elements of the museums 
and attractions to be managed appropriately. 

 Continue to provide access to the county’s heritage using its collections and archives through 
outdoor interpretation, pop-up exhibitions and activities and events, where closures of 
heritage sites occur. 

The implications of these recommendations are explored in the sections which follow. The site 
specific recommendations are then addressed. 

5.4 Centralise the museum service 

The council should create a new, low cost, fit for purpose central museums building which 
would be the base for the council’s museum service staff.  

It would store, in a single location, the collections which are not on display, making management 
and maintenance easier, more cost effective and better organised. The collections would be 
rationalised before being transferred into the new location, disposing of duplicated material, 
objects beyond repair or which do not or no longer fit with appropriate collection policies.  

In doing so, it would free up valuable space in some of the existing museums to allow for the 
creation of income generating services. It would also enable the closure of at least one of the 
current museums, which are not fit for purpose. This is explored in the options for the individual 
sites in the sections below.  

The stores would be available for research and accessible to the public and to academic audiences 
at agreed times although the building would not be designed or promoted as a ‘visitor attraction’. 

Two potential locations have been considered initially: the Phoenix Block at the Comprehensive 
School in Monmouth which is owned by the council and will become surplus to requirement 
under the 21st Century Schools programme; or the Nelson Museum (see 5.6.3). A full specification 
would need to be developed to understand the size and type of space required after which a site 
appraisal could look at these and any other potential locations. 

Most importantly, by creating a single team of staff, it will be possible to reduce duplication in 
skills and introduce a small but properly resourced outreach and education team which could 
take the service out to different parts of the County, providing a more bespoke offer which meets 
the needs of the County’s wide range of communities. 

A centralised museum service for Monmouthshire will enable the collections to continue to be 
managed well, but from one place with less curatorial input and less travelling and time input 
from the conservation team. Dedicated volunteers who are interested in collections management 

Page 75



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

52 
 

(this is always a popular volunteer role) will be able to work across the collections with one point 
of supervisory contact. Digitisation with new project specific equipment will become a priority 
and a new online presence, again developed as a specific externally funded project will enable 
better marketing to take place across the service, through a high quality dedicated website. This 
will allow access to digitised parts of the collections, short well written pieces of research and 
photographs and prints. Co-curation with community members being able to post their own 
heritage images and stories can be developed with links to the Peoples Collection Wales website. 

A new project will enable active volunteer recruitment and training opportunities in a number of 
areas which can expand service delivery and increase community engagement. These could 
include recording and assembling an oral history archive to add to any existing oral history in the 
collections, which can be edited and uploaded to the website where appropriate or used to 
inform temporary exhibitions.  

Other volunteer roles could include developing or augmenting existing research and writing skills 
in community groups, learning storytelling skills, giving guided tours in designated areas of the 
county, collaboration with amateur drama groups or schools to develop theatre around heritage 
and use handling collections as props or providing facilitated family or schools activities. All of 
these roles would require a project based leader, input from permanent staff and training and 
travel budgets.  

Whilst there would be space in the new central store for bringing these volunteers together, 
meetings, training sessions and delivery would need to take place in a number of different 
locations across the county. These would include heritage sites in Monmouth and Chepstow and 
potentially other locations like the new secondary school in Caldicot (being built as part of the 
councils 21st century schools programme) and council owned or existing community venues 
across the county. 

A programme of exhibitions and activities and events would be planned across the county, with 
particular emphasis on the towns of Monmouth, Chepstow, Abergavenny and Caldicot, but also 
in other historic sites. Locations would include Chepstow Museum or the Market Hall or Shire Hall 
in Monmouth (depending on options development) and in pop-up locations in Abergavenny 
(likely to be associated with the market or theatre complex), a marquee at the food festival or a 
specially created “interpretive shelter”.  

Partnerships could also be developed with independent, National Trust or Cadw owned sites 
enabling stories connected to the county owned collections and archives to be communicated on 
a visiting event basis.   

A manageable set of out posts needs to be considered and agreed in consultation with active 
community based heritage interest groups and colleague officers working on other project like 
the 21st century schools programme. This shouldn´t be more than around 6 with varying scales, 
including the museum service´s own venues. It is also important that a clear vision is developed 
for such a project which active community groups can buy into or not so that the strength of the 
concept is not diluted by external priorities or objectives. 

 

 

Page 76



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

53 
 

The staff posts which would be needed for this central service are: 

Post Role 

Museums Manager Manages the museums service.  

Responsibility for fundraising and programme development. 

Curator Manages the collections and oversees the development of 
permanent exhibitions. Provides objects for temporary 
exhibitions. 

Conservator Conserves the collections. 

Sells the conservation service externally if there is spare 
capacity to do so. 

Learning Officer Develops education and schools programmes. 

Delivers education and schools programme, supported by 
volunteers. 

Outreach & Exhibitions 
Officer 

Develops outreach programme. 

Delivers outreach programme, supported by volunteers. 

Develops temporary exhibition programme. 

Manages the volunteers. 

The staff would be supported by a bank of volunteers who would provide education and outreach 
activities in their local area. AMION Consulting has had full access to all of the salary information 
for the service and based on existing salaries and some benchmarking across the sector, the total 
staff cost of the five posts above has been assumed to be £212,000.  

The case studies for Ludlow Museum Resource Centre and for the Herefordshire Museum 
Resource and Learning Centre, which are provided in the appendix, offer some valuable lessons. 
In the case of the Ludlow Centre, this was an additional facility for the service and was designed 
with high running costs in 2003 when the museum picture was very different. It has allowed for 
significant improvements to the way that the collections are stored but insufficient attention was 
given to the longer term viability and the building was never staffed to its full potential and 
currently only has one part time person. More recently with the development of a new museum 
in Shrewsbury, the council’s focus in terms of heritage delivery has changed. In the case of 
Herefordshire, the new Resource and Learning Centre has also significantly improved the way 
that the collections are managed and has provided facilities that didn’t exist before in 
Herefordshire’s two other sites, both of which are also in Hereford.   

The project at Ludlow was focused on bringing together objects which were hidden from view in 
a number of different locations and making them more accessible to the public, this was also the 
case with the store in Hereford although the project was much less ambitious in terms of its 
staffing requirements. Neither project was primarily concerned with pooling and sharing skills 
across the service. To compare the objectives of each and their successes or failures can provide 
useful guidance but Monmouthshire’s project would be different. The council would need to be 

Page 77



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

54 
 

very clear about the reasons behind creating a new centralised service and rationalise the staff 
structure and skills mix at the same time.   The building should be designed to minimize running 
costs and to allow for a properly managed and skilled team. Although there would be initial set 
up costs, the ongoing revenue costs would be met by savings in other areas of the service. This is 
shown in section 5.9. 

5.5 Create a trading company 

The Council should create a wholly owned arms length trading company which would have the 
necessary skills and flexibility to run commercial services across the existing museums and 
attractions and in some new council owned locations. 

Since 2003, local authorities in Wales have had the right to establish trading companies which 
make a profit to support their areas of activity1. In the tightening financial climate, more councils 
are exploring this option as a way of supporting important services. In the appendix we have 
included a case study for Blackpool Council which established BECL in 2014 as a trading company 
to run the Winters Gardens which is a substantial income generating venue.  

The benefits of taking commercial services out of council operation are well recognised. The way 
that councils are required to operate to ensure public accountability does not encourage good 
commercial practice. Council staff are obliged to follow strict procurement rules and are usually 
prevented from recruiting staff on flexible contracts and with commercial terms and conditions2. 
These constraints also make it difficult for councils to appoint staff with good relevant experience. 
As a result, council run trading services are rarely as entrepreneurial as similar services in the 
private sector and operate with higher costs. Putting commercial services out to tender is also 
not ideal in many ways. Services which are inherently profitable and are tendered out by lease 
effectively ‘give away’ much of the potential profit to a third party. Commercial services which 
are only minimally profitable are harder to outsource and either remain in house or the council is 
obliged to offer a management fee to the contractor as a guarantee.  

The commercial services which operate from the museums and attractions in Monmouthshire are 
generally not operating profitably. The Shire Hall has a team which runs the venue hire but which 
is constrained by the council’s terms and conditions. It is also only responsible for one venue so 
there is no opportunity to share costs such as senior management and marketing or to procure 
jointly. The retail units in Shire Hall, the three museums and Tintern Old Station all purchase 
individually and generate very little profit, if any, after all costs have been accounted for. One of 
the more commercially viable parts of the operation is the café at Tintern which is leased out and 
generates a small rental income of £8,500 back to the council.  

Given that there are a number of income generating opportunities across the museums and 
attractions, there would be value in the council establishing a company which could be managed 
at arms length by a properly skilled individual and operated under commercial conditions. Since 
the company would only be running the service for Monmouthshire Council, it would qualify for 

                                                           
1 2003 Local Government Act Section 95 
2 This does not necessarily mean zero hours contracts or less than living wage payments, but there is still a 
significant discrepancy between staff on Council contracts and those employed in the hospitality and other leisure 
industries. 

Page 78



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

55 
 

Teckal exemption, meaning that the opportunity would not need to go through a competitive 
tendering process.   

The trading company could operate all of the following income generating services: 

 A new café at Chepstow museum (see 5.6.1); 

 Seasonal or pop up kiosks in the grounds of Caldicot Castle, Old Station Tintern and potentially 
Abergavenny museum (see 5.6.2); 

 The café at Old Station Tintern when the lease expires; 

 New camping pods in the park at Tintern and possibly the grounds of Caldicot Castle; 

 Seasonal activities at the Caldicot Country Park such as a high ropes course, segways and bike 
hire; 

 The venue hire operation at Shire Hall (see 5.6.4); 

 The venue hire at Caldicot Castle (see 5.6.5); 

 Car parking at Abergavenny (see 5.6.2) and the Old Station Tintern 

 A new seasonal kiosk or pop up at Black Rock 

 It could also potentially take over the licenses for other council owned sites which are 
currently held by food van operators across the County (such as the one on the A472 in Usk). 

 Running a programme of income generating events such as the fireworks display at Caldicot 
Castle and summer theatre. The company should exploit all catering opportunities associated 
with events through direct operation of catering kiosks as well as the sale of licenses to third 
parties. 

The company would require the following permanent posts (many more visitor facing staff would 
be required):  

Post Role 

Director Overall responsibility for the trading company. To oversee 
business development (new sites, new income streams) and 
to ensure appropriate levels of profitability.  

Catering and retail manager Oversee all catering outlets and retail units. Product selection, 
menu development, stock management, staff scheduling 

Sales manager To pro-actively sell all of the available spaces for venue hire, 
functions, parties, meetings etc. 

Events manager To take responsibility for the smooth operation of events.  

In order to be effective, staff with demonstrable expertise in catering and hospitality would be 
required. The organisation would need to be given sufficient freedom to operate with commercial 
flexibility and should not be over burdened by council requirements. An appropriate mechanism 
for governance would need to be established including a board, chaired by someone from the 

Page 79



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

56 
 

private sector with relevant expertise. The BECL case study provides a good example of how the 
board and a communication protocol with the council could be established.   

The financial implications of the new trading company are shown in 5.9 below. 

5.6 Proposals for each site 

5.6.1 Chepstow Museum 

Chepstow Museum is probably the most suitable of the three existing museums buildings to 
operate as a museum. It has a number of good exhibition spaces although access for disable 
people is poor. The newly refurbished temporary exhibition space on the ground floor is fitted 
out to a high standard and provides a flexible space for temporary and hired-in exhibitions and 
objects from national collections. It is also programmed well and provides a good service to its 
local community.  

At present however, the space is not being used as well as it could be. With the exception of the 
temporary exhibition gallery, much of the existing display space is used for relatively static 
displays which are difficult to change. A significant amount of space is also used for storage, 
conservation and back of house purposes. The creation of the central service and store will free 
up a significant amount of space which could be used for new and more flexible displays. The 
gallery at the rear of the building called Chepstow at Work is particularly outdated and does very 
little to explain what is special and unique abut Chepstow, it is worn out and needs to go.  

If the museum is to have a café, then this should go at ground floor level and at the front of the 
building. The Development of Chepstow Gallery and the space behind it would be the obvious 
choice for this because of the recent investment in the temporary gallery to the other side. This 
would capitalise on the proximity of the building to the car park and the Tourist Information 
Centre. It would be open throughout the year and be run by the new trading company. In addition 
to generating income, the café would increase footfall and bring new audiences into the museum, 
particularly during the main summer months.   

Meanwhile the rear gallery would be cleared out and refurbished to provide a flexible interactive 
gallery on the story of Chepstow, whilst other spaces currently used for conservation could 
provide accessible galleries for family activities and for community work around the collections 
of photography and ephemera. The Wye Tour Gallery has only just been put in place at first floor 
level and some of the other rooms are used for storage or office space, whilst the print room feels 
rather like a store. Some of the museum’s very good art collections could be displayed within 
vacated rooms on the upper floor. There would also be opportunities to work on co-curated 
displays with community members to tie into Chepstow events.     

Assuming that all professional museum staff would operate out of the central services unit means 
that staff based at the museum would be visitor facing only. We have allowed a budget of £55,000 
assuming two staff on duty during all opening hours.  

5.6.2 Abergavenny Museum 

Page 80



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

57 
 

For the Abergavenny site, we are presenting two options. 

(i) Abergavenny 1 – Hand back to landlord and allow a new purpose to be found 

Abergavenny museum is well run and provides a strong and varied programme. The grounds are 
an important facility for local people and the castle is a key landmark in the town. 

As a museum however the space is very poor. The exhibitions and displays are accommodated 
in a number of small rooms and access around the building is not good for people with mobility 
difficulties. With the exception of the temporary exhibition space on the ground floor, most of 
the displays are static and difficult to change. 

In our opinion, the building is very limited as a museum and there are few ways that it could be 
improved significantly. 

There is a further challenge in that the building is owned by the Neville Estate which requires a 
percentage of any income generated in the building or grounds. Any ‘commercialisation’ of the 
site therefore would bring limited benefit to the service.  

Furthermore, the council is responsible for the maintenance of the building which comes with 
significant long term liabilities. The 2010 condition survey identified a number of major repairs 
which were required to the fabric of the building which have only partially been completed.   

In short, it has limited potential for improvement as a museum, the commercial opportunities are 
hindered by the requirement to share any profit with the Neville Estate and the building has a 
relatively costly long term maintenance need.  

For these reasons, our strong recommendation to the council is to hand it back to the Neville 
Estate when the lease expires or to discuss the intention to remove the museum and negotiate 
withdrawal from the lease at a mutually acceptable time. 

This would achieve a number of positive outcomes.  It would reduce the cost of the service by 
£130,000 (this is the actual net direct, indirect and maintenance costs of running the museum at 
Abergavenny provided to us by Monmouthshire County Council), allowing greater resource to be 
used for the development of the new central service and store. 

It would also allow the Neville Estate to develop a new commercial use for the site which would 
better support the development of the town. Potential suggestions have been a restaurant, pub 
or self catering accommodation. (It has been indicated to us that the Angel Hotel might be 
interested in the building). 

We appreciate however that there might be strong local opposition to this proposal. Given the 
strength of the stories, collections and archives associated with the Abergavenny’s heritage and 
the long history of community engagement which began with the establishment of the museum 
by community members, it is essential that a visible presence is maintained. There are examples 
of community engagement projects throughout the UK, where people have participated in 
creating external graphic, sculptural or conceptual heritage inspired communication. Some of 
these have been very much more successful than others.  

Proposals for such a project cannot be prescriptive in the context of this report and if developed 
will need input from the Abergavenny museum staff, other service staff and community 
consultation. But they could include:   

Page 81



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

58 
 

 a shelter in the castle gardens which includes interpretive panels and has a meaningful design, 
within which activities could take place;  

 a town trail with building markers and paper and digital way finding;  

 creative apps using oral history and soundscapes; 

 collaboration with restaurants and shops in the town enabling photographic images with 
short bilingual texts to be displayed in appropriate location which reference that location in 
the past;  

 creation of a heritage inspired performance area with seating developed by community 
members and inspired by the town´s heritage where storytelling and performance could take 
place; 

 Production of a heritage marquee for use at festivals with an emphasis on handling of 
collections; and 

 an active group of volunteers developed in the town to give guided tours, tell stories and 
facilitate outdoor or indoor heritage inspired activities. 

(ii) Abergavenny 2 – increased flexibility 

If the hand back option is not acceptable to the council, an alternative option would be to improve 
the offer as much as possible within the recognised constraints. The museum would form part of 
the new central service, alongside Chepstow. 

Changes would include: 

 Increasing the amount of flexible display space within the museum; 

 Introducing seasonal temporary catering kiosks or pop ups in the grounds which could 
generate a surplus into the proposed trading company; 

 Introducing car parking charges to generate some income and restrict use of the car park; 

 Increasing the number of income generating events in the grounds. 

Assuming that all professional museum staff would operate out of the central services unit means 
that staff based at the museum would be visitor facing only. We have allowed a budget of £55,000 
which allows for two staff to be on duty during all opening hours 

5.6.3 Nelson Museum, Monmouth 

We are also proposing two options for the Nelson Museum. 

(i) Nelson Museum 1 – use the Market Hall as the central service and store 

The relocation of the one stop shop and offices from the Market Hall building adjoining the 
museum creates some interesting opportunities. 

The museum at present is poorly laid out and does not display the collections well. In particular, 
it does not do justice to the significance of the Nelson Collection. The 1960s adaptation of the 

Page 82



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

59 
 

building is potentially of some architectural interest but this is also lost in the current 
configuration of the space. 

The upper floor of the building, which is partially empty and used for offices, has attractive views 
across the River Monnow and there is potentially storage space in the slaughterhouses 
underneath the building. 

It is possible therefore that the space could be reconfigured to accommodate the central service 
and store.  

The design of the windows in the spaces overlooking the river however not only maximise the 
amount of light that comes into the building but also makes it challenging to exclude light which 
would be very detrimental to stored collections. So the viability of this would depend on the 
amount of space available with minimal light and finding suitable purposes for areas with open-
plan space, light and views    

The layout would need to be looked at in detail but this option would allow the Nelson Collection 
(and potentially the Rolls Collection) to be retained and better displayed in the building, 
complementing the public access to the stores. 

The slaughterhouses and other areas could be used for the collections store. A new café with river 
views could be opened up on the first floor, run by the trading company. 

There are a number of benefits to this option if the space does prove to be suitable. 

The building is already in council ownership so there would be no acquisition costs for the 
establishment of the central store (although there would be costs for adapting the space). It 
would allow the Nelson Collection to be retained in its current location and be presented better 
as part of general improvements to the building. It would also allow the service to capitalise on 
the value of the river view. 

Leaving aside, the professional museum staff that would operate out of the central services unit, 
we have assumed staff costs of £55,000 assuming two staff on duty during all opening hours.  

(ii) Nelson Museum 2 – relocate the Nelson Collection to the Shire Hall and find a new 
purpose for the Market Hall 

If the space is unsuitable for the central service, or the council now has other plans for the One 
Stop Shop space in the Market Hall, the second option would be to relocate the Nelson Collection 
into the Shire Hall and allow an alternative use to be found for the museum space alongside the 
One Stop Shop, taking it out of the museums service. 

The option of relocating the Nelson Collection into the Shire Hall has been considered previously 
but was discounted on the grounds of cost. A proper costing exercise was not undertaken 
however and some of these assumptions were based on floor loading concerns, suggesting that 
it was the upper floors that were being considered. A more suitable space would be the 
Community Gallery at ground floor level at the rear of the building with its own direct access. The 
limiting factor would be the size of this room although it does have the advantage of being a clear 
rectangular area without awkward spaces, where the displays could be laid out to maximise the 
space available.     

If the first option is not viable, this should be given proper consideration. 

Page 83



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

60 
 

There are a number of key benefits. Firstly it would allow for the closure of the current museum, 
saving around £100,000 (this is the actual net direct, indirect and maintenance costs provided to 
us by Monmouthshire County Council) which would allow for investment into the central service 
and other venues.  

Perhaps equally importantly, it would provide a clearer purpose for the Shire Hall which currently 
has a confused offer and purpose. (The precedent of relocating the collection has already been 
established when it was moved from the Rolls Hall where it had been bequeathed).  

5.6.4 Shire Hall 

There are also two options for Shire Hall. 

(i) Shire Hall 1 – take the Nelson Collection 

The recent renovation work carried out on Shire Hall has been very valuable in terms of ‘future 
proofing’ the building. The core concept however, of creating a venue for hire with some elements 
of a visitor attraction is difficult to understand. For visitors it does not present a compelling 
proposition. 

As a venue for hire, it is an attractive space but there are a number of constraints, particularly 
relating to access when the market is taking place, which will always limit the amount of income 
which can be realised from functions and weddings. 

Given that the potential for commercial growth is constrained, the option of relocating the Nelson 
Collection into the building, if the Nelson Museum closes, is a positive option for the Shire Hall. It 
would allow the Shire Hall to become a museum first and foremost, which also has function rooms 
for hire. It would have a clear proposition and purpose. 

Alongside this, more of the space which is currently used for static displays should be converted 
into temporary exhibition and display space to allow the venue to host a changing programme 
over the year. This could happen in Courtroom 2 or the Old Council Chamber.  

Income from functions would reduce by around £60,000 per year (based on current performance 
at the Shire Hall and taken from financial data provided by Monmouthshire County Council) but 
this would be more than offset by the closure of the Nelson Museum. 

The new trading company would employ a general manager, a catering manager, a sales manager 
and an events manager to cover all sites. In this situation, the Shire Hall would only require on 
site staff of a Duty Officer and cover for the museum and front desk. 

(ii) Shire Hall 2 – commercial improvements 

If the option of closing the Nelson Museum and relocating the Nelson Collection is not adopted 
(if the option to bring the central service into the Market Hall is accepted for example), the best 
option for the Shire Hall is to continue to improve its commercial performance as a functions 
venue. It is important however to be realistic about the amount of income that the building is 
going to be able to achieve. At best it will reach a point where it covers its own costs. 

The option of creating more temporary exhibition space should also be considered, as in option 
1 above. These could be annual exhibitions drawing on the best of the stored collections on cross 

Page 84



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

61 
 

county themes and would work well if they were linked to trails around the county, or sites or 
events linked by very broad themes such as Wine, Animals or Cloth.   

The new trading company would employ a general manager, a catering manager, a sales manager 
and an events manager to cover all sites. In this situation, the Shire Hall would only require on 
site staff of a Duty Officer and cover for the tourist information desk.  

5.6.5 Caldicot Castle 

The council should focus development on the Country Park and work with the local community 
to set up a development trust to restore the Castle for the long term. 

Caldicot Castle is probably the most challenging of all the venues within the museums and 
attractions. 

The Castle is an important monument in the area which is highly valued by the local community. 
The country park is also very popular and well used by local people. 

The Castle has many challenges however, in particular the significant amount of work which is 
needed to repair the fabric of the building and bring it up to acceptable standards. Securing the 
funds to do the work through HLF (probably the most realistic source of funding for this type of 
work) would be very difficult given the scale of the ‘ask’ and the relatively limited heritage value 
of the structure. It is not impossible, but it will be very difficult and will almost certainly take many 
years. 

In the past, attempts have been made to use the Castle to generate income, with some degree of 
success. But as the building and the fit out continues to age and deteriorate, making money out 
of functions will continue to decline. The kitchen is now unfit for use and will require a major 
refurbishment if it is to be used. Other facilities, such as the public toilets also require updating. 

There is also a history of problems between the community and the council linked to issues 
around management and operation. 

Bearing in mind the condition of the fabric of the building and the interior, we are proposing a 
two step approach to the future of the building. 

In the first instance, the council should ‘scale back’ the operation of the Castle as a visitor 
attraction. During the main season (March to October) visitors should be allowed to access the 
interior courtyard but the interior of the castle should remain closed. This would allow the council 
to reduce staffing costs and prevent further deterioration of the interior of the building. 

Instead, the focus should shift towards making improvements to the Country Park, transforming 
it into an exciting outdoor activity park offering a range of family activities. The types of activities 
which would work within the park include: 

 High ropes courses 

 Segway hire 

 Bike hire 

 Outdoor trampolining 

Page 85



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

62 
 

 Zip wires 

 Children’s play area 

Pop up catering should be introduced to the park during the main season, also run by the trading 
company. 

These activities should be developed by the council and run by the new trading company, rather 
than franchised out to a third party. They are relatively low capital cost to introduce and would 
generate a small but valuable on going revenue for the service. A dedicated business plan would 
need to be developed for the activities. (Headline numbers have been assumed for this report).  

In the meantime, the council should begin discussions with the town council about the longer 
term future of the building. We believe that ideally, a development trust would be set up for the 
Castle which would be run by the local community. The purpose of the trust would be to raise the 
funds necessary for the restoration of the building. This would involve a major funding application 
to the Heritage Lottery Fund, as well as other fundraising activity. It is important that the local 
community takes ownership of this process. In the meantime, the council would maintain it as 
outlined above. There would also need to be a close communication between the development 
trust and the Monmouthshire Museums Development Trust. 

In the future, if and when the required restoration works have been completed, Monmouthshire 
County Council could grant a lease for the building to a new community run charitable trust which 
would develop out of the development trust and would run the building. The new trust could 
determine if the building is then reopened as a visitor attraction. 

Whilst negotiations with the local community are taking place and the development trust is being 
established, it may still be possible to generate some income from functions and events. The 
trading company should look at the viability of selling the venue for functions and weddings and 
offer these if it is profitable to do so. The state of the kitchen is likely to prove to be a major issue 
however. If it can be brought up to an acceptable standard relatively cost effectively, functions 
are more likely to be viable. We understand that £40,000 has been earmarked by the council in 
this year’s capital budget.  

It may also be necessary to allow the development trust to run functions from the building as part 
of its fundraising efforts and this should clearly be prioritised as required. 

It is important however to understand that generating income from functions in this way is time 
limited. If the restoration works do not take place, the venue will over time become completely 
unsuitable. The use of the Castle as it is now, as a functions venue, should be seen as a meanwhile 
use whilst fundraising takes place. 

5.6.6 Old Station Tintern 

The council should maximise the income potential from this popular country park. 

The Old Station at Tintern is a well used country park which, unlike Caldicot, has significant tourist 
potential because of its location. It is also well used by local residents alike.  

Page 86



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

63 
 

The café is very well run and had developed an excellent offer which understands and meets the 
needs of its customers.  

The railway carriages however are used relatively little and are a costly addition to the park. 

Of all the sites, the Old Station at Tintern presents the best opportunity for income growth and 
cost reduction. 

The proposal for the site is: 

 Close the railway carriages and remove the need for dedicated site staff. Instead, run the park 
as a country park using the shared pool of staff with Caldicot Country Park; 

 When the café lease expires, this should be taken over by the new trading company; 

 Introduce camping pods into the park (see the appendix for case studies); 

 Improve the children’s play facilities as a free facility to encourage more footfall; 

 Introduce more charged events, managed by the trading company. 

5.7 Address leadership and management 

The council should retain responsibility for the museums and attractions but with a different 
management structure. Involvement from new community based organisations or trusts should 
be considered for the development of Caldicot Castle and potentially for the development of a 
small exhibition in Abergavenny. 

A key requirement of the brief for this study is to assess governance arrangements and to consider 
alternative options.  

We have been clear from the outset however that the process needs to assess what should be 
done and then to decide how this should operate. The importance of this approach has become 
even more apparent to us as we have understood more about the current operation. 

During the course of our study, the Council began to consider governance options for the wider 
leisure service, potentially including leisure centres and activity centres. This work is at a fairly 
early stage and cannot therefore directly inform the recommendations within this report. It is 
important however that the implications of this wider review for the museums and attractions 
are factored in at the appropriate time. 

Our recommendations on governance therefore reflect the current situation. 

We have already identified that the commercial services should be run by an independent non-
profit distributing organisation which would generate a surplus back to support the operation of 
the venues. We then considered the options for how the museums and attractions should be run, 
reflecting the current situation.  We considered five basic options: 

1. The museums and attractions stay within the council, managed as they are now; 

2. The museums and attractions stay within the council but are reorganised to provide a more 
appropriate leadership structure; 

Page 87



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

64 
 

3. The museums and attractions are ‘spun out’ into a single non profit distributing organisation 
(which could be a registered charity); 

4. The museums and attractions are spun out into two separate independent, non profit 
distributing organisations (which could be charitable trusts). 

5. Hand all or some of the venues over to be run by local community based organisations or 
trusts. 

Our assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of each option, and the resulting 
recommendations, are provided in the appendix. 

We are very clear that there is no benefit in creating a small independent organisation (or 
organisations) to run all of the museums and attractions (options 3 and 4 above). 

The main reasons for this assessment are: 

 It is difficult to see the benefits that have been realised by other museums services which 
have gone down this route. Sheffield was one of the first authorities to adopt this approach 
in 1998 when it created two independent trusts, Museums Sheffield and Sheffield Industrial 
Museums Trust to run the museums which were in council ownership. Seventeen years on, 
both trusts have faced significant financial difficulties which have resulted in the closure of 
venues, reduced opening hours and reduced staffing levels. The trusts have been able to 
access some sources of funding (such as the recent Arts Council funds which were given to 
Museums Sheffield to help them to ‘restabilise’ the operation after the latest round of local 
authority cuts). Despite the access to these types of funds, both trusts are still in crisis. We 
are seeing this elsewhere. Financially, the opportunities for independent trusts are still very 
limited and there are very few sources of funds which are available to trusts but which are 
not open to local authorities3. Museum trusts are usually very heavily dependent on local 
authority funding. If this is cut (and it is often easier for authorities to make cuts to 
independent organisations), the trusts struggle to survive.  

 Alongside this, the cost of running an independent trust is almost always higher than running 
the service as part of the council. When the full cost of ‘purchasing’ financial management,  
HR and other support services as well as premises maintenance costs are allowed for, it is 
always more costly for a small independent company. We estimate that costs of running an 
independent trust could be around £250,000 higher than running the same operation within 
the council. 

 Many of the arguments around flexibility of operation and ability to create an appropriate 
culture simply do not apply to services which need to be subsidised. They do apply to 
organisations which need to operate with a commercial ethos – hence the recommendation 
to establish the independent trading company. But councils are very well suited to providing 
beneficial services to their stakeholders. The museums and attractions have more similarities 
with other council run services (such as education services and public spaces) than they do 
commercial operations. Culturally therefore, there is no problem! 

                                                           
3 Although this is often quoted as a benefit of trust status, in reality there are very few sources of funds which 
cannot be accessed by local authorities. It is largely only private donations and small trust funds which cannot be 
accessed by local authorities. Income from these sources is typically minimal to museum trusts. 

Page 88



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

65 
 

The assessment of option of passing the operation of the museums over to local community based 
organisations (option 5) is less straightforward. The summary of our assessment is: 

 Museums which are run by local community trusts or societies are usually small scale and 
whilst this is not, in itself, a problem, it does not replace the value delivered by a 
professionally run and managed museums service which employs skilled staff to protect 
collections and engage with different audiences. For this reason, we would not recommend 
the break up and ‘disposal’ of the museums service to local community organisations. Local 
community organisations could however provide a very valuable addition to support and 
work with the museums service. In Abergavenny for example, if the option of closing the 
museum is adopted, a local community based society could be very valuable in providing an 
alternative and more sustainable local exhibition or display for the town. Similarly, we are 
recommending that a community based development trust is set up to deliver the restoration 
work for the Castle and eventually take over its operation. 

 It is also important to be aware of how fragile volunteer run museums can be. These museums 
are entirely dependent on the goodwill and ability of the active members to maintain and 
deliver the service. There are many examples of community based museums getting into 
difficulty and the ‘problem’ returning to the council. (This situation is not dissimilar to what 
happened in Abergavenny previously). The community run museums should therefore be 
seen as an addition to the core service, not a replacement for it. 

We are making a clear recommendation therefore that at this time the museums service and the 
management of the attractions remains within the council but that a new management structure 
is adopted to take account of the proposed recommendations in this report. The following is a 
suggested management structure for the operation of the two functions. 

Page 89



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

66 
 

 

In addition, we are recommending that there could be a role for a small community based 
exhibition in Abergavenny if the option is taken to close the museum. 

In the short to medium term we are recommending a development trust is established to 
fundraise for Caldicot Castle which could migrate into a management trust once the restoration 
works have been completed. 

5.8 Longer term governance implications 

At the time of writing this report, the wider review of the governance of leisure services is still 
ongoing. Clearly, the recommendations in this report need to be reassessed in light of the findings 
of this work. 

The potential scale of a bigger independent organisation, which runs a portfolio of leisure services 
including the museums and attractions, would alleviate some of the serious concerns about 
financial viability and sustainability.  

Although it would need to be considered fully, it is likely that a bigger organisation could be 
created which could run all of the services effectively and with some degree of financial stability. 
This would clearly have implications for some of the recommendations within this report. For 

Head of 
Tourism, 
Leisure & 

Culture

Countryside & Green 
Infrastructure Manager

Site 
maintenance 

staff -
Caldicot and 

OST

Museums 
Manager

Curator

Conservator

Learning 
Officer

Outreach & 
Exhibition 

Officer

Oversight 
of Trading 
Company

Trading 
Company CEO

Page 90



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

67 
 

example, the trading company recommended here could form part of a wider commercial 
operation.  

The core recommendations relating to the central service, and the specific recommendations for 
each site, however, are unlikely to change in any material way.  

On this basis, we are recommending that in the short term, the changes proposed above are made 
to the staffing structure of the museums service and the attractions. This would allow the work 
to begin on the development of the central service and for some immediate improvements to be 
made to the operation of the attractions.   

The creation of the trading company however should be delayed, pending the findings of the 
wider review. 

5.9 Revenue implications 

There are essentially four different scenarios that could be adopted in the strategy above and we 
have been able to model the revenue implications of each. The total annual net cost to the council 
is forecast to be between £685,000 and £765,000 in the four scenarios. This compares to a total 
net cost of running the service in 2014/15 of £1,077,000.  

The budget for 2015/16 is £772,000 which is in the ball park of our four scenarios but with 
appropriate levels of expenditure on marketing, exhibitions, equipment and materials factored 
in to the proposed model.  

Whilst there is less than £80,000 between the four options, it would appear that the least costly 
option (in revenue terms) would be to close Abergavenny as a museum and transform the Market 
Hall in Monmouth into a new museum and central store.   

It is important to note that the forecasts below are assumed to be in a stabilized year. Clearly any 
changes will take time to bed in but for the purpose of assessing options, it is important to look 
at forecasts in a notional stabilized year. It is also important to note that this does not take into 
account any changes to the governance of other services in the council.   

Each of the line items is explained below the table. 

Page 91



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

68 
 

 

 Staff costs are based on creating the new central management team at a cost of £212,000 
per annum with appropriate front of house cover at the sites. Existing salaries have been used 
and have been benchmarked across the sector. Clearly there are savings made in the options 
which involve closures.  

 Rent is payable at Abergavenny – the amount shown is the amount currently payable. There 
is no rent payable in the options where the council leaves the site.  

 Utilities costs, business rates, repairs, maintenance, security, cleaning, professional fees, 
telephone, IT, subscriptions are based on the actual costs currently incurred at the various 
sites. This information was provided by Monmouthshire County Council. Where there are site 
closures, the costs have been reduced accordingly. Additional allowance has been made for 
any new buildings (the central store for example should it not go into the market hall).  

 Equipment and materials – a much greater budget has been allowed for museums equipment 
and materials than that currently provided. 

Expenditure 

Close Abergavenny - 

transform Market 

Hall (Monmouth) to 

include new central 

store

Retain Abergavenny - 

transform Market 

Hall (Monmouth) to 

include new central 

store

Close Abergavenny - 

vacate Market Hall 

and move Nelson 

Collection into Shire 

Hall - central store in 

another building

Retain Abergavenny - 

vacate Market Hall 

and move Nelson 

Collection into Shire 

Hall - central store in 

another building

Staff costs 473,000£                   528,000£                 426,000£                 481,000£                  

Rent -£                            5,090£                      -£                          5,090£                      

Utilities 43,751£                     51,896£                    43,751£                    51,896£                    

Business rates 52,461£                     55,006£                    52,461£                    55,006£                    

Repair and maintenance 15,999£                     16,255£                    18,499£                    18,755£                    

Security 10,875£                     13,064£                    13,821£                    16,010£                    

Cleaning 15,858£                     16,722£                    18,858£                    19,722£                    

Professional fees 10,196£                     10,443£                    13,528£                    9,256£                      

Equipment and materials 31,695£                     36,695£                    27,300£                    31,000£                    

Marketing and promotion 20,000£                     20,000£                    20,000£                    20,000£                    

Telephone, IT, licences, subscriptions 9,486£                        10,573£                    9,699£                      10,786£                    

Travel and transport 15,000£                     15,000£                    15,000£                    15,000£                    

Indirect costs 71,864£                     80,825£                    62,864£                    71,825£                    

Indirect maintenance and works 50,000£                     60,000£                    50,000£                    60,000£                    

Total expenditure 820,185£                   919,569£                 771,781£                 865,346£                  

Income

Museum events 20,000£                     30,000£                    20,000£                    30,000£                    

Grazing at Caldicot 350£                           350£                          350£                          350£                          

Conservation income 5,000£                        5,000£                      5,000£                      5,000£                      

Chepstow Town Council grant 2,000£                        2,000£                      2,000£                      2,000£                      

Profit from trading company 97,200£                     120,400£                 49,200£                    64,400£                    

Total income 124,550£                   157,750£                 76,550£                    101,750£                  

Net cost 695,635£                   761,819£                 695,231£                 763,596£                  

Page 92



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

69 
 

 Marketing – a single dedicated budget of £20,000 has been assumed to market the museums 
more effectively. This does not include marketing of trading venues which is accounted for 
below and includes a further £20,000.  

 Travel and transport – an allowance of £15,000 has been made which is over and above the 
current costs. This is to allow for travel and transport of people and objects/equipment 
between the sites since the collections will now be housed in a single store and the core 
museum staff will need to travel extensively between the sites.  

 Indirect costs - are based on the actual costs currently charged by Monmouthshire County 
Council to the various sites. This information was provided by Monmouthshire County 
Council. Where there are site closures, the costs have been reduced accordingly. Additional 
allowance has been made for any new buildings (the central store for example should it not 
go into the market hall).  

 Indirect maintenance costs and works – this is based on the actual costs provided to us by 
Monmouthshire County Council averaged over three years. Where there are site closures, the 
costs have been reduced accordingly. Additional allowance has been made for any new 
buildings (the central store for example should it not go into the market hall). 

 Events income – this is a new assumed income stream. It has been assumed that each of the 
museum sites should be able to host two charged events per annum which generate net 
income of £5,000 each. 

 Grazing at Caldicot – based on actual income currently received from allowing grazing on the 
land.  

 Conservation income – an assumption has been made that the Conservator will continue to 
spend a small amount of time undertaking commercial conservation work.  

 Chepstow Town Council – a sum of £2,000 is currently provided by the town council annually 
to allow for lunch time opening of the museum. This has been assumed to continue.  

 Profit from trading company – this reflects the assumed net contribution from all of the new 
trading activities outlined in the table below.  

The table below is an indicative trading account for each scenario. At this stage, the numbers 
are headline and illustrative. Further work should be undertaken as the project progresses. The 
trading assumptions made below are largely based on the experience of AMION Consulting in 
other locations but has been informed by the current performance.  

 The income assumed at the new cafés at Chepstow, Monmouth and Old Station and the 
kiosks at Caldicot, Old Station, Black Rock and Abergavenny are all based on our experience 
of similar sized operations around the UK. They are often modest operations which on their 
own do not make much commercial sense but as part of a group become much more 
financially viable.  

 Shire Hall Catering, Bar and Venue Hire income is based on the current trading performance 
(this was provided to us by Monmouthshire County Council) and a 30% increase in trade has 
been assumed as a result of being part of a much more commercially focused operation.  

Page 93



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

70 
 

 The camping income at Caldicot and Old Station is based on an assumption of 10 camping 
pods being acquired at each site. It has been assumed that the pods will be available to hire 
at a rate of £50 per night (net of VAT) for 6 months in the year. A 20% occupancy rate has 
been assumed.  

 A broad assumption has been made with regard to the potential income from new 
activities/attractions at Caldicot that an investment of around £300,000 is made into a 
combination of attractions include zip wires, high ropes, Segway, children’s play, bike hire etc. 
Attracting 10,000 additional users per annum at a price of £5 per person (net of VAT) could 
generate annual income of £50,000.  

 The events income assumed at Caldicot and Old Station is a slight increase on the current 
budget (figures provided by Monmouthshire County Council) to allow for a more commercial 
operation.  

 Caldicot venue hire is based on current budget figures. 

 Car parking income at Old Station is based on current actual performance.  

 Car parking at Abergavenny is based on introducing a car parking charge for non-museum 
visitors should the council remain as tenant.  

 Retail income from all sites is based on current actual trading date (provided by 
Monmouthshire County Council). Where there are site closures, the income has been reduced 
accordingly. 

 Catering costs of goods is based on an industry standard of 35%. 

 Retail costs of goods is based on an industry standard of 50% (museum retail). 

 Other cost of sales refers to an allowance of 10% of the income generated from car parks, 
attractions, camping and venue hire. 

 Event costs allow for a 10% margin to be made on the income assumed above – this is typical.  

 Variable staff costs allow for the cost of employing additional staff for the cafes, kiosks, 
attractions, venue hire. An allowance of 40% of the income from catering, bars, venue hire 
and attractions has been assumed.  

 Fixed staff costs allows for the four key posts of: Director, Catering and Retail Manager, Sales 
Manager and Events Manager.  

 £20,000 has been assumed for marketing. 

 An additional £45,000 has been assumed for additional operating costs.  

Page 94



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

71 
 

 

 

Close 

Abergavenny - 

transform Market 

Hall (Monmouth) 

to include new 

central store

Retain 

Abergavenny - 

transform Market 

Hall (Monmouth) 

to include new 

central store

Close 

Abergavenny - 

vacate Market 

Hall and move 

Nelson Collection 

into Shire Hall - 

central store in 

another building

Retain 

Abergavenny - 

vacate Market 

Hall and move 

Nelson Collection 

into Shire Hall - 

central store in 

another building

New Chepstow café 120,000£            120,000£            120,000£            120,000£            

New Caldicot kiosk 50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               

New OST kiosk 50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               

New Abergavenny kiosk 50,000£               -£                     50,000£               

New café in Market Hall, Monmouth 120,000£            120,000£            -£                     -£                     

OST Café 120,000£            120,000£            120,000£            120,000£            

Shire Hall Catering 40,000£               40,000£               12,000£               12,000£               

Shire Hall Bar 8,000£                 8,000£                 2,000£                 2,000£                 

New Black Rock kiosk 50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               

OST Camping 20,000£               20,000£               20,000£               20,000£               

New Caldicot camping 20,000£               20,000£               20,000£               20,000£               

New Caldicot attractions 50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               

Caldicot public events 50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               50,000£               

OST public events 20,000£               20,000£               20,000£               20,000£               

Caldicot venue hire 15,000£               15,000£               15,000£               15,000£               

Shire Hall venue hire 80,000£               80,000£               20,000£               20,000£               

OST car parking 15,000£               15,000£               15,000£               15,000£               

Abergavenny car parking 10,000£               -£                     10,000£               

Museum and Shire Hall retail 60,000£               75,000£               35,000£               50,000£               

Income 888,000£            963,000£            649,000£            724,000£            

Catering cost of goods 195,300£            212,800£            141,400£            158,900£            

Retail cost of goods 30,000£               37,500£               17,500£               25,000£               

Other cost of goods 20,000£               21,000£               14,000£               15,000£               

Event costs 63,000£               63,000£               63,000£               63,000£               

Variable staff costs 243,200£            263,200£            181,600£            201,600£            

Fixed salaries and on costs 150,000£            150,000£            105,000£            115,000£            

Marketing 20,000£               20,000£               20,000£               20,000£               

Office and general overheads 45,000£               45,000£               45,000£               45,000£               

Total 766,500£            812,500£            587,500£            643,500£            

Profit before tax 121,500£            150,500£            61,500£               80,500£               

Tax 24,300£               30,100£               12,300£               16,100£               

Net profit after tax 97,200£               120,400£            49,200£               64,400£               

Page 95



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

72 
 

5.10 Capital implications 

5.10.1 The Market Hall project 

The Monmouthshire Museums Development Trust should take a lead on fundraising for the major 
capital projects which will be required to deliver the proposed changes. 

When a museum service faces the challenges and tough decisions that Monmouthshire does now, 
it is vital to take positive steps, develop a vision for the future and produce an alternative 
sustainable model that fits with modern best practice. Transformational projects require capital 
funding to provide infrastructure and short term revenue funding to build capacity and these days 
to recruit and train volunteers to take projects into the future.  

Volunteering not only supports museums in their endeavours but increases community 
ownership and widens audiences through targeted projects both in terms of delivering services 
and of directly involving specific volunteers for example people with mental health issues or 
people with disabilities by empowering them to work in appropriate and supportive 
environments.  

Realistically the only significant funding source for such development projects is the Heritage 
Lottery Fund, so it is also essential that Monmouthshire´s development projects fit with HLF 
criteria and deliver the changes and benefits that they require in terms of heritage, people and 
communities. 

The situation in Wales is currently particularly competitive and HLF in Wales only considers bids 
of under £1,000,000. Bids above this level would be in competition with national projects, which 
would be likely to be high profile. Taking into account any possible match funding from the Council 
perhaps through the sale of buildings or other appropriate assets and funding support from 
donors or charitable trusts, projects will necessarily need to be in the region of just over a 
£1,000,000 in order to have a realistic chance of funding success. So there is an argument that 
coats must be cut according to the cloth available, unless other funding sources emerge such as 
a significant gift or bequest. 

When the service goes into a transitional phase, it will be appropriate to reduce everything other 
than opening the doors and managing buildings to a minimum in order to focus all available 
resources, including existing volunteers on project development and delivery. 

HLF will accept phased projects and it may be appropriate to progress the transformation in 
stages. The following broad brush costings indicate what projects of this scale may consist of. 
Although, clearly specific studies would need to take place to develop these to an appropriate 
level of detail, with much better knowledge of the spaces involved and some architectural input.                   

5.10.2 Central store project 

Create central store in an alternative location  
Make space secure. 
Re-use existing storage equipment where possible. 
Purchase additional easy access storage equipment. 

 
 
 
 

Page 96



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

73 
 

Recruit, train and manage volunteers to assist. 
Undertake collections review. 
Dispose of some duplicated material. 
Centralise and consolidate documentation. 
 

 
 
 
£600,000 

Create public access research area with IT equipment. 
Centrally based continuation of digitisation project and 
public facing data base assembly. 
Recruit, train and manage volunteer support.  

 
£100,000 

Develop a major digital community project celebrating  
Monmouthshire heritage  
Built around the attractions and the collections. 
Include downloadable trails and apps for use in key sites and 
around the county. Enable community members to upload 
their own memories and memorabilia     

 
 
£200,000 

Create a series of projects to provide community access to 
collections which have been unseen for some time with a 
view to creating special exhibitions on significant people in 
Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth.   

 
 
£150,000 

Development costs and contingency £150,000 
 

Total   
£1,200,000 
 

5.10.3 Chepstow Museum project 

Partial refurbishment of Chepstow Museum to provide café and new 

interpretation on ground floor,  with improved display spaces to upper 

floor  

£450,000 

Relocate Nelson Collection to Shire Hall and create temporary 

exhibition space or re-display in Market Hall. 

£450,000 

Undertake community sculpture project at Abergavenny inspired by 
and interpreting local heritage –could provide a sheltered space for 
activity which incorporates interpretation.  

£200,000 
 

Development costs and contingency £150,000 
 

Total  
£1,250,000 
 

 

Page 97



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

74 
 

5.10.4 Commercial investment 

In order for the proposed trading company to generate profits for cultural services, a programme 
of investment will be required. This could include: 

 Camping pods at Old Station Tintern – 10 @ £6,000 each = £60,000 (based on current prices 
of Camping Pods to purchase).  

 Camping pods at Caldicot – 10 @ £6,000 each = £60,000 based on current prices of Camping 
Pods to purchase).  

 Caldicot attractions (zip wire, high ropes, Segway, children’s play, bike hire) - £300,000 (this 
is an illustrative budget allowance and will depend entirely on what is specified).  

 Catering kiosks at Caldicot, Old Station Tintern and Black Rock – 3 @ £15,000 = £45,000 (based 
on current prices of Camping Pods to purchase).  

Investment in the cafes at Chepstow and Monmouth would be wrapped into the two projects 
referred to in the section above.  

The total investment into commercial facilities would therefore be in the region of £465,000. The 
trading profits (in a stabilised year) could be in the region of £80,000 after tax which would equate 
to approximate payback period of 4.8 years (this level of payback is typical in commercial leisure 
and hospitality).  

Again, the Monmouthshire Museums Development Trust could take a lead in raising funds to 
support the development. 

5.11 Timescales 

Inevitably a period of consultation will be required before any changes are implemented and 
there is likely to be some strong feeling particularly to some of the proposed changes.  

Given the desperately stretched state of the current operation however we recommend that the 
Council aims to complete the consultation within the current financial year and to begin the 
process of implementing the changes from 2016.  

The new trading company and introduction of the new commercial facilities could begin almost 
immediately and are largely independent of other changes although there will clearly be an 
impact on some staff, particularly in Shire Hall. This could be achieved in the financial year 
2016/17. 

The operational and staffing changes and Caldicot Castle and the Old Station could also be 
implemented relatively quickly after a period of consultation and assuming a favourable outcome 
is achieved and could be completed within the same year. 

The creation of the centralised store and the subsequent changes that this will enable at the three 
museums is dependent on raising the required capital from the proposed HLF bid. This process 
will take a minimum of two years from agreement. The work at Chepstow museum would then 
take a further two years, allowing time for fund raising.    

Page 98



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

75 
 

The implications of the wider governance review need to be factored in and may impact on 
some of these timings.   

 

 

 

Page 99



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

76 
 

6 Appendix 1 – Case Study – Blackpool Council 
Blackpool Entertainment Company Limited (BECL) was set up by Blackpool Council in summer 
2014. 

The Winter Gardens is a vast grade II* listed building which contains  the Opera House Theatre, 
the Empress Ballroom, an exhibition hall, Illuminasia visitor attraction, a restaurant and café and 
various functions rooms and suites. In 2010, Blackpool Council brought the building back into 
public ownership by buying it and the Blackpool Tower from Leisure Parcs (a private company). 
In doing so, the Council recognised the strategic importance of these two assets to the town’s 
future. 

After purchasing the building, the Council put the management contract out to tender and 
appointed Crowne Leisure Limited. Under the terms of the arrangement, the Council would pay 
Crowne Leisure a £250,000 management fee and after this there would be a 50/50 profit share 
between the Council and Crowne Leisure.  

In 2014, the Council re-tendered the opportunity and received a limited response. Crowne Leisure 
were keen to be re-appointed on the same terms but the Council recognised that this 
arrangement was costing the Council more than it needed to. The option of creating BECL as a 
wholly owned company was then considered and agreed. 

BECL was established with the sole purpose of operating the Winter Gardens and therefore the 
Teckal exemption from the procurement rules applied, meaning that the opportunity did not have 
to be tendered. Key staff were transferred across to the new company under TUPE, including the 
highly regarded General Manager. 

Although still under development, the Board of the new organisation will be made up of three 
members of the Council and three private sector appointments. It will have a private sector chair. 
The post of Chair was recently advertised and there was a very strong response. The Council has 
selected a senior individual from a non-competitive organisation who has relevant commercial 
skills. 

Under the terms of the new company, the General Manager attends monthly management 
meetings with executive staff from the Council. The Leader and Deputy Leader also meet the 
General Manager and Chair every three months. There is a shareholders’ panel twice every year. 

The arrangement is generally working very well for the Council who are pleased with the decision. 
There has already been evidence of commercial entrepreneurialism with the new organisation 
franchising a business opportunity to China. Overall profitability will be significantly improved for 
2015 and the Council believes that the quality of the experience is better under improved 
leadership. 

There have been some challenges however. In particular, establishing an appropriate relationship 
between the Council (Executives and Members) and the new organization has proved difficult at 
times. There is a fear that the independence of the organisation could be compromised by 
‘inappropriate levels of involvement’ from people within the Council which could cause problems 
with the General Manager and Chair. It is hoped however that the new Board structure could help 
to bring a better balance to the relationship. 

Page 100



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

77 
 

7 Appendix 2 – Case Study - Glamping 
Eco camping 

An emerging trend is the development of eco camping sites. These are small, low impact, 
environmentally friendly, off-grid camp sites with solar or wind powered showers and eco/ 
compost toilets. They often have a central campfire area and/or allow campers to have their own 
campfires. Some sites offer secluded and isolated 
pitches for individual camping. Sites may have wildlife 
areas and some offer nature study and environmental 
activities and courses. Examples are Cerenety Camp 
Site in Cornwall (www.cerenetycampsite.co.uk), 
Northlodge in Pembrokeshire (www.eco-
camping.co.uk) and Comrie Croft in Perthshire 
(www.comriecroft.com/sleep/eco-camping.html). In 
some cases eco camping sites also offer glamping units 
or glamping sites have opened eco camping sites. Eco 
Camp UK (www.ecocampuk.co.uk), for example, offers 
fully equipped bell tents alongside forest tent pitches 
at its Beech Estate ecological woodland camp site in East Sussex, while The Secret Camp Site 
(www.thesecretcampsite.co.uk), also in East Sussex offers a glamping unit and a tree tent 
alongside its eco camp site. Comrie Croft has 5 Norwegian Kata tents. Dernwood Farm 
(www.dernwoodfarm.co.uk/wild-camping) offers wild camping alongside safari and bell tents and 
a woodland log cabin. 

Tree camping 

Tree camping in tents and structures suspended in trees is an interesting, although very niche, 
emerging trend. Examples include: 

 Red Kite Tree Tent in Mid Wales (www.sheepskinlife.com/relax-at/red-kite-tree-tent); 

 Treehotel in Sweden (www.treehotel.se), which features 5 quirky, individually designed 
‘treerooms’ and a tree sauna; 

 The Tree Tent at The Secret Campsite in East Sussex: 
(www.thesecretcampsite.co.uk/secret-shelters); and 

 Lost Meadow Tree Tent in Bodmin, Cornwall: 
(www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/england/cornwall/broom-park-farm/lost-meadow-
tree-tent). 

Page 101

http://www.cerenetycampsite.co.uk/
http://www.eco-camping.co.uk/
http://www.eco-camping.co.uk/
http://www.comriecroft.com/sleep/eco-camping.html
http://www.ecocampuk.co.uk/
http://www.thesecretcampsite.co.uk/
http://www.dernwoodfarm.co.uk/wild-camping
http://www.sheepskinlife.com/relax-at/red-kite-tree-tent
http://www.treehotel.se/
http://www.thesecretcampsite.co.uk/secret-shelters
http://www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/england/cornwall/broom-park-farm/lost-meadow-tree-tent
http://www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/england/cornwall/broom-park-farm/lost-meadow-tree-tent


Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

78 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Camping pods 

Camping pods were first introduced in the UK at the Eskdale Camping and Caravanning Club site 
in the Lake District in 2008. The site has 10 camping pods priced at £43.75 per night. They are 
made from locally sourced timber and insulated with sheep’s wool. They have hard foam floors, 
French windows, wooden decking areas, heaters and electric lighting. Each pod sleeps 4 people. 
They have proved extremely popular and have even attracted demand during the winter. The 
Camping and Caravanning Club has now introduced camping pods and dens at its club sites in 
Bellingham, Northumberland; Hayfield in the Peak District; Ravenglas in Cumbria; Skye; Gulliver’s 
Kingdom at Milton Keynes; and Thetford Forest  
www.campingandcaravanningclub.co.uk/ukcampsites/club-glamping/camping-pods.   

 Newfoundland Leisure Lodges, the company that manufactured the pods for these sites, reports 
 huge interest in the concept, which is rapidly developing throughout the UK. The company has 
 now supplied camping pods to over 70 sites across the country.  

The YHA has introduced camping pods alongside its hostels at Malham and Grinton in the 
Yorkshire Dales, Hawkshead and Borrowdale in the Lake District and the South Downs hostel in 
East Sussex (www.yha.org.uk/places-to-stay/alternative-accommodation/camping-pods). The 
National Trust is another organisation that has started to offer camping pods at three sites in the 
Lake District, Clumber Park in Nottinghamshire and a site in Northern Ireland 
www.nationaltrust.org.uk/holidays/camping/camping-pods.  

Camping pod encampments and parks are now starting to develop across the UK. Examples 
include: 

 West Stow Pods in Suffolk (www.weststowpods.co.uk); 

 Bryn Dinas Camping Pods in Snowdonia (www.bryndinascampingpods.co.uk); 
 

Page 102

http://www.campingandcaravanningclub.co.uk/ukcampsites/club-glamping/camping-pods
http://www.yha.org.uk/places-to-stay/alternative-accommodation/camping-pods
http://www.nationaltrust.org.uk/holidays/camping/camping-pods
http://www.weststowpods.co.uk/
http://www.bryndinascampingpods.co.uk/


Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

79 
 

  

Holiday parks, holiday lodge parks, touring caravan and camping sites and hotels are increasingly 
introducing camping pods as an alternative accommodation option. Examples are: 

 the Pure Leisure Group has introduced camping pods at three of its holiday parks 
(http://www.pureleisuregroup.com/holidays/camping-pods); 

 the Hillcrest Park touring caravan park at Caldwell in County Durham  
(www.hillcrestpark.co.uk/pods) introduced 3 camping pods in August 2011, increasing this 
to 5 pods in March 2012 and 10 in October 2012 due to the strength of demand. 

 the Old Thorns Manor Hotel and Golf Club at Liphook has developed a number of luxury eco 
pods adjacent to the hotel as an alternative accommodation option 
(www.oldthorns.com/home/accommodation-old-thorns-hotel-hampshire/luxury-eco-
pods); and 

 Woodland Park Lodges at Ellesmere in Shropshire has 5 camping huts alongside 11 holiday 
lodges (www.woodlandparklodges.co.uk/camping-huts.html).     

Glamping 

A key trend in recent years has been the rapid growth of glamping (glamorous camping) offers, in 
terms of ready-erected, fully-equipped tents, yurts, tipis and other unusual forms of camping and 
caravanning accommodation. These types of accommodation have proved to be popular with 
more affluent families that want to experience camping holidays but without the hassle of having 
to bring their own tents and camping equipment. As a new form of accommodation they have 
attracted significant media coverage and wherever they have opened such accommodation 
operations have quickly attracted strong demand.  Go Glamping (www.goglamping.net), the 
leading online directory of luxury camping sites, now lists 200 locations in the UK.  Key luxury 
camping products that have so far emerged in the UK are as follows: 

 Feather Down Farms (www.featherdown.co.uk) is a concept that has been operated in the 
UK since 2005 by the Feather Down Farm Days Company as a seasonal luxury camping 
holiday option. Originally developed in Holland, the concept involves Feather Down Farm 
Days providing working farms with 5-10 fully equipped Feather Down tents for erection 
between Easter and October. The tents provide spacious, ready-to-use camping 

Page 103

http://www.pureleisuregroup.com/holidays/camping-pods
http://www.hillcrestpark.co.uk/pods
http://www.oldthorns.com/home/accommodation-old-thorns-hotel-hampshire/luxury-eco-pods
http://www.oldthorns.com/home/accommodation-old-thorns-hotel-hampshire/luxury-eco-pods
http://www.woodlandparklodges.co.uk/camping-huts.html
http://www.goglamping.net/
http://www.featherdown.co.uk/


Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

80 
 

accommodation including beds, bedding, a toilet, wood-burning cooking stove, cool chest 
and cooking equipment. The farmer is responsible for providing a cold water supply to each 
tent and connection to a mains sewer or septic tank, together with the provision of a 
communal hot shower facility. Feather Down Farm Days runs a national marketing, 
advertising and PR campaign and provides a central booking system. The company now has 
34 sites across the UK. Their development strategy has focused initially on locations that are 
within a 2 hour drive time of London, as this is their core market.  These holidays require 
some affluence, at circa £1000 for the week, and they recognise that they are aiming at the 
educated city dweller wanting rural family ‘experience’ for themselves and their children.   

 The team behind Feather Down Farms launched a sister company, Country Retreats 
www.featherdown.co.uk/country-retreats ), in November 2014 aimed at other land and 
country estate owners that want to provide canvas lodges and/or fully collapsible log cabins 
and become part of The Country Retreats Collection. The company hope to roll out 50 of 
the new log cabins across country estates and farms in the UK by the end of 2015. 

 Ready-pitched luxury camps: Jolly Days Luxury Camping (www.jollydaysluxurycamping. 
co.uk) in North Yorkshire is a boutique campsite that offers the ultimate in luxury camping, 
with 8 large lodge tents with four poster beds, sofas and chandeliers, 7 vintage style tents 
and 7 bell tents. Shieling Holidays (www.shielingholidays.co.uk) on the Isle of Mull provides 
16 fully equipped Shieling cottage tents, which take their name from the summer cottages 
that Highland shepherds traditionally use. The tents are equipped with proper beds and 
fully equipped kitchens and have electricity and gas heaters. Some also have shower and 
toilet facilities. Dandelion Hideaway (www.thedandelionhideaway.co.uk) in Leicestershire 
offers a number of canvas cottages. 

 Yurts, based on the Mongolian yurt, are wooden frame, insulated circular tents that are 
usually furnished with beds, wood burning stoves and kitchen equipment. The Bivouac 
(www.thebivouac.co.uk ) on the Swinton Estate in the Yorkshire Dales has 8 yurts and six 
timber frame shacks. Each yurt sleeps 5 and comes with beds, bed linen, a terracotta cold 
store, wood burning stove and gas burner for outdoor cooking on a wooden veranda. 
Lincoln Yurts at Welton in Lincolnshire (www.lincolnyurts.com) offers 5 themed yurts that 
are fully equipped with beds, bedding, a gas stove, BBQ and decked seating area and 
supported by a bathroom cabin with a Jacuzzi bath.  Other examples area Hidden Valley 
Yurts in Monmouthshire (www.hiddenvalleyyurts.co.uk) and Yurtshire (www.yurtshire.co. 
uk) which has two yurt camps in North Yorkshire and one in Warwickshire. 

 Tipi sites offer a similar set up.  Examples include Wild Northumbrian Tipis and Yurts 
(www.wildnorthumbrian.co.uk); Lincolnshire Lanes Camp Site in the Lincolnshire Wolds 
(www.lincolnshire-lanes.com); Eco Retreats in Powys, Wales (www.ecoretreats.co.uk); and 
4 Winds Lakeland Tipis (www.4windslakelandtipis.co.uk) in the Lake District.  

 Wooden wigwams rented out at around 20 sites in Scotland and the North East of England 
are another alternative. Northumbria’s Pot-a-Doodle-Do (www.northumbrianwigwams 
.com) has 12 wooden wigwams sleeping 4/5 people. Each wigwam is fully insulated and has 
electric lighting and heating. Foam mattresses are provided. The site has a central shower 
and toilet block, kitchen for guests’ use and licensed restaurant on site. Springhill Farm in 
Northumberland (www.springhill-farm.co.uk/wigwams) offers a number of wooden 

Page 104

http://www.featherdown.co.uk/country-retreats
http://www.shielingholidays.co.uk/
http://www.thedandelionhideaway.co.uk/
http://www.thebivouac.co.uk/
http://www.lincolnyurts.com/
http://www.hiddenvalleyyurts.co.uk/
http://www.wildnorthumbrian.co.uk/
http://www.lincolnshire-lanes.com/
http://www.ecoretreats.co.uk/
http://www.4windslakelandtipis.co.uk/
http://www.springhill-farm.co.uk/wigwams


Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

81 
 

wigwams alongside self-catering cottages and a touring caravan and camping site. Wigwam 
Holidays (www.wigwamholidays.com) that supplies wooden wigwams to farmers and 
landowners that the company then markets under its Wigwam Holidays brand. The 
company now has 60 sites across the UK. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Other examples of glamping camping offers include: 

 Geodesic domes for example, The Dome Garden (www.domegarden.co.uk) at Coleford in 
Gloucestershire has 10 geodesic ecodomes equipped with wood burning stoves, beds, 
private flushing toilets, a fully-equipped outside kitchen area with fridge and timber en-suite 
hot shower. Another example is Ekopod (www.ekopod.co.uk) in Cornwall. 

 Persian alachigh tents, similar to yurts for example, Penhein Glamping near Chepstow in 
Monmouthshire (www.penhein.co.uk). 

 Gypsy caravans for example, Gypsy Caravan Breaks in Somerset (www. 
gypsycaravanbreaks.co.uk) and Roulotte Retreat in the Scottish Borders 
(www.roulotteretreat.com), which has 4 French roulette caravans for hire. 

 Retro caravans for example, Vintage Vacations on the Isle of Wight 
(www.vintagevacations.co.uk ), which has a collection of 13 vintage American Airstream and 
Spartan caravans for hire;  Happy Days Retro in East Dorset (www.happydaysrv.co.uk) with 
four airstream caravans available for hire for holidays; and Mad Dogs and Vintage Vans in 
Herefordshire (www.maddogsandvintagevans.co.uk), which has four vintage caravans. 

Page 105

http://www.wigwamholidays.com/
http://www.domegarden.co.uk/
http://www.ekopod.co.uk/
http://www.penhein.co.uk/
http://www.gypsycaravanbreaks.co.uk/
http://www.gypsycaravanbreaks.co.uk/
http://www.roulotteretreat.com/
http://www.vintagevacations.co.uk/
http://www.happydaysrv.co.uk/
http://www.maddogsandvintagevans.co.uk/


Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

82 
 

 Shepherds Huts for example, Herdy Huts in the Lake District (www.herdyhuts.co.uk) and 
Shepherds Huts South East (www.shepherdshuts-southeast.com) in Kent. 

 Safari Tents for example, the Camping and Caravanning Club has four safari tents for hire 
at its club site at Gulliver's Kingdom theme park at Milton Keynes and one at its club site at 
Teversal in Nottinghamshire. 

 Bubble camping in transparent inflatable tents was introduced in France in 2010 but has 
yet to come to the UK. 

 VW camper van pop-up camps for example, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles partnered 
with booking website LateRooms in 2014 to provide 6 VW California camper vans for hire 
on a nightly basis at Temple Island in Henley-on-Thames.   

 Cargo pods, converted from shipping containers have been introduced at the Lee Wick Farm 
glamping and touring site at St Osyth, near Clacton-on-Sea in Essex 
(www.leewickfarm.co.uk). 

Treehouses 

An interesting, although very niche self-catering accommodation product that has emerged in the 
UK in recent year, is self-catering treehouses.  A number of these have been developed across the 
UK, primarily as individual units. They are generally very high quality. They clearly have appeal to 
the family market.  Center Parcs has opened a small number of luxury two-storey treehouses at 
its holiday villages in Sherwood Forest and Longleat Forest. Aimed primarily at the family market 
the treehouses include 4 en-suite bedrooms; an open plan kitchen, dining and living area; a games 
den (accessed along a timber walkway) with plasma TV, pool table, games console, Blu Ray player 
and a bar area with fridge; and a private hot tub. 
(www.centerparcs.co.uk/accommodation/By_Type/treehouse.jsp). Forest Holidays (the Forestry 
Commission) has introduced luxury Golden Oak Treehouse Cabins at its forest cabin holiday sites 
in Cornwall, Forest of Dean, Blackwood Forest in Hampshire, Sherwood Forest, Thorpe Forest in 
Norfolk and North Yorkshire (www.forestholidays.co.uk/cabins/cabins/ treehouse.aspx).  

Other examples in the UK include: 

 The Treehouse at Lavender Hill Holidays, Somerset 
(www.lavenderhillholidays.co.uk/properties.asp?id=101) 

 Gwdy Hw, Powys, Wales (www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/wales/powys/living-
room/gwdy-hw ) 

 Brockloch Treehouse in Dumfries & Galloway (www.brockloch.co.uk ); 

 The Lime Treehouse, Worcestershire 
(www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/england/worcestershire/little-comberton/lime-
treehouse ). 

Page 106

http://www.herdyhuts.co.uk/
http://www.shepherdshuts-southeast.com/
http://www.leewickfarm.co.uk/
http://www.centerparcs.co.uk/accommodation/By_Type/treehouse.jsp
http://www.forestholidays.co.uk/cabins/cabins/%20treehouse.aspx
http://www.lavenderhillholidays.co.uk/properties.asp?id=101
http://www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/wales/powys/living-room/gwdy-hw
http://www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/wales/powys/living-room/gwdy-hw
http://www.brockloch.co.uk/
http://www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/england/worcestershire/little-comberton/lime-treehouse
http://www.canopyandstars.co.uk/britain/england/worcestershire/little-comberton/lime-treehouse


Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

83 
 

 

 

Page 107



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

84 
 

8 Appendix 3 – Governance options 

8.1 Governance options 

Five governance options have been considered for the museums and attractions. These options 
reflect the current position of the service and have been assessed in advance of the findings of 
the wider leisure services review which is at an early stage. 

The strengths and weaknesses of each option have been considered. 

8.2 Museums and attractions stay within the Council 

In this option, the museums and attractions would remain within the Tourism, Leisure and Culture 
Department of Monmouthshire County Council, managed as they are at present – the status quo.  

The current management structure would need to deliver the recommendations in this report i.e. 
creation of the central service and site changes and improvements. 

Strengths Weaknesses 

The services would remain within the 
Council, at least for the short term, whilst the 
wider leisure services review is completed. 
This would ensure financial viability in the 
short term whilst the wider implications for 
the service are assessed. 

There are a number of weaknesses in the 
current structure which have been 
highlighted throughout this report. In 
particular, the lack of overall management of 
the museums service means that the sites 
operate largely independently, with little 
wider benefit across the county. 

Although there would be some changes to 
staffing relating to the creation of the central 
service and the closure of one or two sites, 
there would be less disruption to staff than 
with some of the other options. 

The lack of overall management of the 
service would make the creation of the new 
central service almost impossible to deliver. 
A new structure, with clear management 
responsibility, is essential if the new central 
service is to be created. 

There are potentially some benefits in not 
changing the current structure whilst the 
wider review of leisure services takes place, 
allowing senior management to focus on the 
wider restructuring. 

The current structure does not include 
provision for a county wide outreach and 
education service. 

The second phase of national review may 
have implications for the museums. There 
could be some benefit in waiting to see what 
emerges before making any changes. 

The management of the attractions is 
fragmented and inefficient with no 
economies of resource across the sites. 

 There is insufficient commercial expertise to 
operate the trading company effectively. 
Recruitment of new skills would be required 

Page 108



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

85 
 

to deliver the commercial improvements 
recommended within this report. 

 The head of service has a large number of 
direct reports which is time consuming and 
distracting at a time when focus is needed on 
the future of the service. 

 

Conclusions:  

There are some potential benefits in waiting for the findings of the leisure services review before 
making any changes. Given the immediate financial position however, and the likely shortfall in 
departmental budgets, urgent action is needed.   

It is unlikely that the next phase of the national review will provide any short term solutions for 
the service and should not therefore be used as reason for delay. 

8.3 Museums and attractions stay within the Council but are reorganised 

In this option, the museums and attractions would remain within the Council at least for the short 
term, pending the wider leisure services review. It would continue to report to the Head of 
Tourism, Leisure and Culture. A new structure would be created beneath this comprising: 

 Museums Manager with four reporting staff: Curator; Conservator; Learning Officer; 
Outreach & Exhibitions Officer. The Manager would also be responsible for visitor facing staff 
based at the two museums. 

 Countryside Manager (existing post): responsible for a team of site maintenance staff 
responsible for Old Station and Caldicot Country Park. 

 Oversight of an independent trading company – subject to the wider leisure review 
 

Strengths Weaknesses 

A fit for purpose structure would be created 
to develop and run the museums service. 
This would include an overall manager and 
outreach and education staff. Staff at the two 
museum sites would be managed by the 
central service, ensuring that there was a 
joined p approach to customer service 
delivery. 

The changes will cause disruption to the staff 
in the short term with likely impacts on the 
service provided to users and visitors. 

It would create a structure which could take a 
lead on planning for the new central service. 

The changes will require input and resources 
which could distract senior management 
from the wider leisure review. 

Page 109



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

86 
 

There would be economies of scale and 
sharing of expertise across the two 
countryside sites. 

The new structure would need to be 
implemented in advance of the creation of 
the new building for the central service. One 
of the existing museums would need to 
operate as the ‘museums HQ’ in the interim, 
which would be a short term measure. 

The new structure would remain part of the 
Council in the short term, providing financial 
security. 

If funding cannot be secured for the new 
central store and premises, the service would 
need to be run out of an existing museum 
which is less than ideal. It is still a better 
option however than the current 
arrangement. 

The service can be reviewed as part of the 
wider leisure services review. 

 

The current structure would be streamlined, 
reducing the number of direct reports to the 
head of service, freeing up capacity to focus 
on the wider leisure review and 
implementation. 

 

 

Conclusion: 

This option provides a good interim solution. It would allow a new, fit for purpose structure to be 
created for the museums service which could then deliver the changes proposed to the operation 
and premises in the future. 

It would also allow for more effective management of the countryside sites and provide greater 
efficiencies of staff resources. In reducing the number of direct reports to the head of service, it 
will allow greater focus on the leisure services review. 

It is however an interim solution to some extent, pending the completion of the wider review. 
Further changes may be required, depending on the outcome.  

As with any structural change, there will inevitably be some impact on the service although given 
the current stretched state of the operation, this seems necessary in the short term. 

8.4 Museums and attractions are spun out into a single NPDO 

In this option, a non profit distributing organisation (NDPO) is created to run the museums and 
attractions and associated services. It could be a registered charity, a mutual or a social 
enterprise. It would require its own independent structure but could ‘buy’ services from the 
Council. 
 

 

Page 110



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

87 
 

Strengths Weaknesses 

The new organisation could create its own 
ethos and culture appropriate for the type of 
service offered. It would not need to reflect 
the wider priorities of the Council or leisure 
services. The greater focus could 
theoretically lead to improved services 
although this is dependent on the availability 
of funds. 

Precedents from elsewhere have proved how 
financially and operationally fragile small 
independent organisations of this type are. 
They are often subjected to greater cuts than 
in house council departments and are too 
small to have financial resilience on their 
own. It is very unlikely indeed that an 
independent organisation at this scale could 
survive without additional core funding. This 
is not available in the foreseeable future. 

An NPDO could find it easier to attract more 
volunteers. 

The cost of running the operation as an 
independent company at this scale would be 
around £250k higher than running it within 
the Council.  

Some funding sources are only available to 
registered charities (although in reality, this 
rarely makes a material difference. Local 
authorities can bid for most of the more 
significant funding pots. It is usually the 
smaller project based grants which are 
restricted to registered charities). 

There are insufficient income opportunities 
to offset the additional costs. As a result 
there would be no scope for service 
improvements. This assessment is borne out 
by the national review which highlights how 
modest the income generating opportunities 
are in most museums. 

The new organization would have greater 
trading and operational flexibility which 
would reduce some costs and improve 
profitability in some areas. The additional 
costs however are significantly greater than 
the potential financial gains.  

It would remove the opportunity to consider 
the service as part of the wider leisure 
review. The potential economies of scale 
offered by a bigger organisation would be 
lost. 

 

Conclusion: 

Although there are some benefits to independence, in particular the ability to create a more 
flexible and fit for purpose organisational culture, financial stability would be needed to enable 
these to be realised. Creating an independent NPDO would increase costs at a time when cost 
savings need to be found.  

An NDPO of this scale would be financially vulnerable and would threaten the long term viability 
of the service as a whole. 

It should be reconsidered however as part of the wider leisure review where there would be 
different economies of scale and greater commercial opportunities. 

 

Page 111



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

88 
 

8.5 Museums and attractions are spun out into two NPDOs 

In this option, two non profit distributing organisations (NDPOs) would be created; one to run the 
museums and a second one to run the attractions and associated services. They could be 
registered charities, mutuals or social enterprises. Each would require its own independent 
structure but could ‘buy’ services from the Council. 

Strengths Weaknesses 

The two new organisations could create 
appropriate cultures. The attractions could 
develop a more commercial ethos. The 
museums could focus on the community and 
learning benefits. The greater focus could 
theoretically lead to improved services 
although this would be dependent on the 
availability of funds. 

All of the weakness outlined above would 
apply. The two organisations would be 
smaller scale and even more financially 
fragile. The additional level of subsidy that 
would be required has not been calculated 
but it would certainly be greater than £250k. 

The other theoretical benefits outlined above 
would also apply: NPDOs could find it easier 
to attract more volunteers; there might be 
some small additional funding sources to bid 
for; they would be freed from Council 
restraints which could reduce costs. As in the 
option above however, the likelihood of 
these benefits being realised is very limited. 

 

Conclusion: 

This option is not viable. 

8.6 Museums and attractions are handed over to local community based 
organisations 

In this option, the Council would consult with the local communities in Abergavenny, Chepstow, 
Tintern, Caldicot and Monmouth and seek to find community based organisations to run all or 
some of the sites. The community organisations would be granted a lease for the operation. The 
assets would remain under council ownership. 

Strengths Weaknesses 

Community run museums are very lean, 
operating entirely, or almost entirely, on 
volunteer labour. As a result they can prove 
to be financially sustainable with very little 
public sector support. They can also find it 
easier to recruit volunteer support than local 
authorities. 

Volunteer run museums are only able to offer 
a fairly limited service. They are unable to 
provide education, outreach and community 
engagement that is offered by a professional 
museums service. It would allow little scope 
for service development. 

Page 112



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

89 
 

Local communities take ownership of the 
services that they run and therefore feel a 
greater level of commitment to their future. 
Tensions between the community and the 
local authority can be reduced (although 
there are examples of tensions being 
increased, particularly when funds are 
required for development). 

Volunteer run organisations can be fragile 
and are often dependent on one or two key 
individuals. When these people are no longer 
involved, the organisation can struggle to 
survive. In these cases, the assets are handed 
back to the local authority. This has 
happened before in Monmouthshire. 

There are examples of successful locally run 
museums in the county, such as the Usk 
Museum of Rural Life. 

A number of the sites have significant capital 
liabilities which would still need to be met by 
the Council.  

In some locations there is already strong 
community interest in the sites.  

It may prove difficult, or impossible, to find 
(or create) suitable bodies to run any or all of 
the sites. It seems very unlikely that all of the 
sites could be ‘handed over’ in this way. The 
remaining sites would remain under Council 
operation and solutions would need to be 
found for them. 

 The experience would be very fragmented 
and disjointed for users and visitors with 
different operating hours and services. 

 

Conclusions: 

There is real value in a greater level of engagement with local communities, particularly at some 
of the sites where there have been historic issues. It is very unlikely however, that all, or even 
several of the sites could be handed over to local community organisations to run. It may be 
possible in some of the locations, but unlikely in all cases. 

Perhaps more importantly, handing over the museums in particular to local organisations would 
lose the professional service which currently exists. They would become relatively simple 
museum buildings with limited education, outreach and engagement services. This would not 
deliver the ambition for the service which is outlined as part of this brief.  

It is also only a partial solution. It is very unlikely, and indeed probably not desirable, to hand the 
two attractions over to community organisations at the current time with their current 
operational issues and capital development requirements. Solutions would still need to be found 
therefore for parts of the service.   

There is also always a danger that the assets would be handed back to the Council in the future, 
a situation which has happened previously. 

 

 

Page 113



Monmouthshire County Council 
Museums and Cultural Attractions Strategy 

 
June 2015 

 

90 
 

8.7 Recommendations 

Having considered the five options, the recommendation is that the service is retained within the 
Council in the short term but is reorganised to allow a more efficient and effective management 
structure to be created immediately. These changes will be needed to implement the 
recommendations in this report. 

It will also create a more appropriate reporting structure which will allow the head of service to 
focus on the wider leisure services review. 

The creation of the trading company should be delayed, pending the findings of the wider review. 

 

Page 114



  

Monmouthshire  

Museums   

  

Forward Plan  

  

2017-2022  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Page 115



Contents  

Executive Summary  

1.0      Introduction  

2.0      Statement of Purpose  

3.0      Background to Monmouthshire Museums  

4.0       Current Position  

5.0       Future Transformation  

6.0       Consultation and analysis of views  

7.0       Audience Development  

8.0       Learning  

9.0       Customer Care  

10.0  Financial Resources  

11.0  Review Date  

Appendix 1 – Action Plan for Strategic Aims 1 and 2  

Appendix 2 – Action Plan for the Furthering of Guiding Principle  

Appendix 3 – Risk register  

Appendix 4 - Buildings Options Appraisal  

Appendix 5– Store Report   

Appendix 6 - Review of Previous Forward Plan  

Appendix 7 – Succession Planning   

Appendix 8 – Access Statements  

    

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 116



Executive Summary  

This Forward Plan sets out the strategic objectives of Monmouthshire Museums for the period 

January 2017 – January 2022.  It sets out our intention to meet the challenges of the 21st 

Century and make a positive contribution to the lives of the people of Monmouthshire and to 

those visiting the county, both physically and virtually.  It will ensure current and future 

generations can enjoy and access heritage, collections, arts and culture by protecting and 

conserving artefacts and built heritage and promoting and nurturing the arts.  

To reflect our changing circumstances we have a revised Statement of Purpose:  

• Vision – Inspiring a passion for Monmouthshire.  

• Mission - Bringing heritage, collections, arts and culture alive with our communities      

and visitors.   

  

There are two key strategic aims:  

  

Strategic Aim 1  To create a cross-county museum offer to encourage a sense of pride 

and community identity whilst identifying opportunities for arts and culture development   

  

This would be achieved by converting a suitable space under one roof to create a ‘Collections 

Centre’ and public exhibition area, financed through a major capital funding bid.  Currently 

Monmouth locations are under consideration.  In this space staff would be centralised, 

alongside provision of publically accessible storage, research facilities, learning areas, 

conservation lab/workshops and community/ volunteer spaces.  In addition to this there is the 

potential for public displays of the Nelson Collection and Monmouth History.  The best case 

scenario would be for this to be in the same building, if space allows, to enable most efficient 

and economical use of staff, buildings and resources.  At the moment options are under 

consideration.  

  

As part of the capital bid, proposals will be included to maintain, adapt and improve the two 

existing museum locations in Abergavenny and Chepstow to ensure access to Arts, Heritage 

and Culture across the county.  Consideration has also been given within the plan to the visitor 

offer relating to Caldicot Castle.  

  

Strategic Aim 2    To ensure we have a resilient and sustainable service.      

  

This would be achieved by improving and extending our income streams; increasing and 

widening our user base and raising awareness of the Museums offer; whilst contributing to a 

vibrant community by adapting and working in new and innovative ways.  

  

Our guiding principle will be to further encourage the flourishing of museums, heritage, arts 

and culture in Monmouthshire.  

  

Within the plan we have considered how we would incorporate the views of the public, 

audience development, learning, customer care and financial resources.   

  

    

  

 

 

 

 
Page 117



1.0  Introduction   

1.1   This Forward Plan sets out the strategic objectives of Monmouthshire Museums for the 

period January 2017 – January 2022.    

1.2   It will be reviewed annually, with the first review scheduled to be held in March 2018.  

This date will tie in with the annual service improvement planning process.   

1.3.   Monmouthshire Museums has aspirations to widen its remit to cover arts and culture 

alongside museums and this forward plan has been written with that in mind.  

  

2.0   Statement of Purpose   

  

Vision – Inspiring a passion for Monmouthshire:  

  

Mission - Bringing museums, heritage, arts and culture alive with our communities   

                and visitors.   

  

  

Strategic Aim 1    To create a cross-county museum offer to encourage a sense of 

pride and community identity whilst identifying opportunities for arts and culture development   

  

Strategic Aim 2    To ensure we have a resilient and sustainable service.      

     

Guiding Principle     

 To further encourage the flourishing of museums, heritage, arts and culture in 

Monmouthshire.  

  

Core Values  

• Museums are responsible for the stewardship of collections  

• Museums are places of individual and institutional integrity with good 

governance in place.  

• Museums are places for public engagement and public benefit  

  

Guiding Direction  

As a 21st century organisation we are involved in a variety of National Strategic Objectives:   

• Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

• Museums Accreditation  

• Tackling Poverty through Culture  

• Museums Strategy for Wales  

• Creative Learning through the Arts  

• Social Care & Wellbeing Act  

• National Curriculum for Wales  

• Curriculum Cymraeg  

• Curriculum for Wales, Curriculum for Life  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 118



3.0. Our Museums  

Across the UK investment in museums, arts and culture is being used as a means of increasing 

footfall and investment into town centres and more widely bringing about social and economic 

transformation.    

Our museums are situated in areas which offer a wide range of opportunities for our 

communities and visitors and potential future development.  All of them are housed within 

interesting and historic buildings which due to our presence are maintained and accessible to 

the public.    

At Abergavenny Museum and Castle there is access to outdoor space within an historic 

space/scheduled ancient monument which is an important community facility and which by 

virtue of being a castle naturally attracts visitors. The town has good railway links.  

At Chepstow the museum is situated in an important historic town house in close proximity to 

other cultural sites – Chepstow Castle, the Tourist Information Centre and the Drill Hall.  The 

town has excellent road, rail and bus links.  

  

At Monmouth the museum is situated within the main shopping area.  It occupies part of a 

large historic building which could be altered to provide a publically accessible centralised 

collection as well as Nelson/Monmouth display space.  In the longer term and as a wider 

project it could become a significant cultural site with potential future development for the 

slaughterhouse arches for sympathetic arts related business and food and drink offers.  

However the Authority are also currently considering the wider use of its capital assets base, 

so alternative sites are likely to include the Rolls Hall in Monmouth for the Collections Centre 

and the Shire Hall for the Nelson/Monmouth display space.  All sites will be considered as part 

of a feasibility process and conclusions drawn.  

  

3.1  Abergavenny Museum and Castle  

Abergavenny Museum was opened in 1959 thanks to a group of local volunteers.  The 

museums has remained at the heart of the town, developing strong links with community 

organisations.  Today visitors are offered the opportunity to view diverse local collections in 

an historic building and loans of international importance within a modern gallery space.  

Collections are focused on the history of Abergavenny and district.  There are strong 

archaeological and costume collections.  Social history items of particular note include 

Whiskey the Turnspit dog and items relating to Lady Llanover, Father Ignatius and the 

Llanthony Valley.  The museum within the castle grounds provides both a glimpse into a rich 

and varied past and an opportunity for people to gather and celebrate their future.  

3.2     Chepstow Museum  

Chepstow Museum was established by the Chepstow Society in 1949 in the tiny room above 

the Town Gate. It found new and bigger premises in the Old Board School in Bridge Street in 

1967 and transferred to the care of Monmouth District Council in 1976. It first opened in its 

third home Gwy House, formerly Chepstow & District Hospital, in 1983 on a limited scale 

gradually extending displays as funding was achieved, most recently giving Chepstow a 

gallery in which loans from the UK’s National Museums can be shown. The Museum is rooted 

deep in the community, working with many groups to foster not only an interest in the past and 

a sense of continuity but to enliven the cultural and educational life of the town. Through 

exhibitions and events we reflect special moments in Chepstow's history. The collections are 

focused on the history of Chepstow and district, most recently building a nationally significant 

collection of art relating to the Wye Valley and the Wye Tour.  

     

   Page 119



3.3   The Nelson Museum and Local History Centre, Monmouth  

The Nelson Museum and Local History Centre, Monmouth was opened in April 1924, following 

the bequest to the town of Monmouth of Lady Llangattock’s important Nelson collection. This 

is an extensive and world class collection. In 1969 the museum was moved to its present site 

in the town, at which time a local history centre was added. The collections relating to 

Monmouth and the surrounding area have as their foundation the archives of the old Borough 

of Monmouth. This local archive is reinforced by a local history reference collection, a 

newspaper archive and photographs, paintings, prints and maps. A special collection within 

the local material relates to the Rolls family, of Rolls Royce fame.   

3.4  Caldicot Castle Collection  

Since 2010 Museums has been responsible for the collections at Caldicot Castle only (prior to 

this the Authority had responsibility for the castle as well).  When the Chepstow Rural District 

Council purchased Caldicot Castle from the Cobb family in 1963, they also acquired a quantity 

of furniture, fittings, costume and other decorative objects which the family has used to furnish 

the Castle while it was their home (from the l880s - 1940s).   Another aspect of this collection 

reflects a major object of interest of the two generations of Cobbs - HMS Foudroyant – 

Nelson’s flagship and its successor.  This core collection became the nucleus of the Museum's 

collections. The existing range of the collections has attracted further additions - furniture for 

the Castle, costume and Foudroyant material.  

3.5.  Central Store in Caldicot     

Since 2011 larger items and less sensitive material from the collections have been stored off 

site in a basic industrial unit. The unit serves only as museum storage accessed by staff only 

and does not have the potential to become a more publically accessible space.  

4. Current Position   

4.1 Monmouthshire Museums operates as part of the Tourism, Leisure and Culture Section 

within Monmouthshire County Council’s Enterprise Directorate.  Other services sitting 

alongside the Museum Service include Tourism, Countryside and Leisure.  This grouping 

provides the Museum with mutually supportive services that share in the broad objectives 

of attracting visitors to Monmouthshire, and of increasing the quality of the wellbeing and 

cultural offer to both visitors and residents. Monmouthshire Museums comprises of sites 

in Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth and the collection at Caldicot Castle.    

4.2 In 2014, Amion Consulting were commissioned to undertake a comprehensive review of 

the future options for MCC’s Cultural services.  The purpose of the review was to identify 

future delivery options with an overall objective of improving, sustaining and developing 

local services to enable them to become more self-reliant and resilient.  During the review 

in June 2015, it became apparent that cultural services overlapped many of the wider 

tourism, leisure and culture services so rather than view cultural services independently, 

it made sense to view the inter-dependencies at a service wide and local level.  

4.3 In October 2015, independent experts Anthony Collins were appointed to undertake 

supplementary work needed to consider future delivery options for the wider Leisure, 

Events, Youth and Outdoor Leisure services, In October 2016, MCC Cabinet approved 

the principle recommendation made by Anthony Collins to establish a new Alternative 

Delivery Model (ADM) based on a flexible group structure.  As part of their analysis and 

due diligence activities, Anthony Collins concluded that there was a significant amount of 

transition work to be undertaken with the Museums Service prior to their full consideration 

for transfer into the ADM.   This Forward Plan reflects the work required with a view to 

Monmouthshire Museums joining the ADM at a later date.  

  

4.4 Monmouthshire Museums employs 11 FTE staff. This comprises three officers - a Deputy 

Museum’s Officer/Curator, Chepstow Museum; a Curator, Abergavenny Museum and a 

part time Objects Conservator and a vacant FT Paper Conservator.  Alongside these 

Page 120



officers are a team of paid Custodians/Visitor Services Assistants, including a Senior 

Custodian.  There is additional input from a Learning Officer and Fundraising Officer who 

both work across the wider grouping of Tourism, Leisure and Culture.  The museums 

operate in the main as three separate sites although there is increasingly more work 

carried out across sites.  

  

Currently occupied posts  

  

 
  

  

  

  
  

4.5 There are 44 volunteers working at the museums who collectively contributed 4800 hours 

during 2015/16.  

 

4.6 The total budget for 2016/17 is £424,960. This is made up of £302,814 from MCC and 

£122,146 in self-generated income. The over spend for 15/16 was £49,317 and the 

predicted overspend for 16/17 is currently expected to be around the same amount.  A 

plan to eliminate the predicted overspend by reducing the hours that the museums are 

open to the general public is presented separately. These hours do as far as possible take 

into account the needs of modern visitors. 

  

4.7 The museums have benefitted from awards from a range of external funding streams over 

a long period of time for both capital works and revenue projects.    

  

4.8. During 2015/16 the Museum Service recorded a total of 62,418 visitors across all sites.  

  

  
Page 121



   

4.9  Service Analysis:   

Where are we now?  

Positives to build on:   

• Major contributors to local 

cultural  

life   

• Interesting and local collections 

which give us the ability to tell 

comprehensive stories.  

• Some collections of National 

importance.  

• Good practice in collections 

management;  

• Ability to display loans from 

national museums and other 

major collections in suitably 

converted galleries at 

Chepstow and Abergavenny.  

• Partnerships  with national 

museums and others  

• Some recent updating of long 

term displays.  

• A creative and professional 

team.  

• High level of commitment & 

passion from staff;  

• Developing relationships with 

our communities.  

• Good locations / site 

destinations for visitors  

• Publically accessible outdoor 

space at Abergavenny.  

• Good track record of accessing 

grant funding  

Challenges to accept or overcome:  

• Service overstretched  

• Not enough core staff to fulfil 

potential   

• Opening hours don’t meet visitor 

needs.  

• Storage space and access to 

collections is compromised.    

• Limited learning space available.  

• Limited volunteer space available 

• No public research space at 

Abergavenny and Chepstow and 

limited at Monmouth.  

• Not enough sharing of expertise 

and resources across the sites.  

• Museums are considered by the 

public to be separate entities.  

• Individual marketing of sites.  

• Some displays need to be updated 

to ensure they remain relevant and 

accessible.    

• Grant funding for specific one off 

opportunities can be time 

consuming.   

• Lack of charitable status means 

many funding opportunities are not 

available.  

• Uncertainty around the future role 

of the Learning Officer and  

Fundraising Officer in museums.  

 Opportunities  

 Bringing collections, heritage, 

arts and culture together. 

 Cross county museum service 

sharing expertise and 

knowledge.  

 Publically accessible stores, 

research and conservation 

facilities.  

 Capital investment to bring 

about a centralised museum 

service with an income 

generation potential that works 

across the county.   

 Updated galleries focussing 

on the unique historic and 

contemporary stories of  
  

Key Risks  

 Lack of investment means 
museum offer cannot keep up 
with changing user 
expectations.    

 Assets require capital 
investment in order to 
increase income potential.  

 Further revenue cuts and 
uncertainty of funding.  

 Increased competition and 
reduced level of value of 
external grant funding 
available.  

 Increased competition from 
other providers from income 
generation opportunities.  

 For the future vision of a more 
robust service with additional 

Page 122



people and places in 

Monmouthshire 

 Develop our digital offer to 

provide a Monmouthshire 

wide heritage portal to tell 

stories in locations across 

the county. 

 Opportunity to be a key 

service in the delivery of the 

Well Being for Future 

Generations Act. 

 Increasing income 

generating opportunities. 

 

core staff a Museum Officer 
type post is needed to ensure 
leadership at museum service 
level.  

 Lack of sufficient core staff.  

 Managing change amongst 
front of house staff.  

 Loss of opening hours that 
match modern day living due 
to budget savings.  

 Limited contemporary 
collecting due to resources 
means we lack the ability to 
tell stories relevant to our 
current communities and 
future generations.    

 Competition from other 
visitor attractions within the 
local area;  

 Lack of visitor analysis data  

 Lack of evidence about the 
impact that we have on our 
visitors.  

 Outdated technology. 

    

    

    

    

    

  

5.0.       Future Transformation  

5.1.    Strategic Aim 1 (Appendix 1 – Action Plan)  

To create a cross-county museum offer to encourage a sense of pride and 

community identity.  

  

5.2.     This would be achieved by converting a suitable space to create a ‘Collections Centre’ 

financed through a major capital funding bid.  In this space staff would be centralised, 

alongside provision of publically accessible storage, research facilities, conservation 

lab/workshops and community/ volunteer spaces.  In addition to these areas there is 

potential for it to include public display areas for the Nelson Collection and Monmouth 

History.    

 

 

Page 123



5.3.  What a new ‘Collections Centre’ would mean  

A ‘Collections Centre’ sometimes known as an ‘Open Store’ enables our stored 

collections which are currently inaccessible, accessible.  This facility will show 

collections in a way that complements our public displays.  Visitors will be able to see 

artefacts that directly relate to their own history, communities and interests.   This will 

enable our communities and visitors to actively engage with collections, have the 

opportunity to participate more in their museums, understand the value of objects not 

on public display and have an increased pride in their history.   

  

With a newly designed and created store we will be able to combine improved 

standards of collection care with public access. This will give people an experience of 

‘behind the scenes’ and an understanding of how museums work. They will be able to 

see how we care for the collections we have been entrusted with and appreciate the 

scale and nature of our collections.     

  

A popular model in those museums that have open stores is access by guided tour. 

We would work with trained volunteer guides, and aim to advertise tours at regular pre-

appointed times. Museum staff could also give special themed tours.  

  

The ‘Open Store’ premises will also provide facilities where the museum team will be 

located alongside public research facilities, conservation workshops, exhibition 

preparation areas and community /volunteer spaces.  This combination of areas in one 

building will enable museum staff to efficiently fulfil their role across the county, acting 

as a centre for knowledge, long term steward of artefacts and community facility.  

5.4.   We will undertake a feasibility study to assess the following:  

• A location for the Collections Centre which, following an initial assessment, is likely 

to be either the Market Hall or the Rolls Hall in Monmouth.  

• A location for public displays relating to Nelson and the history of Monmouth and 

surrounding area likely to be either with the Collections Centre or will be used to 

add value to the current visitor offer at Shire Hall.   

(NB: An initial buildings options appraisal considering the suitability of existing sites 

and others has been carried out see Appendix 4.)  

5.5.  What would this mean for the other museum sites?  

As part of the capital bid, proposals will be included to maintain, adapt and improve 

the two existing museum locations in Abergavenny and Chepstow to ensure access to 

Arts, Heritage and Culture across the county.  Each site has an important social, 

economic, cultural and educational role within their communities.  Together they 

combine to tell the story of Monmouthshire and what makes it unique.  

  

Centralising facilities in Monmouth would free up space at Abergavenny Museum and 

Castle and Chepstow Museum.  This will provide an opportunity to increase the 

community use and income generation potential.  At either/both venues it would offer:   

 Improved customer service offer e.g. retail and refreshment areas as appropriate.  

• Proper storage facilities for retail stock, event facilitation, tools and equipment for 

grounds etc.  

• Improved interpretation suitable for a variety of learning styles at all sites.  

• Suitable areas for learning activities and proper storage for learning resources to 

ensure learning is embedded within the museum, arts and cultural offer.  

• Improved volunteer working areas  

• DDA issues to be addressed  

Page 124



  

At each of the sites it would offer the following unique possibilities:  

  

5.6  Abergavenny Museum and Castle  

Released spaces here are individually quite small with restricted access - but 

wonderful views! Some of these rooms would make desirable artist’s studios which 

could be rented out, which would contribute to the new agenda of the service with a 

wider Arts and Culture remit. This use would provide another income stream for the 

service.  

  

The main impetus at Abergavenny to address promotion of arts and culture is to focus 

on the atmospheric outdoor space within the castle walls. The grounds are already 

used for outdoor theatre, food festival, some music events as well as re-enactments.  

Increasing this use also increases the possibilities of bad weather affecting the events 

and their financial viability.  

  

Providing a covered space would not only offer some security against the elements 

but could make an interesting and attractive venue for weddings and other functions, 

corporate or private. A traditional timber framed structure is currently being 

investigated alongside improvements to the infrastructure within the castle grounds.   

  

A programme of events for the summer would be developed. One proposal under 

current investigation is a regular weekly evening at the Castle with music and food 

providers – so that the Castle becomes a recognised destination as a lively place to 

meet, eat and enjoy cultural encounters.  In the shorter term, and in order to trial this 

idea next summer, plans are being explored to use a large marquee and work with the 

marquee company to accommodate weddings or other functions.  

  

5.7  Chepstow Museum  

At Chepstow Museum space would also be released by the centralisation not only of 

stores but also of the Conservation laboratories and Workshops.  

  

DDA issues can be addressed through the provision of a lift – which could only be 

achieved at the rear of the building.  This would necessitate creating new enclosed 

areas which could be used potentially as a café or meeting / learning area or additional 

gallery space.  

  

Developments which will further the arts and cultural offer could include a  community 

gallery space –  dedicated to showing work by ‘local’ artists, professional and amateur. 

Artists would be encouraged to curate or assisted with curating, and to manage their 

own exhibition, steward it etc. Selling exhibitions would be income generating  

(commission for venue). There isn’t currently a space for local artists to use in the area.  

  

Space for seminar / small scale lecture area for classes.  Dedicated and appropriately 

equipped space(s) where regular arts/crafts/ skills workshop sessions could be run. 

These would be delivered by paid facilitators. They would be aimed at an adult 

audience for weekday daytime, teaching various art / making skills, providing 

opportunities for people to participate in creating and learning new skills.  At the 

weekends these could be family focussed workshops. Workshops and seminars would 

be income generating/would cover costs.  

  

Page 125



More appropriate gallery aimed at family orientated discovery space and things to 

make and do activity area for young children.   

5.8  What this would mean for Caldicot Castle?  

Currently collections are held at Caldicot Castle so bringing together all collections at 

a central Collections Centre will also have an impact at this site.  There is currently 

limited interpretation and access to collections at Caldicot Castle, but environmental 

conditions are not of museum standard and it is the opinion of Museum Staff that this 

is putting the Caldicot Collections at risk.  However it is important that residents and 

visitors to Caldicot can access the local collections.  As Monmouthshire Museums only 

have responsibility for the collection, final decisions must be made in conjunction with 

the community and the wider future plans for the Caldicot Castle Site.  It is however 

the recommendation of this report that consideration is given to the movement of some 

of the collections from Caldicot to the Collections Centre alongside those from the 

other sites.  Enhanced public displays of these items can then take place at suitable 

sites within the town of Caldicot or at Caldicot Castle assuming appropriate 

improvements can be made to the display spaces.  Funding for either of these options 

could be included either as part of the major capital bid required to take forward the 

recommendations in this section or as part of wider proposals to improve the space at 

Caldicot Castle.   

5.9   Strategic Aim 2 (Appendix 1 – Action Plan)  

To ensure we have a resilient and sustainable service.     

  

• To improve and extend our income streams  

• To increase and widen our user base and raise awareness of Monmouthshire 

Museums.  

• To contribute to a vibrant community by adapting to work in new and innovative ways.  

Specific actions are detailed in Appendix 1 as to how we aim to continue to improve 

and extend our income streams and the resulting resilience of the service.  

5.10     Guiding Principle   

The guiding principle within this plan is to encourage the flourishing of museums, 

heritage, arts and culture in Monmouthshire.  As Monmouthshire Museums we are well 

established in carrying this out in relation to heritage and collections.  Whilst our work 

promoting arts and culture is currently less formalised.  Although our main focus will 

be on the two strategic aims outlined above we see there being an important 

opportunity to widen our remit to include arts and culture. This will:  

  

• Provide greater opportunities for Monmouthshire’s residents and visitors 

to engage with arts and culture.    

• Raise the profile of Monmouthshire’s arts, heritage and cultural offer in a 

National context.    

• Enable support for the artistic community  

• Promote public art within Monmouthshire  

  

We have outlined an action plan (See Appendix 2) to take these ideas forward but 

Strategic Aims 1 and 2 will take precedence.  

 

 

  

Page 126



6.0   Consultation & Analysis of Views   

6.1      The views we seek currently relate to front facing activities and do not embrace the full 

range of the work the museum carries out.  In shaping its current and future service we 

will take into account the views of our users and communities.    

6.2.    To find out more about our current users we record information relating to demographics.  

This includes whether they are residents or visitors to the area, their postcode, adult 

or child, coming as a school group or part of another other visiting groups.  

6.3.     We use a variety of methods to collect information.  These include face to face 

discussion on entry, evaluation forms - usually for specific exhibitions, or events, 

course attendance sheet, comments from schools, visitor books which are always 

available for comments.  

6.4.      A Monmouthshire wide survey carried out across Tourism, Leisure and Culture 

Services which took place in August 2016 revealed the following comments about what 

was important:  

33% said ‘Museums need to be interesting and educate people’   

23% said ‘Information is available and relevant’   

21% said ‘History should be preserved and shared with everyone’    

14% said ‘Important that museums stay free’   

14% said ‘Being able to learn about local history locally’    

  

6.5.      The Monmouthshire wide survey confirmed to us that there was a lack of visitors in the 

16-30 age group.  From previous non visitor surveys and gallery based observation of 

visitors we have also identified a lack of visitors in their over 80s and at some sites very 

young children i.e. under 3s.  Our visitor profile is more middle aged and younger older 

people and family groups.   

6.6.   Our break down of visitors at each sites using most recent annual records is:  

• Abergavenny – 25791 visitors.  66% come from outside of the area.  11% local 

residents.  20% are children and 3% attend specific museum events.    

• Chepstow – 18843 visitors. 58% come from outside the area.  25% local residents.  

17% are children.  

• Monmouth - 17784 visitors.  68% come from outside of the area.  20% local residents.  

12% are children.  

6.7.   We lack evidence relating to our impact on our visitors.  

7.0       Audience Development   

7.1  We are committed to ensuring we have a resilient and sustainable service and 

developing new audiences as well as encouraging repeat visits from existing service 

users is a key part of this.    

7.2.   We realise that our data is lacking and we need to improve our collection and analysis.  

7.3  Our work to create a cross-county museum offer will encourage a sense of pride and 

community identity and work to transform pre-conceptions that still surround museums.  

We will consult with our users and communities to develop the capital bid to ensure 

that their needs are at the heart of the bid.    

7.4.  By widening our remit to allow us to encourage the flourishing of arts and culture in 

Monmouthshire we have the potential to attract different audience segments.    

7.5.  It is important that we raise awareness of Monmouthshire Museums in order to promote 

our offer more effectively to existing and potential users. This will be done by raising 

Page 127



awareness of a coherent programme of exhibitions, events and opportunities across 

Monmouthshire.    

7.6.  Monmouthshire Museums has an important and valuable role to play in the key area 

of tourism development which is a major industry in the community.  Close links exist 

with Monmouthshire's Destination Development Plan. The main links are to 

Programme 2: Town & Village Visitor Experience Development Programme 4: Food 

Tourism Development and Programme 5: Festivals development, using events to 

boost off peak demand and capitalising on the opportunities to host high profile events 

at key heritage sites.  The role of Monmouthshire Museums includes improving the 

experience of the town for visitors by helping to interpret its stories and with a wider 

arts remit staging/promoting events.    

  

7.7  Monmouthshire Museums responds wherever possible to participate in, generate 

events and activities for, and help to raise the profile of, local initiatives from public 

bodies, local groups and organisations.  This includes local priorities defined by the 

Town Councils, Town Teams, Marketing and Festival groups etc.   

 

8.0  Learning  

8.1.    A range of learning opportunities are currently offered which include formal learning 

delivered by museum staff with assistance from volunteers, Informal gallery based 

activities self-led by the user and family holiday activities, reminiscence sessions and 

school loan boxes.  A varied range of informal learning opportunities includes, day 

schools and talks by subject specialists; workshops to learn new skills; courses of 

lectures by specialist tutors in appropriate subjects; cultural coach trips to see 

exhibitions/collections/ sites related to specific exhibitions or courses, with guided tours 

by their curators etc.  

  

8.2  The aim is to ensure learning is embedded within the museum, arts and cultural offer.  

This will include formal school-age learning; supporting the wellbeing of the older 

generation through informal learning; attracting visitors to Monmouthshire through 

learning opportunities and encouraging different groups to work together to contribute 

to cross generational understanding.  There is currently a learning audit being carried 

out as part of the activities regarding the developing Alternative Delivery Model for 

Tourism, Leisure and Culture Services, the results of this will inform the development 

of a learning plan of which will museums will be a key part.  The widening of the service 

remit to include arts will enable us to provide a broader range of these learning 

opportunities through the Welsh Government/Arts Council Creative Learning Plan.  

9.0  Customer Care   

  

9.1.   Monmouthshire Museums have a well-developed culture of customer care.  The 

Customer is at the heart of everything and everyone is treated fairly, recognising the 

different needs people may have.  Staff follow the Customer Care Standards set out 

by Monmouthshire County Council which sets out guidelines of responding to 

enquiries, compliments and complaints in an appropriate and timely manner.   

9.2.  Front of house staff receive customer care training as a core part of the induction 

process.  Policy is that all visitors are individually greeted by a member of staff and the 

layout of the museum is explained to them.  Monmouthshire Museums are participants 

of the VAQAS scheme and aim to meet all recommendations that are made as part of 

the membership process.  Any complaints are dealt with at the time or later by the 

Curator as appropriate.  An internal policy has been established to ensure public 

enquiries are answered promptly.     
Page 128



9.3.  Staff have local knowledge re facilities in the area, for example directions to public 

transport facilities, places nearby where refreshments can be bought, other local 

attractions.  This knowledge is shared with visitors where appropriate.  

9.4.  All material is produced bilingually – Welsh/English.  

9.5.  Some staff have participated in Dementia Friends training, the aim is to roll this out 

across the service.  

10.0  Financial Resources   

10.1  The total budget for 2015/16 for Monmouthshire Museums was: £441,848.  This was 

made up of £322,389 from MCC with a £119,459 income generation target.  The actual 

income generated was £91,478 resulting in a £49,317 deficit.  

10.2   The total budget for 2016/17 for Monmouthshire Museum Service is:  £424,960.  This 

is made up of £302,184 from MCC and a target of £122,147 in self-generated income.    

10.3  A basic budget breakdown for 2016/17 is:  

Annal4(T) L131 L133 L135 L136 L137 Amount 

 Museums 

General Abergavenny Chepstow Monmouth  

Conservation 

Service 
 

 Actuals Actuals Actuals Actuals Actuals Actuals 

Employees 18,730.29 95,916.70 102,210.61 64,323.13 63,318.74 344,499.47 

Income -29,343.68  -17,667.18  -20,058.79  -6,016.95  -18,391.67  -91,478.27  

Premises 15,256.71 18,994.81 22,510.17 13,009.22 0.00 69,770.91 

Supplies & Services 13,197.86 13,102.23 11,986.20 6,094.23 4,534.11 48,914.63 

       

TOTAL 17,841.18  110,346.56 116,648.19 77,409.63  49,461.18 371,706.74 

       

       

Annal4(T) L131 L133 L135 L136 L137 Amount 

 Museums 

General Abergavenny Chepstow Monmouth  

Conservation 

Service 
 

 Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget 

Employees 15,348.00 93,583.00 106,159.00 74,388.00 67,258.49 356,736.49 

Income -38,600.00  -6,460.00  -12,600.00  -1,800.00  -50,000.00  -109,460.00  

Premises 15,056.00 17,647.00 21,911.00 15,994.00 0.00 70,608.00 

Supplies & Services 3,192.00 3,016.00 2,464.00 1,632.00 4,200.00 14,504.00 

Third Party Payments 0.00 -3,333.00  -3,333.00  -3,333.00  0.00 -9,999.00  

       

TOTAL -5,004.00   104,453.00 114,601.00 86,881.00  21,458.49 322,389.49 

       

Over/Under Spend 22,845.18  5,893.56 2,047.19 -9,471.37   28,002.69 49,317.25 

  

11.0  Review Dates   

11.1  This Forward Plan will be reviewed annually with the first review scheduled to take place 

in March 2018 as part of the Service Improvement Plan Process.   

Page 129



  

Page 130



Appendix 1, Action Plan, 2017 – 2022   

  

Strategic Aim 1   

  

Future Museums 2016  

Vision – Inspiring a passion for Monmouthshire:  

Mission - Bringing heritage, collections, arts and culture alive with our communities and visitors.  

Our guiding principle will be to encourage the flourishing of museums, heritage, arts and culture in Monmouthshire as part of the wider Tourism, Leisure and Culture 

Service/proposed Alternative Delivery Model Offer.  

Strategic Aim 1 -     To create a cross-county museum offer to encourage a sense of pride and community identity whilst identifying opportunities for arts and culture 

development  

Key Objectives  Actions  Outputs  Outcomes  Milestones/Timing  Measures  

To convert a 
suitable space 
for centralising 
staffing, 
publically 
accessible 
storage,  
research  
facilities,  
conservation 
lab/workshops, 
community/ 
volunteer 
spaces and 
public display 
areas for the 
Nelson  
Collection and  
Monmouth  
History.    

  

Get agreement to carry 
out conversion of 
suitable space.  
  
Develop a major 
capital bid to realise 
the actions detailed 
above and in section 
below. (This should 
include provision for  
project staffing, 
community 
consultation and 
proposals such as an  
learning plan, 
interpretation plan, 
audience development 
plan, community  
engagement plan etc.)  

  

  

Museum staff based at 
the central location in 
Monmouth. (Front of 
house staff would 
continue to be based 
locally).  
  

Improved 
communication and co-
ordinated working.  
  

Begin following approval from senior Staff   
& Councillors.  Dependent on council 
commitment to building and project.  
  
Consultation with communities and users.  

  
Prepare and submit pre-application for 
capital bid, if permission received.  
Phase 1 application to prepare detail   
  
Phase 2 application  
Bid to include project posts, equipment and 
materials to facilitate move and re-
organisation.   
  
Bid to include updating/creating display  
space on all sites to enable county wide  
access  
  
It is likely the earliest this project would   

reach completion is 2022. (Rejections   

Council permission received  

  

  

  

  
HLF Permission given to 
proceed.  
  

  
Phase 1 application - Grant 
awarded (if rejected rework and 
resubmit)  
  
Phase 2 application - Grant 
awarded (if rejected rework and 
resubmit)  
  
Successful completion of 

project.  

Following necessary 
consultation  
collections moved from  
off-site store in 
industrial unit in 
Caldicot and on site 
stores at Abergavenny 
Museum, Chepstow  
Museum and Caldicot 
Castle.  This creates a  
centralised store in 
Monmouth and  
enables collections to  

Improved collections 
care.  
  
Our communities and 

visitors can actively 

engage with 

collections, leading to 

an increased pride in 

their history.  

P
age 131



 

.    

  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

be effectively stored 
according to material 
type.  
  

 in the grant process and  
reapplications are a normal part of the  
process and could delay this date.)   
  
For grant requests under £5m   
Initial application deadlines  

•15 June 2017 (decision September 2017)  
Autumn and Winter dates TBA  

  
Grant requests of £5m and over   
Phase 1 - 1 Dec 2017 (Decision April 

2018) 

  
NB: Other fundraising would be required 
alongside major grant.  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

New and improved 
museum storage 
equipment appropriate 
to collection type and 
viewable by the public.  
  

Environmental control 
for stores focused in 
one place so more 
energy/ 
environmentally and 
cost efficient.    
  

Research areas  
available for staff, 
volunteers and public 
to access collections, 
archive and reference 
material.  
  

Easy and open access 
which can be shared 
with the public.  
  
Our collections can be 
better utilised by all 
users. This will lead to 
improved knowledge 
of our collections.  
  

New and improved  
conservation facilities 
increase our ability to 
care for and conserve 
our collections with our 
communities.  
  

Greatly improved 
facilities will mean a 
better experience for 
users.  
  
Better cared for 
collections which 
increase our ability to 
display items.  
  

P
age 132



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

New and improved  
conservation facilities 

to include sufficient 

staff and space for 

training interns/work 

experience/volunteers/ 

apprentices.  

Relationships 
developed with 
conservation training 
courses at various 
institutions.   
  

 

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

  

Providing opportunities 
for new members of 
the profession.   
  
Potential to develop 
training possibilities 
e.g. mount making.  
  

  

Suitable space to offer 
a paper conservation 
service.  
  

Increased income 
generation 
opportunities.  
  

P
age 133



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Appropriate space for 
the community and 
volunteers to work with 
us.    
  

Museum space is seen 
as an integral and 
relevant part of our 
community.  
  
A sense of pride and 
ownership in 
Monmouthshire’s 
history is developed.  
  

  
Involvement by the 

community 

encourages their 

commitment to the 

future of the service   

Improved public 

exhibition space to tell 

the stories of Nelson 

and Monmouth’s 

history.  

Exploration of aspects 
of Nelson’s life story 
that are not told in the 
other UK sites.  (The 
Man behind the Hero)  
  
Better understanding 

of stories unique to 

Monmouth.  

 

P
age 134



As part of the 
capital bid 
detailed above 
maintain, adapt 
and improve 
existing  
museum  
locations in 

Abergavenny 

and Chepstow 

to ensure 

access to Arts, 

Heritage and 

Culture across 

the county (NB 

See buildings 

options 

appraisal)  

Identify opportunities 
for released space at 
Abergavenny and  
Chepstow created by  
centralising facilities at  
Monmouth.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Released spaces used 
differently to create 
opportunities for:  
  
Income generation and 
community  
participation. e.g. Artist 
studios, community art 
gallery, selling space  
for  artists/makers  

  
Suitable areas for 
learning activities and 
proper storage for 
learning resources.  
  
Improved customer  
service offer e.g. retail 
and refreshment areas 
as appropriate.  
  
Proper storage  
facilities for retail 

stock, event 

facilitation, tools and 

equipment for grounds 

etc.  

  

  

  

  
Increased income 
potential.  
  
Greater community 
involvement with our 
sites.  
  
Greater opportunities 
for learning activities at 
all sites for all ages.  
  

  
Increased income. 
Better visitor 
experience.  
  

  
Better organisation 
and efficient running at 
each site.  
  

  

  

Dependent on success and timings of  

overall capital bid (see above)  
Dependent on success and   
timings of overall capital bid   
(see above)  

Work on key historical 
stories to develop into 
displays, events, web 
based resources and 
publications.  
  

  

Improved  
interpretation suitable 

for a variety of learning 

styles at all sites.  

Better understanding 
of the distinctive 
stories of  
Monmouthshire  

P
age 135



 

 Identify ways of 
improving access for 
visitors with additional 
needs at all sites.  
  

  

  

More areas at each site 
accessible to those with 
mobility issues.  
  
Appropriate equipment to 
enable visitors with visual 
and hearing impairments 
to access all sites.  
  
Appropriate interpretation 
for a range of needs and 
reading abilities.  
  

  

Wider audience able to 

access our sites.  
  

To create a virtual 
platform for  
Monmouthshire 
Museums as  
part of wider 
Alternative 
Delivery Model 
offer (ADM).  
  

  

Explore possibilities of a 
single  
Monmouthshire  
Heritage portal that 
brings together 
museums, heritage and 
arts data, records, 
images etc.   
  

Collections, heritage and 
arts information online for 
remote and cross county 
access.  
  

  

Provide greater access 

to Monmouthshire’s 

history through the 

development of a digital 

offer detail.  

  
Provide opportunity to 
access history at sites 
across the county – in 
towns and villages.  
  
Increase heritage/cultural 
tourism.  
  
Raise profile of  
Monmouthshire.  

  

  

  

Consider suitable funding including RDP.  

  
Grant application.  

  
Funding awarded  

  
Completion of project  

  
NB: Timings  
If RDP is the correct fund we need to apply 
asap so we have maximum time to run 
project before it  closes in 2020.  It will be 
necessary to include project posts within  
the bid so core staff can spend time on the  
major HLF bid (see above)  
  

  

  

Grant awarded.  

  
Successful completion of project.  
  

  

P
age 136



To ensure 
learning is  
embedded  
within the 
museum, arts 
and cultural  
offer   

  

Develop a Learning 
Plan which is relevant 
to the needs of formal 
and informal 
audiences.  
  
Implement resulting 
learning programme.  
  

  

  

  

Supporting school-age 
learning.  
  
Enabling young people 
to develop work related 
skills through  
placements, 
internships etc.  
  
Supporting family 
learning through 
informal activities.  
  
Support the wellbeing 
of the growing older 
generation through 
informal learning.  
  
Support the wellbeing 
of people with 
additional needs e.g. 
those with dementia 
through informal 
learning.  
  
Attract visitors to  
Monmouthshire 

through learning 

opportunities.    

Learning opportunities 
are increased for 
across a range of 
audiences, ages and 
needs.  
  
Learning increase the 
opportunity to people 
to come together and 
acts as a mechanism 
for community 
cohesion.  
  
Encourages different 

groups to work 

together will contribute 

to cross generational 

understanding and 

cohesion.  

Needs to be considered in conjunction with 
learning plan for the ADM.  
  
Learning plan needs to be developed in 

consultation with users and non users.  

Needs to be considered in 
conjunction with overall 
learning plan for the ADM.  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 137



Strategic Aim 2   

Future Museums 2016  

Vision – Inspiring a passion for Monmouthshire:  

Mission - Bringing heritage, collections, arts and culture alive with our communities and visitors.  

Our guiding principle will be to encourage the flourishing of museums, heritage, arts and culture in Monmouthshire as part of the wider Tourism, Leisure and Culture 

Service/proposed Alternative Delivery Model Offer.  

Strategic Aim 2  

To ensure we have a resilient and sustainable service.      

  

Key Objectives  Actions  Outputs  Outcomes  Milestones/Timing  Measures  

To ensure we 

have a depth 

and breadth of 

skills to provide 

a professional 

museum offer.  

Assess current staffing 

roles and identify 

needs.  

Robust staff structure   Ability to take service 

forward to the future.  
Needs assessed in relation to capital bid 

for 
Collections Centre  

  
Needs assessed post capital bid.  

Success of capital bid  

  
Success of capital bid  

To improve and 
extend  income 
streams  
  

Increase provision of 
courses (At Chepstow 
Museum/Drill Hall).  
  
Build on existing 
programme of cultural 
coach trips. (From All  
Sites)  

  
Run a programme of 
skills based workshops  
for adults.(At  
Chepstow  
Museum/Drill Hall and  
Abergavenny Castle  
Grounds)  

A source of income for 
the museum service.  
  

  
A variety of well 
attended courses, trips 
and workshops.  
  

Contribution to a  
balanced budget  

  
More funding available 
for service activity.  
  

  
Users are more 
knowledgeable and 
enthusiastic about a 
variety of subjects 
relating to museums, 
arts and culture.  

Agree a list of suitable subject areas.  

  
Source speakers to run a series of lectures 
trips and workshops.  
  
Programme a series of lectures, trips and 
workshops beginning 2017.  
  

  

Amount of money made.  

  
Amount of take up  

  
Satisfaction of users.  

  

 

P
age 138



 Ensure museum shops  
run efficiently and 

effectively. This will be 
done by:  

• Installing an 

a suitable   
EPOS system  

• Agreement 

for   
a trading 
account  

• Devising a 

focused offer 
for each site.  

• Offering 
refresher/new 
training to  
Front of House 
staff.  

• Increased 

promotion of  
retail offer via 
social media.  

• Explore 

online  
retail sales  

  

  

  

  

Income target for retail 
sales is met.  
 

Improved turnover.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Contribution to a  
balanced budget  
 

A retail experience 

which compliments the 

museum visit.  

Seek clarification on next steps for  
Museum Epos system.   
(Seek clarity on how this relates to future  

ADM activity in order to fix timetable)  

  
Seek approval for a trading account.  
(By April 2017).  

  
Continue research at each site on 
successful and unsuccessful lines and  
make adjustments as appropriate.   
(Ongoing)  

  
Set up appropriate training course. (TBC)  

  

  

  
Investigate opportunities for online retail   
Sales with the Digital Marketing Officer/  
Visit Monmouthshire. (Jan 2018)  

  

  

  

Healthier bottom line budget  

  
Visitors positively rate the   

retail experience.  

  

P
age 139



Explore possibility of 

pop up/short term 

catering opportunities 

in order to inform a 

longer term more 

permanent offer.  This 

will be done by 

exploring opportunities 

at Abergavenny and 

Chepstow for example 

ice cream tricycle, 

mobile coffee vans etc. 
in line with wider ADM 

activities.   

  

A source of income for 
the museum service.  
  

  

  

Contribution to a 
balanced budget.  
  
More funding available 
for service activity.  
  
A good quality 
refreshment 
experience which 
complements the 
museum visit.  
  

Find out situation regarding licensing in   
each town. (January 2017)  

  
Investigate potential for vendors.   
(February 2017)  

  
Trial offer during Summer 2017 and follow 

up short business plan to enable ideas  to 

be taken forward.  

Healthier bottom line budget  

  
Visitors positively rate the 
refreshment experience.  
  

 

 To increase income 
opportunities from 
filming, royalties, 
collections image 
licensing, enquiries, 
publications.  
  

A source of income for 
the museum service.  
  
More sales of our 
images.  
  
Income from collection   

  

  

  

  
More paid for 
appearances of our 
collections in 
publications/in the 
media.  
  
Use of our buildings as 
film locations.  

Contribution to a 
balanced budget.  
  
More funding available 
for service activity.  
  
Charging for enquiries 
may reduce the 
amount of public 
enquiries.  
  
Collections, sites, local 
information seen 
remotely by a wider 
range of users.  
  

  
Raised profile of our 
sites and what they 
have to offer.  

Consider the appointment of a temporary 
or seconded post to take forward income  
generation opportunities as there is not the 
capacity to explore these options within the 
current structure.  
  
Talk to Fundraising Officer about 
opportunity previously offered to sign up  
with specific companies that offer  
assistance re film locations.  
  
Research what other museums are doing   
e.g. filming policies, charges for enquiries,  
image reproduction etc.  
  
Use information to devise a set of charges  
and  write a policy, devise forms and  
market the opportunities.  
  
(2018?)  

Healthier bottom line budget.  

  

P
age 140



      

  Seek ways to 
maximise commercial 
opportunities 
beginning with the 
Nelson Collection.   
  

A source of income for 
the museum budget.  
  
Production of high 
quality reproduction 
items.  
  
More professional 
digital images of the 
collection available.  
  

Contributes to a 
balanced budget.  
  
Raising profile and 
public awareness of 
the collections.  
  
Raise profile of The 

Nelson Collection.  

Select items for customised reproduction 
for sale on site and in other non local 
outlets.  
  
Investigate licensing of existing suitable 
images through art picture library.  
  
Seek ways of having more selected items  
professionally photographed.  
  
Extend programme to other key collections 
successful.  
  
(Work with Senior Custodian  to see if  

realistic for her to do during 2017)  

Healthier bottom line budget  

  
Successful sales  

  
Buyers positively rate the 
goods.  
  
Thriving relationship with 
companies producing the 
licensed items resulting in more  

i advantageous terms for the  
museum service.  

  

  

 

P
age 141



  To continue with 
income opportunities 
from school 
workshops, lectures, 
loan boxes, 
reminiscence boxes, 
guided group visits 
and delivering of 
training.  
  

A source of income for 
the museum service.  
  

Contribution to a 
balanced budget.  
  
Contribution to 

wellbeing and learning 

for a range of users.  

Establish potential input from 
Learning Officer in order to decide 
future  plan.  
  
(Ongoing)  

Healthier bottom line budget  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Develop outdoor offer 
at Abergavenny Castle 
through provision of a 
covered structure and 
an associated events 
programme.  
  

  
.   
  

  

  

  

  

Income target for 
castle grounds is met.  
  

  
Increased 
opportunities for venue 
hire e.g. weddings, 
business functions, 
community events, 
external events 
programme.  
  

  

  

  

  

  
Increased in house 
events programme.  
  

  

  

Contribution to a 
balanced budget  
  
Increased use of 
castle  
grounds/community  
facility  

  
Contribution to vibrant 
community through 
increased events.  
  

Outdoor Structure  
Write business case  

  
Agreement on renewal of lease.  

  
Confirmation of financial support from 
Nevill Estate and potential bid to the Rural 
Development Programme.  
  
Approvals from CADW, Planning, Building  
Control   

  
Tender/Appointment for design and   
building work  

  
Completion of building work  

  
Trialling of an outdoor/undercover weekly  
event which runs throughout  the summer  
(e.g. 4-6 weeks) on the same night each  
week with a similar programme/menu/feel.   
(July/August 2017)  

  

Healthier bottom line budget  

  

  
Completion of outdoor structure  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
Successful/developing events 
programme.  
  
Well received programme of 
events.  
  

  

P
age 142



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Consider re- 
appointment of Paper 

Conservator to 

continue with income 

generating service to 

include possible  

additional intern 

placement.   

Income target met  Contribution to 

balanced budget.  
Appointment of conservator/intern  Income target met.  

Salary cost covered.  

  

 

  

  

Review museum  
fundraising strategy.  

  
Investigate fundraising 

approaches in arts and 

culture.  

New Museums, Arts 
and Culture  
fundraising strategy for  
ADM.  

  

  

A clear policy on 
fundraising approaches.  
  

  

Revision of fundraising strategy. (2016/17)  

  

  

All staff aware of fundraising 

approach  

To increase and 
widen our user 
base and raise 
awareness of 
Monmouthshire 
Museums as  
part of the wider 
Arts and Culture 
ADM offer.  
  

  

  

Promote our offer more 
effectively to existing 
and potential users.  
  

  

  

Publicity and 
marketing material 
designed and 
disseminated.  
  
More co-ordinated 
marketing across the 
service.  
  
Production of passport  

  

  

  

  

  
Website or similar with 
retail, ticketing,  
booking and payment  
facility  

  

Users are aware of a 
coherent programme of 
exhibitions, events and 
opportunities across the 
‘Monmouthshire  
Museums’ and wider  
ADM activities in 
Monmouthshire.  
  
Visitors obviously 
moving from site to site 
following passport trail.  
  

  
Centralised online 

presence  

  

  

  

  
Focussed cross marketing of museum and 
other current MCC attractions e.g.  
cultural passport, joint promotion of  
events. (2018/19)  

  

  
Investigate development of website with 
retail, ticketing, booking and payment 
facility.  (Include option of being part of  
Visit Monmouthshire) (2018/19)  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
Number of visitors actively 
engaging with cultural passport.  
  

  

  

  
Automatic website measuring – 

hits, sales etc.  

P
age 143



Carry out community 

evaluation and 

assessment of the 

impact of our work on 

their lives.  

Results of consultation  We understand the 

impact of our work and 

how to improve.  

Devise appropriate survey methods and 
tools.  
Consultation  
Final report  

Results to inform future 

programmes.  

Explore the potential of 

establishing 

partnerships with 

relevant departments at 

universities that are  

Possible undergraduate 
or postgraduate  
placements  

  

Possible injection of 
funding and/or expertise 
including upskilling of 
staff.  
  

Research and identify possible 
departments / staff with appropriate  
research interests to approach  

  
Open discussions  

Establishing interest  

  
Setting up partnership or 

whatever mechanism is 

appropriate   

 working on the specific 

subject areas that 

relate to our key 

collections and 

professional skills.  

Joint Research 
projects – publications/ 
exhibitions/  
conferences  

  

Raising profile of the 
collections and Service  
in a new sphere - 

Academic  

  
Progress as appropriate  

  
Placements or projects 

established  

  Raise the profile of the 
collections beginning 
with the Wye Tour Art 
Collection at Chepstow 
Museum.  
  

Completed gallery 
Printed/online 
catalogue of the 
collection.  
  

Contribute to the local 

economy by operating 

a busy local attraction, 

providing income 

opportunities for other 

local providers.  

Completion of the Wye Tour Gallery  Increased appreciation and 

relevance of Wye Tour  

Contribute to a 
vibrant 
community by 
adapting to work 
in new and 
innovative ways.  
  

Expand volunteer base   Specialist and well 
trained volunteers in 
the following areas:  

• Gallery duties  
• Event duties  
• Accreditation 

related 
documentation  

• Gardens and 

grounds  
• Exhibitions and 

Displays  

The museum is able to 
continue to deliver a 
high quality daily 
visitor experience.  
  
The museum is able to 
call on knowledgeable 
and experienced 
people.  
  
The museum is able to 

provide opportunities 

for learning, personal 

development and, 

social engagement.  

Museum Curators to fully understand the 
implications in terms of plans and 
procedures for dealing with a larger body 
of volunteers.  
  
To recruit and retain volunteers. (2017)  

Monitor and evaluate the 
satisfaction of the volunteer 
workforce.  
  
Monitor and evaluate how 

museums benefit from 

volunteer output.  

P
age 144



 BLANK PAGE 

    

P
age 145



  

BLANK PAGE 

Page 146



Appendix 2 – Action Plan to further our Guiding Principle - to encourage the flourishing of museums, heritage, arts and culture in 

Monmouthshire as part of the proposed wider Alternative Delivery Model Offer  

Vision – Inspiring a passion for Monmouthshire:  

Mission - Bringing heritage, collections, arts and culture alive with our communities and visitors.  

Guiding Principle  
To encourage the flourishing of arts and culture in Monmouthshire.  

  

Key Objectives  Actions  Outputs  Outcomes  Milestones/Timing  Measures  

Provide greater 
opportunities for 
Monmouthshire’s 
residents and visitors 
to engage with arts 
and culture.    
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

To make contact with 
Monmouthshire wide 
arts, groups, 
practitioners, venues, 
festivals.   
  

To create a database  
of contacts  

  

A communication 
and promotion 
network is 
established with arts 
and culture providers  
in Monmouthshire  

  

To establish what funding is 
available through RDP/Arts 
Council Wales for all key 
objectives in this section.   
  
Establish what databases exist 
e.g. ACW, Adventa, Makers in 
Wales etc.   
  
Make initial contact with 
interested parties – virtually or 
actually   
  
Make grant application  

  
Complete database  
(To be updated as depends on 

grant deadlines given)  

Funding secured 
Good network 
established  
  
Completed database 

for use in following 

action points.  

Work with arts 

providers to establish a 

variety of information 

channels for 

coordinating and 

disseminating 

information about 

Monmouthshire’s arts 

and culture offer.    

Creation of e.g. 
Facebook 
page/Working with 
existing websites 
such as Visit  
Monmouthshire/  
Digital hub to link 
artists together etc.  
  

This would provide a 
place for the public 
to find out what is 
going on and a forum 
for providers to 
communicate with 
venues etc.  
  

Establish information channels. 

(Dependant on grant timing but 

we would expect to complete 

within first 3 months of grant 

funded post/consultancy being 

appointed.)  

Rate of sign up of 

practitioners, 

providers, venues 

etc. to information 

channels.  

P
age 147



 

 Develop relationships 
with arts and culture 
providers.  
  

Develop a delivery 

plan with 

practitioners, 

providers and 

stakeholders.  

A shared future vision 

for arts and culture in  
Monmouthshire  

  

Decision on authorship - internal 

or external 

 
Consultation events to take 
place.  
  
Writing of plan/further 
consultation.  
  
(Dependant on grant timing but 
we would expect to complete by  
end of first 6 months of 

programme as needs to follow on 

from the work above)  

Completion of a 

delivery plan that 

has been contributed 

to and accepted by a 

wide range of 

providers  

To evolve higher 
profile/leading events 
through shared 
expertise and joined 
up working  
  

An ambitious  
programme of arts 
and culture across  
Monmouthshire  

  

Share ideas through network.  

  

Agree set of proposals  

  

Seek funding for proposals  

  

  

Good ideas are put 
forward.  
  
Good ideas are 

realised, funding 

achieved, event 

takes place and 

lessons learnt  

To encourage  
venues and  
practitioners to take 

up arts and culture 

opportunities e.g. 

artist/writer 

residencies, touring 

theatre, music gigs, 

creative workshops   

Publicise available opportunities 
through network.  
  
If appropriate agree which 
opportunities to pursue and who 
should do this.  
  

  

Amount of take up 

and successes.  

P
age 148



Strengthen programme  
of cultural activity at our 
sites  
  

More outdoor 

theatre, live 

performance on 

screen, creative 

skills workshops, 

family activities, 

lecture programme.   

A high quality 
programme of arts 
and culture in MCC 
venues (which is 
also income  
generating)  

  

Develop more intensive/focused 
programme of events, with 
consideration made to their 
financial and/or social benefits.  
  

A strong successful 

published programme 

of events.  

 

  Create opportunities to 

support the Cultural 

Learning Plan.   

More opportunities 

for formal learning  
Greater number of 

young people having 

access to high 

quality arts education  

Development of opportunities 

across sites.  
More young people 

having access to the 

arts.  

Raise the profile of 
Monmouthshire’s 
arts, heritage and 
cultural offer in a  
National context.    

Use the Arts and 

culture communication 

and promotion network 

to work with national 

media (print and online) 

to promote  offer at a 

UK level.  

Monmouthshire’s 
arts and culture 
features in UK wide 
listings, arts  
programmes, 
reviews etc.  
  

Increased visitors to 
Monmouthshire to 
experience our arts 
and culture offer 
contributing to the 
local economy.  
  

Potentially buy in some 
PR/Media person to set up 
arts/culture media contact 
framework, utilising the 
information channel   
(Completed within first 6 months 

of grant programme)   

Amount of times 

mentioned in 

national press etc.  

Encourage the 
development of artistic 
and cultural 
endeavours unique to 
Monmouthshire.   
  

E.g.  productions 

which interpret the 

stories of local 

historic sites or 

theatrical 

presentations 

celebrating local 

personalities etc.  

Publicise available opportunities 
through network.  
  
If appropriate agree which 
opportunities to pursue and who 
should do this.  
  

  

Increase in 

consciousness of 

Monmouthshire’s 

identity (Measure to 

be developed)  

P
age 149



Enable support for  
the artistic  
community  

  

Use the Arts and 
culture communication 
and promotion network 
to set up contacts 
between practitioners 
and  
venues/events/festivals  

  

A mutually 
supportive network 
of practitioners and 
providers  
  

Monmouthshire’s 
artistic community 
thrives and 
contributes to 
Monmouthshire’s 
economy.   
  

Information channel is 
established  
  
Consider establishing a What 
Next Chapter to provide a forum 
for practitioners and providers to 
meet.  
http://www.whatnextculture.co.uk/  

  

  

Able to visibly 
monitor arts and  
cultural activity 
across  
Monmouthshire on 
our information 
channel and through  
face to face 

meetings  

Assist funding efforts of 
arts and culture 
providers e.g.  
crowdfunding, grant 
applications.  
  

More successful arts 
and culture projects 
proceed.  
  

Increased level of 
funding to  
Monmouthshire arts  
and culture   

  

Add arts and culture funders to 
our existing database of heritage 
funding bodies.  
  
Establish a mechanism for 
offering advice and support e.g. 
hosting advice surgeries etc.  
  

Successful funding 

drives.  

Promote  
opportunities to 
create public art 
within  
Monmouthshire  

Work with town teams,  
community groups and 

councils etc. to 

encourage and develop 

projects which include 

artistic endeavours.  

More examples of 
sculpture, mosaics, 
street art, etc. within 
our towns, villages 
and rural sites.  
  

Interesting features 

introduced to the 

county and an 

increased and 

awareness and 

appreciation of the 

arts.  

Make contact with appropriate 
organisations including internal  
MCC.  

  
Use our information channel to 
circulate opportunities to artists, 
practitioners.  
  
If appropriate agree which 
opportunities to pursue and who 
should do this.  
  

Public art project in 

place and lessons 

learnt for next project.  

   

  

  

P
age 150

http://www.whatnextculture.co.uk/
http://www.whatnextculture.co.uk/


  

Appendix 3 – Risk Register   

Strategic Aim 1 – To create a cross county museum, arts and culture service to encourage a sense of pride and community identity.  

Risk  Reason why 

identified  

Risk Level (Pre – mitigation)  Planned 

Mitigation  

Residual Risk Level (Post – mitigation)  

    Likelihood  Impact  Risk Level    Likelihood  Impact  Risk Level  

Not getting 

permission to 

convert a suitable 

space for the 

Collections Centre  

Appropriate 

building is key to 

the success of the 

project. There are 

a limited amount 

of suitable 

buildings 

available.  

Possible  Major  Low  Ensuring full 

information about 

requirements is 

provided to 

decision makers  

Possible  Major  Low  

P
age 151



Capital funding bid 

rejected  

HLF is the only 
realistic source of 
capital project 
funding for  
museum 

purposes.  It is a 

highly 

competitive 

funding stream 

and rejection at 

least once is 

extremely like. 

Subsequent 

applications may 

result in success 

but this affects 

time scales.  

Likely (First  

application)  

  
Possible 

(subsequent 

application)  

Substantial  Medium  Initial discussions 
to take place with 
HLF at the earliest 
possible 
opportunity.  
  

Continue contact 
with HLF during 
pre-application 
progresses.    
  
Consultation with 

stakeholders 

during the 

application 

process to ensure 

all views and 

needs are taken 

into account.  

Possible  Substantial  Medium  

 

P
age 152



We are not able to 

secure enough 

funding to cover the 

full project cost and 

as a result cuts are 

made that 

compromise the 

plans to improve 

the offer across the 

county.  

The improvements 
to the sites at  
Abergavenny and 

Chepstow may be 

seen as ancillary 

to the project.   It 

is important to 

maintain the offer 

in the towns 

where services are 

already well 

established and 

valued.  

Possible  Major  Medium  -Ensure that 
decision makers 
and funders 
understand that 
the key to the 
success is  
dependent on 
access to Arts, 
Heritage and 
Culture being 
available across 
the county and at  
the key museum 
locations at  
Chepstow,  

Abergavenny and 
Monmouth.  
- Ensure that 

development 

opportunities at 

each site form a 

strong part of the 

capital bid.  

Possible  Major  Low  

A single  

Monmouthshire  

Heritage portal is 

not completed.  

This is dependent 

on grant funding 

and will require 

people either 

through staffing or 

volunteers.  

Possible  Minor  Medium  Full investigation 

into project with 

stakeholders and 

subsequent 

discussion with 

potential funders 

will take place.  

Possible  Minor  Low  

P
age 153



Learning is not 

embedded within 

the museums offer.  

The Learning  

Officer Post is a 

temporary post  

Possible  Substantial  Medium  Ongoing  

discussions with 

MCC officers  

Possible  Substantial  Low  

 and currently does 

not sit within the 

museum service.  

   about how the 

future of this role 

will be developed.  

   

  

Strategic Aim 2 – To ensure we have a resilient and sustainable service   

Risk  Reason why identified  Risk Level (Pre – mitigation)   Planned 

Mitigation  

Residual Risk Level (Post – mitigation)  

    Likelihood  Impact  Risk Level    Likelihood  Impact  Risk Level  P
age 154



We do not meet 
our existing 
income targets 
relating to:  
  
Fundraising  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Conservation  

Service  

  
Abergavenny  

Castle grounds  

  
  
  
Green Screens  

  
  
  
  
  
Fundraiser now works 
across TLC /ADM not 
just on museums.  
  
  
  
  
  
Paper Conservator is 
currently vacant.  
  
Lack of 
infrastructure/covered 
space at Abergavenny  
  
Due to a dependence on 

a wide range of large 

events and the need for  

Almost certain  Substantial  High    
  
  
  
  
Ongoing  

discussions with 
MCC officers 
about how the 
future of this role 
will be 
developed.  
  
Secure decision 
to fill post and 
identify a 
suitable intern.  
  
Secure decision 
to proceed with 
covered 
structure plan.  
  

Likely  Substantial  Medium  

 a staff presence, it is 
impossible for us to 
meet the target.  
  

     
  
Secure decision 

on whether this 

liability should 

remain with us. 

Or adapt 

   

P
age 155



equipment to be 

self-service.  

We do not  

sufficiently 

extend our 

income streams.  

We are unable to 

balance our budget 

without additional 

income streams  

Possible  Substantial  Medium  We have  

included in the 

plan a range of 

opportunities 

and we will 

ensure that any 

additional 

methods of 

raising money 

are explored.  

Possible   Substantial  Low  

We are unable 

to sufficiently 

increase 

awareness of our 

service  

Budget restraints may 

mean we are not able 

to invest sufficiently on 

publicity and marketing.   

Possible  Major  Low  Explore external 

funding 

possibilities.   

Possible  Minor  Low  

P
age 156



Lack of budget  Continued reduction of 

financial support from 

MCC which will lead to a 

much reduced service in 

order to balance books  

Almost certain  Major  High  Continue to work 
with senior 
management 
team and 
accountants to  
look for 

alternative 

solutions.  

Almost certain  Major  High  

  
   

  

  

P
age 157



Appendix 4 - Buildings Options Appraisal   

Site  Advantages  Disadvantages  MCC 

owned  

Abergavenny        

Abergavenny  

Museum - The  

Hunting Lodge.   

• Exhibition Gallery 
facilities of a National 
Standard that meet 
government indemnity 
standard and can 
facilitate major loans.  

• Over 2/3 of display space 
has been recently 
updated.  

• Linked to castle so 
natural flow of visitors to 
the site and potential to 
tell more stories.  

• Museum presence in  

building ensures public 
access to castle grounds 
is maintained.    

• Recent maintenance 
programme from  
Property Services means 
building is in good 
condition.   

• Relatively simple building 
structure and services to 
maintain.  

• Low rates  

• Low rent  

• Owner is supportive of 
the relationship and 
future development.  

• Museum standard  

security system in place.  

• Museum standard fire 
alarm system in place.  

• Free Parking  

• Layout of building means 
that it could be zoned to 
facilitate a range of uses.  

• Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

• Grade II Listed building 
makes alternations 
complicated.  

• Multi-level and uneven 
stairs make access difficult.  

• Wheelchair access to ground 
floor only  

• No public access to top floor 
rooms- but could be used 
privately.  

• Not in the main town 
centre.   

• No dedicated space for 
school groups, adult groups 
or family learning  

• No café facilities   

• Environmental control in 

collection stores is coming 

to end of its life.   

No  

  

Page 158



 

   Relatively small level of 

capital investment 

required to update and 

alter uses.  

   

   Views of 3 hills of 

Abergavenny from 

building help generate 

sense of place.  

   

Page 159



The Castle 

Grounds.  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Key Grade I listed and 
scheduled ancient 
monument historic site 
in the town which brings 
visitors to the site –  
hence museum benefits 
from being within the 
‘complex’.  

Public access to grounds 
since late nineteenth 
century means there is a 
strong community 
connection to site.   

Some community 
members actively 
involved in some areas 
of maintenance of site.  
Outdoor space for 
community and 
commercial events. 
Water and electricity 
available.  

Owner is willing to 
support further 
development of the site.  

Recent attention from 
Property Services to 
stabilise and improve 
large proportion of the 
walls.  

 

Parking  

Areas of site are unlisted 
giving potential for 
future development/ 
structures.   

Low to Medium level of 

capital investment would 

be required to develop 

outdoor facilitates in 

grounds to facilities 

income generation.   

  

  

  

  

  

  

Limited covered space 
means outdoor events are 
subject to weather and it is 
currently not possible to 
have wedding licence. . 
Limited access to toilets 
Scheduled ancient  
monument makes  

alterations and additions 

more complicated.  

Cost of ongoing 

maintenance of walls   

No existing data on 

number of visitors or visitor 

profiling to grounds. 

History of small level of 

anti- social behaviour in 

grounds- security could be 

improved.  

No  

 

Page 160



The Library    

  

  

Some outdoor space. 
Slightly closer to town 
centre.  

Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Limited display space 
available.  

Grade II Listed building 
makes alternations more 
complicated.  

Multi-level makes access 
difficult.  

No toilets on ground floor. 

Outdoor space only 
suitable for small events. 
Not in the main town 
centre.  
Unsure of maintenance 
needs.  

Update of all space 
including security/alarms 
required to meet Museum 
standards.  

Medium level of capital 
investment would be 
required to transform into 
museum building.  

Parking difficult  

Strong community support 

for buildings continued use 

a library.   

Yes  

Old Tourist  

Information  

Centre  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

All on one level- is or 
could easily be DDA 
compliment  

Close to bus station so 
good point of entry for 
tourists.  

Easy route through to 
Tithe Barn and TIC. 
Simple building structure 
to maintain.  Close to 
public car park Low to 
medium level of capital 
investment would be 
required to transform 
into museum building.  
Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

  

  

  

  

  

About to be leased to 
outside company.  

Limited space for displays 
and activity areas. Limited 
outside space. Update of 
all space including 
security/alarms required 
to meet Museum 
standards.  

Unsure of maintenance 
needs.  
  

Yes  

 

Page 161



Old Richards 

building. 
  

  

  

Large floor space Town 

Centre 

Free Parking  

Could be developed to 
be DDA compliment. 
Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

  

 

  

  

  

Update of all space 
including security/alarms 

required to meet Museum 
standards.  

Only outside space is the car 
park.  

Unsure of maintenance 
needs. Structure appears to  
be in relatively poor 
condition.  

Large level of capital 

investment would be 

required to transform into 

museum building.  

No 

     Not in council ownership 

and no existing history of 

council use of building.  

 

Town Hall    

  

  

  

  

  

Town centre  

Close to public car park 
Close to other ‘hub’ 
services  

Close to other Cultural 
Offers – theatre. Shared 
access to outdoor 
space.  

Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Grade II Listed building 
makes alternations more 
complicated. Update of all 
space including 
security/alarms required 
to meet Museum 
standards.  
Very little space available 
alongside other services. 
Unsure of maintenance 
needs  

Medium level of capital 

investment would be 

required to transform into 

museum building  

Yes  

Page 162



Old Court 

building  
  

  

  

  

  

Large building  

Site is for sale  

Potential to use site for 
new build.  

possibility that stores 
and working areas could 
be designed that are 
passive and potentially 
naturally ventilating, and 
naturally lit.  
increasing suitability and 
reducing environmental 
and economic cost of 
running centralized 
service.  

Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Update of all space 
including security/alarms 
required to meet Museum 
standards.  

Limited outdoor space 
Unsure of maintenance 
needs but looks to require 
possible demolition and 
rebuilding. Current building 
inappropriate for storage 
of collections.  

No closer to town than 

current site. Significant 

capital investment would 

be required to transform 

into museum building  

No  

 

 

 

 

 

Chepstow          

Page 163



Gwy House     Exhibition 
Gallery facilities 
of a National 
Standard that 
meet 
government 
indemnity 
standard and 
can facilitate 
major loans. 
Grade II listed 
building  

 Impressive 18th 
century town 
house with 
surviving 
features – only 
example 
available to visit 
in the town 
through 
museum 
presence  

 Close to castle 
so potential spill 
of visitors to the 
site.  

 Museum 

standard  

security system 
in place. 
Museum 
standard fire 
alarm system in 
place. Close to 
public car park. 
Creation of 
centralized 
service would 
release rooms 
for alternative 
use.  

 Small amount of 
outdoor space 
currently not 
fully utilized but 
could be 
developed.  

 History of 20th 
century 

 

 

  

 Grade II Listed 
building 
alternations need 
consent. Building 
is in need of 
maintenance.  

 Wheelchair access 
to ground floor 
only Wheel chair 
access to entrance 
of building is also 
awkward  

 No dedicated 
space on site for 
school groups, 
adult groups or 
family learning – 
but this catered 
for in nearby Drill 
Hall No café 
facilities  

 Capital investment 
required to update 
and alter uses. 
Museum in flood 
alert area. 
(although it never 
flooded even before 
defence scheme) 
Flood zone C1- 
served by significant 
infrastructure 
including flood 
defences.   

 

 Large complex 
building structure to 
maintain and 
service  

 Capacity and design 

of rainwater goods 

struggles to cope 

with current heavy 

rainfall. Some 

redesign already in 

place. More 

needed. Future 

rainfall due to 

climate change 

likely to exceed 

Yes  

Page 164



community use 
of building when 
it was a school, 
hospital and 
museum 
displayed 

 Reconstructed 

boat shed in 
landscaped area  
housing 
traditional 
Chepstow 
salmon fishing 
boat and 
equipment.  

 Large Flat roof 

above 1930s 

extension has 

potential for 

build Rear 

elevation 

deemed 

insensitive 

area (re listing) 

but good for 

locating lift 

access, 

enclosing 

spaces 

between 

modern 

extensions.  

capacity causing 

building 

maintenance 

problems.   

 

Page 165



Chepstow TIC     Next to Castle  

 Next to Public 
Car Park 
Covenant allows 
the area to be 
used as a ‘visitor 
centre with 
exhibition 
centre’ any 
change would 
need landlord 
consent.   
Building 
structure 
relatively easy to 
maintain.  

 Building is not 
listed so easy to 
adapt.  

 (Considered for 

possible location 

of centralised 

working including 

new publicly 

accessible 

conservation 

facilities + shared 

TIC function – 

first floor would 

need to be 

created)  

   Very limited 
space. Update of 
all space including 
security/alarms 
required to meet 
Museum 
standards.  

 TIC in flood alert 
area. Flood zone 
C1- served by 
significant 
infrastructure 
including flood 
defences.   

  

Yes  

Page 166



Piercefield 

Estate  
  

  

  

Large site with open  

space and 
architecturally 
important buildings with 
potential to bring many 
offers together. Site has 
rich history in terms of 
owners, buildings and 
grounds Building is in 
Flood zone A- 
Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Out of town  

Not easily accessible by 
public transport Site is 
currently a ruin. Grade II 
* listed which could 
make development more 
complicated.  

Full potential could only be 
realised with major capital 
bid.  

Significant capital 

investment would be 

required to transform into 

museum building and 

centralized service. Would 

only make sense if 

centralised service here 

and this probably not best 

location for that.  

No  

Hanbury House     

  

   
  

Town location   

Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

  

  

  

Not in area visited by 
tourists away from ‘cultural  
quarter’    

Very limited space. 1960s 

Retail units with large 

windows etc. (unsuitable 

for museum functions)   

  

 

     Building with no intrinsic 

history or attraction  

 

     Shared site    

     Unsure of maintenance 

needs.  

 

     Update of all space 

including security/alarms 

required to meet Museum 

standards.  

 

     Major Investment would be 

needed    

 

Page 167



Brunel House 
(Old Mill  
building)  on 
Mabey bridge  
site   

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Large building  

Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

Building not listed so 
easy to adapt.  

Recent rebuild and 
refurbishment following 
fire possibility that 
stores and working 
areas could be designed 
that are passive and 
potentially naturally 
ventilating, and 
naturally lit. increasing 
suitability and reducing 
environmental and 
economic cost of 
running centralized 
service.  

Potential for solar panels 
on roof?  

Part of new housing and 

area re-development 

scheme  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Out of town and even after 
site developed not in main 
visitor area  

Full potential could only be 
realised with a capital bid. 
Would only make sense if 
centralised service here – is 
this the best location for 
that.  

Public transport links to site  

and whole of 
Monmouthshire are 
reasonable.  

Large capital investment 
needed to transform into 
centralized museum site. 
Earmarked for alternative 
development in  
Developer’s plans for site.  

No  

 

Monmouth          

Page 168



The Market  

Hall  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Large building which can 
be altered to provide an 
accessible centralised 
service including stores, 
offices and activity 
spaces  

Museum standard  

security system in place 
in some of building. 
Museum standard fire 
alarm system in place in 
some of building. Grade 
II listing appears to 
refer to the 19th interior 
of building only, 
Interior is a 1960’s 
reconstruction.  
Suggestion that it would 
be relatively easy to 
adapt interior- but 
further consultation with 
CADW required to clarify 
this.   

Limited time left on the 
Chinese restaurant lease 
when considered within 
time frame of HLF or 
other grant that may be 
required to secure 
capital investment 
required.  

Good local bus routes to  

Monmouth to  

encourage visitors to 
visit centralised service. 
Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

Prominent building  
Access to slaughter 
house arches great  
potential for future 

commercial 

development – 

food/arts/craft Currently 

building maintains good  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Large complex building 
structure to maintain and 
service- cost likely to 
increase over time. Lease 
on the Chinese takeaway  
within the building runs 

until March 2019  

Limited parking  

Access to upper floor is 
difficult.  

No train station or coach 
services in town to 
encourage visitors to visit 
centralised service.  No 
dedicated space for school 
groups, adult groups or 
family learning No café 
facilities Risk that 
centralizing service in 
Market Hall would reduce 
space available for  
Monmouth/Nelson 
Museum displays. Current 
condition and 
performance of roof 
unknown as is capacity to 
cope with increasing heavy 
rainfall.   
Slaughter house arches are 
unsuitable for museum 
stores.  

Large capital investment 
would be required to 
transform into museum 
building and centralized 
service.  
  

Yes  

 

Page 169



  environment for 
museum collection. 
Large windows and roof 
lights. Strong possibility 
that stores, display and 
working areas could be 
designed that are 
passive and potentially 
naturally ventilating, and 
naturally lit. increasing 
sustainability  
and reducing 

environmental and 

economic cost of 

running centralized 

service.   

   

 

  Potential that flat roofs 

(as seen on google 

earth) provide good 

scope for significant 

solar energy generation.  

   

The Rolls Hall    

  

  

  

  

  

No known covenants in 
the conveyance dated 
15/4/1991.  

Rear car park for staff 
and users with a 
disability.  

Rear access for  loading  

Links with parts of the  

Museum Collection  

(Rolls Collection and  

Lady Llangattock Nelson  

Collection)  

Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

Historic building, 

attractive space  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Limited space.  

Grade II Listed building 
makes alternations more 
complicated.  

Alterations to make enough 
space for centralised store 
(another floor) could spoil 
aesthetic value of the 
building, if acceptable to 
listing however already 
existing mezzanine floor 
which is in keeping with 
building.  

Slightly out of town – for  

visitors  

Update of all space 
including security/alarms 
required to meet Museum 
standards.  

Large capital investment 

would be required to 

transform into museum 

building and centralized 

service.  

Yes  

Page 170



The Shire Hall    

  

  

Iconic and prominent 
building  

Close to public parking  

Links with parts of the  

Museum Collection  

  Large complex building 

structure to maintain and 

service- cost likely to 

increase over time.  

  

 

   

  

  

  

  

  

(Crime and  

Punishment/Justice,)  

Lift in place  

Central location Some 
security and fire 
systems in place. 
Dedicated space for 
learning  

Building is recently 
renovated and in good 
condition.  

Building is in Flood zone 
A- Considered to be at 
little risk of fluvial or 
coastal/tidal flooding  
(Natural resources  

Wales)  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Shared access with Town 
Council has security 
implications.  

Limited space for display, 
storage and office facilities 
Grade I Listed building 
makes alterations more 
complicated.  

Alterations (to create 
museum display in current 
community room space) 
would spoil aesthetic value 
of the building. Restrictions 
on use of frontage.  
Will need some upgrades to 

security, environmental and 

fire systems.  

 

     Loss of revenue from 

reducing commercial spaces 

available.  

 

     Large capital investment 
would be required to  
transform into museum 

building   

 

     HLF grant previously 

awarded to this site.  

 

     Insufficient space to 
accommodate centralised  
store/working/conservation  

facilities  +  

Nelson/Monmouth museum 

displays  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 171



Other          

Museum Store  

in Caldicot 

industrial 

estate  

  

  

  

  

Located on the outskirts 
of one of towns.  

Large space  

Parking  

Close proximity to other 
businesses who are able 
to act as additional 
security  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

High rent  

No proper security facilities 
in place  

No environmental control 
Not located near any of the 
museum sites so 
inconvenient for staff to 
access.  

Store is already full  

No public access to site. 

Neighbouring units include 

hot works and high dust 

producers placing 

collections at risk.  

Increasingly limited staff 

capacity means that site is  

Yes  

    rarely visited and so any 

incidents e.g. theft, flood, 

rodent infestation hard to 

monitor  

 

     Not suitable for public 

access.  

 

     Store located in flood 

warning area that is Zone 

C2: without significant flood 

defence infrastructure 

(Natural resources Wales)  

 

Page 172



New build - 

anywhere  
  

  

  

  

  

  

All museum standards 
could be met.  

All access requirements 
could be met. Location 
could be chosen to 
meet most needs  
Visitor service facilities 

could be integrated 

Dedicated space for all 

audience learning needs 

could be included 

possibility that stores 

and display and working 

areas could be designed 

that are passive and 

potentially naturally 

ventilating, and naturally 

lit, increasing suitability 

and reducing 

environmental and 

economic cost of 

running centralized 

service.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
  

  

Suitable site needs to be  

found  

Significant Capital 
investment would be 
required to design and 
build. Potential 
political/community  
difficulties in picking one 
site for museums presence 
within county.   

Burden of travel (probably 
mostly by private transport) 
on people from towns not 
chosen as site  

Monmouthshire has no one 
centre – nature of county 
its strong individual towns – 
museums should reflect. 
Museum collections and 
stories intimately reflect 
their individual towns Loss 
of intrinsic history of each 
place which museums 
provide – valued by visitors, 
and for local community 
spirit & identity  

Loss of cultural focus in  

towns  

N/A  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 173



Appendix 5– Store Report   

This report outlines the work that has been undertaken to estimate the space that would be required 

to store all the museums service collections currently housed in Abergavenny, Chepstow, Monmouth 

Museums, Caldicot Castle and off-site store (Caldicot industrial estate) together in one location.   

Monmouthshire Museums collections are currently housed across the county in a range of specially 

adapted and environmentally controlled rooms within the museums buildings, a large industrial 

warehouse (which does not meet appropriate standards) and in staff working areas and public areas 

in the museums.   

The collection storage areas are of different shapes and sizes, inconsistently organised and most are 

overcrowded with many items stored on the floor. This made it very difficult to estimate the storage 

space required by simply adding the footprint of existing stores together. Instead the estimate of 

storage space required was developed by measuring in decimetres blocks of collections categorised 

by their collection/material type on each shelf/storage area.   

The volume of each block of collections was calculated in M3 and then multiplied by 30% to give a 

buffered estimate. This buffered estimate represents the amount of space needed to store items 

including the space that the shelf fixtures take up and the space around each item that would be 

needed to safely remove and replace the items (Watson & Bertram, 1992). Collections were grouped 

by the type of storage furniture and environmental conditions they required for optimum long-term 

care and their buffered volumes added together.   

Total volume was multiplied by a collection expansion estimate. This was calculated by looking at the 

historical rate of collections growth experienced at Abergavenny museum whose collections are 

representative of those across the county. Planning for 25 years of collections growth was deemed to 

be a realistic amount to consider when planning future storage needs. The figure for collections 

growth for 25 years was thus calculated to be 10%.   

The average height of museum grade shelving/storage furniture across the service was calculated and 

the adjusted volume for each collections group was divided by this to give an area of space that the 

collection and its storage furniture would take up. This figure was then added to the Access Coefficient 

(Re-org) of each storage furniture type- i.e. the amount of space required to safely walk between 

shelves/ open drawers etc.   

The collections held in the industrial unit include many items of bulk archaeology and large scale 

objects that don’t fit into the museum stores. A very basic visual estimation of the collections stored 

here was undertaken and it was estimated that the volume of collections held at the Caldicot Store 

might be reduced through rationalization and this was factored into the calculations. Less 

rationalisation opportunities would exist in other museum stores where more robust collections 

management process are likely to have resulted in a more relevant collection.  3. Key Findings  

3.1 Volume of Non Accessioned collections.  

The volume of Non Accessioned objects across the whole of the Museums Service collections is 23% 

(Figure 1). This means that the 23% of collections are not catalogued or recorded making it difficult 

for the service to use the collections to tell their stories to members of our communities. The levels 

of accessioning varies from site to site. Abergavenny museum has the most complete catalogue of 

collections with 98% of the volume of collections being accessioned which in comparison to 27% of 

non-accessioned items at Chepstow. Any future project to improve access to collections will need to 

Page 174



include a collections management role and apply a targeted approach to documentation to resolve 

cataloguing backlogs in specific sites/collections.    

 

3.2 Fullness of existing stores  

During the study the percentage fullness of each item of storage furniture was visually estimated. The 

Mean fullness of storage furniture housing the collections is 86% demonstrating that the space 

available for future collecting is very limited and there is little space for the collections to grow and 

remain relevant. There is no available space at any museum sites for expanding storage areas and so 

creating a centralized store is considered to be the best solution to ensure that the services collections 

can grow and remain relevant.  

Added to this problem is that of overcrowding with many of the collections stored on the floor and 

the use of inappropriate storage furniture e.g. MDF shelfing which releases organic volatile acids that 

cause paper, textiles and metal items to degrade at a significantly enhanced rate. Storing items on the 

floor increases the risk of damage from physical contact, from water if flooding occurs and leaves 

objects difficult to access for use. The overcrowding experienced in the majority of the museums’ 

stores also makes it unsafe for staff and volunteers to access the collections because physical 

movement in the stores is restricted. This reduces the ability for the museum service to effectively 

engage with volunteers who could play a more active role in caring for the collections. Investing in a 

publicly accessible centralized store has the potential to remove these threats to the collections and 

significantly increase the public benefit of the collections and their care.   

    

77 % 

23 % 

Figure 1: Volume of collections in  
Monmouthshire Museums service that are  

accessioned 

Accesioned collections: Non accessioned collections: 

Page 175



 

Figure 2 shows that 53% of the volume of the museums service’s collections are stored on the floor 

or on inappropriate storage furniture. As a result any future development plan for a centralized store 

will need to take into consideration the need to invest in additional storage furniture as well as the 

possible reuse of existing museum standard shelves and cupboards, in appropriate size spaces.  

3.3 Average dimensions of storage furniture:  

  Mode dimensions (cm)  

Storage furniture type  width  depth  height  

Shelves for standard sized collections-museum grade  205  65  183  

Shelves used to store large objects- museum grade  605  67  213  

Plan chests used to store large paper items- museum grade  136  96  92  

Metal cupboards used to store small items  96  45  183  

  

3.4 Estimated areas needed to store collections  

The estimated total area (to 1 decimal place) needed to store all of Monmouthshire Museums Service 

collections is estimated to be: 569 m2  

This can be broken down into small groups which have different environment and storage needs:  

Space required on static shelving:  

 Shelving Standard sized   286.5    

 Paper- shelved  58.5    

 Paper- plan chests  8.5    

 photos  12.9    

 Paintings:  24.7    

  

47 % 

53 % 

Figure 2: Volume of collection on museum grade  
storage furniture (m3) 

Volume of collection storage furniture 

volume of collection on floor/inappropriate storage 

Page 176



 Large Objects   177.7    

  total  568.6  m2    

    

The above figure relates to static shelving based on the notion of reusing existing storage furniture. A 

large proportion of this area is allocated to accessing the items on the shelves i.e. making it possible 

for users to walk between shelves. This area could be dramatically reduced if a mobile storage system 

was invested in. Industry literature suggests that the footprint of storage area can be roughly halved 

if mobile racking is utilised. For Monmouthshire’s collections mobile racking would be appropriate for 

all but the large objects and the required storage area would be as follows:  

Space required using Mobile Racking:   

 Shelving Standard sized   143.2    

Paper- shelved  29.2   Paper- plan chests 

 4.3   photos  6.4    

 Paintings:  12.4    

 Large Objects   177.5    

  total  373  m2    

  

The total footprint for a combined store for Monmouthshire Museums Service could be reduced 

further if storage space was designed to occupy 2 levels or if shelving height was increased.  

The above key findings should be regarded as an educated guess and were developed using estimates 

of volumes of collections held in stores and the assumption that storage furniture used would be of 

the same height as that currently used in the museum service. Further study would be required to 

generate more accurate figures.  

The proposed area recommended in this report relates only to the space required to store the 

collections. When planning for a centralized museum service, space would also need to be allocated 

for storage of documentation relating to collections, conservation and display materials and 

equipment, learning resources, conservation and volunteer workrooms and most importantly staff 

offices. In order that the collections are able to remain at the heart of what the museum does and be 

actively cared for and engaged with by members of our communities it is vital that the collections are 

housed in a living space which is accessible to as many people as possible.    

Monmouth Market Hall currently houses the Nelson Museum and Local History centre (also known as 

Monmouth Museum), two empty units (previously used by Monmouthshire County council as the 

Planning Offices and Monmouth’s one stop shop) and two privately leased units- a Chinese take away 

and a barbers.   

The square meters occupied by each of these units is as follows:  

Use  Total floor space (M2)  Total floor space minus services (M2) 

I.e. corridors, WC, boiler, stairs  

Museum  503.4  463.4  

One Stop Shop  231.6  164.4  

Page 177



Planning  443.4  348.2  

Chinese take away  66.5  63.5  

Barbers  49.8  41.7  

Total  1294.7  1081.2  

  

Options are being explored about whether the county’s Museum Collection and staff can be 

centralised at the Monmouth Market Hall site as sole users of the building.   

If we assume a best case scenario where a mobile racking storage system will be utilised to store the 

county’s collections then a minimum of 373 m2 will be needed for collections storage. Looking at the 

table above it can be seen that this figure will fit in the Market Hall site, leaving 708.2m2 available for 

museum displays, centralised staff offices, conservation and collections care work rooms and 

volunteer and learning spaces.    

In conclusion, with an internal useable footprint of 1081.2 m2, it is possible to say that there would be 

enough space to store all of Monmouthshire Museums collections’ in Monmouth Market Hall. 

However the current configuration of rooms mean that centralized storage will only be possible by 

altering the internal lay out of the building. Thoughtful and focused design would also increase the 

useable floor space available i.e. In its current configuration the Market Hall building houses 9 WC’s 

utilizing a total of 42.8 m2.   

7. Would the collections fit into Rolls Hall?  

The option of storing the collections in the Rolls Hall, Monmouth are also being explored.  The Hall in 

the centre of the Roll’s Hall (where the library is currently located) is divided into 5 bays with a stage 

in the 6th bay. Each bay is separated by giant banded pillars. The make-up of the space (275.4 M2) 

means that is unlikely that it will be possible to use mobile racking to store the collections. As a result 

when considering the space required to store the collections at Rolls Hall the figure of is 569 M2 will 

be used. This is the space required to store the collection on static shelving at a height of 2m.   

The Space available to store the collections in the Rolls Hall is as follows:  

Rolls Hall: Floor  Total floor space (M2)  Total floor space minus services (M2) 

i.e. corridors, WC, stairs  

ground  472.5  381.8  

first  119.9  67.9  

total  592.4  449.7  

  

Looking at the figures above it is possible to conclude that there is currently not enough space to store 

the collections in the Rolls Hall in Monmouth.  

 Doubling the height of the shelving in the central hall/library area has the potential to provide enough 

space to store the collections, however safe access to collections would need to be provided at this 

height. This is likely to be incurred at a greater cost and considerably increase the level of floor loading 

in the space. The strength of the floor would need to be investigated. There are also risks that 

providing the levels of environmental control required to safeguard the collections may not be 

suitable for the architectural decorations in the hall which are listed. This would need to be 

investigated further.   

Page 178



In order for the collections to remain at the heart of the work of the museums and their communities, 

conservation work spaces, staff offices and community workrooms would need to be located in the 

same building as the stores. Looking at the above calculations it is possible to say that there is not 

enough space available at the Rolls Hall for this.   

In order to fully establish the suitability of the Monmouth Market Hall for the location of the 

centralized museums service further work is required to identify the floor space and key features 

required for offices, learning, displays, volunteers and other activities.   

A piece of work is also required to identify which of the walls at the Market Hall are structural and 

which others could be altered in a reconfiguration of the space.  

Re-org (2013) Access coefficient guidelines. Re-org- Tools for Museum storage, rationalization and documentation. 

ICCROM & UNESCO. http://www.re-org.info   

Watson & Bertram (1992) Estimating space for the storage of ethnographic collections. La 

Conservation Preventive, ARAAFU 3rd International Symposium, Paris 1992. 137-142.  

9. Appendix 1  

 Current Space Use at Market Hall      

          

Sq.  

 Space Id Space name  M  Current use  Floor  
 45  WC  3  Chinese Take Away  ground  

 44  Store  1.9  Chinese Take Away  ground  

 1  shop  23.1  Chinese Take Away  ground  

 2  Kitchen  31.4  Chinese Take Away  ground  

 3  Bed  7.1  Chinese Take Away  ground  

 4  Office  7  Planning  ground  

 5  Office  76.2  Planning  ground  

 6  Office  28.1  Planning  ground  

 8  Staffroom  14.2  Planning  ground  

 9  Store  8.7  Planning  ground  

 10  WC female  2.7  Planning  ground  

 12  WC Disabled  4.5  Planning  ground  

 11  Circ (corridor)  12.1  Planning  ground  

 42  Circ (corridor)  9.7  Planning  ground  

 43  Circ (corridor)  15.4  Planning  ground  

Page 179

http://www.re-org.info/
http://www.re-org.info/
http://www.re-org.info/
http://www.re-org.info/


 41  N/A  7.2  Planning  ground  

 40  N/A  20.7  Planning  ground  

5a   Office  6.2  Planning  ground  

 46  Stairs  10.6  Planning  first  

 48  Store  27.9  Planning  first  

 49  Store  4.9  Planning  first  

46b   store  1.8  Planning  first  

46a   Circ (corridor)  11.2  Planning  first  

50a   office  36.3  Planning  first  

 50  store  69.2  Planning  first  

 51  Store  39.8  Planning  first  

 47  Circ (corridor)  22.7  Planning  first  

 55  Stairs  6.3  Planning  first  

 38  Museum  225.8  Museum  ground  

 39  Store  1.3  Museum   ground  

13a   Strongroom  1.9  Museum   ground  

 13  WC  2.5  Museum   ground  

 14  Office  20.8  Museum   ground  

 15  Store  9.6  Museum   ground  

 16  WC Male  5.8  Museum   ground  

 17  WC Female  5.6  Museum   ground  

 18  WC Disabled  5  Museum   ground  

 19  Circ (corridor)  9.5  Museum   ground  

38a   Store  1.5  Museum   ground  

 37  Foyer  46.2  Museum   ground  

 52  Office  35.1  Museum   first  

 53  Store  8.7  Museum   first  

 54  Balcony  51.5  Museum   first  

 57  Store  1.3  Museum   first  

Page 180



 58  Store  37.2  Museum   first  

 59  Stairs  8.8  Museum   first  

 56  Store  22.5  Museum   first  

55a   Stairs  2.8  Museum   first  

 35  Recep  65.4  1stopshop   ground  

 36  Confrence  7.9  1stopshop   ground  

 20  Office  11.4  1stopshop   ground  

 21  Office  8.4  1stopshop   ground  

 22  Store  2.8  1stopshop   ground  

 23  Office  12.7  1stopshop   ground  

 24  Store  3.1  1stopshop   ground  

 25  Store  5.6  1stopshop   ground  

 26  Circ (corridor)  20.4  1stopshop   ground  

 28  WC  5.6  1stopshop   ground  

 27  Office  11.9  1stopshop   ground  

 34  Shop  10.6  1stopshop   ground  

 29  Store  1.5  1stopshop   ground  

 30  Store  1.6  1stopshop   ground  

 31  Kitchen  6.3  1stopshop   ground  

 32  Office  15.2  1stopshop   ground  

 62  Boiler  41.2      first  

 33  shop  13.8  Barbers   ground  

 60  Store  27.9  Barbers   first  

 61  WC  8.1  Barbers   first  

  Total  1294.7      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



Appendix 6 - Review of Previous 

Forward Plan   

The previous Forward Plan for Monmouthshire Museums covered the period April 

2013- March 2016 and was created at a time when the Museum Service was 

strategically and operationally positioned alongside libraries and the plan included the 

Shire Hall.  During the period of the business plan service reorganisation has bought 

us into a service combining Tourism, Leisure, Countryside, Outdoor education and 

more recently Youth Services.  The previous Forward Plan did not fully anticipate the 

full extent of the financial squeeze on Local Authorities in Wales that emerged during 

the latter part of its delivery period, and the consequences for service revenue 

budgets.  

Our vision was:  

• To be a dynamic museum service that plays a revitalising role in 

Monmouthshire’s communities, act as agents of social change and promotes 

good and active citizenship  

• Connecting the past with the present to inform and shape the future.  

  

Our mission was:  

• To inspire a passion for Monmouthshire - its heritage, environment and culture, 

its people and their stories.  

• To stimulate a sense of place that reinforces community identity and resilience.  

• To enhance quality of life and contribute to educational, cultural and economic 

development.  

Over the period of the plan we said:  

Our Museums will promote well-being by making connections and encounters, 

providing experiences that are enjoyable, educational and lead to transformative 

change helping to create a happier society and stronger communities. The museum 

service will extend its reach and role as a force for community strength and well-being.  

In doing this people should find a new unexpected resource, giving them opportunities 

for creative expression, new ‘cultural’ experiences and a sense of belonging.    

Whilst these phrases describe what we do, they are too long to be memorable.  We 

therefore looked at trialling the use of a single line statement taken from our mission:  

Our Museums – Inspiring a passion for Monmouthshire  

This summarises what we do and was used alongside a set of strategic aims that we 

developed during 2014:  

• Become an economically resilient organisation  

• Be an effective team  

• Care for and develop our collections so they are accessible  

• Create an enjoyable and engaging visitor experience  

• Create learning opportunities  

• Be relevant to the communities we serve  

  

In developing this Forward Plan we have redefined ourselves further as outlined in 

Section 2 of this plan.  

Page 182



The table below provides details of scheduled tasks within the previous Forward Plan and 

their outcomes.   

Key Milestone   Outcome / Status   Comments   

Secondment of 
member of 
Museums Service 
team to implement 
the Business Plan 
through Invest to 
Save process.  
  
To reposition the 

museums as a 

modern service, 

reacting to the 

changing world, 

through enterprise, 

working with the 

community and 

contributing to 

social change.  

Taking into account 

changes to MCC 

methods of 

delivery, changes 

in our market 

towns and 

developments on 

the high street.  

Post appointed and in place June 2013-June  
2014  

  

  

  

  

  

  
Increased profile of museum service with 
senior management, other departments and 
councillors.  
  

  
Move towards considering different delivery 
models, leading to publication of the 
Cultural Services review to pursue this.  
This in turn has led to investigation  of 
alternative methods of governance, staffing 
review, feasibility of museum buildings, both 
within museum service and across wider  
Tourism, Leisure and Culture  

  
Accreditation Status allows us ensure we 
meet modern museum standards and to 
apply for a range of funding opportunities.    
  
We have participated in a wide range of 

museum initiatives.  These include – ‘The  
Happy Museum’ and ‘Museum  
Transformers’ at Abergavenny Museum, 
both of which enabled us to work in new 
ways find new ways of working.  Whilst ‘Take 
Over Day’ projects at Chepstow and 
Abergavenny have enabled us to work in 
partnership with younger audiences.  .  
  
Attaining VAQAS status (a Visitor Attraction 
Standard) means we meet industry  
standards regarding customer services   

  
We said we would look at developing a 
method and model for measuring return on 
investment and customer feedback models.   
AIM Visitor Verdict Survey results were 
received for Abergavenny and Chepstow 
Museums.    
  

  
The previous plan set out our intention to 

write an Audience Development Plan and a 

Visitor Service Toolkit.  We did not carry out 

these tasks.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
Participating within change programme. The 
ongoing uncertainty means we are managing 
the concerns of the wider public which puts 
pressure on the staff.    
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   
Whilst Visitor Verdict did this to some extent 
we were not successful in collecting enough 
surveys to make results meaningful.   The 
survey analysis has a charge attached to it 
though which we cannot afford so we have 
withdrawn from this particular scheme and 
will look for other options.  
  
Audience Development is featured in Section 
7 of the 2017-2022 Forward Plan.   

Page 183



Recruit Fundraising  
Development  
Officer  

A Fundraising Officer was appointed in July 

2013.  This post is now a Tourism, Leisure 

and Culture wide role.  

Through this post we have continued to 

reduce our reliance on central budgets by 

increasing Fundraising Opportunities.    

 

Launch Supporters 

groups   
  
We have continued to increase our 
contribution to the local economy by 
building on a successful grants programme 
attracting external funding and staging 
exhibitions and events.  Sources have 
included the Federation of Museums and 
Galleries of Wales, HLF Young Roots and 
the Art Fund Treasures Plus.  
  
We have raised more through donation boxes 
than we originally estimated.    
  
Our fundraising appeal to conserve HMS 
Monmouth WW1 flag reached its target 
thanks to grants and community donations.  
  

  

  

  

  
Unrestricted income through the  
Monmouthshire Museums Development 

Trust (MMDT) has not been as high as we 

had anticipated.    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
Fundraising means we have an ability to carry 
out activities such as conservation of objects, 
new exhibitions, community projects that are 
not possible from the core budget.  The public 
also has a greater awareness from the public 
about the different roles of the museum.  We 
learnt that it is difficult to fundraise for certain 
areas of our work, particularly core activities. 
Specific projects are easier to fund but have 
an impact on capacity.   
  
This is due to difficulties in establishing its 
charity status and bringing a variety of trustees 
on board.    
  

Conservation  
service  – develop 

as an income 

generation 

opportunity.  

A Paper Conservator with an income 
generating role was appointed in June 2013.  
  
The post holder left at the end of February 
2016 and we are now considering how to go 
forward with the role.  We are also looking at 
the possibility of using interns to assist with 
work.  
  

  

  

  

  

We have made significant sums through 

Conservation Service and our internal original 

targets were met.  However larger targets 

were set externally which we were unable to 

meet.  The lesson learnt here is being more 

conservative in our estimates and advising 

other colleagues of this also.  In part this was 

due to the post holder leaving the role and 

the lack of appropriate facilities and 

bureaucratic council processes has held 

things back.  There is also the risks 

associated with a single person in role so no 

one else can step in.  

Page 184



Abergavenny  
Castle Enterprise  
Opportunities  

  

We were not awarded as much from the 
Invest to Redesign Fund as we initially 
asked for, so were only able to make 
minimal changes to the infrastructure.  We 
invested in two high quality gazebos to help 
with events.  To improve our refreshment 
offer we began to stock ice cream in the 
shop and installed a hot drinks machine.  
We have also very recently trialled a 
refreshment van in the grounds.  
  
  
Non-traditional events such as stargazing 
have bought in new audiences.  
Better choice of theatre productions and 
increased advanced marketing has bought 
in larger audiences.   We have learnt the 
effectiveness of social media in advertising 
events.  
  
Joint events and care of grounds with other 
organisations e.g. Tithe Barn, Borough 
Theatre and Transition Town mean new 
and increased income streams are being 
developed as well as the development of 
new advocates and stakeholders for our 
museums.  
  
We also worked on a community skills  
exchange programme –  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hMXy6S 
NnLbI&feature=youtu.    
  

At all sites it is proving difficult to bring in a 
profit for larger events, due to the lack of 
capacity within the team and the need for 
upfront investment in key infrastructure and 
the uncertainty around events that issues 
such as the weather brings.    
  
Discussions are taking place with the Nevill 
Estate re an outdoor structure and a program 
of summer events, which are included within 
the 2017-2022 Forward Plan.    
  
This has led to more varied experiences for 
the public. Partnership work with local 
organisations allow for more use of the castle 
ground.  The real potential of the grounds 
cannot be realised without improved 
infrastructure.    
  

  
We need to address the need for a proper 

staff framework. We have run more successful 

events this year, in part due to an increase in 

the use of volunteers.  The difficulty in 

employing casual staff plus enhanced rates 

makes it very difficult to cover costs/bring in a 

profit. 

 

Chepstow Museum  
Extension Project  

Not carried out  HLF felt that we did not have the capacity to 

run the project at that point and that (under 

that particular grant programme) it needed to 

be part of a larger scheme that included 

protecting heritage assets at risk.  

Write a marketing 

and promotion 

strategy to plan 

targets for 2013-16.  

Not carried out  Lack of staff capacity.  

Feasibility Study 
and implementation 
of outcomes re: 
location of Nelson  
Museum  

Discussions took place between museum 

staff, Shire Hall staff and members of 

Property Services to explore the suitability 

of Shire Hall as the location for the Nelson 

Museum and the Local History Centre.  It 

was concluded that the building changes 

needed would be substantive, expensive 

and detrimental to the Grade 1 listed 

building.  On its own this building would not 

accommodate both displays and collections 

effectively and it would compromise the 

viability of Shire Hall as an income 

generating venue.    

Consideration of this building alongside other 
sites will be included in work to establish a 
Collections Centre.  
  

  

Page 185

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hMXy6SNnLbI&feature=youtu
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hMXy6SNnLbI&feature=youtu
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hMXy6SNnLbI&feature=youtu
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hMXy6SNnLbI&feature=youtu


Events and  
Exhibitions  

  
Ivanhoe  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
Welsh Dolls  

  

  

  
 WW1    

  

  
Wye River Festival  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
Centenary of the making of Ivanhoe silent 

film at Chepstow marked with special 

screening outdoors in Chepstow Castle on 

the day of original release. Worked with 

Chepstow Singing Club who provided 

‘Soundtrack – music and soundscape’ and 

pre-show entertainment in medieval dress.  
  
A grant bid to take this project forward (at a 
level above our specific Museum Service) 
was not successful.  
  
HLF funded project for Monmouth applied 
for granted and is in progress  
  
Chepstow Museum participated in 1st river  
Festival 2014 with events – reprise of Wye 

Oh Wye community musical theatre 

production devised for collecting cultures 

project involving nearly 100 people in show.  

Film showing of Wye tour recreation.  Talk 

on Wye Tour   

More detailed information for some specific 
projects appears later in table.  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  
Taxonomy &  
Taxidermy  

  

  

  

  
Agincourt 600  

   
All museums participated in Natural history 
collections review and exhibits for travelling 
exhibition.  The resulting exhibition has 
been shown at Abergavenny and will come 
to Chepstow in the next period.  
  
Participation by Abergavenny Museum & 

Monmouth Museum – touring exhibition 

hosted at both venues. Re-enactment event 

at Abergavenny Museum. Lecture by Juliet 

Barker popular historian on Agincourt day 

anniversary itself at Monmouth.  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 186



Retail and Joint  
Procurement  

  

 After discussion and investigation with 
some suppliers that we all had in common, 
the conclusion was that we do not 
purchase large enough quantities of stock 
to qualify for any greater discounts that 
would enable us to benefit from joint 
procurement.   We discussed producing 
specially commissioned products that we 
could all sell – but this required initial 
investment rather than a saving on the 
budget.  
  

  

 It hasn’t been possible to significantly raise 
the level of income produced from the 
Museum shops – this is mainly due to our 
inability to invest in new stock because of 
restricted budgets. We have not been able to 
introduce an EPOS system which is 
restricting our ability to monitor our 
performance in retail and events programmes 
and adjust our approach accordingly.       
  
There are areas which we identified as 

opportunities in 2014/15 which we have not 

made as much progress on as we would like.  

These are to assess and refocus the current 

retail offer, to showcase more local 

products/produce and to stock items more 

appropriate to our audiences, sites and 

collections.  Lack of staff capacity means this 

has not been addressed.  

Opportunities to 
generate income 
from our cultural 
assets (within  
professional  
guidelines)  

  

  

  
Investigate 
potential to 
hire/lease for fee 
e.g. working with 
Bridgeman Art  
Library to licence 
Nelson Images.  
  
Promote the 
Nelson collection 
as an 
international 
attraction AJ, AR, 
RR&  
Teams  

We have made more use of buildings for 
courses and lectures. Our fundraising 
‘Exhibitions on Screen’ and Bolshoi Ballet 
live broadcast screenings have been very 
successful, and have been supported by 
additional donations from community 
businesses and other museums.  
  

  
We have not made progress on the areas of 
licensing and commercialisation of the 
Nelson collection due to a lack of capacity.  
These are identified in the new Forward 
Plan.  
  

Using the AIM Economic Toolkit we have 
identified that Monmouthshire Museums 
Service contributed over £1.246M to the local 
economy in 2012/13.  
  

Sharing  
Treasures/HLF  
Project   

  

Our dual site exhibitions ‘Sites of Inspiration 

Tintern Abbey and Llanthony Priory’ at 

Chepstow Museum & Abergavenny Museum 

respectively which brought prestigious 

artworks from national museums & galleries  

We have involved wider communities and 
looked to them for more support, through such 
programmes.   
  

 

Page 187



 to ours, was extremely successful attracting 

new and repeat audiences.  We also ran an 

events programme including drop in 

lunchtime/evening lectures, special ‘day 

schools’ on artist Samuel Palmer and the 

Picturesque, hands’ on archaeology 

activities, and children’s activities on set 

days, curator talks/guided tours for group 

visits, and worked through Community 

Engagement (grant funded by MALD) with 

groups in Tintern and Llanthony, projects in 

local schools etc.  

 

 Hidden  Presence  
project  

  

Completed 2016. A joint project partnering 
with Ffotogallery in Cardiff & working with 
University of West of England on exploring 
through contemporary photographic media 
projects, the complex issues raised by the 
story of Nathaniel Wells, son of plantation 
owner on St Kitts and one of his enslaved 
African women, who inherited his father’s 
wealth, bought Piercefield estate near 
Chepstow and rose in society becoming  
Britain’s first black sheriff.  There were two 

strands to the project, funded by HLF & Arts 

Council Wales, one working with young 

people and schools creating digital media, 

the other photographer’s commission 

resulting in legacy work.   

Partnership work with other organisations. 

Creative work with local schools and young 

people through Youth Services  

What is Fashion?   

  

Completed.  We worked with a costume 

specialist to assess our collections and they 

identified items to show and discuss with 

participants in a sewing project who worked 

with a tutor to produce garments inspired by 

the collections at Chepstow & Abergavenny 

Museums. These featured in final 

exhibitions alongside the items from our 

collections. The Museums worked with 

social enterprise Vintage Vision and 

produced ‘pop-up museum’ displays in their 

shops at Abergavenny & Chepstow  

We have involved wider communities and 
looked to them for more support, through such 
programmes.   
  

Kids In Museums. 
Take Over Day  
On-going projects   

  

  

 Completed – All the Museum sites have 

participated in various Take Over Day Kids 

in Museums Projects each year during the 

lifetime of the previous forward plan.  

  

Page 188



Community  
Consultation users  
& non-users  

  

We have carried out consultation alongside 

specific projects such as Sharing Treasures 

and at events such as Green Man Festival 

and the Bike Bash.  We participated in Visitor 

Verdict and a Monmouthshire Tourism, 

Leisure and Culture wide survey.  Events 

such as the Welsh Festival and Museums at 

Night allow our sites to benefit from collective 

all Wales marketing opportunities and 

afterwards evaluation information.  There 

has also been some interaction with non- 

users.  However we have not done as much 

consultation as we would like and we do not 

have the capacity to properly analyse the 

information.   

  

Members of the community were invited to 
curate new archaeology displays at 
Abergavenny Museum and compile 
associated gallery information folders.  
  
A university student ran a public participation 
programme at Abergavenny Museum on 
archaeological conservation.  
http://www.reshapingthepast.org/   A piece 
of our collection was restored free of charge 
and to criteria chosen by the public – an 
important step forward in community 
cocuration.  
  
Linking with less tangible heritage e.g. town 

trails /Access to collections through video 

links.  This has been carried out in part 

through involvement with projects carried out 

by Abergavenny Local History Society. 

Our volunteer programme where volunteers 
have directly participated in museum 
activities have provided opportunities to gain 
a greater knowledge, understanding and 
appreciation of local communities.  Volunteer 
satisfaction surveys have allowed us to 
capture some data about their relationships 
with the museums.  
  
Partnerships with Beavers/Abergavenny 

Orchard/King Henry Drama Students and 

organisations such as Transition Towns, 

Vintage Vision, schools, colleges, universities, 

charity sector, green groups, social services, 

adult  and  family  education, specialist 

societies.  
 

 

HLF Collecting 
Cultures Wye Tour 
Project (2008-2014)  
  

Project based around funding to acquire 
original artworks for Chepstow Museum  

 related to the Wye Tour 1770 -1830 with  
associated community engagement projects 

e.g. Wye Oh Wye community theatre 

production.   

Raised the profile of this collection some of 

which were acquired with additional grant 

funding from the Art Fund and V&A 

Purchase Grant Fund, Beecroft Bequest etc. 

Some works have already featured in 

exhibitions – John Martin of Chepstow at 

Tate, and Francis Towne of Tintern in digital 

catalogue to coincide with British Museum 

exhibition.  Curator asked by HLF to give 

presentations on the project in Wales & in 

London to the 2nd cohort of Collecting 

Cultures.  

Caldicot Castle  
Museum  

 Collections    

Museum staff have worked with staff at 

Caldicot Castle to ensure the collection 

remains Accredited.  The Object 

Conservator has worked with staff at 

Caldicot Castle to develop a Collections 

Care Plan.  

  

Page 189

http://www.reshapingthepast.org/
http://www.reshapingthepast.org/


Tackling Child  
Poverty  
/Transforming 

Children’s Lives – 

involved in 

initiatives as 

needed.  

We have been involved in many initiatives 
that provide opportunities for children to get 
involved in cultural activities.  These include 
- Informal holiday family activities at all 
sites; Participation in Summer Learning 
Week with Monmouth Comprehensive and 
Community Connections; Children's live 
theatre; Happy Museum Project; Targeted  
KS3 projects through arts/history  
Campaign! Make an Impact project – 

Chartism.  Skills development through 

volunteering.  

  

Collections 
Digitisation  
Project   

  

Increase digitisation of collections through 
volunteer programmes – e.g.  Collections 
Access Project (MALD funded) and 
Beachley Project.  Over 4000 photographs 
catalogued under the Army Apprentices’ 
College project at Chepstow with funding 
from a Community Covenant grant.  
    

  

  

We are currently very reliant on volunteers for 
this work which is in some places quite 
resource heavy in terms of needing 
supervision.  This is therefore not moving as 
fast as we would like and we have not 
reached a position where we could carry this 
work out using volunteers alone.  
  
Documentation Volunteers have been 

managed well due to the Collections Access 

Officer being in post.  This post however has 

come to an end and curators are now 

managing these volunteers and the projects 

as much as possible.    

 

Page 190



Training for Work – 

through CLOCH 

scheme.  

A CLOCH trainee worked for some time on 
the Cataloguing project at Chepstow 
Museum.  
  
Beyond CLOCH we have continued to  
support the principal of training people for 
work by continuing with our volunteer 
programme.  We regularly ‘survey’ our 
documentation volunteers to monitor how 
they gain from working with us – i.e. by 
learning  new skills, gaining workplace 
experience for career development, 
realising a sense of achievement and 
fulfilment through greater knowledge, 
understanding and appreciation of local 
communities. In addition to our formal 
volunteer programme we are working with 
Homestart and providing work experience 
through them as well as hosting more 
general volunteers.    We have also 
recruited and trained 7 community 
reminiscence volunteers who go out the 
local residential and care homes to deliver 
our memory box project.  
  

WW1 volunteers have all had People’s 

Collection Wales digitising for Museums 

training.  5 are taking the accredited course.  

They are collecting community stories 

through roadshows and going through the 

collections at Monmouth to source WW1 

related material.  

  

Sustainability -  

Reduce our 

impact on the 

environment.  

We have spoken to colleagues about 

reducing our carbon footprint but there is a 

lack of practical solutions available.  Our 

involvement with Grow Wild at Abergavenny 

supports efforts across Monmouthshire to 

plant pollinator friendly and helps with the 

idea of linking the countryside to the 

heritage.  We have changed the majority of 

gallery lighting to LED fittings.  Waste is 

segregated for appropriate recycling. 

Environmentally friendly/recycled products 

purchased whenever available/possible.  

  

  

Investigate 

opportunity for and if 
 appropriate 

appoint 
 Museums  
Community  
Engagement  
Officer  

Not carried out as MALD ceased to give 

grants for funded short term posts.  
  

Review of lifelong 
learning  and 
Learning Officer 
post  
  

The Learning Officer Post still remains a 
temporary contract but extends across 
Tourism, Leisure and Culture.    
  

At some sites the lack of suitable space is 
holding us back – having to share space with 
general access.    
  

Page 191



 A formal learning audit has taken place at 
each site and new learning workshops have 
been developed including WW2 and the 
Tudors.  Loan boxes to accompany sessions 
or use as self-led classroom based resources 
have also been developed on the Victorians, 
Romans, WW2 and the Tudors.    
  
We have been extending our lifelong learning 
programme.  We promote flexible learning - 
we have run courses of lectures, day schools, 
individual lectures, practical skills workshops, 
family and children’s activities, giving people 
of all ages the chance to learn and acquire 
new skills in friendly and informal 
environments.   
  
We offer opportunities for participation - we 

have created reminiscence boxes for the 

elderly, hosted visits to the museums from 

Mental Health groups, residents from homes 

for the elderly, ‘Dads Can’ and ‘Talk to Hard of 

Hearing’ etc.  Our children’s activity area is 

used by families and groups  
  

  

Our work with communities and working with 
education and social care relies on our Learning 
Officer.  This is a temporary post with at the 
moment no plan to make it permanent.  
  

  

  

  

  
Work is still required to create an informal 
learning programme across all sites.  Ad hoc 
family sessions take place during school 
holidays at Abergavenny and Chepstow 
museums but work to streamline a programme 
across all sites is ongoing.  
  

  

  
There is demand for the reminiscence service 
but our capacity cannot meet current demand 
so we are unable to develop this area further.  
  

   

  

  

  

   

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 192



Appendix 7: Succession Planning  

Succession planning is a term widely used in developing Business Continuity plans for an 

organisation and this is something we are working towards with MCC.  If our service is 

disrupted for any reason it is important to get our key services back on line as quickly as 

possible.  Planning for a disruption would include us looking at all our key resources:   

• people – number, skills, etc.   

• premises – size, location, etc.   

• technology   

• information   

• equipment   

• supplies   

and developing options to mitigate the loss of any of these key resources.   

With regard to staffing our approach includes identifying whether any of our staff could be a 

'single point of failure' and ensuring who we have who could step into other roles if required.   

MCC's 'People Strategy' aims to allow us to create the conditions that enable us to meet the 

changing demands on public service.  It enables us to focus on what good will look like, 

connect people to purpose to improve performance, give us a greater ability to adapt and 

provide our workforce with the right skills and tools to meet the changing demands of our 

organisation and society.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 193



 

Appendix 8 – Access Statements  

Abergavenny Museum and Castle  

1.  Introduction  

This statement, deals in the main with issues of geographical and physical access.  However 

matters of, intellectual, social, and cultural access, including the provision of access to our 

service through the Welsh language are addressed in sections 5-8.  

Please note: “The access statement does not contain personal opinions regarding our 

suitability for those with disabilities but aims to describe the facilities and services we offer 

for all our visitors.”  

Abergavenny Museum and Castle is situated within its own Grounds and is located within 

easy walking distance of Abergavenny town centre in the beautiful county of 

Monmouthshire.  It is one of the three museums run and managed by Monmouthshire 

County Council.  The Museum has an active programme of temporary exhibitions, special 

events and a permanent display of museum collections relating to various aspects of life in 

Abergavenny and its outlying villages through the ages.  It also has a well-stocked gift shop 

selling specialist books, postcards, toys, Museum and Castle souvenirs and a range of crafts 

from a local artist collective ‘Made in Monmouthshire’.  

2.  Practical Information  

Abergavenny Museum and Castle, Castle Street, Abergavenny, Monmouthshire, NP7 5EE  

Tel: 01873 854282.  Email: abergavennymuseum@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

Website: www.abergavennymuseum.co.uk.  T: www.twitter.com/AberMuseum  

F: Find us on Facebook- Abergavenny Museum  

  

Opening Times:   

  March to October: Mon to Sat 11am – 1pm and 2pm - 5pm, Sunday 2pm – 5pm.  

  Nov to February:   Mon to Sat 11 am – 1 pm and 2 pm - 4 pm.  

  Admission Free. Pre-arranged group & school visits can be arranged out of normal hours.  

  

3.  Geographical Access  

Train  

The nearest railway station is Abergavenny located on Station Road, which is approximately  

15 minutes’ walk away. Taxis are normally available at the station.  There is a pay and 

display car park located at the Station. For further station information about the station: 

telephone National Rail enquires on 0845 748 4950 or follow this link.  

http://www.nationalrail.co.uk/stations/agv/details.html  

  

Bus  

The bus station is approximately 10 minutes’ walk from the Museum and Castle and is 

located on Monmouth Road.  You can also find Tourist Information located here.  Bus 

Information is available throughout the year by telephoning 0871 200 2233 from 7 am – 10 

pm daily.  For online information for public transport, follow these links:   

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=publictransport www.travelinecymru.info  Car  

Page 194

http://www.abergavennymuseum.co.uk/
http://www.abergavennymuseum.co.uk/
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=publictransport
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=publictransport
http://www.travelinecymru.info/
http://www.travelinecymru.info/


A small free car park is available for visitors to the Museum and Castle grounds.  There are 

a number of public car parks nearby.  The nearest is Castle Street Car park located very 

near to the Castle entrance. http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=parking  Bikes  

There are some railings in close proximity to the main entrance which may be suitable for 

chaining a bike.  We cannot guarantee the security of the bike while on our premises.  The 

Museum and Castle is located near to the National Cycle Route NCN 8 – Lôn Las Cymru.  

For national cycle network and route information, telephone 0845 113 0065.    

More  information  is  available  on  www.sustrans.org.uk    

http://www.sustrans.org.uk/map?searchKey=Search+our+mapping&searchType=search& 

Search=Find#329909,214045,5   

  

4.  Physical Access  

Please Note.  The Museum building is listed and is set within an ancient monument.  This 

makes necessary changes to improve access more problematic than might be found in other 

settings.  However it is central to our policy to continue to enhance access to the buildings 

and collections for those with a physical or sensory disability.  

Disabled parking  

There is no dedicated disabled parking. However the car park is on one level and there are 

no steps between the car park and the museum.  NB: The grounds of the Castle are uneven.  

Arrival  

The main entrance to the museum is approached via a gradual ramp from the Museum and 

Castle car park within the Castle grounds.  The entrance door is normally fixed open during 

opening hours and is a double door with a width of 110 cm.  This leads straight into a large 

vestibule measuring 361 cm by 251 cm.  Our large community notice board is situated in 

here along with some tourist information.  An umbrella stand is available for use.  A double 

spiral staircase leads from here to our staff working areas.  Straight facing is an internal 

glass door which is normally closed but has automatic door openers for optional use.  The 

width of this door is 82.5 cm.    

Reception   

This door opens to our main reception, which is well-lit, with a reception desk to your 

immediate right as you enter.  The shop is located opposite the reception desk on the left 

hand side as you enter the museum, all leading straight into the Keep gallery.    

Link Corridor  

From here, a short flight of steps lead down to the museum unisex and disabled toilet and 

baby changing facilities.  Several fixed hooks for hanging coats are opposite the toilet door.  

Tourist information can also be found here.    

Lower Gallery  

Two short fights of steps going downwards with handrails lead to the Lower Gallery.  This 

houses our changing programme of exhibitions.  Disability access to this gallery is possible 

via a ramp leading from the Castle grounds.  Please speak to the Custodian on duty to gain 

directions.  

Basement  

Continue through the Lower Gallery to the right and a steep flight of stairs with a handrail 

leads you downwards to our World War II Anderson Shelter with sound effects.  A small set 

Page 195

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=parking
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=parking
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=parking
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/map?searchKey=Search+our+mapping&searchType=search&Search=Find#329909,214045,5
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/map?searchKey=Search+our+mapping&searchType=search&Search=Find#329909,214045,5
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/map?searchKey=Search+our+mapping&searchType=search&Search=Find#329909,214045,5
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/map?searchKey=Search+our+mapping&searchType=search&Search=Find#329909,214045,5


of steps leads down again to our Saddlers and leather working tools display, our Victorian 

Welsh Kitchen and our 1940’s local Grocery Store.  Please note, wheel chair access is not 

possible to the basis and those with mobility issues should take care.  

Exit the Museum by taking a backwards route, up all the stairs.  The reception desk is staffed 

during opening hours and is located less than 1 metre away from the internal entrance door. 

The reception desk has been designed to accommodate the needs of different users and is 

78 cm high at its lowest point.  Family backpacks can be borrowed for a non-monetary 

deposit for family fun in the Castle Grounds.  Our donation box is also located here.  

Shop  

The floor of the shop is level.  High display shelves may not be accessed from a seated 

position.  Staff are available to provide assistance.  There is room to manoeuvre a pram or 

a wheelchair.  Souvenirs including Abergavenny Museum and Castle guide books can be 

purchased from the Reception desk.  

Toilet facilities  

There is a unisex WC located on the ground floor near the main entrance which is wheelchair 

accessible via a double door width measurement of 116 cm.  Toilet facility measurements 

137.5 cm by 166.5 cm and comprise of toilet, wash hand basin, hot water provider, soap 

dispenser, automatic hand drier, baby changing table and a general purpose bin.  The toilet 

roll dispenser is placed 108 cm from floor level.  There is short handrail fixed to the wall.    

Flooring  

The floor of the entrance vestibule is both quarry tilled and carpeted.  The spiral stairs for 

accessing workspace are metal.  The reception area, shop and Old galleries are carpeted 

throughout.  All of the stairs are stone with the exceptions of a small flight between the Keep 

and the Lower Gallery which are carpeted.  The flooring of the toilet facilities on the ground 

floor is vinyl tilled.    

Displays  

The displays in the keep gallery feature 2D works and all work is captioned with text size 14 

or above. 2D works are hung to a level to ensure as visibly accessible to users as possible.   

There are a number of stairs to access the gallery and display areas.  A small flight of stone 

steps to access the toilet facilities and a further flight of stone steps plus a smaller flight of 

carpeted steps these with a left hand bend to access the Old gallery.  These steps can be 

by by-passed via a ramp to the Lower Gallery, by contacting the reception staff.  A steep 

and long flight of steps provides access to the displays in the area of the 1940’s general 

store.  Staff and visitors by appointment have a double flight of metal spiral stairs to climb 

to access our work space and the Curator’s office.  All stairs have handrails alongside them.  

The displays in the museum in the Keep and Lower Galleries are a combination of works 

within glass or Perspex display cases, open display, and panels with a combination of 

bilingual (Welsh and English) text and images.  We try to ensure text on these wall panels 

is at least size 16 with smaller captions at size 14.  A large print copy of wall display texts 

can be made available on request.  

  

Page 196



Lighting  

The reception and shop are well and evenly lit.  The galleries are normally well and evenly 

lit except on occasion when light levels need to be lowered for conservation needs of specific 

art works.  The stairs to the museum are well lit but some rooms in the museum displays 

have low light levels, due to the conservation needs of more vulnerable museum objects.  

5.  Intellectual access  

We recognise that there can be intellectual barriers to access to our collections and events, 

and to overcome this, our displays are designed with regard to informing visitors with 

differing learning styles, prior knowledge, and/or abilities.    

We provide three listening posts, one in the Old Gallery, one in the Welsh Kitchen and one 

in Basil Jones Grocery store.  We have a wall mounted television screen which shows 

photographs on loop relevant to current exhibitions in the Old Gallery and all these provide 

interest to the exhibitions.  Pre-arranged tours for groups, schools, colleges with specific 

needs can be arranged.  

There are opportunities for handling objects and trying on replica costume throughout.  

We encourage the widest possible audience to study the collection and seek ways to 

improve and extend access to information and scholarly research. We consult with users, 

non-users, specialist organisations, and other museums and galleries, on the best and most 

practical ways of improving intellectual access.  

Members of staff on duty will where possible provide assistance & additional information.  

6.  Social access  

It is our policy to remove social barriers to access by ensuring that entry at low cost or no 

charge is offered for the museum and special events, and where charges have to be made 

they are kept as low as possible.  

7.  Cultural access  

We recognise that cultural or social barriers to accessing the Museum and its collections 

may exist. To challenge and overcome these barriers we will continue to undertake 

initiatives to reach different sectors of the community, to enable them to engage with the 

Museum and its collections.  

8.  Welsh language  

We recognise Welsh as an official language and its equal status with English.  We therefore 

make as much of our offer available in Welsh as we can.  This includes, our exhibition panels 

and captions, a selection of published material and our website content.  

9.  Additional information  

• All staff receives training that includes disability awareness and customer care.    

• Assistance dogs are welcome inside the museum and gallery and Castle grounds.  

Non-assistance dogs are not.    

• All measurements are approximate.  

• We welcome suggestions on improving our service through comments books, phone, 

email etc.  

  

 

Page 197



 

 

Chepstow Museum - Access Statement  

1. Introduction   

This statement, deals in the main with issues of geographical and physical access.  However 

matters of, intellectual, social, and cultural access, including the provision of access to our 

service through the Welsh language are also addressed.  Please note “The access 

statement does not contain personal opinions regarding our suitability for those with 

disabilities but aims to describe the facilities and services we offer for all our visitors.”  

Chepstow Museum is located in the town of Chepstow. It is one of three museum buildings 

directly run by Monmouthshire County Council Museums Service. Its home is a fine Grade 

II listed 18th century town house, Gwy House, located in Lower Chepstow, opposite 

Chepstow Castle car park and the Tourist Information Centre, in what Monmouthshire 

County Council is now designating the ‘cultural quarter’ of Chepstow, and certainly the 

tourist main destination. There are currently six gallery spaces housing displays about the 

history and development of the town, the working life of the town and its people, their leisure 

activities, domestic life, the history of Gwy House itself, Views of Chepstow Castle, as well 

as a gallery for changing exhibitions. It also has an attractive and well stocked retail area 

selling appropriate retro and period gifts, cards, toys, games etc. At the rear of the museum 

is a boat house displaying a conserved traditional salmon fishing boat from the Wye. Most 

workshops, lectures and large scale events are held in the nearby Drill Hall just behind the 

Museum.  

2. Practical Information  

Chepstow Museum, Gwy House, Bridge Street, Chepstow, Monmouthshire, NP16 5EZ  

Tel: 01291 625981 e-mail: chepstowmuseum@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

Follow us on twitter: @chepstowmuseum  www.chepstowmuseum.co.uk   

Opening Hours: Monday – Saturday (inc Bank Hols) 11-5, Sunday 2-5  

Extended hours July-Sept inclusive, open 10.30am, close 5.30pm  

Reduced hours Nov-Feb, close 4pm. Closed, Dec 25, 26 & following, New Year’s Day.    

Admission Free Pre-booked group and school visits can be arranged out of normal hours  

  

3. Geographical Access   

Train  

Chepstow Station is approximately 5-10 minutes’ walk away from the museum. Taxis are 

often available at the station. There is a car park close by in Station Road. For further  

information follow this link http://www.nationalrail.co.uk/stations/cpw/details.html  or 

telephone National Rail enquiries on 0845 748 4950  

Coach and Bus  

National Express coaches direct to London Victoria, Heathrow, Gatwick, Cardiff, Swansea  

& West Wales, from Chepstow Bus Station in Thomas Street, 5-10 minutes’ walk from  

Museum. http://www.nationalexpress.com/home.aspx   

Buses direct to Bristol, Newport, Monmouth, etc. also from Chepstow Bus Station,  to 

Lydney, from bus stop opposite the Museum.  For online information about bus  

timetables, follow this link http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/publictransport/  For 

online information for public transport, follow http://www.traveline-cymru.info/   

Page 198

http://www.chepstowmuseum.co.uk/
http://www.chepstowmuseum.co.uk/
http://www.chepstowmuseum.co.uk/
http://www.nationalrail.co.uk/stations/cpw/details.html
http://www.nationalrail.co.uk/stations/cpw/details.html
http://www.nationalrail.co.uk/stations/cpw/details.html
http://www.nationalexpress.com/home.aspx
http://www.nationalexpress.com/home.aspx
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/publictransport/
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/publictransport/
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/publictransport/
http://www.traveline-cymru.info/
http://www.traveline-cymru.info/
http://www.traveline-cymru.info/
http://www.traveline-cymru.info/


 Car  

The Museum does not have its own dedicated car parking, but there is a large public car 

park just across the road: Chepstow Castle Car Park has 99 car spaces and 5 coach spaces, 

4 disabled spaces (which are free). This is a Pay & Display car park, free on Sundays, and 

free at all times for disabled and motorbike parking.  

The Drill Hall where Museum events are often held has a car park adjacent. This is only 2 

minutes from the Museum entrance too.  80 Car spaces, 3 disabled spaces. No coaches. 

Pay & Display (free on Sundays and free at all times for disabled and motorbike parking)  

For Chepstow Car Parking information online  http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/parking/   

Disabled parking  

The 4 disabled parking bays in the car park across Bridge Street are located almost directly 

opposite our main entrance, There would be a distance of c25 metres to our main entrance.  

Bikes  

There are railings in the museum forecourt which may be suitable for chaining a bike.  We 

cannot guarantee the security of the bike while on our premises. Chepstow is on the National 

Cycle Network (Route 4, London – Fishguard) and the Celtic Trail. For more information:  

http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network   

Walkers  

Chepstow is at the start/finish of several major hiking routes: Offa’s Dyke Path, The Wye 

Valley Walk and the Wales Coast Path, with markers near the Museum on the Riverside. 

Chepstow also has Walkers are Welcome status.  

4. Physical Access  

The Museum’s status as Listed Building makes changes to improve access more 

problematic but our policy is to enhance access to the building and museum collections for 

those with a physical and sensory disability.  

Entrance  

The main entrance is approached from Bridge Street on to a level forecourt. There are two 

shallow steps up to the portico entrance. The double doors which are fixed open during 

opening hours (118cms opening width), open into a small lobby. Push chairs can be left 

here, and school groups can leave bags and coats and there is an umbrella stand. There 

are notice boards here with posters for community and regional events, and leaflet racks for 

local attractions and other local information. An internal single glazed door which is normally 

closed, can be pushed or pulled open (83cms wide) and opens by the reception desk into 

the entrance hall.  

Ramped entrance  

There is a ramped entrance with railing alongside, from the Museum forecourt on the left 

hand side of the building leading up to double doors, where there is a bell. Front of house 

staff assist with the opening of the doors and entry into the museum at this point.  

Reception   

The reception desk is always manned by our front of house staff who welcome everyone to 

the Museum. Staff request large bags and rucksacks to be left with them here (to avoid any 

collisions with clocks and other period furniture on open display). There is an induction loop 

Page 199

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/parking/
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/parking/
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/parking/
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network


in this area. Trails and quiz sheets are also made available at the desk. Wi-Fi is available in 

the public areas.  

The museum shop also occupies the entrance hall. There is room to manoeuvre a 

wheelchair or a pushchair. Top shelves would not be accessible from a seated position but 

front of house staff will assist. The arched areas of the entrance hall have elaborate 

plasterwork ceilings and at the far end the cantilevered staircase to the first floor forms an 

area beneath with a display cabinet about Chepstow’s WW1 VC Able Seaman Williams,  

Galleries and corridors to galleries open off this entrance hall through doorways all just over 

1 metre wide. The entrance hall also houses some of the Museum collections of late 18th 

and early 19th century long case clocks from Chepstow clockmakers.   

Toilet facilities  

On the ground floor, off the corridor leading from the entrance hall, there are two unisex 

toilets with washbasins and hand driers, one of which, (189cms x 196cms) designed for 

wheelchair access, also has baby changing facilities. Signage on the doors is also in Braille. 

The wheelchair accessible toilet has a sliding door (76cms opening width) toilet with 

contrasting seat, wash hand basin, hot water provider, soap dispenser, hand drier, alarm 

pull, 4 grab rails, toilet roll dispenser (52cms from floor)  bin, full length mirror.   

Flooring  

Lobby and entrance have terrazzo floor and the entrance hall has stone tiles. The changing 

exhibitions gallery has original wooden floorboards. Other galleries and corridors have 

carpet tiles but there are no deep piles. The toilet facilities are quarry tiled. The stairs are 

partially carpeted with nosings that also provide differentiation.   

Lighting  

The reception area and shop are brightly and evenly lit. Lighting in most of the galleries is 

sensor operated so that the majority of the lights are activated by the visitor. Stairwell and 

corridor galleries are constantly lit at optimum levels. Light levels in some areas are low due 

to conservation needs of more vulnerable objects.  

Displays  

On the ground floor, there are two galleries opening off the entrance hall:  

The Story of the Development of the Town includes a central display with reconstruction 

paintings of the town throughout its history. There are cased displays for objects and wall 

mounted framed displays for prints, photos and other 2D material. Labels have a hierarchy 

with larger text and smaller text for individual objects. Small text is minimum of 14 point 

mostly larger. Larger Subject headings in acrylic lettering above cases and panels.   

The room also has a ‘teddy bear house’ for children to select a bear to take around the 

museum with associated family trails on different themes…  

Changing Exhibitions gallery includes fold out wall panels for maximum display of 2D 

material. Two built in wall cases with internal lighting. Throughout museum 2D work is hung 

to level to ensure visibly accessible to all users wherever possible.   

A corridor from the entrance hall leads to a room with reconstructions of Hospital and School 

– both phases in the History of the House. The corridor continues with displays about 

Chepstow at Play framed wall panels of photographs, programmes and accompanying 

Page 200



labels, suspended penny farthing and large poster for the film of Ivanhoe made in Chepstow 

in 1913.   

The corridor leads to the largest gallery in the Museum (a 1930s extension to the Georgian 

house, built on as a hospital ward) with displays and recreations of aspects of Chepstow’s 

working life, once important port and busy market town. Many of the cases are built into 

frameworks that complement the theme of the display e.g. vaulted cellar for the Wine Trade, 

recreation of Old Bank doorway for history of banks, old Shop front for displays about shops 

in the High street etc. This gallery includes new computer touch screen interactives, installed 

at a height suitable for users in wheelchairs.  

The first floor galleries are accessed currently only by shallow stairs up the original curved 

cantilevered staircase from the entrance hall, below an oval domed skylight. Wheelchair 

access is currently not possible to the first floor.   

The walls of the stairwell are hung with oil paintings of Chepstow and the Wye.  The first 

floor landing also has longcase clocks, some period furniture, paintings, and display case.  

Galleries opening off the landing:   

The Print Room – Wall hung framed prints of Chepstow castle with contemporary visitor’s 

comments; the room also houses an activity station for young visitors with drawers including 

craft activities as well as quests to take around the museum, puppets, period toys and other 

activities related to the displays. There is also a dressing up box with Victorian children’s 

clothing, and a specially created big book about a young girl’s first visit to Chepstow 

Museum, with an associated bag of objects to handle. Surfaces to use for these activities 

include a plan chest (housing conservation board) and the tops of cupboards which also 

house the museum’s paper collections.  

Domestic History – cased displays of 19th and early 20th century objects on the themes of 

washing, ironing, cooking, hairdressing, etc. and some free standing associated exhibits.  

Wye Tour Gallery (in the course of completion) featuring a reconstruction of part of a Wye 

Tour boat in which visitors can experience various interactive and filmic interpretations of 

the tour down the river from Ross to Chepstow popular with visitors in late 18th /early 19th 

century.  

At the back of the Museum – Boat House display  

Accessed independently around the outside of the building, on level surface, through wide 

back gates and onto bonded gravel area, the reconstructed Chepstow boat house displays 

a conserved late 19th century local traditional salmon fishing stop net boat. Touch screen 

interactive interpretation incorporating filmed oral histories cut with archive photos and 

documents.  

Intellectual Access  

Displays are designed to attract and engage visitors catering for different learning styles, 

needs, and levels of knowledge. As well as conventional panels and cased displays, there 

are atmospheric reconstructions and interactives.  

There are 8 touch screen interactives. All have been designed with retuning local visitors in 

mind so that there are different levels of fuller content. Some have been designed to give 

greater access to our collections – especially photographic archive, others to enable bigger 

Page 201



stories / more information to be more interestingly accessed. There are different styles of 

interactive - game based, photo archive, ‘journey based’, story based, oral history etc.  Other 

interactive exhibits include – hidden doors that when opened reveal birds and animals of 

the We Valley and the sound they make. Film is also being used in the new Wye Tour 

gallery, as are more basic interactive ways of looking at text and pictures.  

Objects to handle and reproduction clothing, & also used to actively engage young & old.  

Hand lists or leaflets have been substituted for labels in changing exhibitions largely 

composed of paintings (so that users are not constantly moving backwards – to look at the 

picture - and forwards – to read the labels)  

Members of staff where possible provide assistance and additional information or take 

enquiries for further in depth information.  Occasional use of costumed interpreters within 

the museum, as well as talks, day schools, events and workshops on specific themes are 

all employed to stimulate and satisfy access to knowledge and information about the 

collections, exhibitions, Chepstow and the locality.  

Photographs and other items from the collections have already been used to take history 

onto the streets of Chepstow in ceramic wall tiles that form part of the town trail & results of 

research (e.g. the history of shops in the High Street) on to plaques in the pavement. Images 

and information made accessible at all hours to locals and visitors alike.   

Our aim is to employ varied & appealing ways, using new technologies where appropriate, 

to improve intellectual access to the Museum collections & their stories & to encourage & 

engage with new & wider audiences as well as our established visitors & users.   

5. Social and cultural access  

We continue to tackle real or perceived cultural and social barriers. Free entry to the 

Museum is an important plank of this policy. Events and workshops all have a reduced cost 

admission (concession rates) for Senior Citizens, Students, young people, disabled and 

their carers and unwaged.   

We will continue to undertake initiatives to reach and engage with different sectors of the 

community, for example by taking displays and activities from the museum out to other 

unrelated events, setting up a ‘pop up museum’ in a vacant High Street shop for a short 

term project & recruiting volunteers for different projects from a wider age & interest base.  

We recognise Welsh as an official language and its equal status with English.  Newly 

generated exhibition content is bilingual as are associated publicity and publications where 

possible. New touch screen interactives have bilingual options.   

  

6. Welsh language  

We recognise Welsh as an official language and its equal status with English.  This will be 

addressed as new exhibition text and other material is initiated.  

  

7. Additional information  

• All staff receive training that includes disability awareness and customer care.    

• Assistance dogs are welcome inside the museum.  Non-assistance dogs are not.    

• All measurements are approximate.  We welcome suggestions on improving our 

service through comments books, phone, email etc.  

Page 202



Nelson Museum & Local History Centre, Monmouth Access Statement  

1. Introduction  

This statement, deals in the main with issues of geographical and physical access.  However 

matters of, intellectual, social, and cultural access are also addressed.  

Please note “The access statement does not contain personal opinions regarding our 

suitability for those with disabilities but aims to describe the facilities and services we offer 

for all our visitors.”  

The Nelson Museum & Local History Centre is located in the centre of Monmouth. It is one of 

three museum operated by Monmouthshire County Council’s Museum Service. It has a 

magnificent internationally renowned collection of Nelson material. The history of this ancient 

town is also illustrated. Charles Rolls co-founder of Rolls Royce lived locally and his exploits 

are also featured in the History Centre. It also has a gift and book shop selling appropriately 

themed products.   

2. Practical Information  

The Nelson Museum & Local History Centre, Market Hall, Priory Street, Monmouth,  

Monmouthshire, NP25 3XA.  Tel: 01600 710630  nelsonmuseum@monmouthshire.gov.uk   

Admission Free.  Pre-arranged group and school visits can be arranged out of normal hours   

Opening Hours: Mon-Sat 11-1, 2-5, Sun 2-5 reduced hours Nov – Feb inclusive close 4pm  

Monmouth Field & History Society meet monthly here & run the Flower table in the Foyer  

  

3. Geographical Access  

Train  

The nearest stations are Newport, Abergavenny or Hereford, there is no station in Monmouth  

  

Bus  

The nearest bus stop is located in Agincourt Square, c.100 metres away from our main 

entrance.  Bus Information is available throughout the year by telephoning 0871 200 2233 

from 7 am – 10 pm daily.  For online information for public transport, follow these links:  

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=publictransport www.travelinecymru.info  

  

Car  

The  museum  and  gallery  does  not  have  dedicated  public  parking.  

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=parking  

There are a number of public car parks nearby.  Glendower Street, short term parking 5 

minutes’ walk.   Old Cattle Market, long term parking, 10 minutes’ walk.   

  

Disabled parking  

There is Blue Badge disabled parking close by.   

Bikes  

We do not currently have a dedicated bike rail close to the museum entrance.  There is a wall 

with railings in close proximity which may be suitable for chaining a bike.  We cannot 

guarantee the security of the bike while on our premises.  

4. Physical Access  

Entrance  

The main entrance to the museum is approached from Priory Street on a level pavement.  The 

front door is automatic and is 153 cms wide, and opens into a large foyer. Here there is a 

Page 203

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=publictransport
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=publictransport
http://www.travelinecymru.info/
http://www.travelinecymru.info/
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=parking
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/index.php?id=parking


noticeboard with posters for community events and other attractions in the area. Leaflets are 

also available. There are cased displays relating to the Museum collections, and also 

additional shop related displays. There is also a Wild Flower table maintained by the Field & 

History Society. The museum is accessed by an internal glass door which is normally closed 

with a push door handle.  The width of this door is 91 cms.    

Reception  

This door opens to our main reception, which is well-lit, with a reception desk facing you as 

you enter.  The shop is located to the side of our reception desk, the galleries located off the 

shop entrance. A bin for umbrellas, a donation box and tourism information leaflets relating to 

Monmouth and the immediate vicinity.  The reception desk is staffed during opening hours 

and is located less than 1.5m away from the internal entrance door. The reception desk has 

been designed to accommodate the needs of different users and is 115cms high.  A hearing 

induction loop for use in the main gallery can be made available on request. Wi-Fi is available 

throughout the Museum.  Two family backpacks created as part of an Our Town community 

project can also be hired from here to go out and explore the town’s history,  

Shop  

The floor of the shop is level.  High display shelves may not be accessed from a seated 

position.  Staff are available to provide assistance.  There is room to manoeuvre a pram or a 

wheelchair. The shop is licensed to sell alcohol.  

Toilet facilities  

There is a unisex WC located on the ground floor off the museum’s research and library area, 

which is wheelchair accessible.  It measures 230 cms by 300 cms and comprises toilet, wash 

hand basin, hot water provider, soap dispenser, paper towel dispenser, bin and sanitary bin.  

The toilet roll dispenser is placed 87 cms from floor level.  There a baby changing table.  There 

is short handrail fixed to the wall and a pull down arm rest. (A shower is also available)  

There is a Ladies toilet with vinyl flooring located at the end of the corridor.  There is an outer 

door 81 cms wide with a wash hand basin, hot water provider, paper towel dispenser and bin.  

There is then an internal door 57.5 cms wide to the toilet cubicle. The Men’s facilities are 

identical in size.  

Flooring  

The foyer has ceramic tiles, the reception and shop, museum and upper gallery are carpeted. 

The toilets and access corridor are covered with vinyl flooring. The stairs to the upper gallery 

have solid treads of a dark composite material.  

Displays  

On the ground floor, leading off to the right through an arched entrance is the Nelson 

collection. The central gallery has local history displays & is also used for changing exhibitions. 

Leading off to the left is a reference library & research area, equipped with microfiche reader, 

scanner/photocopier with collections accessible under supervision of the front of house staff. 

There are children’s activities& a family activity centre is also available.  

The displays in the galleries feature either 2D or 3D works and all work is captioned with text 

size 14pt or above. 2D works are hung to a level to ensure as visibly accessible to users as 

possible.   

There are a number of stairs to access the first floor - the first flight comes onto a landing, and 

then 6 steps to reach the first floor. There is a wooden handrail alongside all stairs.   

Page 204



The displays in the museum on the ground floor are a combination of works within glass 

display cases, open display (such as the furniture), and panels with a combination of text and 

images.  We try to ensure text on these wall panels is at least size 16 with smaller captions at 

size 14.    

There is a member of staff in the museum who can provide assistance and additional 

information. A file containing photographs and information about exhibits in the first floor 

gallery is available for those unable to access it.  We do not currently offer an audio trail. Pre-

arranged tours for groups, schools, colleges with specific needs can be arranged.  

  

Lighting  

The reception and shop are well and evenly lit.  The gallery is normally well and evenly lit 

except on occasion when light levels need to be lowered for conservation needs of specific 

art works.  The stairs are well lit but some museum displays have low light levels, due to the 

conservation needs of more vulnerable museum objects.  

5. Intellectual access  

We recognise that there can be intellectual barriers to access to our collections and events, 

and to overcome this, our displays are designed with regard to informing visitors with differing 

learning styles, prior knowledge, and/or abilities.    

QR codes giving access to Wikipedia pages generated under the Monmouthpedia initiative 

(the first Wikipedia town in the world) allow visitors with smart phones to access in depth 

information which is also accessible in up to 20 different languages.  Pre-arranged tours for 

groups, schools, colleges with specific needs can be arranged.  

We encourage the widest possible audience to study the collection and seek ways to improve 

and extend access to information and scholarly research. We consult with users, non-users, 

specialist organisations, and other museums and galleries, on the best and most practical 

ways of improving intellectual access.  Members of staff on duty will where possible provide 

assistance and additional information.  

6. Social access  

It is our policy to remove social barriers to access by ensuring that entry at low cost or no 

charge is offered and where charges have to be made they are kept as low as possible.  

  

7. Cultural access  

We recognise that cultural or social barriers to accessing the Museum and its collections may 

exist. To challenge and overcome these barriers we will continue to undertake initiatives to 

reach different sectors of the community, and engage them with the Museum and its 

collections.  

  

8. Welsh language  

We recognise Welsh as an official language and its equal status with English.  This will be 

addressed as new exhibition text and other material is initiated.  

  

9. Additional information  

• All staff receive training that includes disability awareness and customer care.    

• Assistance dogs are welcome inside the museum.  Non-assistance dogs are not.   

• We welcome suggestions on improving our service through comments books, phone, 

email etc.  

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



EXISTING MUSEUMS STRUCTURE  TRANSITION 
PHASE ONE 

 FUTURE MUSEUMS STRUCTURE 
PHASE TWO 

 ADDED VALUE 
SERVICES 

       

 
 

Abergavenny Museum 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Centralised  
County-wide Team based  

 

 Revised Centralised team structure; 

 Effective leadership function; 

 Coordinated decision making; 

 Coordinated budgets and income  generation 
opportunities; 

 Consistent opening hours; 

 Implementation of  lone working policy; 

 Efficiency savings 
 
 

 Feasibility for a county wide  ‘Collections 
Centre’ and location of consolidated Nelson 
Collection & the history of Monmouth and 
surrounding area 
 

 

 

 

New Collections Centre likely to be @  
Rolls Hall or Market Hall Monmouth housing 
Central Team 
New Research & Digitisation facilities; rationalised 
county museum collection; enhanced Public Access & 
linkage with Gwent Archives 

 

 

 
County-wide coordinated 

events & exhibitions 
programme 

 
 

Location of Consolidated Nelson Collection likely 
to be @ Collections Centre or form part of new 
visitor experience @ Shire Hall, Monmouth: 
Consolidated Nelson collection, enhanced Monmouth 
History exhibition & MonmouthpediA 
 

 

 

 
Consolidated & 

coordinated retail offer  
 

Chepstow Museum 
  

 
 

 

Abergavenny Museum – potential for new Outdoor 
events space & enhanced exhibition opportunities 

 

 

Virtual Heritage Platform, 
Community Learning & 
Outreach programme 

 

 
Monmouth Museum 

 
 

 
 
 

Store @ Caldicot 
 
 

 

Chepstow Museum – potential for new Café & 
enhanced exhibition space  

 

 

 
Re-purposed digitised 
assets utilised by Visit 

Monmouthshire 
campaigns 

 

SOURCES OF FINANCE 
 
Heritage Lottery Funding (HLF) 
 
Capitalisation of collection pieces 
 
Coordinated income generation opportunities  
 
Efficiency savings  

 

 

 
Caldicot Social History Collection – alternative 
sites for the collection to be considered in 
collaboration with Community 

 

    
 

 

 
Caldicot Castle 

Nelson & Social History Collection 
 

 

    

 

P
age 207



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT 
 

  

SUBJECT REVENUE & CAPITAL MONITORING 2016/17 

PERIOD 2 OUTTURN FORECAST STATEMENT 
 

 

DIRECTORATE Chief Executive’s Unit 
  

MEETING Economy & Development Select 

  

DATE 24th November 2016 

 
 

DIVISIONS/WARD 
AFFECTED 

All Authority 

  
 

1. PURPOSE 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with information on the forecast revenue outturn 

position of the Authority at the end of period 2 which represents month 6 financial information for the 
2016/17 financial year 
 

1.2 This report will also be considered by Select Committees as part of their responsibility to, 
 

• assess whether effective budget monitoring is taking place, 
• monitor the extent to which budgets are spent in accordance with agreed budget and policy 

framework, 
• challenge the reasonableness of projected over or underspends, and  
• monitor the achievement of predicted efficiency gains or progress in relation to savings 

proposals. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS PROPOSED TO CABINET 
 
2.1 That Cabinet notes the extent of forecast revenue overspend at period 2 of £839,000, an 

improvement of £529,000 on previous reported position at period 1. 
 

2.2 That Cabinet expects Chief officers to continue to review the levels of over and underspends and 
reallocate budgets to reduce the extent of compensatory positions needing to be reported from 
month 6 onwards. 
 

2.3 That Cabinet appreciates the extent of predicted schools reserve usage and an anticipation that a 
further 4 schools will be in a deficit position by end of 2016-17. 
 

2.3 That Cabinet approves a caveated use of reserves to finance £318,000 employment tribunal costs if 
the Council’s budget is not able to absorb the effect of this extraordinary expenditure over the 
remaining 6 months of financial year. 
 

2.4 That Cabinet considers the capital monitoring, specific over and underspends, and importantly that 
Cabinet recognises the risk associated with having to rely on a use of capital receipts in the year of 
sale and the potential for this to have significant revenue pressures should receipts be delayed and 
temporary borrowing be required. 
 

  

Page 209

Agenda Item 6



 
3. MONITORING ANALYSIS 
 
3.1 Revenue Position 

 
3.1.1 Revenue budget monitoring information for each directorate’s directly managed budgets is provided 

together with information on corporate areas.  
 
3.1.2 Responsible Financial Officer’s Summary of Overall Position Period 2 (Month 6) 

 
Given the extent of service movement since period 1 and the creation of the Resources Directorate, 
a change from previous reporting has been implemented to highlight to Members where particular 
services now reside.  The following more detailed table is also anticipated to reduce the need for 
subsequent tables. 

 
Table 1: Council Fund 2016/17 
Outturn Forecast  Summary 
Statement at  
Period 2 (Month 6) 

Original  
Budget  

Budget 
Virements 

& 
 

Revisions 
Period 1 

Budget 
Virements 

& 
 

Revisions 
Period 2 

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

@ Month 
6 

Annual 
Forecast 
@ Month 

6 

Forecast 
Over/ 

(Under)  
spend 

@ 
month 6 

Equivalent 
Forecast 

Over/ 
(Under)  

spend @ 
month 2 

Variance 
in 

Forecast  
since  

month 2 

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

         

Adult Services 6,925 0 0 6,925 6,740 (185) 20 (205) 

Children Services 9,687 26 125 9,839 10,295 456 660 (203) 

Community Care 20,121 39 464 20,624 21,512 888 483 405 

Commissioning 2,008 0 (465) 1,543 1,497 (46) (22) (24) 

Partnerships 347 0 0 347 347 0 0 0 

Public Protection 1,486 (26) 0 1,460 1,437 (23) 0 (23) 

Resources & Performance 928 (17) 0 911 891 (20) (19) (1)          
Total Social Care & Health 41,502 22 124 41,649 42,719 1,070 1,121 (51) 

        
 

Individual School Budget 43,298 10 0 43,308 43,308 0 0 0 

Resources 1,508 0 0 1,508 1,499 (9) 0 (9) 

Standards 5,066 0 0 5,066 5,116 50 209 (159) 
         

Total Children & Young 
People 

49,872 10 0 49,882 49,923 41 209 (168) 

        
 

Business Growth & Enterprise 592 491 281 1,365 1,381 16 (5) 21 

Planning & Housing 1,370 91 0 1,462 1,229 (233) (10) (223) 

Tourism Life & Culture 2,342 51 600 2,993 3,389 396 398 (2) 

Youth 600 0 (600) 0 0 0 0 0          
Total Enterprise 4,905 633 281 5,819 5,999 180 383 (203) 

         

Governance, Engagement  
& Improvement 

4,233 206 0 
4,439 

4,411 (28) (5) 
(23) 

Legal & Land Charges 516 (69) 0 448 418 (30) 0 (30) 

Operations 17,120 (198) 0 16,922 16,988 66 41 25 
         

 
Total Chief Executives Unit 21,869 (61) 0 21,808 21,817 8 36 (28) 

        
 

Finance 2,063 214 0 2,277 2,248 (29) (8) (21) 

Information Communication 
Technology 

2,058 253 0 
2,310 

2,378 68 100 
(32) 

People 1,533 (107) 0 1,425 1,525 100 0 100 

Place (652) 6 0 (646) (501) 145 217 (72) 
           

 
Total Resources 5,002 365 0 5,367 5,651 284 309 (25) 

Page 210



Table 1: Council Fund 2016/17 
Outturn Forecast  Summary 
Statement at  
Period 2 (Month 6) 

Original  
Budget  

Budget 
Virements 

& 
 

Revisions 
Period 1 

Budget 
Virements 

& 
 

Revisions 
Period 2 

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

@ Month 
6 

Annual 
Forecast 
@ Month 

6 

Forecast 
Over/ 

(Under)  
spend 

@ 
month 6 

Equivalent 
Forecast 

Over/ 
(Under)  

spend @ 
month 2 

Variance 
in 

Forecast  
since  

month 2 

          
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

         
Precepts and Levies 16,484 0 0 16,484 16,488 4 0 4 
Coroners 80 0 0 80 100 20 0 20 
Gwent Joint Records 183 0 0 183 182 (0) 0 (0) 
Corporate Management (CM) 361 (175) 0 186 505 319 0 319 
Non Distributed Costs (NDC) 726 0 0 726 824 98 72 27 
Strategic Initiatives 634 0 0 634 634 0 0 0 

Office furniture & equipment 110 (110) 0 (0) 0 0 0 0 
Insurance 1,218 0 0 1,218 1,159 (59) 0 (59) 

Total Corporate Costs & 
Levies  

19,796 (285) 0 19,511 19,892 381 72 309 

        
 

Net Cost of Services 142,945 685 405 144,035 146,001 1,966 2,099 (133) 
        

 
Attributable Costs – Fixed Asset 
Disposal 

0 95 0 
95 

149 54 54 
0 

Interest & Investment Income (55) 0 0 (55) (61) (6) 0 (6) 

Interest Payable & Similar 
Charges 

3,490 5 0 
3,496 

2,956 (540) 0 
(540) 

Charges Required Under 
Regulation 

3,356 71 0 
3,427 

3,410 (17) 0 
(17) 

Contributions to Reserves 103 2 0 105 105 0 0 0 

Contributions from Reserves (1,139) (860) (405) (2,404) (2,141) 263 80 183 
        

 
Appropriations 5,755 (686) (405) 4,664 4,418 (245) 134 (379) 

        
 

General Government Grants (63,567) 0 0 (63,567) (63,567) 0 0 0 

Non-Domestic Rates (27,981) 0 0 (27,981) (27,981) 0 0 0 

Council Tax (63,411) 0 0 (63,411) (63,941) (530) (550) 20 

Council Tax Benefits Support 6,258 0 0 6,258 5,909 (349) (313) (36) 
        

 
Financing (148,701) 0 0 (148,701) (149,580) (879) (863) (16) 

         

Budgeted contribution from 
Council Fund 

2 0 0 
2 

0 (2) (2) 
0 

        
 

Net Council Fund (Surplus) / 
Deficit 

1 (1) 0 (0) 839 839 1,368 (529) 

 
3.1.3 A comparison of the Net Council fund line against previous years activity indicates the following, 

 
 

Net Council Fund 
Surplus 

2016-17 2015-16 2014-15 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

    

Period 1 1,511 deficit 867 deficit 219 deficit 

Period 2 839 deficit 1,066 deficit 116 deficit 

Period 3  162 deficit 144 deficit 

Outturn  579 surplus 327 surplus 

 
3.1.4 Overall an improved position is anticipated against month 2.  The deficit at month 6 monitoring is 

also an improvement on the equivalent position last year.  This is significantly affected by council 
tax receipts and treasury improvements, although the net cost of services still exhibits £2million 

Page 211



variance.  Directorates are continuing to review the levels of over and underspends and reallocate 
budgets to reduce the extent of compensatory positions needing to be reported from month 6 
onwards. 

 
3.1.5 A summary of main pressures and under spends within the Net Cost of Services Directorates 

include, 
 
3.1.6 Stronger Communities Select Portfolio (£401k net underspend) 
  

 Chief Executives Unit (£8k overspend) 
 

Governance and Legal division exhibit underspends of £28k and £30k respectively.  Operations 
exhibits an overspend, whose net effect is predominantly the effect of the Highways Trunk Road 
Agency contract being renegotiated on more of a cost recovery basis (£250k), overspend of £38k in 
passenger transport, compensated in part by underspends in waste (£140k) and Property Services 
(£82k). 

 

 Resources Directorate (£284k overspend) 
 
An underspend in Finance Division costs (£29k) compensates in part for overspends in IT (£68k) as 
a result of delays in commercialising and selling our developed Social Care application.    People 
division forecast an overspend of £100k, due to the delays with implementing the Training budget 
mandate (£50k) and take of Flexible benefits being less than the target saving mandate (£50k).  
Place division forecast an overspend of £145k, the result of delays in meet previously agreed 
income targets in the sustainability budget, and £70k overspend in respect of Markets, a mixture of 
increased costs in association with Borough Theatre, and a shortfall in income against income 
targets. 
 

 Corporate (£381k overspend)  
 
This is caused predominantly by an excess of net pension strain costs (£98k), and Coroner costs 
being higher than budgeted (£20k overspend), offset by Insurance underspend of £59k. 
In addition a recent decision in an Employment Tribunal will cost £318k which is currently 
unbudgeted and will require one off reserve funding if the Council’s budget is unable to absorb the 
effect of this over the remaining few months of the year. 
 

 Appropriations (£245k underspend) 
 
Caused predominantly by a net £509k saving in treasury/borrowing costs from active treasury 
management and utilising recurrent short term borrowing as an alternative to taking out more 
expensive long term borrowing.  Net borrowing costs are also favourably affected by any delay in 
the timing of expenditure that has not already been factored into the budget calculations e.g. capital 
(of net £42.5m capital budget only net £12m has been incurred at month 6), and using receipts as 
more cost effective temporary internal borrowing.  The extent of this saving is moderated by the net 
anticipated use of reserves which is £264k less than predicted and should have a directly 
compensating underspend within services as they are not incurring that reserve funded expenditure. 
 

 Financing (£879k underspend) 
 

The net effect from an excess of Council tax receipts and less than anticipated Council tax benefit 
payments  

 
  

Page 212



 
3.1.7 Economy & development Select Portfolio (£157k net overspend) 
 
 

 Enterprise Directorate (£180k net overspend) 
 

Commercial and people development (£17k overspend) - Business growth and enterprise is 
incurring a forecast overspend of £97k, compensated in part by underspend in Eisteddfod spending 
of £80k, which reduces the approved call upon reserves in Appropriations. 

 
 Planning & Housing (£232k underspend) – a £225k underspend is forecast in planning.  The service 

is using £100k from reserves to assist with LDP work that is not anticipated to be drawn upon, and 
the 2016/17 budget reflects a further £125k that will not be incurred this year. Housing also 
anticipate an underspend, totalling £8k and the net effect of additional grant funding to afford 
homeless inclusion officer position, and increased income from the Council’s lodging scheme 
through heightened occupation rates. 

 
 Tourism, leisure & culture (£396k overspend) - Countryside exhibit an underspend of £12k from part 

vacancy and extra grant funding.  There is a £119k overspend in respect of Cultural services, of 
which the main pressure is Caldicot Castle, and Museums experiencing £37k as a result of unmet 
mandate savings.    Leisure services anticipate £81k overspend, partly due to reduced grants to 
afford summer play schemes, but mainly due to redundancy costs of circa £40k, a shortfall in 
mandated savings £25k and reduced income.   Tourist Information Centres indicate a £61k 
overspend due to savings not yet being achieved.  Youth services are a recent addition to 
Enterprise Directorate, it has been received with an inherent pressure (£147k) as previous 
mandates presumed additional grant funding that has not been achieved. 

 

 Social Care & Health (£23k underspend) 
 
Public Protection (£23k underspend) – miscellaneous minor underspends on £1.5million 
expenditure budget 

 
3.1.8 Adult Select Portfolio (net £637k overspend) 
 

 Social Care & Health 
 

Adult Services (£185k underspent) – the net effect of secondments and intermediate care funding 
sustaining services, a saving of £45k has resulted from the My Day review, which compensates in 
part for a short term staffing pressure at Severn View of £70k. 
 
Community Care (£887k overspend) – this area is now the most significant financial challenge 
affecting Social Care Directorate.  The net pressure is caused by care package demands 
predominantly within the Chepstow team and Mental Health Care team, collectively £1.1 million.  
These are compensated in part by savings within the other 2 teams (£152k), reported Frailty 
partnership cost underspends (£52k) and net community learning disability team savings of £27k.   

 
Commissioning (£46k underspend) – predominantly a savings within Drybridge Gardens service 
area caused by a refund on the last 3 years management agreement and a vacant unit at the site. 

 
 Resources (net £19k underspend) – a mix of Finance team and Facilities management savings 
 
 Whilst the work around Changing Practice and the associated budget saving mandate of £628k is 

continuing, the service is facing increasing demand which is offsetting some of the progress that has 
been made. 

 
3.1.9 Children & Young People Select Portfolio (net £497k overspend) 
 

 Social Care & Health 
 

Page 213



Children’s Services (net £456k overspend) – there are a variety of large value under and 
overspends within the service.   Assessment and contact costs introduce a £140k cost pressure, 
consideration is being given to the most appropriate cost centre for these costs.  As in previous 
years, Counsel/legal costs introduce a net pressure, this year of £118k.  Encouragingly external 
placement costs exhibit a £300k underspend, which even with increased costs in fostering 
payments (£141k) still provides a net financial underspend for the service.  There are continuing 
agency staff costs of £458k whilst the team seek to recruit and train new directly employed staff. 

 
 Youth offending team partnership (breakeven) – whilst it is unusual to highlight a service that is 
anticipated to have a neutral year end effect.  As part of the Select Committee’s work programme, 
Members may wish to understand the considerable effort made by the service to accommodate 
significantly declining government funding in 2016/17 and into future and how it could foreseeably 
impact upon sustainability of the service. 

 

 Children and Young People (net £41k overspend) 
 
Resources delegated to schools exhibit no variance to budgeted levels.  There is a small 
underspend of £9k within the Finance team, which compensates in part for the net overspend in 
Additional Learning Needs costs.  

 
3.2 SCHOOLS 

3.2.1 Each of the Authority’s Schools is directly governed by a Board of Governors, which is responsible 
for managing the school’s finances.  However, the Authority also holds a key responsibility for 
monitoring the overall financial performance of schools. Below is a table showing the outturn forecast 
Schools’ balances position based on month 6 projections. 

 
Month 6 movement on school reserves     

       

 

Reserve 
b/fwd 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

In Year 
forecast at 
Month 2 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

Difference 
reported from 
Month 6 to 
Month 2 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

In Year 
forecast at 
Month 6 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

Projected 
c/fwd at 
year end 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

      
Abergavenny cluster 

     

King Henry VIII Comprehensive (107) 241 (37) 204 97 

Cantref Primary (42) 13 (3) 10 (32) 

Deri View Primary (86) 62 13 75 (11) 

Gilwern Jnr & Infants (41) 14 4 18 (23) 

Goytre Fawr Jnr & Infants (54) 34 (11) 22 (32) 

Llanfair Kilgeddin CV Jnr & 
Infants 

(67) 67 0 67 0 

Llanfoist Fawr Primary (94) 45 18 62 (32) 

Llantillio Pertholey Jnr & 
Infants 

(37) 42 (6) 37 (1) 

Llanvihangel Crocorney Jnr & 
Infants 

24 6 (0) 5 29 

Our Lady and St Michael´s RC 
Primary School 

(31) 19 (14) 5 (25) 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Fenni 
Primary 

(59) 21 2 23 (36) 

  

Page 214



 
  

   
  

 

Reserve 
b/fwd 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

In Year 
forecast at 
Month 2 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

Difference 
reported from 
Month 6 to 
Month 2 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

In Year 
forecast at 
Month 6 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

Projected 
c/fwd at 
year end 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

      

Caldicot cluster   
   

  

Caldicot Comprehensive (209) 204 0 204 (5) 

Archbishop Rowan Williams 
Primary 

(84) 69 0 69 (16) 

Castle Park Primary 21 23 3 26 48 

Dewstow Primary (113) 113 (41) 72 (40) 

Durand Jnr & Infants (61) 25 (6) 18 (42) 

Magor Vol Aided Jnr & Infants (56) 6 2 8 (48) 

Rogiet Jnr & Infants (60) 63 (11) 52 (8) 

Undy Jnr & Infants (17) (33) 22 (11) (28) 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin Primary (13) 60 (4) 56 43 

 
  

   
  

Chepstow cluster    
   

  

Chepstow Comprehensive 414 (257) 3 (254) 160 

New Pembroke Primary (36) 33 1 33 (3) 

Shirenewton Jnr & Infants (82) 6 (12) (5) (87) 

St Mary´s Chepstow RC Jnr & 
Infants 

(25) 39 (6) 33 7 

The Dell Jnr & Infants (50) 45 (9) 36 (14) 

Thornwell Jnr & Infants (2) 24 (11) 13 11 

Monmouth cluster   
 

  
 

  

Monmouth Comprehensive (46) 46 0 46 0 

Cross Ash Jnr & Infants (51) 26 1 27 (24) 

Kymin View Primary (19) 32 (8) 25 6 
Llandogo Jnr & Infants 11 (1) 3 (4) 7 

Osbaston Church In Wales 
Primary 

(37) 8 18 26 (11) 

Overmonnow Jnr & Infants 19 (39) 18 (21) (2) 

Raglan Jnr & Infants (18) 14 4 18 0 

Trellech Jnr & Infants (86) 20 3 23 (63) 

Usk CV Jnr & Infants (71) 41 (3) 38 (33) 
  

  
  

   
(1,265) 1,130 (74) 1,055 (209) 

Special Schools 
 

  
 

    

Mounton House 155 (50) 50 0 155 

Pupil Referral Unit (46) 0 0 0 (46)   
  

 
     

109 (50) 50 0 109   
  

 
     

(1,156) 1,080 (24) 1,056 (100) 

 
3.2.2 6 schools exhibited a deficit position at the start of 2016/17.  This is anticipated to rise to 10 by end 

of 2016-17, so effectively just over quarter of schools is anticipated to be in deficit by end of year.  
Significant volatility is particularly evident at Comprehensive school level, with Caldicot and 
Monmouth making significant use of their reserves.  Conversely Chepstow exhibits good forecast Page 215



progress against their exacting recovery plan targets for the year, and if their trajectory remains 
constant over the next 6 months, they will provide enhanced confidence that they will resolve their 
deficit position by end of 2017/18 as agreed between Governing Body and LEA.   

 
3.2.3 Collectively school balances at the beginning of the financial year amounted to £1,156,000.  The 

Schools anticipated draw upon balances is forecasted to be £1,056,000 for 2016/17, leaving 
£100,000 as forecasted closing reserve balances. 

 

Financial Year-end Net level of School Balances 

2011-12 (965) 

2012-13 (1,240) 

2013-14 (988) 

2014-15 (1,140) 

2015-16  (1,156) 

2016-17 Forecast (100) 

 
3.2.4.  Anticipated reserve levels have featured as a concern in previous years monitoring, and this year is 

really no different.  This hasn’t yet manifested itself as a problem at past year ends due to the receipt 
of adhoc grants from Education Advisory Service (EAS) late in the year which mitigated the forecast 
decline in the year end position. 

 
3.2.5 CYP colleagues continue to work with EAS to improve the communication process to reduce this 

volatility, but ironically that may have an adverse effect on level of reserves to be carried forward, so 
reserve levels remain a focus for review. 

 
  

3.3 2016/17 Savings Progress 
 

3.3.1 This section monitors the specific savings initiatives and the progress made in delivering them in full 
by the end of 2016/17 financial year as part of the MTFP budgeting process.  . 
 
In summary they are as follows, 
 

 
 
3.3.2 Forecasted mandated savings are currently running at 72%, down from 92% at period 1, with 

currently £315,000 being deemed unachievable at the end of month 6, and a further £706,000 
unlikely to crystallise in 2016-17. 

 

DIRECTORATE

Saving 

included 

in 2016/17 

Budget

Savings 

reported 

achieved 

month 2

Savings 

reported 

achieved 

month 6

Percentage

progress

 in 

achieving 

savings

Delayed 

savings

Savings 

not 

achievable

£'000 £'000 £'000 % £'000 £'000

Children & Young People 600 600 600 100% 0 0

Social Care & Health 640 640 12 2% 628 0

Enterprise 385 285 285 74% 0 100

Resources 469 318 299 64% 15 155

Chief Executive's 1,565 1,442 1,442 92% 63 60
 

Total Mandated 

Service Savings 2016-17 3,659 3,285 2,638 72% 706 315

Budgeted Service Savings Mandates Progress 2016/17

Page 216



3.3.3 The emphasis of reporting savings has changed from previously where savings were reported when 
they were manifest, however the judgement is now whether saving is forecast to be achieved. 

 
3.3.4 Consequently the savings appendix also has a traffic light system to indicate whether savings are 

likely to be achieved or have justifiable reasons explaining delayed implementation.  The following 
summary of savings mandates are still reported to be red or amber risk. 

 
3.3.5 Stronger Communities Select Portfolio 
 

Resources Directorate 
 

 Mandate A5: Sustainable Energy Initiatives: Expected income targets of £34,000 are 
unachievable, alternative delivery plan of increased income on property rental portfolio and 
reduced expenditure on repairs and maintenance proposed 
 

 Mandate B3: Training Services Consolidation: Consolidation of authorities existing training 
functions and increased revenue streams of £50,000 are unachievable. Alternative delivery 
plans are being considered. 

 

 Mandate B5a: Community Asset Transfer £60,000: MCC still in discussions over transfer of 
Chepstow Drill Hall and Melville Theatre. £45,000 of the £60,000 savings contained within 
the mandate are forecast to be achieved. 

 

 Mandate B16: Flexible Employment Options £50,000:  Scheme exhibits little demand 
amongst staff.  

 

 Mandate B18: Strategic Property Review: £21,000 shortfall identified as a failure to achieve 
Residential Letting Income and the Depot Rationalisation Programme which will take longer 
than expected. 

 
Chief Executive’s Office 
 

 Mandate B11: Senior Leadership Structure Review: Currently £42,700 of the £315,000 
mandated savings still to be found. Current structures under review in regard to achieving 
this further saving. 

 Mandate 21: Town & Community Councils: The mandate is currently £80,000 short of the 
£400,000 in regard to the service collaboration for Tourism (£20k), Museums (£20k), Public 
Conveniences (£20k) and Community Hubs (£20k) 

 
3.3.6 Economy & Development Select Portfolio 
 

Enterprise (ENT) Directorate 
 

 Mandate B5 b and c: Community Asset Transfer / Income Generation £100,000 relates to 
revised Leisure income targets and the commercialisation of assets.  Neither is forecast to 
be achieved this year. 

 
3.3.7 Adult Select Portfolio 
 

Social Care & Health (SCH) Directorate 
 

 Mandate A34.  Whilst current year savings were anticipated to be delivered in full at period 1, 
a revised overspend of £822,000 within Adult Services at month 6, makes it unlikely that the 
practice change mandate of £628,000 will be delivered this financial year. 

 
3.3.8 Children and Young People Select Portfolio 
 

Children and Young People (CYP) Directorate 
 

 Current year savings are anticipated to be delivered in full. Page 217



 
 

3.4 Capital Position 
 

3.4.1 The summary Capital position as at month 6 is as follows 
 

MCC CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2016-17 AT MONTH 6 by SELECT COMMITTEE 

SELECT 
PORTFOLIO 

Annual 
Forecast 

 

Slippage 
Brought 
Forward 

 

Total 
Approved 

Budget 
2016/17 

Provisional 
Capital 

Slippage to 
2017/18 

Revised 
Capital 
Budget 
2016/17 

Forecasted 
Capital 

Expenditure 
Variance 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Children & Young 

People 

32,399 39,731 43,227 (10,829) 32,398 1 

Adult 83 30 92 0 92 (9) 

Economic & 

Development 

707 680 825 0 825 (119) 

Strong Communities 9,264 3,243 9,508 (265) 9,243 21 

Capital Schemes 

Total 

42,453 43,684 53,653 (11,094) 42,559 (106) 

 
 Proposed Slippage to 2017-18 
 
3.4.2 Proposed slippage at month 6 mainly relates to Future Schools (£10.8 million), £165,000 within S106 

schemes, £63,000 in relation to LDP sales at Coed Glas and Crick, £28,000 in respect of Rights of 
Way work, and £10,000 in respect of Revenues IT system enhancements 

 
3.4.3 Commonly slippage volumes increase into the third quarter and outturn as service mangers realise 

the impracticality of realising commitments by the end of the financial year.  Only £12m capital 
expenditure has been incurred against a working capital budget of £42.5million at month 6. 

 
` Capital Outturn 
 
3.4.4 Major revisions to the capital programme since month 2 include Cabinet approvals for the Solar Farm 

grid connection (£350K) and Linkages at Woodstock Way in Caldicot (£30k). Other changes to 
General Capital and S106 schemes are reported in the Select Committee appendices. 
 

3.4.5 Whilst many schemes are commonly reported as being at break even with budget this early in the 
financial year, past year’s activity suggests this prediction is unlikely to be the reality at outturn. The 
Future schools programme, which remains the most significant element of capital programme, has 
been delayed whilst colleagues have secured additional funding.  Following a Council meeting of 20th 
October it is anticipated the pace of expenditure will pick up. 
 

3.4.6 The capital programme forecast at month 6 results in a  minor net underspend of £106,000, most of 
which relates to settlement of cattle market costs below anticipation and a specific Abergavenny town 
team initiative that isn’t proposed to go ahead.   
 

3.4.7 There is conversely a forecast net overspend amongst section 106 schemes relating predominantly 
to Caldicot 3g pitch expenditure.  Unfortunately this overspend had gone unnoticed due to a mistake 
in interpreting Committee reports that meant the previous budget addition of £53,000 was double Page 218



counted until spotted and removed at month 6.  A review is being undertaken to understand the 
additional costs incurred with the intention of reporting back the position separately to Members if 
further funding remains advocated.  
 
Capital Financing and Receipts 

 
3.4.8 Given the anticipated capital spending profile reported in para 3.1.1, the following financing 

mechanisms are expected to be utilised. 
 

MCC CAPITAL FINANCING BUDGET MONITORING 2016-17 AT MONTH 6 By FINANCING 

CATEGORY 

CAPITAL 
FINANCING 

SCHEME 

Annual 
Forecast 
Financing 

 

Slippage 
Brought 
Forward 

 

 

Total 
Approved 
Financing 

Budget 
2016/17 

Provisional 
Budget 

Slippage to 
2017/18 

 

Revised 
Financing 

Budget 
2016/17 

 

Forecast 
Capital 

Financing 
Variance 
2016/17 

 

 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Supported Borrowing 2,400 0 2,400 0 2,400 0 

General Capital Grant 1,461 0 1,461 0 1,461 0 

Grants and 

Contributions 

15,721 16,050 17,832 (2,111) 15,721 0 

S106 Contributions 1,113 880 1,305 (165) 1,140 (27) 

Unsupported 

borrowing 

13,059 11,553 21,151 (8,092) 13,059 0 

Earmarked reserve & 

Revenue Funding 

1,091 590 1,100 (10) 1,091 0 

Capital Receipts 7,457 14,500 8,292 (716) 7,576 (119) 

Low cost home 

ownership receipts 

112 112 112 0 112 0 

Unfinanced 40 0 0 0 0 40 

       

Capital Financing 

Total 

42,453 43,684 53,653 (11,094) 42,559 (106) 

 
 
  

Page 219



 Useable Capital Receipts Available 

3.4.9  In the table below, the effect of the changes to the forecast capital receipts on the useable capital 
receipts balances available to meet future capital commitments is shown.  This is also compared 
to the balances forecast within the 2016/20 MTFP capital budget proposals.  

Movement in Available Useable Capital Receipts Forecast 

 

 TOTAL RECEIPTS 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     

Balance b/f 1st April 5,311 11,563 0 1,093 
 

ADD     

Receipts received in YTD 14,041 0 0 0 

Receipts forecast received 5,625 7,320 5,560 5,660 

Deferred capital receipts 4 4 4 4 

     

LESS     

Receipts to be applied (7,457) (18,887
) 

(4,471)    (509)  

Set aside (5,961) 0 0 0 

Predicted Year end 
receipts balance 

11,563 0 1,093 6,248 

     

Financial Planning 
Assumption 2016/20 
MTFP Capital Budget 

18,151 6,452 3,985  3,481  

     

Increase / (Decrease) 
compared to MTFP 
Capital Receipts Forecast 

(6,588) (6,452) (2,892) 2,767 

 
 

3.4.10 The above table indicates the anticipated receipts activity, but it should not be interpreted for 
instance that the Council will have £11.6 million unused receipts its bank account at the end of 
March 17.  The Council utilises an active treasury management strategy, and borrowing decisions 
are based on daily cashflow considerations, so capital receipts received, together with cash income, 
grant receipts, and the effect of delayed expenditure will be utilised on a daily basis to avoid 
unnecessary borrowing.  This concept is commonly a feature of Internal Borrowing, and is one of 
the reasons why interest charges can be favourably influenced to provide a net benefit to the 
revenue account above in para 3.1.2. Further consideration will be given to the balance of various 
funding streams at the outturn position to minimise the impact on the revenue account where 
possible. 

 

3.4.11 The balances forecast to be held at the 31st March each year are lower than forecast in the MTFP, 
mainly due to the delayed LDP receipts. This difference is eradicated by March 2020 when all the 
LDP sites are forecast to have been sold. 

 
3.4.12 The forecast / received receipt figure above for 2016/17 includes receipts from the old Abergavenny 

cattle market site, Coed Glas and the Old County Hall site.  However there is an increasingly 
significant risk resulting from the need to utilise capital receipts in the same year that they come into 
the Council.  This provides no tolerance or flexibility should the receipts be delayed, which isn’t 
uncommon, and will necessitate compensatory temporary borrowing which is more costly than 
utilising capital receipts and will compromise the treasury team’s success in outperforming the 
appropriations budget for the favourable benefit of the bottom line position. 

  Page 220



 
3.5 Reserve Usage 
 
3.5.1 Revenue and Capital monitoring reflects an approved use of reserves.  Whilst commonly at this stage 

in the year, services assume full reserve usage of amounts previously approved, there are some likely 
deferrals in use identified together with an increased call upon reserves which account for the net 
difference in budgeted use of reserves against actuals in Appropriations section of financial 
monitoring.   These variances are, 

 
 Reduced call upon reserves 

 Innovations & marketing officer contribution £19k (deferral) 

 Eisteddfod Community fundraising backstop £80k (no longer required) 

 LDP expenditure contribution £100k (deferral) 

 RDP expenditure contribution £63k (deferral) 

 Elections expenditure contribution £100k (deferral) 
 
Increased call upon reserves 

 Pension strain costs (£98k) 
 
3.5.2 The following predicted position reflects capital and revenue presumptions evident in period 2 

monitoring. 
  

Summary Earmarked Reserves Forecast 2016-17 

        

Earmarked Reserves 2015-16 
Revenue Capital  

2016-17 
Approved Usage Usage 

  

C/FWD 
Replenishment Draw on    

c/fwd 

of Reserves Reserves   

            

Invest to Redesign -1,298,155  -74,739  519,344  223,363  -630,187  

IT Transformation -826,835      238,862  -587,973  

Insurance & Risk Management -1,236,396        -1,236,396  

Capital Receipt Regeneration -322,361    95,376    -226,985  

Treasury Equalisation -990,024        -990,024  

Redundancy & Pensions -1,274,256    690,521    -583,735  

Capital Investments -1,264,599      628,236  -636,363  

Priority Investments -1,120,069    836,197    -283,872  

Museum Acquisitions -56,760        -56,760  

Elections -108,183  -25,000      -133,183  

Grass Routes Buses -139,702  -5,000      -144,702  

Sub Total -8,637,340  -104,739  2,141,438  1,090,461  -5,510,180  

            

Restricted Use Reserves         0  

Youth Offending Team -325,000        -325,000  

Building Control Trading -12,008        -12,008  

Outdoor Education Centres -190,280        -190,280  

CYP Maternity -104,000        -104,000  

Total Earmarked Reserves -9,268,629  -104,739  2,141,438  1,090,461  -6,141,468  

 
3.5.3 Earmarked reserves remain at limited levels unlikely to provide any material capacity/headroom to 

meet unanticipated volatility or significantly facilitate future service re-engineering and design. Page 221



 
4 REASONS 
 
4.1 To improve budget monitoring and forecasting information being provided to Senior Officers and 

Members. 
 
5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 As contained in the report. 
 
6 EQUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The decisions highlighted in this report have no equality and sustainability implications. 
 
7 CONSULTEES 

Strategic Leadership Team 
All Cabinet Members 
All Select Committee Chairman 
Head of Legal Services 
Head of Finance 
 

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

8.1 Month 6 (period 2) monitoring reports, as per the hyperlinks provided 
 
Chief Executives Revenue Monitoring Month 6 201617 
Children and Young People Revenue Monitoring Month 6 201617 
Corporate Revenue Monitoring Month 6 201617 
Enterprise Revenue Monitoring Month 6 201617 
Resources Revenue Monitoring Month 6 201617 
Social Care and Health Revenue Monitoring Month 6 201617 
Appropriations Revenue Monitoring Month 6 201617 
Financing Revenue Monitoring Month 6 201617 
Capital Monitoring Month 6 201617 
 
 

9 AUTHOR 
Mark Howcroft – Assistant Head of Finance 

 
10 CONTACT DETAILS  

Tel. 01633 644740 
e-mail. markhowcroft@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 Mandated Savings Progress Report 

 

Page 222

http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Revenue%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Chief%20Executives%20Dept%202016-17.xls
http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Revenue%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%20%202016-17.xls
http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Revenue%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Corporate%202016-17.xls
http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Revenue%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Enterprise%202016-17.xls
http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Revenue%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Resources%202016-17.xls
http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Revenue%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Social%20Care%20and%20Health%202016-17.xls
http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Revenue%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Appropriations%202016-17.xls
http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Revenue%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Financing%202016-17.xls
http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20162017/Month%206%20Capital.xls
mailto:markhowcroft@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 
                APPENDIX 1 

Budgeted Service Savings Mandates Progress 2016/17    

        

DIRECTORATE 

  

Saving 
included 

in 
2016/17 
Budget 

Savings 
reported 
achieved 
month 2 

Savings 
reported 
achieved 
month 6 

Percentage 
progress 

 in  
achieving 
savings 

 
Delayed 
savings 

 
Savings  

not  
achievable 

  
 

£'000 £'000 £'000 % £'000 £'000 

              

Children & Young People  600 600 600 100% 0 0 

Social Care & Health  640 640 12 2% 628 0 

Enterprise  385 285 285 74% 0 100 

Resources  469 318 299 64% 15 155 

Chief Executive's  1,565 1,442 1,442 92% 63 60 
               

Total Mandated  
Service Savings 2016-17   3,659 3,285 2,638 72% 706 315 

 
  

P
age 223



 

Budget proposals 2016/17 Mandate

No.
Savings

Mandate

Narrative

Saving 

included

 in

 2016/17

 Budget

Value of

Saving

Forecast at 

Month 2 

 £s

Value of

 Saving

Forecast at 

Month 6  

£'s

Delayed 

savings

 £'s

Savings

not

achievable

£'s

Assessment of progress

RESOURCES

 

Sustainable Energy Initiatives

(Ben Winstanley)

A5 Investing in biomass boilers, 

solar farms and reduction in 

Carbon Commitment. 

34,000 0 0 34,000 Unachievable

Rationalise Business 

Support

(Tracy Harry)

B2 Review the business support 

functions across the whole 

Authority to identify savings.

50,000     28,000         50,000         On track and expected to be fully met

Training Services Consolidation

(Peter Davies)

B3 Consolidation of the 

Authorities existing training 

functions.

50,000     -              -              50,000            Unachievable

Community Asset Transfer/ 

Income generation

(Peter Davies / Deb Hill-Howells)

B5 Community Asset Transfer of 

two properties, includes 

optimisation of assets to 

generate income 

60,000     45,000         45,000         15,000                                -   £60k of £160 relates to Estates of which £45k 

has been found.  £15k shortfall is due to 

delayed implementation on Melville theatre and 

ongoing discussion with Town Council over Drill 

Hall.

Flexible Employment Options

(Peter Davies)

B16 Market to all staff the 

Authority’s flexible benefits 

and employment packages.

50,000     50,000         -              50,000            Unachievable

Business rates evaluation 

- Appeals

(Ruth Donovan)

B17 Rate refunds following 

Appeals by Cooke & 

Arkwright

140,000   140,000       140,000       On track and expected to be fully met

Strategic Property Review

(Ben Winstanley - Deb Hill-

Howells)

B18 Reduction in Corporate 

Building Maintenance, 

Purchase Card rebates , 

Facilty Management 

Restructure and reductions 

in Transport Costs and 

Supplies and Services costs

60,000 30,000 39,000 21,000 Alternative delivery plan has not been possible 

due to pressures within the service

Discretionary Fees and Income

(Joy Robson)

B23 Increased Discretionary 

Fees & Charges

25,000     25,000         25,000         Spread across authority, assume it has been 

achieved.

TOTAL 469,000 318,000 299,000 15,000 155,000  

RESOURCES

2015/16 Budgeted Service Savings Mandates Progress

P
age 224



 

P
age 225



 

Budget proposals 2016/17 Mandate

No.
Savings

Mandate

Narrative

Saving 

included

 in

 2016/17

 Budget

Value of

Saving

Forecast at 

Month 2 

 £s

Value of

 Saving

Forecast at 

Month 6  

£'s

Delayed 

savings

 £'s

Savings

not

achievable

£'s

Assessment of progress

Garden Waste

(Rachel Jowitt)

Increase in charges for 

Garden Waste collection 

service.

40,000 40,000 40,000 On track

Home to School Transport

(R Hoggins / Richard Cope)

A14 Continuation of 2014-15 

mandate.  Fundamental 

policy review to nearest 

school, and more zealous 

application of free school 

travel criteria.

30,000 30,000 30,000 This saving is forecast to be 

achieved but through the 

reduction in contract costs for 

home to school transport rather 

than the policy review initially 

included in the original mandate. 

There is no appetite for the 

nearest school policy to be 

reviewed at this moment in time 

but it is still being looked into.

Community Hubs

(Will McClean )

A28 It’s about delivering services 

in a different way and 

aligning them with the Whole 

Place philosophy. This will 

introduce major changes to 

how the library and one stop 

shop services are delivered.  

We will create a hub in each 

25,000             25,000                    25,000                  Achievable through alternative 

Delivery Plan

Community Hubs

( Rachel Jowitt)

A28 It’s about delivering services 

in a different way and 

aligning them with the Whole 

Place philosophy. This will 

introduce major changes to 

how the library and one stop 

shop services are delivered.  

We will create a hub in each 

town where face to face 

services will be delivered. 

The contact centre will 

sustain a reliable and 

informed first point of contact 

for people contacting us 

other than face to face.

25,000 25,000                    25,000                  Achievable through alternative 

Delivery Plan.  Contact Centre 

experiencing overspend 

exceeding mandate target 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S UNIT

P
age 226



 
 
 
 
 

Budget proposals 2016/17 Mandate

No.
Savings

Mandate

Narrative

Saving 

included

 in

 2016/17

 Budget

Value of

Saving

Forecast at 

Month 2 

 £s

Value of

 Saving

Forecast at 

Month 6  

£'s

Delayed 

savings

 £'s

Savings

not

achievable

£'s

Assessment of progress

Legal Services 

(Rob Trantor)

B7 Income generation by 

providing Legal Services 

to external organisations.

25,000             25,000                    25,000                  Currently staff resource is totally 

used up undertaking internal 

legal work so there is no spare 

capacity to generate income 

from outside of the organisation.  

This will not affect outturn in 16-

17 as it has been offset by a 

grant windfall in Land Charges 

but will be a pressure from 17-18 

onwards.

Promoting Business Waste

(Rachel Jowitt)

B8 Introduction of a new policy 

to charge for trade waste, 

and better control over the 

use of household waste 

recycling centres.

80,000 80,000 80,000 On Track

Leadership Team Structure 

Review

(Paul Matthews)

B11 Re-alignment of Senior 

Key Posts and Roles.

315,000           272,300                  272,300                42,700       Waiting for update on the 

achievability, alternative delivery 

option

Highways Infrastructure 

Income Generation

(Roger Hoggins)

B13 Income generation from 

highway advertisements 

across Monmouthshire 

(£50k)

150,000 150,000 150,000 Planning approval delays means 

£25,000 relating to advertising 

incomevwill  be delayed.  Shortfall  

will  be managed within service 

budget.

Grounds – Funding Review

(Rachel Jowitt)

B14 75,000 75,000 75,000 on track

Highways Maintenance

(Roger Hoggins)

B15 Reducing the budgets within 

the highways section.

200,000 200,000 200,000 on track

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S UNIT

P
age 227



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Budget proposals 2016/17 Mandate

No.
Savings

Mandate

Narrative

Saving 

included

 in

 2016/17

 Budget

Value of

Saving

Forecast at 

Month 2 

 £s

Value of

 Saving

Forecast at 

Month 6  

£'s

Delayed 

savings

 £'s

Savings

not

achievable

£'s

Assessment of progress

Property Services and 

Facilities 

Management Review

(Rob O'Dwyer)

B19 Reduction in corporate 

building maintenance 

budgets. Purchase rebates 

from the use of procurement 

cards. (£15k), Facility 

Management restructure 

(£35k)

100,000 100,000 100,000 The section is forecast to 

achieve the full mandate saving, 

shortfall from purchase rebates 

will be covered through general 

expenditure efficiencies.

Town and Community 

Councils

(Roger Hoggins)

B21 Restructuring of Services in 

collaboration with Town / 

Community Councils PCs

110,000 90,000 90,000 20,000 Public conveniences are forecast 

to achieve £90,000 of the 

£110,000k mandate saving due 

to delayed implementation of 

which £80k is a contribution from 

the Town Council.

Grounds 83,500 83,500 83,500 On Track

Waste 71,500 71,500 71,500 On Track

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S UNIT

P
age 228



 
 

  

Budget proposals 2016/17 Mandate

No.
Savings

Mandate

Narrative

Saving 

included

 in

 2016/17

 Budget

Value of

Saving

Forecast at 

Month 2 

 £s

Value of

 Saving

Forecast at 

Month 6  

£'s

Delayed 

savings

 £'s

Savings

not

achievable

£'s

Assessment of progress

Town and Community 

Councils

(Roger Hoggins)

B21 Restructuring of Services in 

collaboration with Town / 

Community Councils

(Shortfalls)

Museums (£0 out of £20k)

Tourism (£5,000 out of £25k)

Community Hubs (£70,000 

out of £90K))

135,000 75,000 75,000 60,000 No contribution from Town 

council for museums.  Only £5k 

received from Chepstow TC for 

TIC. £70k achieved from Hubs.  

So High Risk on Museums, Low 

Risk on Tourism and Community 

Hubs

Collaboration and realigning 

structures in operations

(Roger Hoggins)

B22 100,000 100,000 100,000 £70k of total saving related to 

Highways efficiencies from 

restructure, delay in 

implementation has meant staff 

savings have been delayed as 

well.  Should not impact on 

outturn position as shortfall will 

be covered by managed 

efficiencies in expenditure.

 

TOTAL 1,565,000 1,442,300 1,442,300 62,700 60,000

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S UNIT

P
age 229



 
  

Budget proposals 2016/17 Mandate

No.

Savings

Mandate

Narrative

Saving 

included

 in

 2016/17

 Budget

Value of

Saving

Forecast at 

Month 2 

 £s

Value of

 Saving

Forecast at 

Month 6  

£'s

Delayed 

savings

 £'s

Savings

not

achievable

£'s

Assessment of progress

Leisure Services Income 

Generation

(Ian Saunders)

B1
Income generation/cost savings 

within the service.
      120,000       120,000         120,000 

On track and expected to be fully met

Planning Services- Income 

Generation

(Mark Hand)

B9

Reduce the net cost of planning 

services with the increase of income 

from planning applications received.

40,000       40,000        40,000         

On track and expected to be fully met

Community Asset Transfer/ 

Income generation

(Peter Davies / Deb Hill-

Howells)

B5 Income Generarion Leisure 25,000       -             -                               25,000 Won't be achieved this financial year

Optimisation of Assets - PD 75,000       -             -                               75,000 Unachievable

Extension Shared 

Lodgings Housing Scheme

(Ian Bakewell)

B10
Increase the Shared Housing 

Scheme within Monmouthshire.
50,000       50,000        50,000         

On track and expected to be fully met

Second Phase Review of 

subsidies to 3rd Sector

(Will Mclean)

B12
Consolidation and reduction of grants 

to 3rd sector providers.
75,000       75,000        75,000         

On track and expected to be fully met

385,000 285,000 285,000 0 100,000

ENTERPRISE

P
age 230



 
 

  

Budget proposals 2016/17 Mandate

No.

Savings

Mandate

Narrative

Saving 

included

 in

 2016/17

 Budget

Value of

Saving

Forecast at 

Month 2 

 £s

Value of

 Saving

Forecast at 

Month 6  

£'s

Delayed 

savings

 £'s

Savings

not

achievable

£'s

Assessment of progress

Transition - Bright New Futures ( 

SC&H)

(Julie Boothroyd)

A24 In 2014 we combined 

our Transitions Project 

Team within Bright 

New Futures Project.  ( 

based in Bridges)

12,000 12,000 12,000 On track and expected to be 

fully met

Adult Social Care Transformation

(Julie Boothroyd)

A34 The service is 

continuing its journey 

on practice change and 

restructuring itself to 

meet future mandate 

savings with 

community links and 

innovative approaches 

to domiciliary care, 

coupled with less 

reliance on admissions 

to residential care.

628,000 628,000 0 628,000 With an £822k Adults overspend

 identified at month 5,

 we are reviewing alternative 

courses of action to pursue 

alternative opinions

 to deliver the savings.

640,000 640,000 12,000 628,000 0

SOCIAL CARE & HEALTH

P
age 231



 

Budget proposals 2016/17 Mandate

No.
Savings

Mandate

Narrative

Saving 

included

 in

 2016/17

 Budget

Value of

Saving

Forecast at 

Month 2 

 £s

Value of

 Saving

Forecast at 

Month 6  

£'s

Delayed 

savings

 £'s

Savings

not

achievable

£'s

Assessment of progress

Gwent Music

(Nicki Wellington)

A20 Gwent Music is a joint service 

hosted by Newport. The plan 

is to refocus the service to 

make them more efficient.

50,000        50,000            50,000            -             -                    On track and expected to be 

fully met

Phase 3 of Additional 

Learning

Needs Review

(Sharon Randall-Smith)

B20 Closure off Deri View SNRB 

(£50k), Placement costs for 

External pupils attending 

Mounton House (£250k). 

Implementation of new funding 

formula from April 2016. 

(£250k).

550,000       550,000           550,000           -             -                    On track and expected to be 

fully met

600,000 600,000 600,000 0 0

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE

P
age 232



 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

1.1 To provide an update on Y Prentis activities and the benefits it has brought to the wider South 

East Wales region.  To consider the dissolution of CMC2. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

2.1 It is recommended that Committee considers the following: 

 To receive a full update on the activities of Y Prentis; 

 To approve the dissolution of CMC2; 

 To agree to novate outstanding debt to the Council for recovery purposes; 

 To, as a consequence of the above movements, to agree to formally pass ownership of Y 

Prentis from CMC2 to the Monmouthshire County Council. 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

BACKGROUND 

3.1 Y Prentis was established by CMC2 and Melin Homes as a not for profit company limited by 

guarantee in September 2012.  Y Prentis delivers a Shared Apprenticeship Scheme across 

South East Wales in partnership with the Construction Industry Training Board (CITB).  Its vision 

is to ‘provide long term sustainable employment opportunities to help young people maximise 

their potential and gain fruitful future employment’. 

 

3.2 Y-Prentis has been a success story for CMC2. It is profitable, supported by a levy from the 

construction sector and enabled more than 160 young people into sustainable living wage 

apprenticeships. Moreover, the potential now exists for the continued development and 

expansion of the company, in the light of City Deal and major infrastructure developments and 

opportunities such as the Critical Care Centre in Torfaen. Aside from Y-Prentis CMC2 has 

created benefits for Monmouthshire communities with broadband exploitation, MonmouthpediA, 

digital inclusion and tourism. In terms of its contribution to the Council, the work undertaken by 

CMC2 on the development of the replacement social care system (FLO/PLANT), has saved the 

Council in the order of £150k annually in licence fees. 

 

3.3 With the conclusion of the software development work and other than the continued operation 

of Y-Prentis, CMC2 has ceased trading and has been engaged in completing live projects since 

July 2015 when cabinet approved reserve funding for its accumulated losses. However it was 

not dissolved at this time as it formed part of an options appraisal to consider a suitable delivery 

structure for the Alternative Delivery Model (ADM) being considered for Tourism, Leisure and 

Culture Services.  This analysis has now concluded that CMC2 is not the correct vehicle for the 

ADM so it is now proposed that the company is formally dissolved. 

 

3.4 In doing so, it is proposed that one outstanding account of £90,000 relating to software 

development services for Skutrade is novated to the Council.  The Council had separately 

engaged with Skutrade to determine whether it could support the competitiveness of 

Monmouthshire businesses, as detailed in the July 2015 cabinet report. The recovery of the 

SUBJECT: Y PRENTIS UPDATE AND CMC2 UPDATE  

MEETING: ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT SELECT COMMITTEE  

DATE:   24TH NOVEMBER 2016 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All  

 

Page 233

Agenda Item 8

http://www.yprentis.co.uk/
https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/CeConvert2PDF.aspx?MID=627&F=Agenda%20Special%20Cabinet%2029th%20July%202015.pdf&A=1&R=0


Skutrade account is considered to be a separate matter to this and we are working with the 

company to settle the account. 

 

3.5 As CMC2 is the registered co-owner of Y Prentis, with Melin Homes it is proposed that following 

dissolution, ownwership of the company transfers to the Council who becomes co-owner of this 

not for profit company limited by guarantee, which is successful in its own right. Accumulated 

surpluses of £240,000 (expected to reach £260,000 by March 31 2017), are now held by the 

company. The significant additional future growth potential with major infrastructure investment 

schemes in the region, now coming to pass must also be considered given the remit of Y-Prentis 

to work on a regional scale. 

 

4. REASONS -  DEVELOPING AND CONSOLIDATING 

4.1 Since its establishment, Y Prentis has employed 162 apprentices, 100 of which have since found 

full time permanent employment.  We have managed to successfully appoint apprentices to our 

Future Schools building programme and implement programmes of related community benefits 

using social clauses and Targeted Recruimtnet and Training.  As well as doing social an 

community good – Y-Prentis is in a position where it has now accrued accumulated surpluses 

of £240,000.   

 

4.2 As Y Prentis is the only CITB approved deliverer of  ‘Shared Apprenticeships’ in South East 

Wales it has special status which improves its opportunities for long term sustainability.  Unlike 

project based funding schemes, Y Prentis is not time limited and is sustainable.  Core funding 

comes from a wide range of sources including private sector income for wages and membership 

fees and CITB grants which are funded via a levy paid by the construction industry.  Given the 

emerging City Deal; the increasing emphasis on skills development; the impending Metro and 

wider infrastructure development – Y-Prentis is well placed for continued future success.  

 

4.3 Two of the four Y Prentis Directors are MCC employees, namely Cath Fallon Head of Economy 

and Innovation and Rob O’Dwyer, Head of Property Services so a transfer of ownership from 

CMC2 to the Council will not present any disruption to the company in the interim until a 

governance review is carried out.  It will however present an opportunity for the Council to play 

a direct role in the future success of Y Prentis, driving forward skills development in the region 

and having an inviolvement in decisions about reinvestment of surpluses. 

 

4.4 As Y Prentis flourishes and develops, it becomes necessary to consolidate and dissolve its 

parent CMC2. Whilst accumulated losses of £140k have been reported and funded by the 

Council, these must be seen alongside the surpluses generated by Y-Prentis and the recurrent 

annual savings of c£150,000 generated through the development and operation of FLO/ PLANT. 

In addition, the Council owns the Intellectual Property of the system – the value of which is 

currently subject to expert commercial valuations advice.  

 

 

4.5 During its lifetime CMC2 has undergone a rigorous level of scrutiny and has been transparent in 

its dealings with regular reports having been presented to Select, Cabinet and the CIC regulator.  

Governance has also been demonstrable with Directors appointments and a public recruitment 

process for Non-Executive Directors.  An independent Observer was also appointed to the 

Board by full Council in 2012.  

                                                                   
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

5.1 Following dissolution of the company the Council will look to recover outstanding debt novated. 

 

6. CONSULTEES 

Senior Leadership Team 

Cabinet  

 

Page 234



7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Appendix A – Future Generations Evaluation 

 

8. FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS 

The completed Future Generations Evaluation can be found in Appendix A.  In summary the 

purpose of Y Prentis is to provide much needed employment opportunities for young people, 

providing employment growth and an increasingly skilled workforce for the South East Wales 

region.  As the company grows so will investment and growth opportunities, potentially for a wider 

range of sectors for example care or digital. 

 

9.  

10. AUTHORS: Cath Fallon – Head of Economy and Innovation  

 

11. CONTACT DETAILS:    

E-mail: Cathfallon@monmouthshire.gov.uk    

Tel:   01633 748316/ 07557 190969 

    

 

 

Page 235

mailto:Cathfallon@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Appendix A 

 

 

 
     
 

Name of the Officer Cath Fallon  
 
 
Phone no:07557 190969 
E-mail: cathfallon@monmouthshire.gov.uk   

To: Y PRENTIS UPDATE AND CMC2 UPDATE 

Name of Service: Enterprise  Date Future Generations Evaluation 9th November 2016 

 

NB. Key strategies and documents that may help you identify your contribution to the wellbeing goals and sustainable 

development principles include: Single Integrated Plan, Continuance Agreement, Improvement Plan, Local Development Plan, 

People Strategy, Asset Management Plan, Green Infrastructure SPG, Welsh Language Standards, etc. 

 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

Y Prentis provides much needed employment, 

growth and skills opportunities for our young 

people. 

 

 

 Provision of a region wide service for both 

apprentices and employers alike. 

 Shared apprenticeship nature of the 

scheme enables opportunities for both 

small and large employers to take on 

apprentices without having to employ them 

directly. 

Future Generations Evaluation  
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact 

Assessments) 

P
age 236

mailto:cathfallon@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

n/a n/a 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

n/a n/a 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

There is potential to grow Y Prentis to enable it 

to offer apprenticeships in other sectors.  This 

will provide further opportunities for young 

people to become more connected by working 

with local businesses in local communities.  

To ensure Y Prentis focuses on encouraging 

community cohesion as one of its social drivers.  

FLO provides an opportunity for the Authority to 

be more connected with our community’s 

needs. 

 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

Y Prentis has a delegated responsibility to 

ensure high standards are met and maintained 

that do not conflict with the global drivers. 

Any decisions taken by the ADM will take into 

account global and well-being issues as part of 

its day to day processes. 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

Y Prentis offers opportunities for young people 

to be involved on heritage projects that will 

protect welsh culture for future generations. 

Decisions taken by Y Prentis will continue to 

offer opportunities for young people to work on 

cultural projects. 

P
age 237



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

Y Prentis provides services for young people 

from all backgrounds and cultures.  

As Y Prentis becomes better established there 

will be opportunities to target areas of the 

community that may not currently be aware of 

the opportunities available. 

 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing short 

term need with 

long term and 

planning for the 

future 

Y Prentis produces a five year business plan and 

annual action plan to identify and target opportunities. 

Regular Board meetings are held to ensure a 
concerted effort is being made to identify efficiencies 
and income generation opportunities as they arise. 

Working 

together with 

other partners 

to deliver 

objectives  

Y Prentis offers a key service for a wide range of 

public and private sector partners.  

The Advisory Panel which consists of key 
stakeholders and representatives from construction 
companies, ensures that the apprenticeships being 
offered are fit for purpose. 

Involving those 

with an interest 

and seeking 

their views 

A Stakeholder group of apprentices has been 

established to ensure that apprentices also have a say 

in how their apprenticeships are developed and 

delivered. 

Both the apprentice stakeholder group and the 
Advisory Panel are regularly reviewed and evaluated 
to ensure the views of all those who have an interest 
are taken into account. 

P
age 238



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Putting 

resources into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting worse 

The Business Plan and action plans opportunities for 

growth and investment. 

 

Where growth and investment opportunities are 
identified resources are put in place to take them 
forward. 

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing goals 

together and 

on other 

bodies 

Y Prentis considers the wellbeing of the apprentices to 

be of upmost importance. A hardship fund has recently 

been established to assist those apprentices with day 

to day cash flow issues to ensure they are fit and well. 

Y Prentis will continue to assess the well-being of 
the apprentices and introduce further measures if 
needed. 

 

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below. For more detailed information on the protected characteristics, the Equality 

Act 2010 and the Welsh Language Standards that apply to Monmouthshire Council please follow this 

link:http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx  or contact Alan Burkitt on 01633 644010 or 

alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age Consider the impact on our community in relation 

to this e.g. how do we engage with older and 

younger people about our services, access 

issues etc. Also consider what issues there are 

for employment and training. 

n/a n/a 

P
age 239

http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx
mailto:alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Disability What issues are there are around each of the 

disability needs groups e.g. access to 

buildings/services, how we provide services and 

the way we do this, producing information in 

alternative formats, employment issues.  

 

n/a n/a 

Gender 

reassignment 

Consider the provision of inclusive services for 

Transgender people and groups. Also consider 

what issues there are for employment and 

training. 

n/a n/a 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

Same-sex couples who register as civil partners 
have the same rights as married couples in 
employment and must be provided with the 
same benefits available to married couples, such 
as survivor pensions, flexible working, 
maternity/paternity pay and healthcare insurance 
 

n/a n/a 

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

In employment a woman is protected from 
discrimination during the period of her pregnancy 
and during any period of compulsory or 
additional maternity leave. In the provision of 
services, good and facilities, recreational or 
training facilities, a woman is protected from 
discrimination during the period of her pregnancy 
and the period of 26 weeks beginning with the 
day on which she gives birth 
 

n/a n/a 

P
age 240



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Race Think about what the proposal will do to promote 

race equality with the aim of: eliminating unlawful 

discrimination, promoting equality of opportunity 

and promoting good relations between persons 

of different racial groups. Also think about the 

potential to affect racial groups differently. Issues 

to look at include providing 

translation/interpreting services, cultural issues 

and customs, access to services, issues relating 

to Asylum Seeker, Refugee, Gypsy &Traveller, 

migrant communities and recording of racist 

incidents etc. 

n/a n/a 

Religion or Belief What the likely impact is e.g. dietary issues, 

religious holidays or daysassociated with 

religious observance, cultural issues and 

customs. Also consider what issues there are for 

employment and training. 

n/a n/a 

Sex Consider what issues there are for men and 

women e.g. equal pay, responsibilities for 

dependents, issues for carers, access to training, 

employment issues. Will this impact 

disproportionately on one group more than 

another 

n/a n/a 

Sexual Orientation Consider the provision of inclusive services for 

e.g. older and younger people from the Lesbian, 

Gay and Bi-sexual communities. Also consider 

what issues there are for employment and 

training. 

n/a n/a 

P
age 241



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

 

Welsh Language 

Under the Welsh Language measure of 2011, 

we need to be considering Welsh Language in 

signage, documentation, posters, language skills 

etc.and also the requirement to promote the 

language. 

n/a n/a 

 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and 

safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx  and for more on Monmouthshire’s Corporate 
Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on safeguarding 
and corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding   Safeguarding is about ensuring that everything 
is in place to promote the well-being of children 
and vulnerable adults, preventing them from 
being harmed and protecting those who are at 
risk of abuse and neglect. 

n/a n/a 

Corporate Parenting  This relates to those children who are ‘looked 
after’ by the local authority either through a 
voluntary arrangement with their parents or 
through a court order. The council has a 
corporate duty to consider looked after children 
especially and promote their welfare (in a way, 
as though those children were their own).  

n/a n/a 

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

P
age 242

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


Since being established regular progress reports have been presented to Economy and Development Select and Cabinet for both Y Prentis 
and CMC2.  

 
6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 

they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 
 

 

The purpose of Y Prentis is to provide much needed employment opportunities for young people, providing employment growth and an 

increasingly skilled workforce for the South East Wales region.  As the company grows so will investment and growth opportunities, potentially 

for a wider range of sectors for example care or digital. 

 

 

 

 
7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 

applicable. 
 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  Progress  

Presentation of a report to 

Cabinet  

December 2017 Cath Fallon  

    

    

    

P
age 243



    

 

8. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will 

evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review. 

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  On going  

 

9. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then 

honed and refined throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this process so that we can 

demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable development wherever possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

1 Dissolution of CMC2 and ownership of Y 

Prentis moving to MCC.  

December 2017 This will demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable 

development throughout the evolution of a proposal. 

    

    

 

 

 

 

P
age 244



1 
 

SUBJECT: Improvement Objectives and Performance indicators – 2016/17 

Quarter 2 update 

MEETING: Economy & Development Select Committee 

DATE: 24th November 2016 

DIVISIONS/WARDS AFFECTED:  All 

 
1. PURPOSE 
 
1.1 To present quarter 2 performance data for the Improvement Objectives which are 

under the remit of Economy & Development Select Committee:  
 
Improvement Objective 3 - We want to enable our county to thrive (Appendix A) 
Improvement Objective 4 - Maintaining locally accessible services (Appendix B) 
 

1.2 To present the latest performance against wider key national performance indicators 
that are under the committee’s remit (Appendix C) 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That members scrutinise the performance achieved and impact made, particularly in 

areas that fall under the committee’s remit, to assess progress and performance 
against the objectives.  

 
2.2  That members identify and explore any areas of underperformance or concern, and 

to seek assurance from those responsible for future activity where they conclude that 
performance needs to improve.  

 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
3.1       Improvement Objectives are set annually by the Council to deliver on priorities, these 

are set in the Council’s Improvement Plan 2016/17. Despite objectives being 
focussed on the long term the specific activities that support them are particularly 
focussed for the year ahead. 

 
3.3       Activity that contributes to the delivery of some objectives cross cuts Select 

Committee remits and these will also be reported to the other relevant committee(s).  
Therefore it is suggested members particularly focus their scrutiny on the activity 
relevant to the committee with consideration of its contribution to the objective as a 
whole.  

 
3.4 The Improvement Objectives will be evaluated at the end of the year (2016/17) based 

on the council’s self-evaluation framework, as set in the Improvement Plan 2016-17. 
Performance against them will be reported to Select Committee and in the Stage 2 
Improvement Plan published in October each year. 

 
3.5       This is likely to be the final annual cycle of Improvement Planning in this format. The 

council is currently undertaking two substantial assessments of need and wellbeing 
within the county as a consequence of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and 
the Social Services and Wellbeing Act. This information will provide a much deeper 
evidence base of well-being in the County and will be used to review the council’s 

Page 245

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

current improvement objectives in preparation for the publication of the council’s well-
being objectives by 31st March 2017.    

  
 3.6      Appendix C sets out further Key Performance Indicators from the National 

Performance indicator set that are under the committee’s remit. The primary purpose 
is to highlight the performance achieved so far in 2016/17. In some cases this may 
result in duplication of indicators already included in other sections of the report. 
Where indicators relate to the performance of services that are under the remit of 
more than one committee these will also be reported to the other relevant 
committee(s).  

 
4. REASONS: 
 
4.1 To ensure that members have an understanding of performance against these areas 

of work and are able to scrutinise them to ensure a rigorous focus on improvement 
and delivering its priorities of education, support for vulnerable people, support for 
enterprise and job creation and maintaining locally accessible services. 

 

5. AUTHORS:  
Richard Jones, Policy and Performance Officer 
e-mail: richardjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk Telephone: 01633 740733 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 246

mailto:teresanorris@monmouthshire.gov.uk


3 
 

Appendix A 

MCC Improvement Objective 3:  We want to enable our county to thrive 

Council Priority: Supporting business & job creation  
Well-being goal contributed to:         
A prosperous Wales – Focussing on using resources efficiently, developing 
skills and an economy which generates wealth and provides employment. 
A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language - A society that 
promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language. 
A resilient Wales - A natural environment supporting social, economic and 
ecological resilience. 

Single Integrated Plan Outcome: Business and enterprise 

What the Single Integrated Plan identifies that we will contribute to: Why have we chosen this? 

To enable business and enterprise to prosper in Monmouthshire, we need:  
• Better paid local employment opportunities 
• To retain more of the spend of visitors, citizens and businesses within 
Monmouthshire. 
For people in Monmouthshire to have affordable and appropriate housing 

This objective aligns closely with the single integrated plan for 
Monmouthshire. To create better employment prospects we need to 
develop and promote an enterprising culture, which builds business 
resilience and creates excellent outcomes for our communities. For our 
county to thrive we need to continue to work with our residents, invest in 
communities and base our delivery on ‘what matters’ to people in their 
communities 

Overview  

 
Work on the CCR City Deal is advancing towards a final agreement between the 10 local authorities, central and Welsh Governments. Monmouthshire, in 
conjunction with the Leader of Torfaen Council are leading on the Innovation, Digital and Business Engagement theme.  A draft CIL charging schedule has 
been developed and is currently being prepared for submission for independent examination.  The latest annual monitoring report of the LDP (2015/16) 
recommends an early review of the LDP, and concludes that while good progress has been made in implementing many of the plan’s policies and overall the 
strategy remains sound, a number of key housing provision policy targets are not being met.  
 
Public realm improvement works in Abergavenny town centre have been completed and one project in Abergavenny has been allocated loan funding under the 
loan scheme. The Caldicot town centre linkage scheme is scheduled to start in January while an application has been submitted to Welsh Government to 
establish a ‘Vibrant and Viable Places’ loan scheme initiative for Caldicot Town centre. 
 
In total 140,297 people attended the Monmouthshire & District Eisteddfod, further information on Tourism Accommodation rates for the period of the Eisteddfod 
will be available soon. Monmouthshire business and enterprise have continued to support businesses. Assistance from Monmouthshire Business Enterprise 
and partners has helped safeguard 45 jobs so far in 2016/17. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 247



4 
 

What will we do? Timescale/ 
milestone 

How we will 
measure success 

What have we done? What difference has it made? Progress 

Maximise the potential 
for Monmouthshire to 
contribute to and 
benefit from the 
creation of the Cardiff 
Capital Region (CCR) 
City Deal.   

March 2017 
Milestone: Council 
decision on signing 
up to the city deal 

Work on the Deal is advancing towards 
a final City Deal Agreement between 
the 10 local authorities, central and 
Welsh Governments. 
 
Interim governance arrangements are 
in place and council agreed a further 
report on these arrangements in 
September 2016. 
 
The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
Project Board have agreed that 
individual Leaders would take 
responsibility for a “theme” of the 
proposed deal. Monmouthshire, in 
conjunction with the Leader of Torfaen 
Council are leading on the Innovation, 
Digital and Business Engagement 
theme. 
 
We have developed an Innovation 
Prospectus in conjunction with 
colleagues in government, HE and the 
private sector. This has helped to 
shape and inform the activities we hope 
to develop for the region as part of the 
Deal. This includes a compelling 
evidence base, priorities for action and 
indications of likely ROI. Many of the 
interventions have been recognised 
and supported by the Independent 
Economic Growth and Competitiveness 
Commission. 
 
We have begun to develop links with 
partners in Industry, HE and 
Government around wider potential  

A £1.2bn City Deal for the CCR 
represents a significant opportunity for 
the region as a whole and 
Monmouthshire. It will mean the CCR is 
able to make strategic investments in 
programmes that will have a material 
and measurable impact on the city-
region economy, as well as enable the 
implementation of devolved powers 
which will allow the region to exert 
greater influence over its economic 
future. 

On target 

P
age 248



5 
 

What will we do? Timescale/ 
milestone 

How we will 
measure success 

What have we done? What difference has it made? Progress 

   

investment programmes (Innovate UK, 
NESTA, Horizon 20-20) to grow our 
leverage capability for innovation in the 
CCR. Detail surrounding some of these 
will be developed in the next weeks and 
months. 

  

Implement 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) and continued 
implementation of the 
Local Development 
Plan (LDP) framework   

CIL adoption 
- Winter 2016  

(Subject to 
examination). 

Milestone: 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
examination, 
adoption and 
implementation 
commenced. 

A draft CIL charging schedule has been 
developed and was consulted on 
between 24th March and 5th May 2016. 
Following the consultation the schedule 
is currently being prepared for 
submission for independent 
examination with the aim to adopt it as 
soon as practicable following the 
receipt of the Examiner’s report. 
 
The latest annual monitoring report of 
the LDP (2015/16) recommends an 
early review of the LDP as a result of 
the need to address the shortfall in the 
housing land supply and facilitate the 
identification and allocation of additional 
housing land.  
 
As there are no concerns with other 
Plan policies at this stage it is not 
considered necessary to review other 
aspects of the Plan at this time. 

The money generated from CIL can be 
used to fund a wide range of 
infrastructure that is needed to support 
growth in the area, including things 
such as community facilities, education 
and transport improvements. 
 
The 2015-16 Annual Monitoring Report 
concludes that while good progress 
has been made in implementing many 
of the Plan’s policies and  overall the 
strategy remains sound, a number of 
key housing provision policy targets are 
not being met including: 
 
In 2015/16:  
- Monmouthshire had 4.1 years 
housing land supply, below the 5 year 
supply required.  
- 234 new dwelling completions 
(general market and affordable) were 
recorded, below the identified LDP 
target of 488 completions per annum. 
- 63 affordable dwelling completions 
were recorded, below the 96 per 
annumn target.  

Behind 
target  

Deliver environmental 
improvements in 
Caldicot and 
Abergavenny town 
centre. 

Abergavenny 
– September 

2016 (Loan 

Funding) 

Measure: Amount of 
loan scheme funding 
allocated in 
Abergavenny Town 
Centrei 

A £1.25m loan scheme, funded under 
the Welsh Government’s ‘Vibrant and 
Viable Places’ initiative, has been 
established to help bring back to life 
underutilised and redundant sites and 

£98k has been allocated to one project 
under the loan scheme to enable the 
return to use of a retail unit and 
housing accommodation in 
Abergavenny town centre.   

Ongoing 
progress 
being 
made  

P
age 249



6 
 

What will we do? Timescale/ 
milestone 

How we will 
measure success 

What have we done? What difference has it made? Progress 

 

Caldicot - 
Ongoing 

Measure: Vacancy 
Rate Abergavenny 
town Centre  
Measure: Vacancy 
Rate Caldicot town 
centre 

buildings in Abergavenny town centre. 
Applications for the scheme were open 
until September 2016. One project has 
been allocated loan funding. A further 
application is currently being reviewed.   
 
£1million worth of public realm 
improvement works in Abergavenny 
town centre were completed in time for 
the National Eisteddfod.   
 
In May 2016 cabinet approved section 
106 funding for  three projects being 
undertaken by Caldicot Town team; 
Caldicot Visioning Project, 
improvements to Caldicot market and 
town Centre Wifi Project.  
 
Cabinet approved additional costs for 
the Caldicot town centre linkage 
scheme, the scheme is scheduled to 
start in January.  
 
An application has been submitted to 
Welsh Government to establish a 
‘Vibrant and Viable Places’ loan 
scheme initiative for Caldicot Town 
centre. 

The loan scheme supports projects that 
increase the availability of 
accommodation, service and leisure 
provision in the town 
 
The improvement works have improved 
the street environment in Abergavenny 
benefiting residents, traders and 
visitors 
 
The linkage scheme will provide 
physical improvements to the town 
centre environment and potential to 
improve the pedestrian footfall into the 
town centre. 
 

 

Maximise the potential 
from hosting the 
National Eisteddfod in 
Monmouthshire 

 
 
 

August 2016 
Measure: Total 
income generated 
from tourism in 
Monmouthshire per 
year 

The national eisteddfod took place in 
Abergavenny from 29th July to 6th 
August 2016 celebrating music, 
language and culture. The event was 
supported by a range of services 
across the council. 
 
On the Maes a Love 
Monmouthshire/Caru Sir Fynwy pavilion 

In total 140,297 people attended the 
Monmouthshire & District Eisteddfod, 
which compares favourably with recent 
Eisteddfods.  
 
A series of community networks have 
been established and the community 
raised £200,000 towards the cost of 
hosting the eisteddfod. 

On target 

P
age 250



7 
 

What will we do? Timescale/ 
milestone 

How we will 
measure success 

What have we done? What difference has it made? Progress 

 

 

 

was set up displaying the best of the 
county’s arts, crafts, culinary skills and 
sports. Including a sports Give It a Go 
Zone, the Vale of Usk Country Kitchen 
showcasing the best of the region’s 
food and cookery, and a main staging 
area where a range of activities took 
place. 

Volunteer ambassadors from the 
eisteddfod are now being encouraged 
to be involved within the 
Monmouthshire volunteering 
programme.  
 
Tourism Accommodation rates for the 
period of the Eisteddfod will be 
available soon, while the STEAM report 
on Monmouthshire’s Tourism 
Performance across the County is 
produced annually.   

 

Continued delivery 
and development, 
working with partners, 
of the Monmouthshire 
Business and 
Enterprise business 
support package 
including; support, 
signposting, training 
and events. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

On going  

Measure: The 
number of new 
business start-ups 
supported. 
 

Monmouthshire business and 
enterprise have continued to advise 
and support pre start and existing 
businesses and potential inward 
investors and have engaged with 
chambers of commerce on issues of 
concern to local business. 
 
So far in 2016/17 54 businesses have 
been assisted by Monmouthshire 
Business and Enterprise and/or 
referred on to partners. 
 
The fourth Monmouthshire Business 
Awards took place in October 2016. 
The Business Awards were attended by 
over 350 guests. 

Assistance from Monmouthshire 
Business Enterprise and partners has 
helped safeguard 45 jobs so far in 
2016/17.  
 
There were 13 categories and 119 
entrants at the business awards. The 
awards promoted new and existing 
business success and Monmouthshire 
as the place to set up business. 

On target  

How will we know the difference it has made  2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 Target 2016-17 Actual  

Total income generated from tourism per yearii £173.15 million £186.65 million +1%-2% Annual 

Amount of loan funding allocated under the Abergavenny Town Centre Loan 
Scheme 

N/A £0 £1.25 Million £98,000 

Number of new business start-ups where assistance was provided by 
Monmouthshire Business and Enterprise and Partners 

122 58 75 Not available iii 

Overall Vacancy rates in Abergavenny town centreiv  5.1% (14 Units) 5.8% (16 Units)  5.8% Annual 

Overall Vacancy rates in Caldicot town centrev 9.2% (6 units) 7.6% (5 units) 7.6% Annual 

P
age 251



8 
 

Appendix B 

MCC Improvement Objective 4:   Maintaining locally accessible services 

Council Priority: Maintaining locally accessible services 
Well-being goal contributed to:  
A Wales of cohesive communities - Attractive, viable, safe and well-
connected communities. 
A prosperous Wales – Focussing on using resources efficiently, 
developing skills and an economy which generates wealth and 
provides employment. 
A resilient Wales - A natural environment supporting social, economic 
and ecological resilience  
 

Single Integrated Plan Outcome: People have good access and mobility and 

People protect and enhance the environment 

What the Single Integrated Plan identifies that we will contribute 
to: 

Why have we chosen this? 

For people to have good access and mobility, we need: 
• To ensure rural communities have good access to services 
To enhance our environment, we need: 
• To enable people to enjoy more of Monmouthshire 
• To produce less waste and recycle more 

Maintaining local access to services is crucially important to us, we will work hard to 
be effective in delivery of our services. The political administration’s Continuance 
Agreement 2015-17 makes it clear that while there are tough choices to be made in 
the next couple of years the council will seek to ensure all valued services survive 
whether they are best placed to be provided by the council or other organisations. 

Overview  

An independent option appraisal for Leisure, Tourism, Culture and Youth Services has been completed and a full Business Case is being developed.  
 
A trial involving approximately 6500 households on the separate collection of glass in a recycling box commenced in September 2016. The provisional 
recycling rate at quarter 2 2016/17 is 70.3%, which is above the Council’s targeted level and the Welsh recycling target for 2025 of 70%.  
 
Applications continue to be invited for projects in line with the 5 themes of the Rural Development Plan (RDP). 15 projects have been approved by the Local 
Action Group so far in 2016/17. As the projects are mainly still in the infancy of their funding period outputs reported through the RDP LEADER Performance 
Framework are low so far.   
 
Community Hubs, combining One stop shops and library services have been established in Caldicot, Chepstow, Monmouth and Usk, with work continuing to 
establish a community hub in Abergavenny. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 252



9 
 

What will we do? Timescale/ 
milestone 

How we will 
measure success 

What have we done? What difference has it made? Progress 

Ensure that tourism, 
leisure, culture 
services and the 
Youth Service can 
continue to prosper by 
being delivered in a 
different way. 

October 2016  

Draft Business 

Plan requiring 

Political 

approval 

Milestone: Option 
appraisal completed  
 
Milestone: Business 
plans considered via 
council process 

An independent option appraisal for the 
Leisure, Tourism, Culture and Youth 
Services has been completed and 
presented to a joint select Committee 
on 19th September.  
 
The option appraisal including 
scrutiny’s conclusions was presented to 
cabinet in October 2016 who approved 
the next stage of the project to develop 
a full Business Case and to continue 
the staff, community and service user 
consultation process. The business 
case is planned for further 
consideration by Members early in 
2017.  

The purpose of the proposed new 
Delivery Option is to ensure much 
valued local services are maintained. 
 
It aims to enable services to be kept 
open but with more community focus 
and coordination. 

 
On target  
 

Undertake a 6 month 
pilot on separating 
glass at kerbside. 

March 2017  

Milestone: Pilot 
review completed 
and results of the 
review reported 
Measure: Recycling 
rate  
Measure: Landfill 
rate 
Measure: Waste to 
energy rate  

The separate collection of glass in a 
recycling box trial commenced in 
September 2016. Approximately 6500 
households have been included in the 
trial including parts of Abergavenny, 
Gilwern and Govilon, Llanellen, Goytre, 
Little Mill and Llangybi. 
 
On completion of the trial the results will 
be analysed, and reported to Strong 
Communities select in January 2017 
and Cabinet in March 2017, this will 
include factors such as if collection 
vehicles can cope with the separated 
materials and the quality of recycling.  
 
The trial will determine if this method 
works and the scheme is expanded 
countywide in 2017/18. 

Separating glass will improve the 
quality of our recycling. The glass can 
then be reprocessed locally and this 
will reduce the overall cost of our 
recycling service.  
 
The provisional 2016/17 quarter 2 
performance data for waste is:  
The recycling rate is 70.3%, which is 
above the Council’s targeted level of 
66% and the Welsh recycling target for 
2025 of 70%. The landfill rate 
continued to decrease to 0.7% and 
waste used for heat and power has 
increased to 27.3%. 
 
This is largely due to the continued 
cooperation of residents. Along with a 
few other factors including energy 
recovery of all of Monmouthshire’s  

On target  

P
age 253



10 
 

What will we do? Timescale/ 
milestone 

How we will 
measure success 

What have we done? What difference has it made? Progress 

    

residual household waste at an energy-
from-waste plant. It should be noted 
that it is unlikely that the annual 
recycling percentage will remain this 
high because collection of compostable 
garden waste reduces during the 
winter.  

 

Continue to identify 
projects as part of the 
Vale of Usk Rural 
Development Plan 
(RDP) LEADER 
programme for the 
2014-2020 funding 
period.vi 

On-going  

Milestone: Local 
Action Group agree 
the projects that will 
be funded. 
Measure: Number of 
LEADER projects 
supportedvii 
Milestone: 
Outcomes achieved.  

Applications continue to be invited for 
projects in line with the 5 themes of the 
RDP. 
 
Various communication channels 
continue to be used to promote 
applications including Facebook and 
Twitter accounts.  
 
15 projects have been approved by the 
Local Action Group during the first six 
months of the year totalling £111,000 of 
RDP funds committed.  
 
The actual spend is low but will 
increase rapidly as the programme 
develops. Approximately 15 other 
projects are currently being worked on 
to bring them to full application stage.   

 
As the projects are mainly still in the 
infancy of their funding period outputs 
reported through the RDP LEADER 
Performance Framework are low so 
far.   
 
Examples of some approved projects 
include: Energy days; Monmouthshire 
Community Climate Champions have 
pulled together a series of Energy 
Days to mark EU Sustainable Energy 
Week 
Digital Open Badges; to develop a 
digital evaluation tool which will deliver 
training, measure competencies and 
offer a platform for enhanced 
development of digital skills. A Country 
Kitchen at the Eisteddfod, A broadband 
pilot in central Monmouthshire plus 
other smaller projects that can be 
viewed here 

On target  

Establish a 
community hub in 
Abergavenny which 
brings together library 
and one-stop-shop 
services 

March 2017 

Milestone: 
Completed 
consultation, 
achieved funding 
and statutory 
consents (planning 
& listed building).  

Community Hubs, combining One stop 
shops and library services have been 
established in Caldicot, Chepstow, 
Monmouth and Usk. 
 
The Abergavenny hub has been 
delayed due to the need to provide an 
alternative delivery venue. An outline  

Abergavenny is currently running stand 
alone dual provisions, the development 
of the hub will allow Aberagvenny to 
have consistent provision with the 
other towns in Monmouthshire and 
enable the achievement of their 
apportioned element of the revenue 

On target 
(with the 
exception 
of 
statutory 
consents)  

P
age 254

http://monmouthshire.biz/rural-innovation/projects/


11 
 

What will we do? Timescale/ 
milestone 

How we will 
measure success 

What have we done? What difference has it made? Progress 

  
Commenced on site 
work. 

business case has been developed 
which explores two possibilities 
identified by stakeholders, the Town 
Hall and the former Richards building 
on Frogmore Street. Initial plans and 
costs have been developed. These 
demonstrate that either building could 
accommodate the new hub facility. 
 
In September 2016 Council agreed that 
the preferred location for the 
development of the community hub is 
within the Town Hall, Abergavenny and 
agreed funding for the cost of finalising 
the detailed designs and business 
case. On completion of the detailed 
designs and business case a report will 
be presented to council to seek 
approval for the scheme to be 
undertaken. 

savings. 
 
The development of a final detailed 
plan will also enable costs and 
timelines to be established and work 
undertaken in conjunction with an 
advisory group made up of 
representatives from the buildings 
occupiers. This will ensure that the 
plans reflect operational needs during 
and after the construction period. 

 

How will we know the difference it has made  
2014-15 2015-16 2016-17  

Target 
2016-17  
Actual  

Number of RDP LEADER programme projects supportedviii Not applicable 3 30 15 

Percentage of municipal waste collected that is sent to landfill 18.1% 13.1% 6% 
0.7% 

(Q2 provisional) 

Percentage of municipal waste that is prepared for reuse or recycled 63.2% 61.7% 66% 
70.3% 

(Q2 provisional) 

The percentage of local authority municipal waste used to recover heat and power 16.9% 25.4% 28% 
27.3% 

(Q2 provisional) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 255



12 
 

 
Appendix C 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Improved or At 

maximum 

Improvement >2.5% or 

at  Maximum 

Marginal Improvement 
Improvement 0.1% - 

2.4%

Unchanged Unchanged - 0% 

Marginal Decline
Marginal Decline -         

-0.1% -  -2.4%

Declined Declined - >-2.5%

N/A - Not applicable  Trend  Not applicable

Index

Ref Description 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
2016/17     

Q2

Target 

16/17

Target 

met? 16/17 

Trend 15/16 -         

16/17

Quartile 

2015/16 
Comment 

PPN/0

09

The percentage of food establishments which are ‘broadly 

compliant‘ with food hygiene standards
91.2 93.9 93.8 94.6 93 

Marginal 

Improvement

Lower 

Middle

LCL/0

01b

The number of visits to public libraries during the year, per 

1,000 population
7270 7434 7478 7779 7500  Improved Top

LCS/0

02b

The number of visits to local authority sport and leisure 

centres during the year per 1,000 population where the 

visitor will be participating in physical activity

8099 7893 8205 7068 7800  Declined
Lower 

Middle

Full year projection based on six months of visits. 

Performance is expected to come in on target for 

the full year as it is envisaged that visitor 

numbers will increase in the next 6 months due 

to seasonal club bookings and targeted 

promotions. The target for the year was set lower 

due to the new school re-build in Monmouth 

impacting upon visitor numbers to the Leisure 

Centre.    

Full year projection based on six months of visits. 

The Community Hubs have been in place since 

October 2015. The formation of the hubs have 

contributed to an increase in visits to the 

hub/libraries in the first 6 months of 2016/17 

compared to the same period in 2015/16.

Target to maintain the number of broadly 

compliant food hygiene premises in 

Monmouthshire.

P
age 256



13 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

i Monmouthshire County Council have established a loan scheme to help bring back to life underutilised and redundant sites and buildings in Abergavenny town centre. This is 
funded under the Welsh Government’s ‘Vibrant and Viable Places’ initiative, the scheme will provide interest-free loans to owners to refurbish, convert or develop redundant, 
vacant and underutilised sites and premises in the town centre. 
ii Based on annual calendar year data produced by STEAM. Due to the range of factors that affect this indicator it is not possible to produce a more specific target. 
iii New business start-up data for the year is not yet available, discussion is taking place regarding the provision of partner data under a new Welsh Government contract. 
iv Monmouthshire Local Development Plan, Retail Background paper 2015  
v Monmouthshire Local Development Plan, Retail Background paper 2015 
vi Monmouthshire Council is the Administrative Body for the programme, the Vale of Usk allocation has an approximate 80:20 split between Monmouthshire and Newport. 
vii Approved projects and supporting LAG minutes are shown on the projects section of the www.valeofusk.org  website. 
viii The target provides an indication of forecast projects, this may vary depending on projects that apply for funding and full information is available on www.valeofusk.org.  

                                                           

Ref Description 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
2016/17     

Q2

Target 

16/17

Target 

met? 16/17 

Trend 15/16 -         

16/17

Quartile 

2015/16 
Comment 

CAM/0

37

The percentage change in the average Display Energy 

Certificate (DEC) score within local authority public buildings 

over 1,000 square metres

N/A 4.1 3.6 Annual 3 N/A N/A
Upper 

Middle

PSR/0

04

The percentage of private sector homes that had been 

vacant for more than 6 months that were returned to 

occupation during the year through direct action by the local 

authority

4.66 10.27 14.18 Annual 11 N/A N/A Top

PLA/0

06b

The percentage of all additional housing units provided 

during the year that were affordable.
31 53 25 Annual N/A N/A N/A Bottom

The data reported by Welsh Government for this 

indicator is from the previous financial year 

(2015/16 is 2014/15 data). This is produced 

annually  by Welsh Government using Council 

(Housing Service) and external data which 

records affordable acquisitions, when units are 

handed over and when registered as completions 

by Building Control or private inspectors, and 

therefore a targets is not set.  The Council's own 

planning  policy data for 2015/16, reported in the 

LDP annual monitoring report, is 63 affordable 

housing completions out of a total of 234  housing 

completions for the period. 

The target is to maintain performance  based on 

continuing the same process from previous 

years of contacting empty homes to return them 

to use.

Data for this indicator is reported a year in 

arrears as part of the national data return . 

However as we have provisional data available 

for 2015/16  we have used it in our local reporting 

to provide  the most up-to-date position on 

performance. The data shown as 14/15 is 

reported as 15/16 in national publications.   Latest 

data shows the  average score was 88.3 in 14/15 

and 85.1 in 15/16  (an improvement in 

performance) 

P
age 257

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/03/Retail-Background-Paper-2015.pdf
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/03/Retail-Background-Paper-2015.pdf
http://www.valeofusk.org/
http://www.valeofusk.org/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2016 
 
 

Economy Select Committee 

Meeting Date Subject Purpose of Scrutiny Responsibility Type of Scrutiny  

24th Nov 2016 Skutrade Position report due. Peter Davies  Performance 

Monitoring 

Business Rates Revaluation Verbal update. Cath Fallon Verbal Update 

CMC2 Performance Report Performance report due. Cath Fallon Performance 

Monitoring 

Y Prentis Update End of year position report. Cath Fallon Performance 

Monitoring 

Museums Service Future Monmouthshire:  Transition of the Museum 

Service. 

Cath Fallon Pre-decision 

Scrutiny 

Improvement Objectives 

and Performance  

Scrutiny of the following: 

1) Improvement Objectives – Six month progress 

2) Performance Indicators – Quarter 2 update  

Richard Jones Performance 

Monitoring 

5th Jan 2017 Budget Scrutiny Scrutiny of the budgetary proposals for 2017-2018. Joy Robson Budget Scrutiny 

Risk Assessment Scrutiny of the following Strategic Risk assessment 

for 2016-2017. 

Richard Jones Performance 

Monitoring 

24th Jan 2017 

2pm 

Joint Select 

Committee 

Alternative Service 

Delivery Model 

Scrutiny of the business case for the new Delivery 

Model 

Tracey Thomas 

Ian Saunders 

Cath Fallon 

Pre-decision 

Scrutiny 

9th Feb 2017 Supplementary Planning 

Guidance on Tourism 

To scrutinise a working draft of an SPG on tourism. Mark Hand  

Nicola Edwards 

Policy Development 

Chief Officer Enterprise 

Annual Report    *TBC* 

Scrutiny of the performance of the directorate for 

the previous year. 

Kellie Beirne Performance 

Monitoring 

P
age 259

A
genda Item

 10



Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2016 
 
 

Economy Select Committee 

Meeting Date Subject Purpose of Scrutiny Responsibility Type of Scrutiny  

Budget Monitoring  

 

To review the financial situation for the 

directorate, identifying trends, risks and issues on 

the horizon with overspends/underspends). 

Mark Howcroft Budget Monitoring 

Joint meeting 

with Adults and 

Strong 

Communities 

(Planning 

committee to be 

invited) 

 

Date TBC 

Supplementary Planning 

Guidance on Affordable 

Housing 

Pre-decision scrutiny of an SPG prepared on 

Affordable Housing in Monmouthshire. 

Mark Hand Policy Development 

27th April 2017     

 

Future Work Programme items: 

 Eisteddfod Report  

 Vale of Usk LDP Strategy and projects  

 Leisure Services – Annual performance report  

 CIL update 

 Alternative Service Delivery Model – Joint Select Meeting held in September 2016, to return January/February 2017. 

 

 

P
age 260



 

 
      

Council and Cabinet Business – Forward Plan 
 

Monmouthshire County Council is required to publish a Forward Plan of all key decisions to be taken in the 
following four months in advance and to update quarterly.  The Council has decided to extend the plan to twelve 
months in advance, and to update it on a monthly basis. 
 
Council and Cabinet agendas will only consider decisions that have been placed on the planner by the beginning of 
the preceding month, unless the item can be demonstrated to be urgent business 

 

 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

2nd MARCH 2016 – CABINET  
NEET strategy    Tracey Thomas 

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2015/16 meeting 5 held on the 21st 
January 2016 

 Dave Jarrett 

2015/16 Education & Welsh 
Church Trust Funds 
Investment & Fund Strategy 

The purpose of this report is to present to 
Cabinet for approval the 2016/17 Investment and 
Fund strategy for Trust Funds for which the 
Authority acts as sole or custodian trustee for 
adoption and to approve the 2015/16 grant 
allocation to Local Authority beneficiaries of the 
Welsh Church Fund. 

 Dave Jarrett 

New Monmouthshire Carers 
Strategy (Adults) 

  Deb Saunders 

Mounton House Formula 
Change 

  Nikki Wellington 

Review of the Proposed 
closure of Deri View 

  Debbie Morgan 

Removal of post from CYP   Sharon Randall 

P
age 261

A
genda Item

 11



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Smith 

SRS   Sian Hayward 

Pay Policy   Sally Thomas 

9th MARCH 2016 – INDIVIUDAL DECISION  
Flexi retirement request   Ian Bakewell 

Allocation Policy   Karen Durant 

    

10th MARCH 2016 – COUNCIL 
Final Composite Council 
Tax Resolution 

To set budget and council tax for 2016/17  Joy Robson 

Treasury Management 
Strategy 2016/17 

To accept the annual treasury management 
strategy 

 Joy Robson 

The Future Food Waste 
Treatment Strategy: Outline 
Business Case & Inter 
Authority Agreement 

for the Council to consider the inclusion of MCC 
in the Heads of the Valleys Anaerobic Digestion 
Procurement.  To agree the Outline Business 
Case and the Inter Authority Agreement which 
commits the Council to the procurement and 
partnership and a 15-20 year contract.   

SLT 
Cabinet 

Rachel Jowitt 

The Future Food Waste 
Treatment Strategy: Outline 
Business Case & Inter 
Authority Agreement 

for the Council to consider the inclusion of MCC 
in the Heads of the Valleys Anaerobic Digestion 
Procurement.  To agree the Outline Business 
Case and the Inter Authority Agreement which 
commits the Council to the procurement and 
partnership and a 15-20 year contract.   

SLT 
Cabinet 

Rachel Jowitt 

Waste Strategy   Carl Touhig/ Roger 
Hoggins 

CIL   Martin Davies 

SPG   Martin Davies 

Draft Diary     

Pay Policy   Sally Thomas 

23rd MARCH 2016 – INDIVIUDAL CABINET MEMBER DEICSIONS  
Release of restrictive 
covenant 

  Gareth King 

Creation of business support 
officer post 

To gain agreement to employ a full-time 
Business Support Officer within Children’s 

 Gill Cox 

P
age 262



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Services. 

Tender for Treasury 
Services 

  Mark Howcroft/Jon 
Davies 

Conservation area 
appraisals 

To adopt as supplementary planning guidance  Mark Hand 

Flexible retirement request   Roger Hoggins 

24th MARCH 2016 – SPECIAL CABINET 
Risk Assessment    Richard Jones 

Proposed closure of Llanfair 
Kilgeddin CIW VA Primary 
School  (23rd March) 

  Debbie Morgan 

Proposed establishment of 
an ALN facility and reduction 
in the capacity at Monmouth 
Comprehensive School (23rd 
March 2016) 

  Debbie Morgan 

Removal of CYP post 
(EXEMPT) 

  Sharon Randall-
Smith 

CYP Call-In (Mounton 
House) 

  Tracey Harry 
 
 

13TH APRIL 2016 - CABINET 
Digital Strategy To update members on progress with the digital 

strategy and to agree the next steps. 
 Sian Hayward 

Community Coordination 
evaluation of pilot 

  Matt Gatehouse 

Proposed Closure of Deri 
View Special Needs 
Resource Base 

  Debbie Morgan 

Mardy Park   Colin Richings 

EAS Business Plan   Debbie Harteveld 
(EAS) 

Play Sufficiency 
Assessment 

  Matthew Lewis 

People and organisational   Lisa Knight Davies 

P
age 263



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

strategy 

Acorn Staffing Restructure   Clair Evans 

Recommendations from 
Select  

  Hazel Ilett 

    

    

27th APRIL 2016 – INDIVUDAL DECISION 
SHG Programme   Shirley Wiggam 

Moving Boverton House 
from CYP into the Enterprise 
Directorate 

  Ian Saunders 

Monmouthshire Flood Risk 
Management Plan 

  Dave Harris 

Primary Shopping Frontages 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance’ 

  Jane Coppock 

    

4TH MAY 2016 – CABINET 
    

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2015/16, meeting 5 held on the 10th 
March 2016 

 Dave Jarrett 

    

BUDGET MANDATE 
2016/17 – 
PREPAREDNESS 
ASSESSMENT 
 

To provide Cabinet with an assessment on the 
preparedness of services to deliver the 2016/17 
budget mandates. 
 

 Deb Mountfield 

Gilwern Setion 106 Funding reporting back following the deferral of the 
Gilwern decisions at the February meeting 

 Mike Moran 

Church Road Caldicot S106 new, short report to include some funding into 
the capital budget for 2016/17 

 Mike Moran 

Monmouth S106 Funding   Mike Moran 

Transfer management of   Cath Sheen  

P
age 264



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Raglan VC Primary school 
former Junior building to the 
Enterprise Directorate 

Funding to Caldicot Town 
Team – Caldicot goes pop 

  Judith Langdon 

Funding to Caldicot Town 
Team – Caldicot Market 

  Judith Langdon 

    

4th MAY 2016 – SPECIAL COUNCIL 
    

    

11TH MAY 2016 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Transfer member of staff 
from Policy and 
Performance to CYP 
Directorate 

  Will McLean 

SWTRA   Roger Hoggins 

Monmouth Section 106 
Funding – St Thomas 
Church Hall.    

  Mike Moran 

40mph Speed Limit B4235 
Myndbach 

  Paul Keeble 

12TH MAY 2016 – COUNCIL  
Improvement Plan 2016-17   Matt Gatehouse 

25TH MAY 2016 – INDIVIDUAL CABINENT MEMBER DECISION 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance – Draft 
Programme 

  Jane Coppock 

Review of the administrative 
fee (Abergavenny Town 
Centre Loan Scheme) 
Councillor Greenland. 

  Stephen Griffiths 

Review of the Council’s 
Planning Pre-application 

  Craig O’Connor 

P
age 265



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Advice Service including the 
proposal to increase the 
charges for this service 

Proposed prohibition of 
waiting at any time & 
prohibition of driving (except 
for access) mount way, 
chepstow.  

  Paul Keeble 

8th JUNE 2016 – CABINET 
Contaminated Land report 
for Cabinet decision 

To consider the options for revising the 
Authority’s Contaminated Land Inspection 
Strategy 

 Huw Owen / David 
Jones 

Review of Sundry Debtors 
policy 

To agree the updated Sundry Debtor Policy, to 
ensure that the Authority continues to adopt a 
consistent and transparent approach to the 
management of its sundry debts. 

 Joy Robson 

Revenue & Capital 
Monitoring 2015/16 Outturn 
Forecast Statement 

To provide Members with information on the 
outturn position of the Authority for the 2015/16 
financial year. 

 Mark Howcroft 

Monmouthshire Carers 
strategy 

To gain the approval of Cabinet, for the 
publication of the Monmouthshire Carers 
Strategy 2016-2019. 
 

 Bernard Bonniface/ 
Deb Saunders 

Volunteering Strategy To introduce the Draft Volunteering Strategy 
2016-19 

 Owen Wilce 

Capital Programme Report To seek member approval for highway and 
transportation schemes as part of Welsh 
Government transport grants and Section 106 
agreements associated with new developments 
throughout Monmouthshire 

 Paul Keeble 

S106 Funding Newport 
Road, Caldicot 

To consider the release of S106 funding from the 
Newport Road allocation to enable the Caldicot 
Linkage Scheme to proceed 

 Deb Hill-Howells 

Hydrogen Car Trial   Ben Winstanley / 
Roger Hoggins 

P
age 266



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Changes to the EAS 
business arrangements 

To seek Cabinet approval of the changes on 
Governance arrangements; Business 
arrangements; Funding arrangements 

 Sharon Randall 
Smith 

    

Caerwent House 
 
 

To update Cabinet on project progress and 
proposed action with regards to the Compulsory 
Purchase Order in relation to Caerwent House. 

 Philip Thomas 

15TH JUNE – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 
Establishing two temporary 
posts to facilitate new duties 
under the social services & 
well-being (wales) act 2014, 
part 11 – to assess and 
meet the needs of adults in 
the secure estate. 

  Julie Boothroyd 

Capability Policy for school 
based employees 

  Sally Thomas 

16th  JUNE - COUNCIL 
Update on Syrian 
Resettlement Programme 

  Will McLean 

Audit Committee Annual 
Report 2015/16, Annual 
report 2014/15 

  Andrew Wathan 

    

29th JUNE 2016 – INDIVIUDAL CABINET DECISION 
    

EU Project   Deserie Mansfield 

Re-Allocation of Resources 
within Development 
Management 

  Mark Hand 

Amendments to the protocol 
on public speaking at 
Planning Committee 

  Mark Hand 

6TH JULY 2016 – CABINET 
Welsh Language Monitoring   Alan Burkitt 

P
age 267



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Report 

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2016/17, meeting 1 held on the 16th 
June 2016. 

 Dave Jarrett 

Review of Reserves   Joy Robson 

    

End of year performance on 
Whole Authority 
Safeguarding 

  Teresa Norris / 
Claire Marchant 

Proposed changes to the 
whole authority 
safeguarding approach 

  Teresa Norris / 
Claire Marchant 

Car Park Management and 
Obstructions in the Highway 

  Roger Hoggins 

DSS Annual report   Claire Marchant 

    

    

    

    

13th July – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

Proposed prohibition of 
waiting at any time & 
prohibition of waiting mon – 
sat 10:00am – 3:00pm, st 
kingsmark avenue, 

  Paul Keeble 

Proposed 30mph speed 
limit, R139 Crick Road, 
Crick. 

  Paul Keeble 

Proposed prohibition of 
waiting at any time & 
prohibition of waiting mon – 
fri 8am – 5pm, Monmouth 
Road & other roads, Usk  

  Paul Keeble 

P
age 268



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Proposed 30mph speed 
limit, R122 (Crick to 
Shirenewton ), Crick. 

  Paul Keeble 

Proposed 40mph speed 
limit, R122 Earlswood Road, 
Crick. 

  Paul Keeble 

Proposed weight restriction 
order Usk 

  Paul Keeble 

Monmouthshire Meals 
Leadership 

  Colin Richings 

Mounton House – Catering 
Staff restructure 

  Rob O’Dwyer 

27TH JULY – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISON 
Wye Valley Management 
Plan 

  Matthew Lewis 

Procurement Memorandum 
of Understanding for 
Regional Garden Waste 
Treatment 

  Carl Touhig 

Team Abergavenny 
Business Case for Capital 
Expenditure 

To consider an application for expenditure  Deb McCarty 

Review of the Council’s 
Allocation Scheme 

  Karen Durrant 

Language and 
Play/Engagement Worker 
Post Deletion Proposal 

  Beth Watkins 

27TH JULY – CABINET 
Budget Monitoring report – 
Period 2 

The purpose of this report is to provide Members 
with information on the forecast outturn position of 
the Authority at end of month reporting for 
2016/17 financial year. 

 Joy Robson/Mark 
Howcroft 

Children’s Services 
Improvement Reports 

  Claire Marchant 

Redundancy Report – EXEMPT REPORT  Ian Saunders 

P
age 269



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Leisure Services 

Crick Road   Deb Hill-Howells 

Effectiveness of Council 
Services – Q4 

  Matt Gatehouse 

People Services Annual 
Report 

  Peter Davies 

Social Care and Health 
Restructure Report  

   
Claire Marchant 

28th JULY - COUNCIL 
    

DSS Annual report   Claire Marchant 

Solar Farm revised business 
case 

  Ben Winstanley 

Safeguarding – year end 
performance 2015/16 

To sign off end of year performance 2015/16 and 
present a new way forward on safeguarding 

 Teresa Norris 

CYP Chief Officer report   Sarah McGuiness 

Sustainable Development 
Policy 

  Matthew Gatehouse 

    

17th AUGUST – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Map Modification Order   Mandy Mussell 

Delegated Waste 
Enforcement Powers for 
Waste and Street Services 

  Carl Touhig 

Job Evaluation In Respect 
Of The Occupational 
Therapist In The Children 
With Disabilities  Team 
Monmouthshire. 
 

  Carol Buck 

31ST AUGUST 2016 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
 
Procurement Card Policy To seek approval of the Procurement Card 

Policy to be used within the Authority 
 Lisa Widenham 

P
age 270



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

 

    

Training And Events Co-
ordination 

  John McConnachie 

Temporary Animal Health & 
Feed Officer 

  Gareth Walters 

DEFINITIVE MAP 
MODIFICATION ORDER 
2016, Section 53 (C)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, Restricted Byway (53-
16), Great Panta, Devauden 

  Paul Keeble 

7TH SEPTEMBER - CABINET 
    

Section 106 Education 
Contributions - Land at Ty 
Mawr and Cae Meldon, 
Gilwern 

To decide on the use of education balances 
available from the Section 106 Agreements 
relating to the development of land at Tw Mawr 
and at Cae Meldon, Gilwern. 

 Simon Kneafsey 

Allocation of Section 106 
Funds – Magor and Undy 

  Deb Hill Howells 

Youth Offending Service 
Restructure Report 

  Jacalyn Richards 

Effectiveness of Council 
Services – Q1 2016/17 
update 

  Richard Jones 

Caldicot Town Team 
Section 106 Funding Pilot 

  Judith Langdon 

Recommendations from 
Select Committees 

  Hazel Ilett 

14TH SEPTEMBER – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISONS 
Permanent Adoption of post 
CDLL18 

  R Tranter 

To Establish The Temporary 
Post Of Carers 
Development Manager 

  B Boniface 

P
age 271



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

 

22ND SEPTEMBER 2016 – COUNCIL 
    

MCC Audited Accounts 
2015/16(formal approval 

To present the audited Statement of Accounts 
for 2015/16 for approval by Council 

 Joy Robson 

ISA 260 report – MCC 
accounts 

To provide external audits report on the 
Statement of Accounts 2015/16 

 WAO 

Re-Appointment of 
Monmouthshire Local 
Access Forum 

To secure the appointment of members to the 
Monmouthshire Local Access Forum for its next 
3 year period. 

 Matthew Lewis 

Provision of a Community 
Hub in Abergavenny 

  Deb Hill-Howells 

Stage 2 Improvement Plan – 
How we performed 2015/16 

  Richard Jones 

City Deal    

Future Schools Programme   Simon Kneafsey 

28TH SEPTEMBER 2016 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Emergency planning – 
business continuity register 
of priority services 

To seek agreement from the Emergency 
Planning ‘Portfolio Holder’ to the revised 
and updated MCC Register of Priority 
Services. 

 Ian Hardman 

    

    

5TH OCTOBER 2016 – CABINET 
Gilwern Section 106 funding   Mike Moran 

Community Asset Transfer 
of Caerwent Hall and 
Playing fields 

  Ben Winstanley 

LDP/AMR   Jane Coppock 

12th OCTOBER 2016 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Monmouthshire Museums 
Accreditation 

  Rachel Rogers 

Carer Information And 
Support 

  Bernard Boniface 

P
age 272



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Request for Change in 
Establishment 

EXEMPT REPORT  Ruth Donovan 

20TH OCTOBER 2016 – COUNCIL 
    

Future Schools   Will Mclean/Pete 
Davies 

26TH OCTOBER 2016 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Redundancy costs for one 
employee  arising from 
relocation of My Day My Life 
(Swancraft) to Overmonnow 
Resource Centre’ 

  Shelley Welton 

Creation of an apprentice 
position on the Financial 
System support team 

  Lisa Widenham 

Change of Senior 
Practitioner Social Worker 
to Social Worker Post 

  Julie Boothroyd 

Private Rented Sector 
Housing Development 
Policy    

  Ian Bakewell 

Job Evaluation Of Legal 
Assistant Post CDLL 39 
 

  Rob Tranter 

    

2ND NOVEMBER 2016 – CABINET 
Discretionary Housing 
Payments 

  Ruth Donovan 

Welsh Church Fund working 
group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2016/17, meeting 2 held on 22nd 
September 2016. 

 Dave Jarrett 

MTFP and Budget proposals 
for 2017/18 

To provide Cabinet with revenue Budget 
Proposals for 2017/18 for consultation purposes 

 Joy Robson 

P
age 273



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Revenue & Capital 
Monitoring  2016/17- Period 
2 Outturn Forecast 
Statement 
 

 
The purpose of this report is to provide Members 
with information on the forecast revenue outturn 
position of the Authority at the end of period 2 
which represents month 6 financial information 
for the 2016/17 financial year 
 

 Joy Robson/Mark 
Howcroft 

Delivering Excellent Practice 
in Children's Services - 
Progress report 

  Deb Hill Howells 

Abergavenny Town Centre 
Loan Application 

EXEMPT REPORT To approve the 
recommendation of the Abergavenny Town 
Centre Loan Board 

 Steve Griffiths 

    

Revised Staff Contractual 
arrangements – Individual 
Support Service 

  Ceri York 

CIL:  For approval to submit for examination  Mark Hand 

Undy Athletic Football Club 
Community Asset Transfer 

  Ben Winstanley 

16th NOVEMBER 2016 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

    

    

30th NOVEMBER 2016 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

DEFINITIVE MAP 
MODIFICATION ORDER 
2016, Section 53 (C)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, Restricted Byway (53-
16), Great Panta, Devauden 

  Paul Keeble 

Proposed allocation of 
community learning 
redundancy costs to 
reserves 

To request member approval to use reserve 
funding to meet redundancy costs by the 
Community Learning Department in the 
Enterprise Directorate in 16/17. 

 Andrea Charles 

1st DECEMBER 2016 - COUNCIL 

P
age 274



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

CYP CHIEF OFFICER 
REPORT 

  Sarah McGuiness 

Stock Transfer Agreement – 
service charge de-pooling 

  Ian Bakewell 

Proposal to revise the Policy 
on Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) in respect 
of Supported Borrowing for 
2016/17 onwards 

  Joy Robson 

7TH DECEMBER 2016 – CABINET 
    

Asset Management Strategy   Deb Hill Howells 

Payroll and HR support 
restructure 

  Tracey Harry 

Effectiveness of Council 
Services – Quarter 2 update 

  Richard Jones 

Council Tax Base 2017/18 
and associated matters 

To agree the Council Tax Base figure for 
submission to the Welsh Government together 
with the collection rate to be applied for 2017/18 
and to make other necessary related statutory 
decisions 

 Sue Deacy/Ruth 
Donovan 

Section 106 Funding – 
Magor GRIP 3 Report 

  Mike Moran 

Individual Support Service – 
Proposed Implementation of 
Revised Contractual 
Arrangements 

  Shelley Welton 

    

14TH DECEMBER 2016 – INDIVIDUAL MEMBER DECISION 
Local Government (Wales) 
Act 1994  The Local 
Authorities 
(Precepts)(Wales) 
Regulations 1995 

To seek approval of the proposals for 
consultation purposes regarding payments to 
precepting Authorities during 2017/18 financial 
year as required by statute 

 Joy Robson 

    

P
age 275



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

16TH DECEMBER 2016 – SPECIAL CABINET 
    

Capital Budget Proposals To outline the proposed capital budget for 
2017/18 and indicative capital budgets for the 3 
years 2018/19 to 2020/21 

 Joy Robson 

Revenue Budget Proposals   Joy Robson 

Review of Fees and 
Charges 

To review all fees and charges made for services 
across the Council and identify proposals for 
increasing them in 2017/18 

 Joy Robson 

11TH JANUARY 2017 – CABINET 
Replacement of Dragon 
Waste, HWRC, Transfer 
Station and Haulage 
Contract 

To seek Cabinet approval to begin the 
procurement process to replace the Dragon 
Waste HWRC, Transfer Station and Haulage 
Contract in 2018 and to approve levels of 
delegation for contract award subject to the 
funding envelope outlined in the report.   

 Rachel Jowitt 

Welsh Church Fund working 
group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the schedule of 
applications 2016/17, meeting 3 held on 1st 
December 2016. 

 Dave Jarrett 

Chippenham Mead play 
area, Monmouth 

**PRESENTATION PRIOR TO ITEM – RACHEL 
JUPP – FRIENDS OF CHIPPENHEMA MEAD 
GROUP** 

 Mike Moran 

    

The Knoll, Abergavenny 
Section 106 funding 

  Mike Moran 

    

18TH JANUARY 2017 – INDIVIDUAL MEMBER DECISION 
Local Government (Wales) 
Act 1994  The Local 
Authorities 
(Precepts)(Wales) 
Regulations 1995 

To seek Members approval of the results of the 
consultation process regarding payments to 
precepting Authorities for 2017/18 as required by 
statute. 

 Joy Robson 

    

    

P
age 276



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

19TH JANUARY 2017 - COUNCIL 
    

5 year Welsh Language 
Strategy 

  Alan Burkitt 

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 2017/18 

  Ruth Donovan 

Community Governance 
Report 

  Will McLean 

    

1ST FEBRUARY 2017 – CABINET 
Revenue & Capital Budget 
final proposals after public 
consultation 

To present Revenue and Capital Budget 
proposals following receipt of final settlement 

 Joy Robson 

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2016/17 meeting 5 held on the 19th 
January 2017. 

 Dave Jarrett 

Budget Monitoring report – 
period 9  

The purpose of this report is to provide Members 
with information on the forecast outturn position 
of the Authority at end of month reporting for 
2016/17 financial year. 

 Joy Robson/Mark 
Howcroft 

Request for funding for extra 
counselling staff 

  Josh Klein 

Update on youth work in 
Abergavenny and the 
surrounding areas. 

  Josh Klein 

    

1ST FEBRUARY 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 
Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment 2017 

  Sue Hall 

    

    

15TH FEBRUARY 2017 – SPECIAL CABINET 
Final Draft Budget    

P
age 277



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Proposals for 
recommendation to Council 

    

1ST MARCH 2017 – CABINET 
    

2016/17 Education and 
Welsh Church Trust Funds 
Investment and Fund 
Strategy 

The purpose of this report is to  present to 
Cabinet for approval the 2017/18 Investment and 
Fund Strategy for Trust Funds for which the 
Authority acts as sole or custodian trustee for 
adoption and to approve the 2016/17 grant 
allocation to Local Authority beneficiaries of the 
Welsh Church Fund 

 Dave Jarrett 

Outcomes of the Recycling 
Review. 

Cabinet to agree the Final Business Case 
determining the outcomes of the Recycling 
Review. 
 

 Rachel Jowitt 

    

9TH MARCH 2017 - COUNCIL 
Final Budget Proposals   Joy Robson 

Final Composite Council 
Tax Resolution 

To set budget and Council tax for 2017/18  Joy Robson 

Population Needs 
Assessment 
 

  Matt Gatehouse 

Well-being Assessment   Matt Gatehouse 

Treasury Management 
Strategy 2017/18 

To accept the annual Treasury Management 
Strategy 

 Joy Robson 

ADM Business Case   Tracey Thomas 

    

5TH APRIL 2017 – CABINET 
    

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The Purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
applications 2016/17, meeting 6 held on the 9th 
March 2017 

 Dave Jarrett 

P
age 278



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2016/17, meeting 7 held on the 30th 
March 2017. 

 Dave Jarrett 

    

3RD MAY 2017 – CABINET 
    

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2016/17, meeting 8 held on the 
……….. 2017. 

 Dave Jarrett 

Transfer of management of 
Raglan VC Primary School 
 
 

To receive a progress update on the transfer of 
the management of Raglan VC Primary School 
former junior building to the Enterprise 
Directorate. 

 Cath Sheen 

 

P
age 279



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Cadarnhau cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol.
	Minutes

	5 Craffu Cyn-penderfyniad: Amgueddfeydd Sir Fynwy: Trosiant a Chynlluniau’r Dyfodol.
	5b  Appendix One - Amion Report
	5c  Appendix Two -Monmouthshire Museums Forward Plan 2017-2022
	5d  Appendix Three Future Museums Tranisition Chart 161111

	6 Adroddiad Monitro Refeniw a Chyllid Cyfnod 2 Datganiad Rhagolwg Alldro.
	8 Diweddariad Y Prentis a Diweddariad CMC2.
	9 Amcanion Gwella a Dangosyddion Perfformiad – Diweddariad 2016/17 Chwarter 2.
	10 Blaenraglen Waith y Pwyllgor Dethol Economi a Datblygu.
	11 Cyngor a Blaengynllun Busnes y Cabinet.

